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Key figures (IFRS)1

  
2011 

 
2010 

 
2009 

 
2011 / 2010 

change  in %

Incoming orders € million 2,684.9 1,642.2 1,184.7 63.5

Orders on hand (Dec. 31) € million 2,142.7 1,359.1 1,002.4 57.7

Sales revenues € million 1,922.0 1,261.4 1,077.6 52.4

 of which abroad % 85.4 79.6 83.2  

EBIT € million 106.5 36.6 5.7 191.0

EBT € million 85.8 12.5 – 12.2 586.4

Net profit / loss € million 64.3 7.1 – 25.7 805.6

Cash flow from operating activities € million 127.9 55.4 95.4 130.9

Cash flow from investing activities € million – 62.6 – 19.5 – 25.8 –

Cash flow from financing activities € million – 24.2 105.1 – 51.3 –

Free cash flow € million 91.8 22.9 63.7 283.4

Equity  

(with non-controlling interests) (Dec. 31) € million 364.3 319.4 301.4 14.1

Net financial status (Dec. 31) € million 51.8 23.6 3.0 119.5

Net working capital (Dec. 31) € million 32.6 27.3 57.4 19.4

Employees (Dec. 31)  6,823 5,915 5,712 15.4

 of which abroad % 54.2 50.4 48.0  

Gearing (Dec. 31)  % – 16.6 – 8.0 – 1.0  

Equity ratio (Dec. 31) % 21.9 26.3 31.1  

EBIT margin % 5.5 2.9 0.5  

ROCE  % 28.4 10.3 1.6  

EVA € million 45.9 – 3.2 – 24.8  

Dürr stock (ISIN: DE0005565204)      

High2  € 35.50 24.51 17.89  

Low2 € 20.68 14.17 7.14  

Close2 € 34.00 23.87 17.00  

Number of shares  17,300,520 17,300,520 17,300,520  

Earnings per share  € 3.58 0.37 – 1.55 867.6

Dividend per share € 1.203 0.30 0.00 300.0

1 The interest cost from the measurement of pension obligations was reclassified in 2011. The figures for 2010 have been adjusted.
2 XETRA
3 Dividend proposal for the annual general meeting
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1 ex Germany

NORTH AMERIC A 2011 2005 Δ

Employees (Dec. 31) 587 822 – 29 %

Incoming orders (€ million) 277.4 218.5 + 27 %

GERMANY 2011 2005 Δ

Employees (Dec. 31) 3,128 3,205 – 2 %

Incoming orders (€ million) 322.2 249.3 + 29 %

wEsTERN EuROpE1 2011 2005 Δ

Employees (Dec. 31) 949 1,078 – 12 %

Incoming orders (€ million) 249.5 406.1 – 39 %

EMERGING MARkETs 2011 2005 Δ

Employees (Dec. 31) 2,105 860 + 145 %

Incoming orders (€ million) 1,755.9 327.8 + 436 %

65 % of orders from the emerging markets
DüRR hAs REsPONDED cONsisTENTLy TO ThE REgiONAL shifT iN DEmAND



Since its market launch, Dürr’s EcoRP has been the world’s most successful 
painting robot, with over 6,500 units sold in 34 countries. The reason for this 
success: our robot was developed exclusively for paint application. Plus it is 
equipped with a number of high-tech application products – from the compact 
EcoBell3 high-speed rotating atomizer (cover photo) to the EcoLcc color changer, 
offering a choice of 36 colors.

OVER 6,500
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2011 was a record year in Dürr’s corporate history. 

Order intake was at an all-time high. Our customers 

caught up on orders they had shelved in the crisis of 

2008/2009 and pressed ahead with new projects. We 

benefited from this – thanks to a first-rate team and  

our strong position in the emerging markets. Another 

success factor is our technological expertise: Dürr 

stands for innovative products that help to make our 

customers’ production processes more efficient. In 

application technology, for instance, where we are the 

clear market leader with end-to-end high-tech solu-

tions. Read more about them from page 16 onwards.
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letter from the Board of Management

ralF	w.	dIeter	(50)

ceO  

/ /  Paint and Assembly systems

/ /  Application Technology

/ /   Measuring and Process systems

/ /  corporate communications

/ /   human Resources
(employee Affairs Director)

/ /  Research & Development

/ /  Quality Management

/ /  Internal Auditing 

/ /  corporate compliance

ralph	heuwInG	(45)

cFO

/ /  clean Technology systems

/ /  Finance/controlling

/ /  Investor Relations 

/ /  Risk Management 

/ /  legal Affairs/Patents

/ /  Information Technology 

/ /  global sourcing

/ /  Dürr consulting
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dear	shareholders,	 	

customers,	busIness	assocIates,	 		

and	employees,

Fiscal year 2011 far exceeded our expectations. Incoming orders and earnings reached new 

highs, sales revenues were up 52 %. We could not foresee this extremely dynamic business 

 development at the beginning of the year given the uncertainties then still surrounding the 

forecasts for the economy and our customers’ investment activity.

The high order intake in 2011 was driven by two main factors: One was that the automobile 

 industry further accelerated the build-up of production capacities in the emerging markets. 

 Secondly, the industry caught up on many investments that it had shelved during the crisis in 

2008/2009. We benefited from this in special measure as Dürr has greater capacities and more 

clout than the competition in China and other high-growth emerging markets. Close to a third 

of our workforce is meanwhile employed in the emerging markets, where we generated as much  

as 65 % of our incoming orders. 

We coped with the strong growth in 2011 with a moderate 15 % increase in our headcount. 

This shows that the strategy over the past years of striving continuously to improve our processes 

and IT systems is paying off, and yielding marked productivity increases. 

Another success factor is our innovation strategy. New products such as the EcoBell3 paint atom-

izer or the Pasio 15 balancing machine are eliciting an outstanding market response because 

they enhance efficiency in our customers’ production. “Leading in Production Efficiency“ – that 

is a motto to which we at Dürr feel deeply committed, whether it is designing automobile plants, 

 developing new products and services, or optimizing energy consumption and emissions in  

manufacturing processes. 

With our focus on efficiency we are well positioned to benefit, also over the long term, from  

two global mega trends: the desire for individual mobility, and the focus on energy and material 

efficient production processes. Let us take a brief look at both of these trends. 
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The desire for individual mobility in the emerging markets is the key growth driver for the auto-

mobile industry – and hence for Dürr. While in Germany there are over 500 cars per thousand 

population today, in Brazil the figure is just over 100, in China about 50, and in India around 25. 

These penetration rates will increase considerably as per capita incomes rise. Against this back-

drop, automobile production in the emerging markets is forecast to expand by 22 million units 

by the year 2017; worldwide, experts expect growth of 30 million units. These additional auto-

mobiles will need to be painted, assembled, filled, and tested, and will need to be equipped  

with perfectly cleaned and balanced drive components. For all of these production steps, Dürr 

supplies innovative technology, including planning and after-sales service. 

Increased energy and material efficiency is the second mega trend we are responding to. Today,  

a Dürr paint shop already consumes 70 % less energy than ten years ago, and we have achieved 

similar optimizations in all our other areas. We will continue to pursue this course with still 

greater focus because our customers are placing increasing emphasis on sustainable production. 

An important milestone last year was the creation of the new Clean Technology Systems division.  

It is building up a broad portfolio of energy-efficient technologies and products that can be used 

flexibly – in automobile factories just as well as in combined heat and power plants, chemical 

plants, and other industries. The potential for energy-efficient processes is huge: with the refocus-

ing in energy policy there is a growing realization that, besides tapping new sources of energy, 

using energy efficiently is also becoming more and more important. That holds not only for the 

industrial countries but also for the emerging markets, whose strong economic growth is linked 

to the availability of energy. 
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ralF	w.	dIeter	 / /  ceO

Bietigheim-Bissingen, March 14, 2012

ralph	heuwInG	 / /  cFO

We want our shareholders to participate in last year’s success. Together with the Supervisory 

Board, we are therefore proposing to pay a dividend of € 1.20 per share for 2011. That is four 

times the dividend for 2010, is equivalent to a payout ratio of 32 % of Group net profit, and is 

above the minimum of 30 % we have set within the framework of our dividend policy. 

The volume of projects has remained buoyant in the first weeks of this year. From today’s van-

tage point, we therefore expect sales to be up by at least 5 % to over € 2 billion in 2012. Earnings 

should continue to outpace sales revenues; for 2012, our target is an EBIT margin of between 

5.5 % and 6 %. Incoming orders should top the € 2 billion mark – that would put us clearly above 

the level in the years before 2011. 

Dürr’s international presence and the key role our technologies play for our customers’ production 

efficiency are the foundation for a successful future for the Group. Then there are our close to 

7,000 employees whose expertise is again and again a key factor that tips the balance in Dürr’s 

favor. We wish to thank all of our employees for their hard work and their unconditional determi-

nation to deliver best-in-class achievements also under heavy workloads. Our thanks also go to 

our customers, business associates and shareholders for the confidence they have placed in 

Dürr. We shall continue to do our utmost in 2012 to see that this confidence is warranted.
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Report of the supervisory Board

dr.-InG.	e.	h.	heInz	dürr

2011 was one of the most successful financial years in the history of Dürr. The Group benefited 
from the unusually buoyant demand in the automobile and other industries – predominantly in 
the emerging markets, but also in North America. Favorable circumstances, however, are only 
part of the reason for this positive development. Another factor that was just as important for the 
good performance was the groundwork that the management and employees had laid internally  
in the previous years: from the strong presence in the emerging markets to efficiency-enhancing 
product innovations and global standardization of products and processes. Dürr has become 
even more international and competitive and has gained further market share. 

The Supervisory Board has supported this positive development in a constructive and critical 
way. Together with the Board of Management, it has also directed its attention to the risks and  
the Group’s resilience in case of another economic downturn. As a result, Dürr is well positioned 
for the coming years. The Group has a strong presence in the growth regions around the world, 
demonstrates outstanding innovative strength, and is developing future-oriented business areas 
that are strategically important, such as energy efficiency technology. In addition, the large 
 volume of new business in 2011 provides a good basis for expanding the service business even 
further in the future.

The Supervisory Board advised the Board of Management extensively in 2011 and performed all 
the tasks assigned to it by law and by the articles of incorporation. The Board of Management 
 informed the Supervisory Board in a timely and comprehensive manner about business develop-
ment and strategic issues as well as company planning and any activities requiring consent. All 
resolutions of the Supervisory Board were adopted following thorough review based on written 
decision-making materials and after carefully weighing up the opportunities and risks.

The Supervisory Board closely monitored the Board of Management’s conduct of the company’s 
affairs and confirms that the Board of Management always acted lawfully, diligently and eco-
nomically. The Board of Management regularly consulted the Compliance and Legal Department 
as well as Controlling and Internal Auditing in dealing with operational, financial and other 
 matters and actively used the risk management system. The Board of Management immediately 
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informed the Supervisory Board of any risks, thereby enabling it to advise the Board of Manage-
ment effectively regarding the further development of the risk control and monitoring system.

The Supervisory Board held six regular meetings during the reporting period. The Chairman  
of the Supervisory Board also had numerous discussions with the Board of Management and 
 informed the members of the Supervisory Board of their outcome. In addition, the Supervisory 
Board Chairman supported the Board of Management in representing the company and with 
 regard to political contacts. 

maIn	Focuses	oF	the	meetInGs

The Group’s business development and financial position were discussed in detail at the 2011 
meetings. In view of the high order intake, the Supervisory Board was informed regularly about 
the capacity utilization and control within the Group. Furthermore, it received several updates  
on the work in the strategically important market of China. The Supervisory Board paid particular 
attention to the development of key figures such as EBIT margin, cash flow, net financial status, 
net working capital and return on capital employed. Important strategic topics discussed at several 
meetings included the expansion in the emerging markets and in the field of energy efficiency 
technology. The latter is regarded by the Supervisory Board as key for the future development  
of the Dürr Group.

The focus of the meeting held on March 23, 2011, was the analysis of the 2010 annual financial 
statements; the agenda for the annual general meeting on May 6, 2011, was also discussed in 
 detail. Further topics included the situation following the Japan earthquake, Dürr’s new Code of 
Conduct and the extension of the long-term incentive program for the Board of Management. 
One of the topics addressed during the discussion of the first personnel report of the year was 
that of pension obligations. The meeting held on May 6, 2011, focused mainly on the analysis 
of the broad regional distribution of incoming orders. Also held on May 6, 2011, following the 
annual general meeting, was the constituent meeting of the newly elected Supervisory Board. 
The main topics of the meeting on August 5, 2011, were the aircraft assembly systems business
in Russia, Dürr’s environmentally friendly Eco ⊕Paintshop, and the construction of two new loca-
tions in Shanghai. Furthermore, the Board of Management presented Dürr’s investments in 
Agramkow (filling systems), Cyplan (energy efficiency technology) and Parker Engineering (paint 
systems). The topics of the discussion of the risk report included capacity expansion and high  
order volume. During the explanation of the second personnel report of the year, the Board of 
Management elaborated on management development and the recruitment of skilled staff. The 
focus of the strategy meeting held on October 5, 2011, was on innovation, new areas of business 
and service business. The heads of the business units each outlined their strategies and presented 
the results of their development efforts in terms of energy- and resource-efficient products. In ad-
dition, the Board of Management presented the new Group structure based on four divisions. At 
the final meeting of the year held on December 16, 2011, the Supervisory Board approved the 
company planning for 2012 and acknowledged the planning for the years 2013 to 2015. The cur-
rent risk report of the Board of Management was also discussed in detail. The Chairmen of the 
Board of Management and the Supervisory Board signed the new declaration of compliance on 
Corporate Governance at Dürr; further information on this topic can be found in the management 
report (pages 56 to 63).

In 2011, the Supervisory Board passed two resolutions by written circulatory vote: On May 24, 
a resolution was passed to extend the contract of employment of Management Board member 
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Ralph Heuwing by a further five years until May 14, 2017. This resolution takes effect on May 14, 
2012, the end of the current term. On November 28, 2011, the Supervisory Board agreed to the 
proposal of the Board of Management to purchase the Dürr Campus in Bietigheim-Bissingen. 

supervIsory	board	electIons

In 2011, regular elections were held to appoint new members to the Dürr AG Supervisory Board. 
The elections of the employee representatives were held on April 6 at the German locations. 
 Stefan Albert and Dr. Martin Schwarz-Kocher joined the Supervisory Board as new members. 
The existing members Mirko Becker, Thomas Hohmann, Guido Lesch and Hayo Raich were 
 re-elected. Karl-Heinz Streibich was elected as a new shareholder representative of the Super-
visory Board by the annual general meeting on May 6, 2011. The existing members Dr. E. h. 
Heinz Dürr, Dr. Dr. Alexandra Dürr, Professor Dr. Norbert Loos, Joachim Schielke and Professor 
Dr. Dr. E. h. Klaus Wucherer were re-elected as shareholder representatives for an additional 
period of five years. At the constituent meeting of the Supervisory Board held on May 6, 2011, 
Dr. Heinz Dürr was confirmed as Chairman, and Mr. Raich and Professor Dr. Loos as Deputy 
Chairmen of the Supervisory Board. 

In February 2012, Joachim Schielke announced that he would resign as a member of the Super-
visory Board at the end of the 23rd annual general meeting on April 27, 2012. The Supervisory 
Board will propose to the annual general meeting that Klaus Eberhardt, Chairman of the Execu-
tive Board of Rheinmetall AG, be elected as Mr. Schielke’s successor. The proposal is based on  
a recommendation by the Nominating Committee. The Supervisory Board would like to thank 
Mr. Schielke for his long-term work and commitment. Thanks for their constructive work also  
go to Benno Eberl, Dr. Günter Fenneberg and Erich Horst, who already retired as members of  
the Supervisory Board at the end of the 22nd annual general meeting.

work	oF	the	commIttees

The Supervisory Board formed four committees at the constituent meeting on May 6, 2011. In 
2011, the Personnel Committee, which is also the Executive Committee, held two meetings 
chaired by Dr. Heinz Dürr. One of its tasks was to prepare the extension of Mr. Heuwing’s em-
ployment contract. The Nominating Committee, also chaired by Dr. Heinz Dürr, met once in 
2011 in order to draw up a proposal for the replacement of Dr. Fenneberg. Dr. Heinz Dürr then 
introduced Mr. Streibich to the Supervisory Board plenum on March 23, 2011, and recommend- 
ed his nomination for the Supervisory Board election at the annual general meeting. The Audit 
Committee, chaired by Professor Dr. Loos, convened three times. It carefully examined the quar-
terly, annual and consolidated  financial statements, dealt with accounting matters as well as the 
analysis of pension obligations and the Campus purchase, and discussed issues relating to corpo-
rate financing and asset management. It also proposed to the plenum the key points for the exter-
nal audit and monitored compliance with capital market regulations. 

The Audit Committee reviewed and confirmed the efficiency of the internal control system, the risk 
management system and the internal auditing system; it also reviewed the Group’s compliance 
 organization and the financial reporting process. The audit results were presented to the Super-
visory Board at the December meeting and discussed in plenary session. The Audit Committee 
submitted additional reports at the meetings on March 23 and August 5, 2011. As in previous 
years, a meeting of the Mediation Committee was not required.

audIt	and	ratIFIcatIon	oF	the	annual	FInancIal	statements

Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft examined the annual financial statements, 
the consolidated financial statements, the management report and the Group management report 
for Dürr AG prepared by the Board of Management for the period ended December 31, 2011, and 
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dr.-InG.	e.	h.	heInz	dürr	 / /  chAIRMAn OF The suPeRvIsORy BOARD

Bietigheim-Bissingen, March 14, 2012

issued an unqualified auditors´ certificate. The annual financial statements, consolidated finan-
cial statements, management report and Group management report were submitted to the mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board in good time. They were discussed in detail with the Board of 
Management and reviewed at the Supervisory Board meeting held to approve the financial 
 statements on March 14, 2012. The same applies to the auditors´ reports, which were also sub-
mitted in due time. The auditors signing the audit certificate participated in that meeting and  
in the  Audit Committee meeting on March 13, 2012. They reported on their audit and were avail-
able for further explanations and discussions. At the Supervisory Board meeting held to approve  
the financial statements, the Chairman of the Audit Committee, Professor Dr. Loos, commented 
in detail on the audit documents, reported on the preliminary talks with the auditors, and elabo-
rated on the proposal to pay a dividend of € 1.20 per share for 2011. In addition, he commented on 
the key points of the audit (accounting of acquisitions and Dürr Campus, valuation of derivatives 
and pension obligations, valuation system for impairment testing, adaptation of the new financ-
ing structure). 

On the basis of the documents presented to it and the reports of the Audit Committee and the 
 auditors, the Supervisory Board examined and accepted the annual financial statements, the 
consolidated financial statements, the management report and the Group management report. 
The Supervisory Board’s own review found no cause for objection. The Supervisory Board 
 approves the results of the audits of both sets of financial statements, agrees with the Board of 
Management in its assessment of the situation of the Group and Dürr AG, and approves the 
 annual financial statements and the consolidated financial statements prepared for the period 
ended December 31, 2011. The annual financial statements are thereby ratified. In light of 
the Audit Committee’s recommendation and its own review, the Supervisory Board approves  
the Board of Management’s proposal on the use of net retained profit.

The Supervisory Board examined the report prepared by the Board of Management pursuant  
to Sec. 312 of the German Stock Corporation Act concerning relationships with associated enter-
prises (dependent company report) for 2011. The auditors issued the following unqualified 
 cer tificate pursuant to Sec. 313 (3) of the German Stock Corporation Act: “After examination 
and  assessment in accordance with our professional duties, we confirm that:

1. the factual information given in the report is correct,
2. the consideration paid by the company in connection with transactions mentioned in the 

 report was not unduly high.”

The Supervisory Board concurs with this audit result. According to the final result of the exami-
nation by the Supervisory Board, there are no objections to be raised against the declaration by 
the Board of Management at the end of the dependent company report.

The Supervisory Board thanks the Board of Management, the employee representatives, and all 
employees for their dedication in 2011, as well as the shareholders for the confidence they have 
placed in the company.
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Dürr on the capital market:
stock and bond perform well
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Our investor relations work pursues one primary objective: a transparent presentation of the 
company on the capital market and thereby an appropriate valuation of Dürr stock. We provide 
timely, accessible information and emphasize explaining business data as well as communicat-
ing it. This approach was acknowledged with several awards in 2011. We came in first among 
the 50 SDAX companies for both the German Investor Relations Prize and the Capital IR Prize. 
In the Best Annual Report competition held each year by German business periodical “Manager 
Magazin”, the Dürr annual report for 2010 also won first place in the SDAX category. We came 
in twelfth in the overall ranking of all 160 participants. 

JItters	on	the	capItal	markets	

The past year was characterized by nervousness and uncertainty on the capital markets in Europe. 
When the EU debt crisis escalated in the summer of 2011, European stock indices plummeted 
 after a generally stable first half of the year. The bond markets reacted with significantly elevated 
risk premiums, while the euro devalued. The decisions of the euro summit meeting in December 
allowed some confidence to return to the markets. As a result, stock prices have advanced, while 
bond spreads have declined. Good development of many companies’ earnings has also made for 
growing confidence, although most economists have revised their growth expectations for 2012 
downward. 
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 2011 2010 2009

earnings per share (€) 3.58 0.37 – 1.55

Book value per share as of December 31 (€) 21.06 18.46 17.42

cash flow per share (€) 7.39 3.20 5.51

Dividend per share (€) 1.201 0.30 0.00

high (€) 35.50 24.51 17.89

low (€) 20.68 14.17 7.14

closing price (€) 34.00 23.87 17.00

Average daily trading volume (shares) 65,108 22,821 22,053

Market capitalization as of December 31 (€ m) 588.2 413.0 294.1

number of shares 17,300,520 17,300,520 17,300,520

1 Dividend proposed to the annual general meeting 

/ / 	 key	FIGures	For	dürr	stock	 	/ / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / 	1.4

dürr	stock	amonG	top	perFormers	In	2011	wIth	a	plus	oF	40	%

As in the two previous years, the price of our stock advanced again by 40 % in 2011. That made 
Dürr one of the top five performers among all stocks on the DAX, MDAX, SDAX, and TEcDAX 
 indices. By comparison, both the DAX and the SDAX declined in the past year by 16 %. 

We have also done well in a long-term analysis. The value of our stock has nearly tripled in the 
past three years. The basis for this sustained positive development is the above-average strength 
of our position in the emerging markets. Over 65 % of our incoming orders came from there in 
2011, partly because of catch-up effects following the 2008/2009 crisis. That laid the foundation 
for record orders on hand of € 2.1 billion at the end of 2011. In the course of the year, we were 
able to raise our earnings forecast three times, which influenced the stock price positively. Ana-
lysts also expect rising earnings for 2012 and 2013, as shown by the current consensus estimates 
published on the investor relations pages of our website www.durr.com.

proposed	dIvIdend:	€ 1.20	per	share

Our shareholders should benefit appropriately from the sharp rise of earnings in 2011. The Board 
of Management and the Supervisory Board will therefore propose to the annual general meeting 
that the dividend be raised from € 0.30 in the previous year to € 1.20 per share. That results in a 
total payout of € 20.8 million, more than ever before since our IPO in 1990. Measured in terms of 
Group net profit, the payout ratio comes to 32 %, which puts us within the range set by our divi-
dend policy of 30 % to 40 % of Group net profit. 

www
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12 Buy1 sell  kepler capital Markets

 landesbank Baden-Württemberg

 Macquarie capital

 M.M. Warburg

 solventis Wertpapierhandelsbank

 silvia Quandt Research

 Bankhaus B. Metzler

 Berenberg Bank 

 BhF-Bank

 close Brothers seydler

 commerzbank

 Deutsche Bank

 DZ Bank

/ / 	 analyst	recommendatIons	 (december	31,	2011)	 	/ / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / 	1.5

admIssIon	to	the	mdaX

Dürr stock belongs to Deutsche Börse’s Prime Standard segment and is traded on all German 
stock exchanges. More than 90 % of its trading volume is handled via the XETRA electronic trad-
ing system. At the beginning of March 2012, Deutsche Börse decided to move our stock from the 
SDAX small cap index to the MDAX on March 19, 2012. This was mainly due to our strong recent 
improvement in the joint ranking for the SDAX and MDAX, which altogether comprises 100 com-
panies. At the end of 2011, we placed 49th in free-float market capitalization and 52nd in stock 
exchange turnover (previous year: 84th and 83rd, respectively). Average trading volume in Dürr 
stock almost tripled compared with the previous year, partly because our free float increased to 
70 % due to the exit of the investment company Aton. In contrast, total turnover on the German 
stock exchanges rose by only 12 % in 2011. 

92	%	buy	recommendatIons	

The number of analysts who judge our stock increased from eleven to thirteen in 2011. While 
one bank ended its coverage, three new research houses took its place: Kepler Capital Markets, 
M.M. Warburg, and Silvia Quandt Research. At the end of 2011, twelve analysts recommended 
our stock as a “buy” and one as a “sell”.

Based on our analysts’ consensus estimates, Dürr stock is valued cheaper than other German 
machinery stocks despite its good performance. At the end of 2011, all the usual valuation ratios 
(price to earnings, enterprise value to EBIT, enterprise value to sales revenues, and price to book 
value) were more than 10 % below peer group levels. 

new	Groups	oF	Investors	cultIvated

Our stock’s higher trading volume has given us access to new groups of investors. We conducted 
many talks in 2011 with large institutional investors for whom our stock had been out of the 
question before because of low stock exchange turnover and market capitalization. In particular, 
investors from the United States have shown increased interest in Dürr stock. In mid-October 
2011, we held a day-long event for analysts and investors at the BMW plant in Regensburg, where 
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65.1 %

3.5 %

26.5 %4.9 %  heinz Dürr gmbh, Berlin

 heinz und heide Dürr stiftung gmbh, Berlin

 Institutional and private investors1

 harris Associates l.P., chicago

 
  Free float 70 % according to Deutsche Börse
  1 Including 1.3 % held by the members of Dürr Ag’s Board of Management

/ / 	 shareholder	structure	 (march	2012)		/ / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / 	1.6

several Dürr products were demonstrated, too. In the course of the year, the Board of Manage-
ment participated in four conference calls and presented the company at 16 capital market con-
ferences and 15 roadshows in Europe and the United States. 

We expanded our web offering for investors, analysts, and journalists again in 2011. The new 
“Explore Dürr” section of www.durr.com uses multimedia to present information about our 
business and new technologies. The Dürr Factsheet offers the most important information and 
daily price quotes for our stock and bond at a glance. Moreover, our website contains informa-
tion prepared for easy access about the company’s outlook, Excel files for downloading, analysts’ 
consensus estimates, and data regarding corporate governance. 

shareholder	structure:	Greater	Free	Float	enhances	stock	attractIveness

Heinz Dürr GmbH is our largest shareholder. Together with Heinz und Heide Dürr Stiftung, it 
holds almost 30 % of the shares in Dürr AG. The Dürr family plans, as  anchor shareholder, to 
keep an equity stake between 25 % and 30 % in the long term. Aton GmbH, which had held as 
much as 25.5 % of our stock, completely sold its interest to institutional in vestors by May 2011. 
Süd Beteiligungen GmbH, a subsidiary of Landesbank Baden-Württemberg, reduced its stake 
from just under 5 % to 0.9 % in March 2012. Harris Associates, a US fund company, owns a 4.9 % 
interest in Dürr. The two members of Dürr AG’s Board of Management, Ralf W. Dieter and Ralph 
Heuwing, together hold a 1.3 % stake. According to Deutsche Börse’s method of calculation, our 
free float increased to 70 %.

dürr	bond	perForms	stronGly

The bond we issued in 2010 started the year at a price of € 107.5 and ended it at € 108.5. The 
bond was not entirely unscathed by the market gyrations at mid-year, but its development was 
more stable than average. While comparable corporate bonds plummeted temporarily by up to 
30 %, the Dürr bond lost only 3 %. The bond’s average trading volume in the second half of the 
year amounted to a nominal € 237,500 per day. At a price of about € 112, our bond is now paying 
3.6 %, which is evidence of strong confidence in Dürr’s creditworthiness.

www
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Technology driver
APPLICATION TECHNOLOGY Most automakers around the world put their faith 
in painting robots and application systems from Dürr. One reason: the world 
market leader in painting technology offers from one source a complete, perfectly 
tuned high-tech system that saves paint, energy and thus costs. 
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It looks like a ballet: six arms shrouded in white per­
forming rapid movements over the body of a limousine. 
The white heads sweep back, thrust forward again,  
slide through the open doors into the interior. In the 
course of this unbroken choreography the nondescript 
gray of the anticorrosive coat is transformed into a 
smooth, perfect midnight blue. The body exits the stage  
right on the conveyor, the next one enters. The motions 
continue without interruption, only this time the body  
is painted metallic black. 

The whole spectacle, in which two automobiles receive 
their final coat of paint, lasts about two minutes – and  
the painting line continues working tirelessly. Intimate 
knowledge of the complex painting process is needed  
to achieve this perfection. Frank Herre sums it up in a 

»  Dürr is the only company that has developed a 
complete painting system itself, supplies it from 
one source, and can tailor it to the customers´ 
specific requirements.«
Frank Herre, HeaD OF DevelOpMent applicatiOn tecHnOlOgy

PICTurEs   / /  01 Frank Herre  / /  02 robot assembly in Bietigheim-Bissingen   / /  03 High-speed rotating atomizer EcoBell3
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 sentence that sounds almost self­evident: “Our products 
are specially developed for the task in hand.” The Head  
of Development at Application Technology, who has been 
with Dürr for 20 years, nods his head as reassurance and 
points to the robots that are still performing their endless 
dance. “Dürr is the only company that has  developed 
a complete painting system itself, supplies it from one 
source, and can tailor it to the customers’ specific re­
quirements.”

The success proves the engineer right. The Application 
Technology division derives about 65 % of its revenues 
from robots and paint application systems, 12 % from 
seam sealing and glueing technologies, and the rest from 
services. Dürr has a world market share of over 50 % 
in paint application technology, and about 45 % in seam 

sealing. Although here, too, there was a sharp setback 
during the global economic crisis in 2008 and 2009, 
 volumes have since been rising strongly. While the 
 painting specialists sold about 600 painting robots a 
year on average before the crisis, in 2011 it was over 
1,300, and for almost all the major automakers world­
wide. September 2011 marked a small milestone for 
Dürr when the six­thousandth robot was ordered.

HIGH-TECH Is rETAINEd IN-HOusE

Dürr has achieved this success by specializing in high 
technology. The company has some of the components 
which are developed in­house specially manufactured by 
subcontractors and assembles them in the large work­
shop in Bietigheim­Bissingen. However, Dürr manufac­
tures and assembles the most important components 
completely itself. In the paint systems segment, that in­
cludes the EcoBell3 high-speed rotating atomizer that 
sits on the end of the robot arm and was first brought to 
market at the end of 2009. The device does not look all 
that spectacular: a white, slightly curved proboscis with  
a silver bell­shaped part at the end. But there is more to it 
than meets the eye. The optimized atomizer technology 
saves material and is highly versatile – yet another step 
on the way to making Dürr technology ever greener and 
more efficient. 



20 technology matters / /  Technology driver

 / /  04

 / /  05

The EcoBell3 embodies the ideas of Frank Herre’s team 
which have given the company a good edge over the 
competition. Another important advantage that contribut­
ed: the development engineers involved in the various 
departments are all located on two floors at the head­
quarters in Bietigheim­Bissingen. “When I want to talk  
to my colleague from the robot development team I only 
have to walk a short way down the corridor”, says Herre 
and points with his finger to the wall behind him. “We sit 
virtually back to back.”

Together, the engineers devised the finesses that are 
 designed into each part of the robot. A look behind the 
casings of the robot, which weighs around 900 kilo­
grams, reveals a mass of technology: black cables, for 
 instance, supplying the power to drive the six to twelve 
motors fitted on each robot, blue hoses for the com­
pressed air to control the valve system, and white hoses 
for the paint. There are also the control cable and the 
flushing lines.

MAsTErING COMPLExITY

The color change process is one of the key issues ad­
dressed by the development engineers in their Campus 
offices, which are dominated by technical drawings, 
models, and huge monitors. For this purpose there is a 
kind of carriage integrated in the robot arm: the EcoLCC 
color changer, to which up to 36 paint lines are connect­
ed. The respective colors are activated as required  
so that color changes are possible after each body with 
hardly any paint loss. “That’s important because auto­
makers offer a huge range of colors today, and they want 
to paint the vehicles in the same order in which they  
are scheduled for final assembly”, says Frank Herre. 

The machine has to be cleaned on each color change. 
Paint losses are therefore unavoidable. But the amount 
should be as small as possible. The 46­year old leans 
 forward slightly and pauses a moment. “It’s just ten milli­
liters we lose on each color change – before it was as 
much as 45“, he enthuses with a broad smile. His tone 
immediately becomes matter­of­fact again. “We have 
kept the distance between the color changer and atomiz­
er as short as possible, and have optimized the control 
system.” In this way the engineers could calculate exactly 
how much paint is required for an automobile and when 
cleaning fluid can be flushed through.

The crucial steps for the painting process are in the last 
120 centimeters or so. The tour de force is the atomizer 
that sprays the paint onto the body. Fitted on the end is 
an inconspicuous looking piece of metal, the so­called 
bell cup. But there is a lot more to it than meets the eye. 
Hundreds of hours of development work went into turn­

PICTurEs   / /  04 Detlev Hannig, Head of robot Systems   / /  05 EcoLCC color changer   / /  06 Dr. alexander Meissner
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Dr. alexanDer MeiSSner, HeaD OF prODuct DevelOpMent cOntrOl SySteMS

»  The control system ensures the best possible 
interaction between the robot movements and 
the paint atomizer. «

ing a piece of titanium into a high­performance tool. 
“Compared to steel, this provided us with tremendous 
strength while reducing weight”, says Herre. “And that’s 
important because at up to 70,000 revs per minute we 
generate enormous centrifugal forces which, with heavier 
weights, would interfere with the rapid motions of the 
 robot.” That is the speed at which the shiny bell cup, into 
which the paint flows, rotates.

INNOvATIvE ELECTrOsTATIC CHArGING

The rotational forces greatly accelerate the flow of the 
paint, causing it to run in ever thinner rivulets across the 
surface of the bell cup and spin off as individual paint 
droplets only a few thousandths of a millimeter thick as it 
leaves the edge of the cup. These droplets fly towards the 
body – and on the way undergo a further transformation, 
with electricity. Herre points to small black spots on the 

rim of the white atomizer. They are electrodes which 
 ionize the air and create an electrostatic field, which 
charges the paint droplets with up to 100,000 volts. 
The purpose of the exercise: “The paint is drawn to the 
body like by a magnet. In this way we save a lot of paint  
and achieve exactly defined results.” 

Instead of the smooth outer ring, the predecessor of the 
EcoBell3 had eight roughly 20 centimeter long fingers on 
which the electrodes were located. This made it bulkier 
and not suitable for all painting jobs. “The advantage with 
the EcoBell3 is that we can paint the exterior of the body 
shell and the less accessible interior in one operation be­
cause the new atomizers require less space to maneuver.”



22 technology matters / /  Technology driver

rOBusT ANd fLExIBLE CArrIEr

The high­tech atomizer would not be worth half its salt  
if the robot that guides the device were not of the same 
high quality, says Detlev Hannig, Head of Robot Systems. 
He points to a painting robot that is being assembled by  
a group of technicians. “Subcontractors produce the  
castings and other components for the robot to our specifi­
cations so that we end up with a product of the highest 
quality standard.” 

The mechanical engineer’s 20­man team has developed 
a full line of robots of modular design. With a number of 
special features: for instance, painting robots must be 
suitable for use in potentially explosive atmospheres be­
cause hazardous mixtures of paint and solvent can arise  
in the paint booth. 

The construction of the robots puts them in a class of 
their own, too. The special hand axis behind the atomizer 
can turn in all directions while still guiding the paint 
hoses inside almost without twisting. Robot Arm 2 be­
hind the hand axis is designed so that different color 
changers can be fitted while keeping the distance to the 
atomizer as short as possible – keyword: “minimum paint 
loss.“ Another part of the robot, the so­called Arm 1, 
houses all the necessary components such as valves, con­
trollers, sensors and high­voltage cascade, Hannig ex­
plains.“ A special focus when developing the robot was 
to keep all the outer surfaces smooth with no projecting 
contours. This makes the robot simple to clean, and there 
are no parts which can collide with the car body.”

PErfECT INTErPLAY

All the functions of the Dürr painting robots have been 
developed to perfection – but only work perfectly if the 
control system plays ball. Dr. Alexander Meissner, Head 
of Product Development Control Systems, is responsible 
for seeing to that. “The control system ensures the best 
possible interaction between the robot movements and 
paint atomizer.“ 

The control software, which the manager and his 35 col­
leagues develop, plays a key role in  enabling Dürr to mas­
ter the complex process like few others. It processes the 
raft of information gathered by Frank Herre and his team  

PICTurEs   / /  07 Sealing technology   / /  08 glueing technology   / /  09 paint application technology

which is crucial for the quality of the paint application: 
for instance, data about air currents, humidity and tem­
perature in the paint booth, the motional characteristics 
of the robots, and the flow characteristics of the paint. 
The control software is used by so­called teachers. On a 
monitor displaying the computerized model of a mid­
class automobile body they are adapting the painting 
process by mouse click. “For instance, if the robot moves 
at a given speed, the rate of flow at which the paint hits 
the body has to be adapted accordingly”, Alexander 
Meissner cites as one of the aspects that have to be taken 
into account. 

sYNCHrONIzATION MAdE EAsY

However, the work done by Meissner, who has a doctor­ 
ate in cybernetics, sometimes shows up in details. A ca­
ble connecting the atomizer and robot control units, for 
instance, is a real innovation. Obviously, not the sheathed 
wire itself but the fact that in the past two cables had 
 always been needed for the connections. The positive 
 effect: “This makes it much easier to synchronize the 
processes”, says the 44­year old, who has been with Dürr 
since 1999. 

Optimizing the switch cabinets that house the controls 
for the robots is also the responsibility of Meissner’s 
team. Normally, each machine has its own gray box that 
is packed full with control devices for the robot motors 
and a powerful computer. A while ago, the specialists re­
duced the amount of heat they generated: “Depending on 
the ambient conditions we can now dispense with an ad­
ditional air conditioning unit, saving up to 30 % of the 
energy.” The fail­safe system, which runs down the com­
puter in an orderly fashion in the event of a power failure, 
is also being made more and more efficient, Alexander 
Meissner explains. The system notes the position in 
which the process was interrupted and the robots return 
to their base position – they then start working again 
from the same position in which the process was inter­
rupted. The perfectly choreographed ballet continues.  
As planned, without long intervals.
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Local strength 
EMErGING MArkETs two thirds of our incoming orders are 
generated in emerging markets such as china, india or Brazil.  
in the following interview, ceO ralf W. Dieter talks about the 
success factors in the world’s growth regions.
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 «

» Technology is one of 
the three success  

factors, apart from local 
presence and profes­

sional project execution.
ralF W. Dieter, ceO Dürr ag

dürr’s sHArE Of BusINEss IN THE EMErGING 

MArkETs Is ONE Of THE HIGHEsT Of ANY GErMAN 

MECHANICAL ANd PLANT ENGINEErING fIrM.  

WHY Is dürr dOING sO WELL THErE?

/ /  Dürr has traditionally entered foreign markets early. 
We established our first foreign subsidiary in Brazil  
in 1964, and we have been in Mexico since 1966 and in 
China and India since the early 80s. We have always 
followed our customers from the automobile industry 
into new markets, where we have grown step by step.  
Today we are reaping the benefits. 31 % of the Group’s 
workforce is based in the emerging markets; compared  
to just 14 % in 2005. Our locations cover a broad range 
of expertise there. We know how to offer  reliable project 
execution locally, we are perceived as a local player with  
a strong ability to provide solutions, and we deliver a fast 
service.

YOu HAvE ALrEAdY MENTIONEd dürr’s BrOAd  

rANGE Of ExPErTIsE IN THE EMErGING MArkETs. 

WHAT ExACTLY dOEs THAT MEAN?

/ /  There are many Western mechanical and plant 
 engineering firms in China with their own sales, service 
and in some cases production facilities. At Dürr, you will 
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31 % OF Our eMplOyeeS WOrk in tHe eMerging 

MarketS, aS OppOSeD tO juSt 14% in 2005.

31 %
find even more: product development, engineering, com­
missioning as well as project and site management. In the 
area of paint systems, Shanghai has become our second 
largest engineering location after Bietigheim­Bissingen. 
Most site managers working at our Chinese construction 
sites are local experts. We even develop machines in 
Shanghai that are exported to countries worldwide, for 
example our balancing systems.

WHAT rOLE dOEs TECHNOLOGY PLAY fOr dürr’s 

POsITION IN THE MArkET?

/ /  Technology is one of the three success factors, apart 
from local presence and professional project execution. 
Our production­efficient innovations are a key distin­
guishing factor. Our customers know that it is worth in­
vesting in Dürr technology, even if it is not always the 
cheapest option in the short term. Our EcoDryScrubber 
paint booth system, for example, can reduce the energy 
consumption of a paint shop by up to 30 %. The 
EcoDryScrubber has established itself as a leading tech­
nology within a very short space of time, also in China.

ArE CusTOMErs IN THE EMErGING MArkETs 

OrdErING THE sAME HIGH-ENd PrOduCTs As  

IN EurOPE ANd NOrTH AMErICA?

/ /  In China, we are seeing a major trend toward state­
of­the­art technology and fully automated painting 
 processes. This goes hand in hand with the aim of pro­
ducing cars that can compete in the global market in 
terms of quality. There are paint shops being construct­
ed in automobile cities such as Changchun, Chengdu, 
Nanjing or Shenyang that are the most modern and 
 energy­efficient facilities in the world. We can also see 
an increasing convergence of technical standards in 
other emerging countries, with the level of automation 
depending on wage costs on the one hand and desired 
quality on the other.
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autOMOBile prODuctiOn in tHe eMerging MarketS 

iS expecteD tO increaSe By 22 MilliOn unitS By 2017. 

IN 2011, ArOuNd ONE THIrd Of THE OrdEr vOLuME 

WAs GENErATEd IN CHINA. Is THE dEPENdENCE ON 

THIs MArkET NOT TOO HIGH?

/ /  On the contrary: China is the place to be. The market 
potential is far from exhausted; vehicle production is 
 expected to increase by 11 million units between 2011 
and 2016. Rather than dependence, we should call it 
an excellent position in the largest market in the world. 
As a consequence, we have just tripled our production 
 capacities in plant engineering in China. And in 2013, 
we will bring all our mechanical engineering activities 
under one roof in a new location in Shanghai.

WHAT ArE THE MArkET CONdITIONs LIkE IN OTHEr 

EMErGING MArkETs?

/ /  In India, capacity expansion in the automobile indus­ 
try has been somewhat slower than in China. Neverthe­
less, production there is expected to increase by more 
than 10 % per year until 2016. In Brazil, the large num­
ber of investment projects show that this is an increas­
ingly important market for the automobile  industry. From 
today’s perspective, an average growth in production be­ 
tween 5 % and 10 % per year seems realistic over there. 

ANd russIA?

/ /  That’s where production fell most sharply during the 
crisis of 2008/2009. Since then, high oil prices have led 
to a renewed boost in purchasing power and consumer 
confidence. There are currently several project requests 
from the automobile industry in the pipeline, so we are 
expecting a notable increase in investment activity from 
mid­2012 onwards. 

IN 2011, dürr rECEIvEd ITs LArGEsT EvEr OrdEr  

fOr AIrCrAfT AssEMBLY sYsTEMs frOM THE russIAN 

AIrCrAfT MANufACTurEr IrkuT. WHAT’s NExT IN 

THIs ArEA?

/ /  What counts at Irkut in Siberia are all those qualities 
that give us the edge in the aircraft business: interna­
tional performance, professional project management  
and state­of­the­art assembly systems. The project is an 
important milestone for us and gives us the opportunity  
to position ourselves strongly for further aircraft orders, 
both with Irkut and with other Russian aircraft manu­
facturers. Russia is pursuing the same goal as China, i.e.  
to become a key player in the global aircraft business  
in the medium term. To provide the production capacity 
 required for this, they need experienced partners that 
operate at a global level.

sO fAr, YOu HAvE ONLY TALkEd ABOuT THE BrIC 

COuNTrIEs. WHAT OTHEr GrOWTH MArkETs Is  

dürr fOCusING ON?

/ /  Mexico is of great interest to Dürr. Automobile manu­
facturers are rapidly expanding there and for us, too,  
the country is becoming increasingly important as a pro­
duction and engineering location in North America. We 
are therefore planning to increase our office and produc­

 22 million
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2011

36 38

2012*
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39
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42
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43

58
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44

60

tion space in Querétaro by a third. Another growth re­
gion is Southeast Asia with emerging countries such as 
Thailand, Indonesia and Malaysia. Experts are predict­ 
ing an average increase in automobile production there 
of around 10 % per year until 2016. After that, growth 
rates are likely to be even higher, as wealth and mobility 
among the population – we are talking about roughly half 
a billion people – will increase further.

HOW WILL dürr GAIN A fOOTHOLd IN sOuTHEAsT 

AsIA?

/ /  In Thailand, we have just completed a paint shop as 
well as an assembly line equipped with our own filling 
and test systems for a US carmaker. This shows that we 
can deliver over there. When looking to the future, we 
have to consider the high market share of the Japanese 
automobile industry in Southeast Asia, which exceeds 
75 %. In order to participate in the region’s market growth, 
we need good access to Japanese carmakers. For this rea­
son, we have acquired a 10 % stake in paint shop equip­
ment supplier Parker Engineering in Tokyo. Parker has 
well­established contacts in Japan, while Dürr provides 
products for joint projects. That is a key factor in convinc­
ing Japanese customers of the benefits of our products. 
In addition, we will soon open a test center for painting 
robots and appli cation  systems near Tokyo. And we have 
just set up a Dürr company in Thailand.

dürr Is ExPANdING ITs BusINEss IN ENvIrON-

MENTALLY frIENdLY ANd ENErGY-EffICIENT 

TECHNOLOGIEs. Is THErE ALrEAdY suffICIENT 

dEMANd fOr THIs IN THE EMErGING MArkETs?

/ /  Absolutely. The emerging markets have also recog­
nized that the strong growth of their economies is 
 putting habitats and resources at risk. In addition, they 
are beginning to understand that generating more 
 energy is no longer enough to ensure sufficient energy 
supply. Saving energy by means of efficient technologies 
is also a key factor. That, incidentally, is a central topic  
of the current Chinese five­year plan. It has set the goal 
of cutting energy consumption per unit of GDP by 16 % 
until 2015. Other emerging countries are pursuing a sim­
ilar path. In India, for instance, we are experiencing a 
growing  demand in exhaust air purification systems.

/ /  AuTOMOBILE PrOduCTION uNTIL 2017  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  
Million units 

*Forecast Source: pwc

 emerging markets

 Mature markets



Market leader
ACQuIsITIONs through strategic acquisitions we are penetrating new markets: 
in 2011, we acquired, among others, a majority interest in the Danish agramkow 
group. agramkow is the world market leader for filling systems for domestic 
appliances. a perfect complement to Dürr Somac, the largest supplier of filling 
equipment for the automotive industry. 

agramkow filling adaptor
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With the two brands Agramkow and Dürr Somac, 
we are the largest supplier of filling systems.

Whether refrigerators, air­conditioning units, or heat 
pumps: Agramkow systems are synonymous with reliable 
and efficient refrigerant filling. The company has been 
steadily expanding since it was founded in 1977 – thanks 
to leading technologies, international reach, and long­
term customer relationships. 

The outlook for future growth is also good. Global sales 
of household appliances are growing at an average rate 
of 3.4 % per year. The markets of Southeast Asia are 
becom ing more and more important: the number of first­
time buyers is growing as per capita incomes rise.  
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*Forecast Source: Freedonia

2010 

north america

Western europe

rest of World

asia / pacific

2015* 

15 %

15%

24 %

46 %

334 

395 

16 %

18 %

23 %

43 %

Refrigerators and air conditioning units are high up on 
the list of priorities alone for climatic reasons. To produce 
close to the market, manufacturers of domestic appli­ 
ances are building up local production capacities – and 
need modern filling systems.

Under Dürr’s roof, Agramkow can tap the market poten­
tial in Southeast Asia and other emerging markets to the 
full. For we have strong bases worldwide with the neces­
sary production, engineering and service resources. One 
example of the successful partnership between Agram­
kow and Dürr: shortly after joining the Group Agramkow 
won a large order from a Japanese manufacturer of 
household appliances in China. A key factor in winning 
the order was that our Chinese company Schenck Shang­
hai Machinery is making production facilities available  
so that Agramkow can meet the local content required by 
the customer. 

GrOWTH POTENTIAL ALsO IN THE AuTOMOTIvE 

INdusTrY

Dürr Somac stands for innovative fiLLing teChnoLogy 
as well but only addresses the automobile industry. The 
main stimulus for profitable growth in this segment is  
the introduction of the environment­friendly refrigerant 
R1234yf. R1234yf is the only refrigerant approved for 
new car models in the EU as from 2011. This is creating 

/ /   WOrLdWIdE dEMANd fOr HOusEHOLd APPLIANCEs: 

AsIA /PACIfIC rEGION dOMINATEs  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /

Million units

need for additional investment as special filling  systems 
are required for this refrigerant.

With the two established brands Agramkow and Dürr 
 Somac, we are by far the largest supplier in the world 
market for filling systems. That yields economies of scale 
– in sales, purchasing, or product development. Together, 
the two companies have around 300 employees and gen­
erate sales of approximately € 50 million. In the coming 
years we want to leverage our broad market and technol­
ogy base in filling equipment in order to grow faster  
than the market: our aim is to increase sales by 5 % to 
10 % per year.

/ / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /

GLOBAL rECYCLING AssIGNMENTs

Besides filling systems, agramkow also manufactures 
equipment for the environmentally clean disposal of re-
frigerants. these systems are mostly used in connection 
with environmental protection schemes organized by the 
World Bank and uniDO in developing and newly industri-
alizing countries. agramkow has been involved in recy-
cling projects in over 110 countries since 1977. 

/ / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /



Efficient production 
technology
ECO⊕EffICIENCY Dürr stands for efficient production technology worldwide. 
Our technologies reduce manufacturing and material costs and make our 
customers’ processes more sustainable – not only in the core business but  
also in new areas of business in the promising field of energy efficiency. 

Dürr cyplan Orc system
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/ /  THE dürr ECO⊕EffICIENCY sYsTEM  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  Enhancing production efficiency is Dürr´s core compe­
tence. That is attested by our customers throughout the 
world. They associate the Dürr brand name not only with 
global reach but above all with innovation,  engineering 
know­how and service quality. The bundling of these com­
petences enables us to develop solutions for every pro­
duction goal that are both cost efficient and sustainable. 
That is what the Dürr Eco ⊕Efficiency System stands for. 
Whether energy or material consumption, emissions, or 
flexibility: our aim is to optimize every parameter of  
our machines and systems so that the customer is able to 
produce more cost efficiently and sustainably. The cost 
ef ficiency must be measurable, either in the form of lower 
costs per unit or by reducing a product’s LifeCyCLe Costs.

The Eco ⊕Efficiency System is a key driver behind Dürr’s 
success. We have been able to win market share over the 
past years because we have developed numerous innova­
tions that lower costs and save resour ces. Just two exam­
ples: In paint systems technology we have reduced energy 
consumption per body from 1,500 to around 500 kilo watt 
hours. And our CENO balancing system consumes only 
5 % of the energy that was still required 15 years ago.

ENErGY EffICIENCY As A NEW BusINEss sEGMENT 

We are convinced that cost efficiency and sustainability 
will merge more and more as an investment motive. After 
all, optimizing the consumption of energy and resources 
is equally necessary from economic as well as environ­
mental considerations. And it is a factor that is becoming 
increasingly important in determining how a company is 
perceived externally, affecting its image and sales poten­
tial. Against this backdrop, we are deliberately focusing 
on the development of sustainable technologies – both in 
the core business and in the Clean Techn ology Systems 
division that was created at the beginning of 2011 and is 
pursuing new activities in the area of  energy efficiency. 

Clean Technology Systems bundles our activities in ex­
haust air purification and industrial waste heat recovery. 
We will be taking this business further forward strategi­
cally: through acquisitions and with the development of 
new processes, we are building a technology portfolio 
with which we can support customers in optimizing their 
production from energy aspects – regardless of industry 
and company size. Clean Technology Systems is geared 
to global growth. For companies are investing in energy 
efficiency not only in North America and Western Europe 
but increasingly in the emerging markets as well. 

OrC sYsTEMs: ELECTrIC POWEr frOM WAsTE HEAT

ORC technology is an important building block in our 
portfolio of energy efficiency processes. ORC stands for 
Organic Rankine Cycle – a steam turbine process that 
uses the waste heat from stationary internal combustion 

engines to produce electric power. Organic fluids are 
used for the evaporation process. This offers an impor­
tant advantage: organic media evaporate at lower tem­
peratures than water so the ORC process can be used at 
lower heat levels. The technology therefore makes it 
 possible to recover waste heat which previously could  
not be used to generate electric power. 

Thanks to their compact construction, our ORC systems 
can be coupled easily with decentralized heat sources 
such as stationary internal combustion engines or biogas 
engines, also where space is limited. Another advantage: 
we can adapt our systems flexibly to the output of the  
given waste heat source. 

We gained access to the ORC technology through our 50 % 
equity interest in the German start­up company Cyplan. 
Cyplan has developed a range of different systems in col­
laboration with the Fraunhofer­Institut UMSICHT (Ober­
hausen, Germany). We have been driving the marketing 
of the ORC systems under the brand name Dürr Cyplan 
since May 2011.

NEW MArkETs ANd A BrOAd TArGET GrOuP

The ORC technology is particularly interesting for opera­
tors of biogas and combined heat and power cogenera­
tion plants. Recovery of the waste heat increases the over­
all efficiency of the plants. ORC can also be used to pro­
duce electric power with the waste heat from industrial 
processes. The technology offers advantages for engine 
manufacturers, too, as a combination of combustion unit 
and ORC system can add value for customers. We will also 

/ /  process  
efficiency

/ /  planning  
efficiency

/ /  Maintenance  
efficiency

/ /  efficiency through  
flexibility

/ /  emission  
efficiency

/ /  energy  
efficiency

/ /  Material  
efficiency

/ /   Space  
efficiency

ECO⊕EffICIENCY 

sYsTEM

lower per unit costs  

lower life cycle costs  

Optimized ecobalance
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CONdENsEr

TurBO-
GENErATOr

ELECTrICITY

EvAPOrATOr

/ /  OrC TECHNOLOGY: GENErATING ELECTrICITY frOM WAsTE HEAT  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  

Orc is a thermal cycle process which uses thermal energy to 
generate electricity. First, hot exhaust gas from the heat source 
(e.g. an internal combustion engine) is fed into the Orc mod-
ule. in the module, liquid hydrocarbon – the working fluid –  
is evaporated using the thermal energy. the steam passes to  
a  turbogenerator under pressure, where part of the thermal 
 energy is converted into electricity. the steam is then recon-
densed in a condenser at low temperatures. a pump feeds  
the working fluid back into the evaporator.

/ /  sTEAM suPPLY PIPE
the hot steam passes from the evaporator 
to a turbogenerator under pressure.

/ /  CONTrOL CABINET
Our Orc systems are delivered 
as complete modules ready for 
connection, including control 
cabinets for system control. 

/ /  EvAPOrATOr
the hot exhaust gas is used to  
evaporate liquid hydrocarbon.

/ /  TurBOGENErATOr
the steam is released, creating 

 mechanical energy which drives the 
generator coupled to the turbine.

COOLEd ExHAusT GAs fLOWs 
OuT Of THE OrC MOduLE

HOT ExHAusT GAs (WAsTE HEAT)  
Is fEd INTO THE OrC MOduLE

rEMOvAL Of 
rEsIduAL HEAT

PuBLIC POWEr GrId

PuBLIC POWEr GrId

rEMOvAL Of  
rEsIduAL HEAT

HEAT sOurCE
(e.g. industrial  
waste heat, engine 
waste heat)

OrC MOduLE

ELECTrICITY
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4queStiOnS 
aDDreSSeD tO

be offering the ORC technology together with our thermal 
exhaust air purification systems. 

Our R&D center in Bietigheim­Bissingen provides ideal 
conditions for further developing the ORC technology.
The Dürr Cyplan systems are extremely stable in opera­
tion and are technologically at the top end of the league. 
We are focusing on the direct evaporation technology 
where the waste heat from the heat source flows directly 
into the ORC system. This makes for a higher temperature 
level, and it also does away with the need to integrate a 
complex intermediate heat transfer circuit. This lowers 
the system’s own power  requirements while increasing  
its energy yield and life.

MICrO GAs TurBINE ANd HEAT ExCHANGEr

We are rounding out our technology portfolio with other 
processes besides ORC. One example is micro gas turbine 
technology, which generates electric power from gas – 
with far less emissions than conventional internal com­
bustion engines. In a research project we are working on 
the combination of thermal exhaust air purification and 
micro gas turbine. In future, we will also be combining 
micro gas turbines with our body dryers for paint shops. 

Through a 15 % equity interest in the Dutch specialist 
HeatMatrix we are positioning ourselves in heat exchang­
er technology. HeatMatrix develops innovative plastic 
heat exChangers which offer a number of advantages: 
they are cheaper and lighter than metal heat  exchangers 
and they can also be used without difficulty with corro­
sive media. This makes them ideal, for instance, for heat 
recovery from flue gases. 

jOcHen Fink, Managing DirectOr OF Dürr cyplan ltD.

OrC TECHNOLOGY GOEs BACk TO THE 19TH CENTurY. 

WHAT ArE THE rEAsONs fOr ITs rEdIsCOvErY TOdAY?

/ /  The industrial use of ORC technology is closely linked 
with the level of energy prices. Energy is becoming more 
and more expensive, with the result that electric power 
can now be produced competitively with ORC systems in 
many applications. A few years ago the situation was 
quite different because energy prices were much lower. 
The technology is also profiting from the trend towards 
decentralized energy supply with smaller combined heat 
and power cogeneration units.

WHY dECENTrALIzEd ENErGY suPPLY?

/ /  Fuels can be used most efficiently if the thermal ener­
gy released when generating electric power is also 
 recovered. This is easier with decentralized energy sup­
ply systems than on large power stations. Small com­
bined heat and power cogeneration units today achieve 
astonishingly high efficiencies, making their localized 
use attractive, for instance in factories, office buildings, 
or district heating systems. For industry, another impor­
tant factor is that it is able to cover part of its power re­
quirements itself – in the interest of security of supply 
and a certain independence from utility companies.

WHY Is OrC TECHNOLOGY suITABLE fOr 

dECENTrALIzEd usE?

/ /  ORC technology’s strength is its ability to adapt to 
the temperature level of the respective waste heat 
source. For different working fluids can be used depend­
ing on the given temperature. This means it can use  
heat sources that cannot be tapped by any other energy 
conversion system.

WHAT rOLE dOEs dürr GrOuP’s NETWOrk PLAY IN  

THE OrC MArkETING?

/ /  A technology never evolves by itself. It needs custom­
ers that recognize its benefits, and it needs companies  
like Dürr that back it with their entire energies and know­
how. As an experienced machinery and plant engineer, 
Dürr has precisely the competences needed for a success­
ful marketing and industrialization: from sales and 
engineering, via purchasing, to project management. 
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Dürr at a glance: 
Organization and activities

1 Asia (excluding Japan), Mexico, Brazil, and Eastern Europe

profile

Dürr is a worldwide leading mechanical and plant engineering group that generates a good 80 % 
of its sales revenues with production technology for automobile manufacturers and their sup­
pliers. Other areas in which our solutions contribute to more efficiency in production include, for 
example, aircraft and machinery construction, the chemical, pharmaceutical, and electrical in­
dustries, and the energy sector. About half of our business is attributable to plant engineering, and 
half to mechanical engineering. The Dürr Group is positioned globally. We operate facilities at  
49 locations in 22 countries. Besides our activities in North America and Western Europe, we are 
strongly represented in the emerging markets1. They accounted for 65 % of our order intake in 
the year under review, and 31 % of our workforce. Germany is where 46 % of our employees work.

Group structure: holdinG company, divisions, and business units

Dürr AG performs Group­wide functions as a management holding company. Those include, for 
example, financing, Group controlling and consolidation as well as legal affairs, internal auditing, 
and corporate communication. 

We have organized our operating activities into four divisions, which form reporting segments  
as defined by International Financing Reporting Standards (IFRS):

■■ Paint and Assembly Systems
■■ Application Technology
■■ Measuring and Process Systems
■■ Clean Technology Systems

The reporting of Application Technology as a division in its own right is new. This unit was inclu­
ded in the Paint and Assembly Systems division until the end of 2011. The current report states 
the figures for Application Technology separately for the first time. We are thereby increasing the 
transparency of our segment reporting. We are also putting more emphasis on the high­tech 
character of ApplicAtion technology, where the product range includes, for example, painting 
robots and high-speed rotAting Atomizers. To facilitate period comparison, figures on App­
lication Technology are also shown separately in the segment reporting for 2010 in this annual 
 report. We have adjusted the figures that were shown for Paint and Assembly Systems in the 
2010 annual report accordingly. 

Set up in the beginning of 2011, the Clean Technology Systems division pursues two main objec­
tives. Those are global expansion of our established environmental systems business with ex­
haust air purification technology and development of new activities in the area of energy efficiency. 
Further information on Clean Technology Systems is presented in the chapter on strAtegy.

The four divisions are further organized into seven business units. An overview of the Group’s 
structure is presented in table 2.1. 
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management hOlding COmpanY diviSiOnS* BuSineSS unitS

� �  Dürr AG � �  Paint and Assembly Systems � �  Paint and Final Assembly Systems

� �  Aircraft and Technology Systems 

� �  Application Technology � �  Application Technology 

� �  Measuring and Process Systems � �  Balancing and Assembly Products 

� �  Cleaning and Filtration Systems

� �  Clean Technology Systems � �  Environmental and Energy Systems

� �  Energy Technology Systems 

* Reporting segments

� �  Group structure  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  2.1

business units and market positions

Paint and Final Assembly Systems plans and builds turnkey paint shops and final assembly lines 
for the automobile industry. As a systems partner, we assume all the tasks of project execution, 
from layout and detailed planning to system start­up. In the area of paint systems, we offer hard­
ware and software solutions for all process stages. Our core products include systems for 
pretreAtment and cAthodic dip-coAting that clean and pretreat the vehicle body shell and 
coat it to protect against corrosion. Other important products include spraying booths for the 
 application of primer, base, and clear coats, paint separation systems, drying ovens and con­
veyor systems, and the related control and supervisory control systems. Together with App­
lication Technology, this makes us the world’s only systems supplier that develops and delivers 
paint  systems and ApplicAtion technology from a single source. We are at the top of the com­
petition with a world market share of over 50 %, followed by two companies from Japan and Ger­
many. In addition, there are significantly smaller suppliers from the United States, China, and 
 Japan that concentrate on regional niches.

Aircraft and Technology Systems specializes in paint and assembly systems for aircraft construc­
tion. The unit was established in 2008 to develop this previously peripheral activity into a full­
fledged business field. One reason we see growth opportunities is that the aircraft industry is 
 increasingly consolidating its supplier base and seeking systems partners for larger order pack­
ages. Another is that proven technologies from the area of highly automated automobile produc­
tion are more and more frequently finding application in aircraft production. Our FAStplant 
 assembly system is a good example. It was originally developed for automobile factories, but is 
now also used in wing assembly and aircraft engine production. Our core competences are 
 development and construction of turnkey plants for painting aircraft and for positioning and join­
ing preassembled aircraft components. In the relevant aircraft business, we are also among the 
leading companies worldwide. Since the competitive environment is still relatively fragmented, 
the market shares of all suppliers are in the single­digit percentage range. Besides aircraft pro­
duction technology, Dürr Consulting also belongs to the Aircraft and Technology Systems business 
unit. It advises customers from different sectors, including the automobile and wind energy indus­
tries, for example, on planning and optimizing production processes.
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Application Technology generates about 85 % of its sales revenues with solutions for the automated 
spray application of paint. Its most important products are the EcoBell3, a high-speed rotAting 

Atomizer, which we introduced in the beginning of 2010, and the EcoRP painting robot family. 
Other hardware and software solutions from Application Technology serve, for example, the 
functions of paint supply, quality assurance, and process control and evaluation. With a world mar­
ket share of over 50 %, we rank first among competitors. Our three most important competitors, 
which each have a market share of about 15 %, are manufacturers of industrial robots. Besides 
paint application technology, we are targeting expansion in two related business areas:  
seAling technology and glueing technology. Sealing applications are employed in automobile 
paint shops in seam sealing, underbody protection, and injection of insulating materials. Glueing 
technology is used to join components in automobile body construction. It is increasingly replac­
ing welding there, since new combinations of non­weldable materials are being used on the 
 principle of lightweight design. We also supply glueing applications for vehicle final assembly 
that are used, for example, in bonding windows, glass roofs, and cockpits. 

Balancing and Assembly Products is active in two areas: bAlAncing And diAgnostic systems, on 
the one hand, and assembly, test, and filling systems for automobile final assembly, on the 
other. Our Schenck balancing products are used in many different industries, and a market share 
of about 40 % makes us the world’s largest supplier. The three next­largest competitors com­
bined have a market share of 25 %. The products in our range for which demand is currently the 
highest are balancing systems for crankshafts and turbochargers and for general mechanical en­
gineering, the energy sector, and the aviation industry. We are likewise the world market leader in 
assembly, testing, and filling systems. In a fragmented competitive environment, our market 
shares range between 25 % and 30 %. The most important products are test stands for wheel geo­
metry, brakes and electronics, mArriAge stAtions in which vehicle body and drive train are 
joined, and systems for filling vehicles with necessary operating media (for example, air condition­
ing refrigerant, transmission fluid, and brake fluid). The Balancing and Assembly Products unit 
also includes the Agramkow Group, in which we acquired a 55 % interest in 2011.

Cleaning and Filtration Systems is the world market leader in industriAl cleAning technology, 
with a share of about 30 %, and the only globally operating supplier in this area. Our main 
 competitors are primarily middle­market firms that operate mostly in their home markets. Besides 
cleaning systems that remove dirt particles left in workpieces after mechanical processing, our 
product range also includes filtrAtion systems and automation technology for linking different 
stations in manufacturing processes. On this basis, we not only supply stand­alone machines  
and equipment, but also serve as a systems supplier and outfit complete engine and transmission 
production lines. Our international reach enables us to outfit a customer’s automobile factories  
in different countries with uniform technology (common tooling). Our most important products 
at present are the EcoCFlex robot cleaning system, the EcoCTrans trAnsfer cleAning system, 
and the EcoCBase compact cleaning system.

Environmental and Energy Systems plans and builds environmental engineering systems that re­
move pollutants such as solvents, for example, from industrial exhaust air. Originally specializing 
in exhaust air purification for automobile paint shops, this business unit today generates about 
80 % of its sales revenues in other sectors including especially the chemical and pharmaceutical 
industry, but also printing, woodworking, and carbon fiber production. We offer all current meth­
ods of exhaust air purification, and in most cases, we install thermal equipment in which the pol­
lutants are incinerated. Increasingly often, we outfit our equipment with systems for recovering 
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energy. On the one hand, they allow more efficient utilization of the primary energy expended 
for pollutant incineration. On the other, they render the energy released during the incineration 
process usable. Our customers are trying harder to find ways to reduce the energy consumption  
of their production processes. We are therefore systematically expanding our competence in the 
area of energy efficiency. An example of this is the 50 % stake that we acquired in Cyplan Ltd. 
in mid­2011. This start­up company, now called Dürr Cyplan Ltd., develops and builds innovative 
Organic Rankine Cycle (ORC) systems, which convert waste heat into electrical energy with the 
help of an evaporation process. We have a market share of 40 % to 50 % in exhaust air purifica­
tion technology for automotive paint shops. Outside the automotive industry, the competitive 
 environment is more fragmented, but we are also among the world’s leading suppliers there with 
a market share of about 12 %.

Energy Technology Systems took shape as a business unit in the beginning of 2011 with the objec­
tive of developing additional fields of activity in the area of energy efficiency. In February 2012, 
the business unit acquired a 15 % equity interest in the Dutch HeatMatrix Group BV, which devel­
ops and produces innovative plastic heAt exchAngers. In addition, Energy Technology Systems 
has reviewed a number of further technologies and possible acquisitions and is now engaged in 
advanced negotiations with certain target enterprises. The business unit focuses on promising 
techniques that may contribute to optimizing the energy balance in a broad range of sectors and 
processes. Since Energy Technology Systems is in the start­up phase, it has not generated any 
sales revenues yet.

extensive ranGe of services 

We have always put great emphasis on service, because our customers regard it as a feature  
that importantly distinguishes us from the competition. Our range of services includes planning, 
remodeling, modernizing, optimizing, and relocating plants and machinery as well as software 
updates, training, repairs, and replacement parts. We are systematically expanding this business. 
In 2011, sales revenues generated Group­wide in service business grew by 23.1 % to € 445.4
 million (previous year: € 362.0 million). More than proportionate increases of new machinery and 
plant business led to a decline in the share of sales revenues from services to 23.2 % (previous 
year: 28.7 %). As of the balance sheet date, the services area had 860 employees, or 13 % of the 
Group’s workforce (December 31, 2010: 770 employees/13 %). Each national company has its 
own service manager who coordinates and develops service activities. Worldwide, we operate  
48 service bases (“antennas”) located on or near customers’ production premises. 

tip: technoloGy and industry park in darmstadt

Schenck Technologie­ und Industriepark GmbH (TIP) is an activity of the Measuring and Process 
Systems division not conducted as a business unit in its own right. As a real estate service pro­
vider, TIP manages and markets office, production, and warehouse space in Darmstadt, the location 
of Schenck’s headquarters. The space for rent amounts to 134,000 m2 on 105,000 m2 of land, of 
which offices account for 53 %.

p. 224
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� �  activities and customer Groups  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  2.2

PAinT AnD ASSEMBly SySTEMS DiviSiOn

BuSineSS unit BuSineSS tYpe aCtivitieS CuStOmeR gROupS

Paint and Final Assembly 

Systems

� �  Plant engineering � �  Complete paint shops 

� �  individual painting process stations

� �  Services

� �  Final assembly systems

� �  Automobile manufacturers

� �  Automotive suppliers

� �  General industry (e.g., construction 

equipment and farm machinery) 

Aircraft and Technology 

Systems 

� �  Plant engineering � �  Assembly and paint systems for  

aircraft production

� �  Services

� �  Aircraft manufacturers 

� �  Aircraft industry suppliers 

� �  Consulting � �  Consulting � �  Automobile manufacturers

� �  Automotive suppliers 

� �  General industry

APPliCATiOn TEChnOlOGy DiviSiOn

BuSineSS unit BuSineSS tYpe aCtivitieS CuStOmeR gROupS

Application Technology � �  Mechanical engineering � �  Products for automated spray painting 

� �  Sealing technology

� �  Glueing technology

� �  Services

� �  Automobile manufacturers

� �  Automotive suppliers

� �  General industry (e.g., construction 

equipment, farm machinery, and wind 

turbines)

MEASuRinG AnD PROCESS SySTEMS DiviSiOn

BuSineSS unit BuSineSS tYpe aCtivitieS CuStOmeR gROupS

Balancing and Assembly 

Products 

� �  Mechanical engineering � �  Balancing and diagnostic systems

� �  Assembly technology for vehicle final 

assembly

� �  Testing technology for vehicle final 

assembly  

� �  Filling technology 

� �  Services

� �  Automobile manufacturers

� �  Automotive suppliers 

� �  Electrical engineering / electronics

� �  Turbines / power stations

� �  Mechanical engineering

� �  Aerospace industry

� �  household appliance industry 

Cleaning and  

Filtration Systems

� �  Mechanical engineering � �  industrial cleaning systems

� �  Automation technology (workpiece 

handling and linking of machining 

centers)

� �  Filtration systems 

� �  Services

� �  Automobile manufacturers

� �  Automotive suppliers

� �  Electrical engineering / electronics

� �  Mechanical engineering

� �  Aerospace industry

� �  Medical and laboratory equipment

ClEAn TEChnOlOGy SySTEMS DiviSiOn

BuSineSS unit BuSineSS tYpe aCtivitieS CuStOmeR gROupS

Environmental and  

Energy Systems

� �  Plant engineering � �  Exhaust air purification systems

� �  Energy management and consulting

� �  Services

� �  Organic Rankine Cycle systems

� �  Chemical industry

� �  Pharmaceutical industry

� �  Carbon fiber production

� �  Printing / coating

� �  Automobile manufacturers (paint shops)

� �  Automotive suppliers (paint shops)

� �  Woodworking

� �  Operators of biogas plants, 

cogeneration power plants, and 

stationary combustion engines

Energy Technology  

Systems

� �  Component business

� �  Plant engineering

� �  Development of new business fields 

in the area of energy efficiency 

� �  Process industry

� �  Energy sector

� �  General industry
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leGal structure

Dürr AG holds 100 % interests in Dürr Systems GmbH, Carl Schenck AG, Dürr International GmbH, 
and Dürr IT Service GmbH. The first three of these companies in turn hold direct or indirect 
 interests in all the other 53 Group companies. As a rule, those are 100 % interests, as presented 
in the overview under item 44 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. As the 
 ultimate holding company, Dürr AG has entered into profit/loss transfer agreements with Dürr 
Systems GmbH, Carl Schenck AG, Dürr International GmbH, and Dürr IT Service GmbH. The 
members of the Boards of Management of Dürr AG and Carl Schenck AG and the managing direc­
tors of Dürr Systems GmbH are represented in the supervisory boards of all material foreign 
companies. 

acquisitions � shareholdinG purchases

As announced, we further expanded our position in our core business and in new areas of tech­
nology in 2011 by means of targeted acquisitions. 

■■ In May 2011, we purchased 55 % of the shares in Agramkow Fluid Systems A/S. Founded in 
1977, this Danish firm is the world market leader in equipment for filling household appliances 
and heat pumps with refrigerants. Its product range also includes systems for ecologically 
sound disposal of harmful refrigerants.

■■ Also in May 2011, we acquired in the area of paint technology a 10 % shareholding in our 
 Japanese partner firm Parker Engineering Co., Ltd. That improves our access to Japanese cus­
tomers, especially in the fast­growing region of Southeast Asia. In a reciprocating move, the 
Parker parent company, Nihon Parkerizing Co. Ltd., acquired 0.4 % of the shares in Dürr AG 
in July 2011. 

■■ The 50 % shareholding in Cyplan Ltd. purchased in May 2011 is our first acquisition in the area 
of energy efficiency systems. This German start­up company was founded in 2007 and has 
 successfully advanced the development of Organic Rankine Cycle (ORC) technology. ORC systems 
generate electricity by evaporating organic fluids with the help of waste heat. The company 
 operates under the name Dürr Cyplan Ltd. in the Dürr corporate network. Important fields in 
which ORC technology is used include biogas plants, cogeneration power plants, and statio­
nary combustion engines as well as industrial processes that generate waste heat. We also plan 
to equip some of our systems for thermal exhaust air purification with ORC technology.

Further information concerning our acquisitions is presented in table 2.3, in the chapter on 
strAtegy and under items 4 and 19 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

business processes � process advantaGes

Planning, engineering and design, and order execution are our most important business proces­
ses, especially in plant engineering. Professional project management is the key to smooth order 
execution. Our project managers perform a complex management task. They guide not only a 
team of co­workers from different areas but also many suppliers, and both across international 
borders. They furthermore bear full responsibility for observing deadlines, quality standards, 
and budgets. Executing a large­scale project takes 12 to 24 months in plant engineering and, as 
a rule, two to six months in mechanical engineering. 

p. 219 
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� �  processes in plant enGineerinG  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  2.4

Start-upTechnical 
analysis

DesignPlanning Bid Manufacture installation Final 
acceptance

pROjeCt inquiRY 
fROm CuStOmeR

planning phaSe ORdeR 
intaKe

deliveRY ORdeR 

� �  acquisitions and shareholdinG purchases  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  2.3

 Shareholding
First 

consolidated

Date of  
shareholding 

purchase

Sales  
revenues  

in 2011
number of 

employees1
Purchase 

price Goodwill2

Paint and Final Assembly Systems

parker engineering co., ltd. 10 % –3 May 17, 2011

About  

€ 60 million 242 € 2.0 million –

Balancing and Assembly Products

agramkow fluid systems a�s 55 % May 24, 2011 May 24, 2011 € 18.2 million 107 € 8.2 million € 1.9 million

Environmental and Energy Systems

cyplan ltd. 50 % –3 May 25, 2011 Start-up 1 € 3.5 million –

1 At the time of first consolidation or shareholding purchase
2 included in purchase price
3 Parker Engineering enters the consolidated financial statements as a financial holding; Cyplan is stated according to the equity method.

Execution of large­scale orders involves many departments and Dürr facilities. A project’s eco­
nomic success heavily depends on how well the various participants in the process cooperate. 
We have therefore harmonized and coordinated our workflows in the bid phase, order execution, 
service, and overhead worldwide. To avoid interface problems, duplication of work, and errors, 
uniform methods and instruments have been developed, for example, calculation tools and check­
lists for selecting suppliers. Parallel to the harmonization of processes, we have implemented a 
Group­wide integrated erp system that depicts our business processes on the IT side. It creates 
transparency, reduces interfaces, and automates workflows. At present, the emphasis of process 
optimization is on supporting the strongly growing business locations in the emerging markets as 
effectively as possible. Besides uniform IT systems, we also rely on temporary foreign deployment 
of experts, training of foreign employees in Germany, and international knowledge transfer. 

customer relations

Our customers include all major automobile manufacturers worldwide and many of their parts 
suppliers. We maintain close relationships with these companies because our business is techni­
cally sophisticated and geared to the long term, and requires constant coordination with custo­
mers. Larger projects have long lead times, during which we act as a planning partner and advise 
our customers. Moreover, large automobile factories continuously need service and upgrading. 
We also work closely with our customers in product development so that we can take their future 
needs into account early. 

p. 224
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Business with other sectors such as the chemical, pharmaceutical, and aircraft construction indus­
tries is likewise characterized by close cooperation on projects with customers. We are enlar­
ging our customer base in aircraft business, after having worked almost exclusively for one aircraft 
manufacturer from Europe in the past. We have acquired 16 new customers worldwide since 2008.

supplier relations

Our supplier pool includes over 10,000 companies, most of which are parts and components sup­
pliers and contract manufacturers. We enter into international framework agreements for the 
procurement of key product groups such as pumps, drives, and fittings to ensure that our plants 
and construction sites are supplied. To that end, we choose highly capable preferred suppliers, 
with whom we maintain long­term business relationships. In this connection, we especially 
 emphasize the ability to deliver internationally. It is the basis for efficiently bundling the needs  
of several Group companies. Further information is presented in the chapter on procurement. 

features of our business model

As an engineering enterprise, we see our core competence in planning efficient production proces­
ses and realizing the machinery and equipment that they require. Our in­house production is 
 relatively low and mainly comprises high­tech and core products as well as selected standard 
components. The vertical depth of production is about 30 % in mechanical engineering, and 
about 20 % in plant engineering. Dürr’s capital intensity and fixed cost base are therefore com­
paratively low. That positively affects our return on capital employed and enables us to react 
more flexibly to cyclical fluctuations of orders.

In plant engineering, we maintain minimal net working cApitAl (NWC), which is even negative 
at times. This means that set against inventories and receivables in current assets are trade 
 payables in the same or higher amount. In mechanical engineering, we need on average about 
100 days to convert our NWC into sales revenues (days working capital). In the Group as a whole, 
the days working capital performance indicator stands at 6 days, while our target is 20 – 25 days.

The low Asset intensity of our business entails a likewise relatively low need of capital expen­
diture. The expertise of our employees is much more important than our tangible assets. This 
business model allows us to expand into new regions and related business fields at low expense. 
Our experience and broad knowledge base and the Group’s international network are decisive 
competitive advantages in opening up business fields with high technological entry barriers.

In line with the low vertical depth of production, our purchasing volume (including purchased 
services) amounts to 49 % of sales revenues. To limit the effects of price fluctuations, our project 
calculations always take current costs of materials into account. In mechanical engineering,  
we mainly purchase semi­finished products. Their prices are usually less volatile than raw material 
prices, especially since we often enter into framework agreements in which they are fixed for  
the medium term.

p. 105 
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Our currency risk is comparatively low. Translation effects arising from the conversion of foreign 
currency items into euros are the main factor to consider. Transaction effects such as are typical 
in export business play a smaller role. That is because the bulk of our value addition and pur­
chasing takes place in the countries where orders are executed. Our export ratio is therefore low 
in most cases. 

Many of our projects have a lead time of several months, and larger projects even take one to  
two years to plan and prepare. This results in good visibility regarding future development of 
our orders and sales revenues. 

business locations and division of labor within the Group

Our largest business location is the Dürr Campus in Bietigheim­Bissingen. It serves as the hub 
for the international business of the Paint and Assembly Systems, Application Technology und 
Clean Technology Systems divisions. Over 1,500 employees work at this modern office, techno­
logy, and assembly complex, which opened in summer 2009. At the Dürr Campus, we operate the 
world’s largest development facility for paint systems, testing and demonstration equipment for 
glueing and environmental technologies, and an educational facility for customers and employees. 
Darmstadt is our center of competence for bAlAncing technology, while Monschau is the main 
location for industriAl cleAning systems. 

Our largest business location abroad is Shanghai, where 1,006 persons are regularly employed 
and where 1,344 work when external leased staff are included. In the beginning of 2012, we 
 opened a new production center for plant engineering in Shanghai that offers three times more 
production space than we had before, while we also continue to use our existing production 
 facility in the foreseeable future. We are erecting another new facility in Shanghai for our me­
chanical engineering business. Previously based at different locations, these activities are to 
operate in a jointly occupied complex with almost 35,000 m2 of production and office space from 
mid­2013 onward. Considering all facilities in Shanghai together, in both plant and mechanical 
engineering, we will be represented there as of 2013 on a scale comparable to that of the Dürr 
Campus in Bietigheim­Bissingen. 

We have also built up additional capacities and competences at the emerging market locations of 
São Paulo (Brazil) and Chennai and Delhi (India) in the past years. In Querétaro (Mexico), we 
plan to enlarge existing office and production space by one­third. We have 587 employees in the 
United States, concentrated particularly in the Greater Detroit area. We increased the workforce 
there last year because of utilization, after having had to downsize significantly in the preceding 
years. 

Group guidelines, process standards, and IT architectures clearly determine in the Dürr network 
how Group companies cooperate on cross­border systems projects in plant engineering. The 
 System Center in Bietigheim­Bissingen always assumes the task of project leadership in connec­
tion with large­scale orders in the Paint and Assembly Systems division. Companies based in 
 foreign countries are responsible for local sales and service and support order execution, for exam­
ple, in engineering, purchasing, and production. Our international activities in mechanical 
 engineering are also largely directed and supported by the principal German business locations.

p. 224
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geRmanY

 Bernried1, 2

 Bietigheim-Bissingen1, 2

 Braunschweig

 Darmstadt1, 2 

 Filderstadt1, 2 

 Grenzach-Wyhlen1, 2 

 Monschau1, 2 

 Ochtrup1 

 Püttlingen1, 2 

 Stollberg1, 2 

 Wolfsburg1, 2

euROpe

 Zistersdorf 1 (A) 

 Rheineck1, 2 (Ch)

 Oslavany-Padochov1 (CZ) 

 Sonderborg 1, 2 (DK) 

 Madrid 2 (E) 

 San Sebastián 2 (E) 

 valladolid (E) 

 viladecans 2 (E) 

 Cergy-Pontoise1 (F)

 Guyancourt 2 (F)

 loué1, 2 (F)

 uxegney1, 2 (F)

 Warwick1, 2 (GB)

 Beinasco1, 2 (i)

 novegro di Segrate 2 (i) 

 Paderno Dugnano (i) 

 Rodano1, 2 (i) 

 Rotterdam (nl) 

 Radom1, 2 (Pl) 

 Moscow (RuS) 

 St. Petersburg (RuS) 

 Bratislava (SK) 

 istanbul (TR)

ameRiCa

 São Paulo1, 2 (BR) 

 Querétaro1, 2 (MEX)

  Auburn hills1, 2 

Michigan (uSA) 

  Bowling Green1 

Ohio (uSA) 

  Deer Park1 

new york (uSA) 

  Plymouth1, 2 

Michigan (uSA) 

  Wixom1 

Michigan (uSA)

aSia, afRiCa

 Beijing (Cn) 

 Shanghai1, 2 (Cn)

 Chennai1, 2 (inD) 

 Delhi1, 2 (inD) 

 Osaka1 (J) 

 yokohama 2 (J) 

 Seoul 2 (ROK) 

 Port Elizabeth 2 (ZA) 

1 Production or assembly location 2 Engineering location The other locations mainly perform sales and service functions.

� �  principal dürr locations  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  2.5
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report on relationships with associated enterprises

In conformity with Section 312 of the German Stock Corporation Act, the Board of Management 
of Dürr AG has prepared a report on relationships with associated enterprises, in which it makes 
the following concluding declaration: “Our company and the enterprises associated with our 
company received fair and reasonable consideration in each transaction listed in the report on 
relationships with associated enterprises. This assessment is based on circumstances known to 
us at the time the events to be reported took place.”

disclosures pursuant to sections 289 (4) and 315 (4) of the  

German commercial code (hGb) 

■■ Structure of subscribed capital: Dürr AG’s subscribed capital is divided into 17,300,520 bearer 
common shares with full voting rights. The rights and obligations arising from the ownership 
of common shares are regulated in the German Stock Corporation Act.

■■ Restrictions on voting rights / transfer of shares and related agreements: In the context of estate 
law provisions, Heinz Dürr GmbH and Heinz und Heide Dürr Stiftung GmbH are preparing to 
enter a pool agreement / vote­binding agreement regarding their holdings of Dürr AG shares. 
Together, Heinz Dürr GmbH and Heinz und Heide Dürr Stiftung GmbH currently hold 29.97 % 
of the voting rights. Furthermore, the Board of Management is aware of no pool agreements 
among the shareholders of Dürr AG. Legal voting right limitations exist pursuant to Section 28 
S. 1 (breach of disclosure obligations) of the German Securities Trading Act and Section 71b 
(rights arising from own shares) and Section 136 (1) (voting right exclusion in the case of certain 
conflicts of interest) of the German Stock Corporation Act.

■■ Shareholdings that exceed 10 %: Heinz Dürr GmbH holds 26.5 % of Dürr AG’s capital stock. 
 Taking into account the shares held by Heinz und Heide Dürr Stiftung GmbH (3.47 %), the 
Dürr family controls 29.97 % of the shares (as of February 2012).

■■ Shares conferring special rights: There are no shares of Dürr AG that confer special rights. 

■■ Voting right control of any employee stock ownership plan where the control rights are not exercised 

directly by the employees: There are no employee stock ownership plans where the control 
rights are not exercised directly by the employees.

■■ Rules governing the appointment and replacement of members of the Board of Management : The 
 applicable statutory rules are set forth in Sections 84 and 85 of the German Stock Corporation 
Act and in Section 31 of the German Co­determination Act. Dürr AG’s articles of incorporation 
do not contain any provisions that diverge from the statutory rules.

■■ Rules governing amendment of the articles of incorporation: Section 179 of the German Stock 
Corpo ration Act requires the approval of the annual general meeting for amendments of the 
articles of incorporation. If it is not a matter of changing the corporate purpose of the com­
pany, a simple majority of the capital stock represented in the voting is sufficient as provided 
by Section 20 (1) of the articles of incorporation. Pursuant to Section 4 (4) and Section 5 of 
the articles of incorporation, the Supervisory Board is authorized upon utilization of the con­
ditional or authorized capital to amend the wording of the articles of incorporation to reflect 
the extent of the utilization.

■■ Powers of the Board of Management to issue or buy back shares: Information on this point may be 
found in item 25 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

p. 178 
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■■ Agreements in the event of a change of control following a takeover bid: Section 5 of the terms of 
our corporate bond provides that the bondholders have the right to demand early redemption  
of their bonds by Dürr AG in case of a change of control. The redemption amount in that case 
will be 101 % of the face value plus accrued and unpaid interest up to the redemption date. 
A change of control occurs when one or more persons acting in concert have become the legal 
or economic owner of more than 50 % of the common shares of Dürr AG. Such covenants are 
customary practice and are included in comparable form in the terms of the bonds of other issu­
ers. They serve to protect the interests of the bondholders.

The terms of our syndicated loan stipulate that in the event of a change of control, no additional 
cash drawings or applications for guarantees may be made. In addition, all credit commitments 
may be called by the majority banks so that the entire syndicated loan would have to be repaid. 
The agent representing the interests of the banking syndicate must be informed about a 
change of control immediately after it becomes known. A change of control is deemed to take 
place if (i) Dürr AG becomes a directly or indirectly dependent enterprise of a different person 
apart from those members of the Dürr family who were direct or indirect shareholders of Dürr 
AG when the amended version of the loan agreement was signed or of a company that is not 
controlled by the above­mentioned members of the Dürr family or their legal heirs or (ii) one  
or more persons acting in concert in the meaning of Section 2 (5) of the German Securities 
Acqui sition and Takeover Act (apart from the above­mentioned members of the Dürr family or 
their legal heirs) attain controlling influence over Dürr AG. A dependent enterprise in the 
sense intended here is an enterprise on which a different person directly or indirectly exerts  
a controlling influence or more than 50 % of whose shares are held directly or indirectly by 
a different person. Controlling influence in this sense means the ability to direct the affairs of 
Dürr AG or to control the composition of the Board of Management or the Supervisory Board  
of Dürr AG (to the extent that it is determined by the shareholders).

■■ Agreements providing for compensation in the event of takeover bids: In the event of a takeover, 
members of the Board of Management have the option to remain with the company or to  
leave it and receive severance compensation. Details of this are contained in the corporAte 

governAnce chapter of this report. There are no other agreements in this regard.p. 56 
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Company-specific leading indicators

In our forward planning we use a range of leading indicators that take account of the cyclical 
 nature of our business. Four types of indicator can be distinguished. 

■■ The first group contains general leading indicators such as money supply, freight rates, com­
modity prices, interest rate yield curves, and the IFO business sentiment index. We also draw 
on research studies and statistics published by international institutions such as the IMF or 
OECD. These indicators and documents enable us to draw conclusions about future economic 
growth and the automobile market. 

■■ The second group of indicators is focused on the automobile industry. It includes the invest­
ment plans of OEMs and their suppliers as well as statistics and forecasts on automobile pro­
duction and sales. We regularly discuss this information with automotive analysts who closely 
monitor the trends in the industry and the markets. If the projections for automobile produc­
tion change, we usually adjust our business expectations as well. An example: if the forecast 
for world auto mobile production is raised by one percentage point, we can reckon with two to 
three additional system orders in an aggregate volume of about € 100 million alone in the paint 
systems business. An increase in the forecast of that magnitude promises additional order 
potential in most other business units, too. Multi­year comparisons of the automobile industry’s 
investment plans and production statistics are a similarly useful source of guidance. The inter­
pretation of historical pro duction and sales fluctuations can also provide an indication of future 
trends.

■■ The third leading indicator is the investment projects that are in the pipeline at our customers. 
We enter the information we have about these investment projects in our CRM system and eval­
uate our chances of winning orders. In this way we can prepare in good time for the content, 
scope and timing parameters of forthcoming projects. From the initial request for quotation 
until orders are awarded there is usually a time span of about six to twelve months which we 
can use for our offers. 

■■ The fourth group of indicators comprises order intake and order backlog, which are regularly 
monitored and analyzed by our Controlling unit. Given the long execution times of many of  
the projects these two measures are a good basis for assessing capacity utilization and the 
 development of sales revenues in the following quarters.
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Economic and legal factors of influence

Sales of our systems, products and services are reliant first and foremost on capital spending  
in the automobile industry. These investment decisions are based on current levels of revenues, 
earnings, production and capacity utilization, as well as long­term sales expectations and  
strategic goals. 

The emerging markets are of pivotal importance for our business, accounting for 65 % of incom­
ing orders. The automobile manufacturers are expanding their production capacities especially 
in the bric countries in order to meet the dynamic demand and to win market share. In North 
America, the bulk of the capital spending at present is on factory revamps because, after years of 
shelved investment activity, many production facilities are no longer up to date. In Germany, 
 flexibility, productivity and energy efficiency are the automobile manufacturers’ chief investment 
motives. In the other countries of Western Europe, the industry’s capital spending is likely to 
 remain limited due to the weak economic situation. 

The pace of growth of the world economy is an important factor of influence for our business. On  
a long­term average, global automobile demand increases at a rate of 1.3 to 1.4 times GDP growth. 
Over the next five years, automobile production is expected to expand by about 25 million units, 
which, arithmetically, translates into a need for about 100 additional automobile plants. For Dürr, 
based on a market share of 50 %, this would mean orders for 50 paint shops. 

Our payroll costs were equivalent to 20.9 % (€ 402.6 million) of sales revenues in 2011. The 
 development of wages and salaries is therefore an important factor of influence, especially in  
the emerging markets where they are likely to rise much faster than in the established markets.  
We expect our labor costs to increase by about 10 % in 2012, to which the rising number of 
 employees will also contribute. With a materials expense ratio of 49 %, the cost of materials is 
also an important factor of influence on our performance. However, changes have a limited 
 impact on our earnings because our project pricing is always based on current material costs. 
Exchange rate movements have a comparatively small effect on sales revenues and earnings  
at Dürr. This is shown by the sensitivity analysis under item 40 of the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements. 

The highly international character of our business means that we have to consider a great many 
different legal requirements and tax rules. This includes product safety and product liability 
laws, building, environment and employment regulations, as well as foreign trade and patent 
law. Within the framework of our cash pooling (see the chapter on finAnciAl development) 
it has to be borne in mind that some countries impose exchange controls. We therefore have to 
maintain cash positions there.
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The growing level of environmental regulation has a considerable influence on our product stra­
tegy, and creates additional demand: in exhaust air technology, for instance, where stricter 
 emission control regulations mean that factories require more and smaller exhaust air purifi­
cation systems. This holds for the paint, cleaning, bAlAncing and filling systems businesses, 
too, where the environmental standards that our customers have to comply with in their produc­
tion processes are becoming an increasingly important driver for our sales and earnings. As 
 sustainability and energy optimization has been a key focus of our product development for years, 
our systems are leaner and cleaner than many competitor products. We estimate that the volume  
of orders we won in 2011 on the strength of this advantage was in the three­digit million euros. 
Our competence in energy efficiency and sustainability will therefore make a significant contri­
bution towards securing our earnings this year. 

p. 224
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Corporate governance report

High standards in corporate governance are part of the basic requirements for creating value in 
the long term. They are essential when it comes to meriting the trust that investors, business 
partners and customers as well as employees and the general public place in us. For this reason, 
the Board of Management and the Supervisory Board of Dürr AG are committed to a responsible 
management and control of the company. We see corporate governance as a living system which 
we continually improve and adapt to new requirements. In 2011, we placed particular focus 
on expanding the compliance management and internal control system. Please also refer to the 
detailed information in the sustAinAbility chapter and in the risk report. 

German corporate Governance code: board of manaGement compensation 

reported individually for the first time

In 2011, there were no amendments to the German Corporate Governance Code, and the version 
published on July 2, 2010, was still applicable. The following excerpt from our declaration of com­
pliance shows in which points and for which reasons we deviate from the recommendations of the 
Code. The declaration refers to the period between December 15, 2010, and December 16, 2011, 
and was signed on December 16, 2011, by the Chairmen of the Supervisory Board and the Board of 
Management. The full text can be found at www.durr.com/en/investor/corporAte-governAnce.

As in the previous year, our declaration of compliance contains only two deviations from the re­ 
commendations of the Code. We also apply most of the Code’s suggestions. However, there has 
been one important change to our corporate governance practice: According to item 4.2.4 of the 
 German Corporate Governance Code, the compensation of Management Board members is now 
reported individually for the first time in the current annual report. In previous reports we only 
published the total compensation on the basis of a resolution passed by the annual general meet­
ing in 2006. 

excerpt from the declaration of compliance as of december 16, 2011

d&o insurance deductibles (item 3.8, paragraphs 2 and 3)

A D&O insurance policy without deductibles (group insurance) existed and continues to exist for 
members of the Supervisory Board. It is not planned to introduce deductibles for members of the 
Supervisory Board because Dürr does not believe that the already high dedication and respon­
sibility with which supervisory board members observe their duties can be improved further by 
an agreement providing for deductibles. Another consideration is that it would be unreasonably 
costly for the six employee representatives on the Supervisory Board of Dürr AG, which has an 
equal number of members representing employees and shareholders respectively, to take out 
personal insurance policies at their own expense to cover the residual risk (in the amount of the 
deductibles). 

age limit for members of the supervisory board and objectives for the composition of the

supervisory board (item 5.4.1, paragraphs 2 and 3)

No provision has been made for a limit on the age of members of the Supervisory Board as rec­
ommended in Item 5.4.1, paragraph 2 of the Code because Dürr AG believes that the effective­
ness of supervisory board members does not depend on whether an inflexible age limit has been 
reached. Furthermore, Dürr AG does not intend to set a rigid age limit in the future because 

p. 107  
p. 112
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1 The full declaration on corporate governance practices can be found under http://www.durr.com/en/investor/corporate-governance

that would deprive the company of opportunities to obtain excellently qualified persons to serve 
on its Supervisory Board who have already passed the age limit or will pass it during the time of 
their appointment.

The recommendations in Item 5.4.1, paragraphs 2 and 3 of the Code are not complied with. The 
Supervisory Board is of the opinion that specifying and publishing concrete objectives for its 
composition, and their regular adjustment, involves a not inconsiderable amount of work which 
does not appear justified in view of the Supervisory Board’s size and the further increased 
 workload placed on the Board by new statutory requirements. Furthermore, setting rigid objec­
tives would exclude opportunities to obtain excellently qualified persons to serve on the Super­
visory Board who do not fit into the predefined framework. The Supervisory Board will therefore 
deliberate on the desired composition of the Board only when its proposals to the general meet­ 
ing of shareholders on the election of supervisory board members are due to be resolved upon. 
Then it will also consider other criteria besides those set forth in Item 5.4.1, paragraph 2 of the 
Code. At the time of issuing this declaration the Supervisory Board has one female member and 
members with well established international experience.

Other information on corporate governance at Dürr¹

board of manaGement and supervisory board

As the executive organ of Dürr AG, the Board of Management conducts the company’s business, 
defines the strategy, and implements it in consultation with the Supervisory Board. It must always 
act in the company’s best interest and in compliance with its business policies. The Board of 
Management reports to the Supervisory Board on a regular and comprehensive basis about busi­
ness performance, strategy, and risks. The Supervisory Board formulates the rules of procedure 
for the Board of Management regulating the individual responsibilities, the manner in which reso­
lutions are passed, and other aspects.

The Supervisory Board of Dürr AG advises and supervises the Board of Management. In accor­
dance with the provisions of the German Co­determination Act, it consists of twelve members 
with an equal number of shareholder and employee representatives. The six shareholder repre­
sentatives are elected by the shareholders at the annual general meeting, and the six employee 
representatives are elected by the employees of Dürr’s locations in Germany. The chairman has 
the casting vote in the event of a tie. Particularly urgent resolutions can be taken by the Super­
visory Board by written circulatory vote. This occurred twice in 2011 following in­depth discus­
sion: to extend the contract of employment of Management Board member Mr. Heuwing, and  
to approve the purchase of the Dürr Campus. 

A new Supervisory Board was elected in 2011, as scheduled every five years. The election of the 
employee representatives was held on April 6, the shareholder representatives were elected at 
the annual general meeting on May 6. If a member of the Supervisory Board resigns before the 
end of his/her term of office, a successor will be appointed by court if there is no elected substi­
tute member. Shareholder representatives appointed by court must stand for election at the follow­
ing annual general meeting. 
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The Supervisory Board of Dürr AG has created four committees from its midst. They prepare 
regulations and topics on which the chairmen of the committees then inform the Supervisory 
Board plenum.

■■ The Personnel Committee, which is also the Executive Committee, is primarily responsible  
for the appointment of members of the Board of Management and their compensation, and 
 conducts the groundwork for the corresponding resolutions by the Supervisory Board plenum.

■■ The Audit Committee mainly deals with financial reporting, risk management, internal control 
system, and internal auditing. It also oversees the compliance management system, which 
 ensures that internal and external rules and regulations are adhered to. The committee reviews 
the consolidated financial statements and the annual financial statements, and conducts the 
groundwork for the corresponding resolutions by the Supervisory Board plenum.

■■ The Mediation Committee only convenes if there are differences of opinion within the Super­
visory Board regarding the appointment or dismissal of members of the Board of Management. 
At Dürr, this committee has never had to convene.

■■ The Nominating Committee is responsible for proposing suitable candidates to the Supervisory 
Board for the election of shareholder representatives at the annual general meeting. To achieve 
appropriate diversity, the committee ensures that the Supervisory Board includes female mem­
bers as well as people with international experience.

With the exception of the Nominating Committee, which has three shareholder representatives, 
all the committees consist of four members with an equal number of shareholder and employee 
representatives.

annual General meetinG

The annual general meeting provides the shareholders with the opportunity to participate in a 
general debate with the Board of Management and the Supervisory Board, and exercise their 
voting rights. The agenda, which is drawn up by the company in time for the meeting, outlines 
the motions on which resolutions are to be passed, for instance on the appropriation of profit or  
on capital measures. The annual general meeting is presided over by the Chairman of the Super­
visory Board. 

transparency

Our external communication provides the public with comprehensive, consistent and up­to­date 
information from the Group. Information about the development of our business can be found  
in the annual report, in the quarterly and half­year financial reports, in press releases and ad­hoc 
announcements, and through press conferences and conference calls. All announcements, re­
ports and presentations are available for download at www.durr.com. Our Investor Relations 
and Press department is available to answer any questions. 

financial reportinG and independent audit

We prepare our consolidated financial statements to International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS). The independent auditor is appointed by the annual general meeting on the basis of a pro­
posal put forward by the Supervisory Board. For several years, it has been Ernst & Young GmbH. 
It audits the consolidated financial statements prepared by the Board of Management before  
they are reviewed and approved by the Supervisory Board and then published at the latest 90 days 
after the balance sheet date. In accordance with item 7.2.3 of the Corporate Governance Code, 
the auditor will inform the Chairman of the Supervisory Board immediately of all matters relevant 
for the work of the Supervisory Board that come to its notice in the course of the audit. The audi­
tor is also required to notify the Supervisory Board if it encounters any deviations from the decla­

www
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ration of compliance according to Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). 
 Before the letter of engagement is issued, the auditor gives a pledge of its independence to the 
Supervisory Board.

board of manaGement and supervisory board procedures at dürr

The Board of Management of Dürr AG consists of two members. This ensures fast and efficient 
communication, consultation and decision­taking processes. The Board of Management works 
closely with the management of the divisions and business units; at holding level it is supported 
by Dürr AG’s corporate departments.

The Chairman of the Board of Management, Ralf W. Dieter, manages the operating business of 
the three divisions, Paint and Assembly Systems, Application Technology und Measuring and 
Process Systems, in close consultation with the heads of the business units. He heads up the sales 
operation and represents Dürr at the decision­taking level of customers. Chief Financial  Officer 
Ralph Heuwing is responsible for financial matters and is also in charge of the operating business 
of the Clean Technology Systems division. Table 2.6 offers a complete overview of the responsi­
bilities within the Board of Management. 

At Group level, Dürr has two international management teams: The top management team  
(Dürr Management Board) consists of the Board of Management and various top management 
representatives of the Group. The broader Senior Management Group mainly consists of the 
chief executive officers and other managers of the Group companies.

control

In accordance with Article 6 of Dürr AG’s articles of incorporation, the Supervisory Board deter­
mines the number of members of the Board of Management and their appointment. It has issued 
rules of procedure for the Board of Management which contain a list of transactions requiring its 
approval, and an allocation of responsibilities. At Supervisory Board meetings, the Board of 
Management provides written and oral statements on the individual items of the agenda and ans­
wers any questions. Any items on which a written resolution is to be passed are distributed  
to the members of the Supervisory Board 14 days prior to the meeting; this is followed by a de­
tailed dossier along with the motion one week before the meeting at the latest. On the day of  
the meeting, preliminary talks are first held separately between the shareholder representatives 
and between the employee representatives. The Board of Management is available to provide  
any explanations that might be needed. The Chairman of the Supervisory Board has regular con­
sultations with the Board of Management also outside the meetings. 

� �  responsibilities within the board of manaGement  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  2.6

 Ralf w. dieteR (ChaiRman) Ralph heuwing (Chief finanCial OffiCeR)

� �  Divisional / operative responsibilities � �  Paint and Assembly Systems

� �  Application Technology

� �  Measuring and Process Systems

� �  Clean Technology Systems

� �  Dürr Consulting

� �  Corporate functions � �  Corporate Communications

� �   human Resources  

(Employee Affairs Director)

� �  Research & Development

� �  Quality Management

� �  internal Auditing

� �  Corporate Compliance

� �  Finance/Controlling

� �  investor Relations 

� �  Risk Management 

� �  legal Affairs / Patents

� �  information Technology 

� �  Global Sourcing
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shareholdinGs and directors’ dealinGs

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board, Heinz Dürr, is the majority shareholder of Heinz Dürr 
GmbH, which owns 29.97 % of the shares of Dürr AG (as of February 2012) together with Heinz 
und Heide Dürr Stiftung GmbH. Other members of the Supervisory Board own 0.13 % of the 
shares. The members of the Board of Management of Dürr AG hold a total of 1.3 % of the shares 
of Dürr AG, with 0.4 % owned by Ralf W. Dieter and 0.9 % by Ralph Heuwing. Securities trans­
actions that have to be reported pursuant to Section 15a of the German Securities Trading Act 
(WpHG) are published on our website at www.durr.com as soon as the company is notified. 
Table 2.7 contains an overview of the directors’ dealings in 2011.

Compensation report

Apart from the following information, item 42 in the notes to the consolidated financial state­
ments contains further details on the compensation paid to the Board of Management and the 
Supervisory Board. They form an integral part of this compensation report. 

sideline activities

The members of the Board of Management hold no significant stakes in other companies and do 
not carry out any sideline activities other than those listed in item 42 in the notes to the consoli­
dated financial statements. 

compensation system for the board of manaGement

The Supervisory Board Personnel Committee reviews the compensation system for the Board  
of Management at regular intervals and prepares recommendations for the Supervisory Board 
plenum. The Supervisory Board considers these proposals carefully and passes its resolutions  
on that basis. The appropriateness of the Board of Management’s compensation is assessed using 
different criteria, including the tasks of the Board of Management as a whole as well as of the 
 respective members, the personal performance of the members of the Board of Management,  
the economic situation, and the company’s performance and outlook. The Supervisory Board 
also takes into account the development of management board compensation in other companies. 

Total compensation paid to the members of the Board of Management of Dürr AG in 2011 was 
€ 4,560 thousand (2010: € 2,251 thousand). € 928 thousand was paid as pensions to former mem­
bers of the Board of Management (2010: € 811 thousand).

www

p. 209 

p. 209 

Purchaser / seller
Off-exchange 

purchase of shares
Off-exchange  
sale of shares

Price per  
share in €

number  
of shares

Transaction  
volume in €

heide Dürr Jan. 3, 2011  23.92 3,000 71,760.00

heinz Dürr Gmbh Jan. 24, 2011  23.72 10,000 237,190.00

heinz Dürr Gmbh Mar. 29, 2011  23.41 10,000 234,100.00

heinz Dürr Gmbh  Jul. 21, 2011 29.30 69,000 2,021,700.00

heinz Dürr Gmbh Aug. 8, 2011  27.10 20,000 541,960.00

heinz Dürr Gmbh Aug. 12, 2011  25.21 10,000 252,060.00

heinz Dürr Gmbh Sep. 15, 2011  24.00 6,000 144,000.00

heinz Dürr Gmbh  nov. 30, 2011 32.80 250,000 8,200,000.00

� �  reported transactions in dürr shares in 2011  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  2.7
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Since 2010, the compensation paid to the Board of Management has been based on the provi­
sions of the German Act on the Appropriateness of Management Board Compensation (VorstAG). 
As a result, the contracts of both members of the Board of Management now include long­term 
and short­term incentives. In addition, both contracts stipulate a deductible that applies in con­
nection with D&O (directors’ and officers’ liability insurance) policies in case of liabilities, which 
is required under the German Act on the Appropriateness of Management Board Compensation.

The compensation for the members of the Board of Management consists of performance­related 
and non­performance­related components. The non­performance­related compensation is made 
up of a fixed annual salary payable in equal monthly installments, plus other benefits, consisting 
in the main of the use of company cars as well as term life insurance contributions. Dürr is res­
ponsible for the payment of tax in both cases.

The performance­related compensation consists of the long­term and short­term incentives; 
 special bonuses may also be paid. Under the short­term incentive (STI) scheme, the members of 
the Board of Management receive an agreed proportion of the Group’s earnings before taxes in 
each fiscal year; there is a cap on the amount payable under the STI scheme. The long­term incen­
tives (LTI) are linked to the performance of Dürr’s share price and the Group’s average EBIT 
 margin achieved over an LTI period of three years. As part of the rolling LTI scheme, a certain 
number of virtual Dürr shares, also known as performance share units, are issued every year.  
In 2011, Ralf W. Dieter received 25,000 and Ralph Heuwing 21,500 performance share units 

nOn-peRfORmanCe-Related PeRfORmanCe-Related PenSiOn BenefitS

€ thousand Fixed salary non-cash benefits lTi STi Special bonus
Employer-financed 

contribution Total

board of 

management total 700  44  2762  350  730 151 2,251

1  The Board of Management’s compensation for 2010 is not disclosed individually. This is based on the opting-out resolution passed by the annual general meeting in 2006, 
which was still valid in 2010 and did not allow compensation payments to be itemized.

2  accrued amount based on the share price as of December 31, 2010

� �  board of manaGement compensation 2011  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  2.8

� �  board of manaGement compensation 20101  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  2.9

€

nOn-peRfORmanCe-Related PeRfORmanCe-Related

Basic 
compensation 

Other 
compensation1 

long-term  
(lTi)

Short-term 
(STi)

Board of 
Management 

compensation 
without pension 

benefits

Expenses 
for pension 

benefits2 Total Paid in 2011

Ralf W. Dieter 500,000.00 49,968.28 862,706.77 938,965.50 2,351,640.55 105,000.00 2,456,640.55 1,594,968,28

Ralph heuwing 375,000.00 23,144.26 741,207.82 881,034.50 2,020,386.58 82,500.00 2,102,886.58 1,373,144,26

total 875,000.00 73,112.54 1,603,914.59 1,820,000.00 4,372,027.13 187,500.00 4,559,527.13 2,968,112.54

1 Company car, insurance contributions
2 Service cost recorded in 2011
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(2010: 25,000 and 21,500). The amount payable at the end of the three­year LTI period is calcu­
lated by multiplying the number of performance share units by a share price multiplier and an 
EBIT multiplier. The share price multiplier corresponds to the average closing price of the Dürr 
share in the last 20 trading days prior to the annual general meeting of Dürr AG at the end of the 
three­year LTI period. The EBIT multiplier is based on the Group’s average EBIT margin during 
the three­year LTI period. As is the case with the short­term incentives, there is also a cap on the 
amount payable under the LTI scheme. The LTI figure shown in table 2.8 includes the provisions 
made for LTI payments in 2013 and 2014. The provisions are based on the average closing price 
of the Dürr share in the last 20 trading days in December 2011; in addition the planned average 
EBIT margin for the LTI periods is applied. The actual LTI payments may differ from the provi­
sions made, depending on the further development of the share price and EBIT.

In 2011, the Board of Management received advance payments of € 325 thousand under the LTI 
scheme and € 1,175 thousand under the STI scheme. The LTI installment will be offset against the 
first LTI tranche payable after the annual general meeting in 2013. The STI payment will be offset 
in April 2012 against the variable compensation for 2011.

Apart from the Board of Management, the other 15 members of the top management team (Dürr 
Management Board) also have the option to join the LTI scheme. In order to join the scheme, 
members must purchase an individually defined number of Dürr shares using their own funds; 
these shares must be held for the entire duration of the scheme. 

The Supervisory Board can agree targets with the members of the Board of Management for the 
further strategic development of the company and pay an additional bonus if these have been 
successfully implemented. A special bonus may also be paid to a member of the Board of Manage­
ment for exceptional performance and successful achievements. 

A further component of the compensation is the employer­financed pension contribution, which  
is paid into our “VORaB” scheme (“Vorsorge aus Bruttogehalt”). VORaB is a defined benefit 
 company pension plan in the form of deferred compensation guaranteed through a reinsurance 
scheme. In addition, both members of the Board of Management are covered by accident and 
term life insurance policies.

The contracts of the members of the Board of Management are initially concluded for a period  
of three years upon joining the Board. When the contracts of employment are renewed, the stat­
utorily permitted extension to a total of five years is mostly chosen. The contracts of employment  
of both members of the Board of Management have a term of five years. In May 2011, the Super­
visory Board extended Ralph Heuwing’s contract of employment, which was due to end on  
May 14, 2012, by a further five years. The new contract will commence on May 14, 2012, and end 
on May 14, 2017. Ralf W. Dieter’s contract of employment is due to end on December 31, 2015. 

In the event of a change of control, i.e. a takeover through the acquisition of more than 50 % 
of the voting rights in Dürr AG, both members of the Board of Management have the option to 
remain with the company. Alternatively, they have the right to voluntary resignation, which  
allows them to resign and terminate their contract of employment within five months from the 
date on which the takeover is announced. Any member exercising this right is entitled to the 
payment of a maximum of three years’ compensation, as set out in the German Corporate Gover­
nance Code. However, the period for which the payment is made must not exceed the remaining 
term of the employment contract. 
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compensation system for the supervisory board

The compensation paid to the members of the Supervisory Board is based on Article 15 of the arti­
cles of incorporation of Dürr AG, the text of which can be found on our website at www.durr.com 
under the heading Investor Relations/Corporate Governance/Articles of Incorporation. The com­
pensation system can only be adjusted by an amendment of the articles of incorporation by the 
annual general meeting.

Total compensation paid to the members of the Supervisory Board in 2011 was € 999 thousand 
(2010: € 394 thousand). Information on the individual compensation payments made to the 
 members of the Supervisory Board can be found in item 42 in the notes to the consolidated finan­
cial statements. In addition to reimbursement for their expenses, the members of the Supervisory 
Board receive an annual fixed remuneration of € 20,000 and an attendance fee of € 1,000 for 
each meeting attended. In addition, they are entitled to variable compensation. This generally 
amounts to 0.4 ‰ of the reported consolidated earnings before taxes but must not exceed 
€ 35,000. The fixed remuneration is payable at the end of each fiscal year. The Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board receives three times the total compensation paid to a regular member;  
each Deputy Chairman receives one and a half times the total compensation paid to a regular 
member. The members of the Audit Committee receive an annual remuneration of € 9,000; 
the chairman of this committee receives two times that amount. The remuneration paid to the 
members of the Personnel Committee is € 5,000 per year; the chairman receives one and a 
half times that amount. The members of the Nominating Committee receive a remuneration of 
€ 2,500 per meeting, the chairman receiving one and a half times that amount. Supervisory 
Board members leaving the Board before the end of the year are remunerated pro rata temporis. 
The same applies to members of the committees.

performance-related compensation for other employees

Non­tariff employees receive a performance­related bonus in addition to their basic annual salary. 
The amount of this bonus depends on two factors: group earnings and the level of achievement  
of personal performance targets. In most cases, the bonus is between 5 % and 10 % of the basic 
salary, but it can be more for managers. Employees in Germany covered by the collectively 
 bargained tariff agreement are also entitled to a profit­sharing bonus, which is subject to Group 
earnings exceeding a certain value pre­agreed with the Works Council. All full­time tariff emplo­
yees based at the German locations will receive a profit­sharing bonus of € 1,500 for 2011.

www

p. 215 
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Strategy

2005 – 2006 
“fOcus”

2007 – 2010 
“düRR 2010”

 
“düRR 2015”

“Dürr 2015”: growth and optimization

Our corporate strategy “Dürr 2015” is largely a continuation and accentuation of the successful 
“Dürr 2010” strategy. “Dürr 2015” has two main thrusts: growth and optimization. On the 
 following pages we explain what concrete measures these strategic focuses involve. To create 
above­average value we will continue to pursue the performance targets we have announced: 

■■ Sales revenues to grow at an average rate of 5 % to 10 % over the coming years, after benefiting 
in 2010 and 2011 from backlog effects from the 2008/2009 crisis.

■■ The EBIT margin to reach the target level of 6 % in 2013. This year we are aiming for 5.5 %
to 6 %.

■■ roce to be above 20 % again in 2012 and 2013.
p. 225

� �  Portfolio divestments

� �  Restructuring

� �  Process optimization

� �  Sales push

� �  Customer benefit

� �  Growth initiatives

� �  Process optimization

� �  value creation

 Growth

� �  Emerging markets

� �  Product innovation

� �  Acquisitions 

� �  Service business

� �  Clean Technology Systems

 optimization

� �  Capacities

� �  Global processes / localization

� �  development of our strateGic focuses  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  2.10
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20 % 48 %32 %

70 %22 %8 %2005

 Emerging markets (excl. China)  Established markets China

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012*

2013*

2014*

2015*

63.8 million

66.2 million

68.8 million

66.2 million

57.4 million

70.9 million

74.3 million

79.0 million

86.0 million

92.0 million

97.0 million

units  
produced  

worldwideyear 

0 % 50 % 100 %

% of total 

68 %22 %10 %

64 %26 %10 %

61 %28 %11 %

53 %28 %19 %

53 %27 %20 %

47 %32 %

32 %

32 %

32 %

21 %

45 %23 %

24 %

25 %

44 %

43 %

* estimate   Source: Dürr-database

Growth

To grow profitably, we have defined five areas: 

1. expandinG the core business in the emerGinG markets

The emerging markets offer good growth prospects also in the coming years. Despite the expec­
ted slowdown of the world economy, newly industrializing countries such as China, India and 
 Brazil should increase their economic output strongly, especially as – unlike many European 
countries – they are not struggling with high levels of sovereign debt. At the same time, there  
is much to suggest continued buoyant demand for automobiles: population growth, rising real  
incomes, the still low car penetration rate, and the increasing need for individual mobility.  
Experts predict that from 2011 to 2016, automobile production in China will grow at an average 
annual rate of almost 12 %. About 15 % is forecast for India and Southeast Asia, 9 % for Merco­
sur, and 6 % for Eastern Europe. 

In order to leverage our opportunities in the emerging markets as fully as possible we are orient­
ing our global Group organization still more closely to the local requirements there. We will 
 continue to build our capabilities and infrastructure in the emerging markets and intensify the 
international cooperation within the Group (see below: “Optimization”). This implies a great  
deal of traveling at all levels of the company, from the specialists at the department level through 
to managing directors and the Board of Management. Aside from the bric markets, where we are 
already well positioned, we will be focusing more strongly in future on the growth region of 
Southeast Asia. On the African continent – another promising market of the future – we have al­
ready been operating for many years with a company in South Africa and about 50 employees.

p. 224

� �  Global liGht vehicle production by reGion  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  2.11

c
o

n
s

o
l

id
a

t
e

d
 f

in
a

n
c

ia
l

 s
t

a
t

e
m

e
n

t
s



66 MANAGEMENT REPORT � �  StRategY

2. focus on product innovation

To expand our market leadership we are pushing innovations that help to make our customers’ 
manufacturing processes more efficient. This is reflected in our new claim “Leading in Production 
Efficiency”. Over the past two years, we have been able to gain significant market share with 
various new technologies. Examples are the energy­saving EcoDryScrubber paint booth system, 
the EcoBell 3 high-speed rotAting Atomizer, the CENO balancing machine for downsizing 
crankshafts, and the EcoCFlex robot cleaning system. To sustain this successful innovation stra­
tegy we increased our R&D spending in 2011 by 14.4 %; further increases are planned for the 
years ahead. Compared to our smaller competitors we have considerably larger budgets and R&D 
capacities, and can therefore bring new technologies to market faster, and thus widen our lead. 
An overview of the trends driving our innovation management can be found in the 
reseArch And development chapter. 

3. buy-and-build acquisitions 

Through selective acquisitions we are opening up new areas of business that offer good potential 
for profitable growth. We will continue this course in future. Our acquisition strategy is based on 
the following principles: 

■■ We only enter areas of business that are related to our core business and offer synergies with 
existing activities and competences, for instance in engineering, purchasing, sales and service. 

■■ The focus is on the acquisition of smallish companies that we develop on a buy­and­build  
principle and can scale up through our international sales and service platform. 

■■ We concentrate on high­tech niches where our aim is to achieve international market leadership 
as in our core business. 

Over the past three years we have made acquisitions in the following areas of business:

■■ Turbocharger balancing: In mid­2009, we acquired the French company Datatechnic, which 
 specializes in turbocharger bAlAncing equipment. Datatechnic is part of the Balancing and 
Assembly Products business unit and has already developed an integrated measuring and 
 balancing machine for turbochargers together with the business unit’s lead company Schenck 
Rotec (Darmstadt). The highly compact and efficient system was presented to customers at  
the end of 2010.

■■ Ultrafine cleaning technology: At the end of 2009, the Cleaning and Filtration Systems business 
unit acquired the Swiss niche player UCM. As a specialist for ultrafine cleaning equipment, UCM 
gives Dürr access to new sectors such as medical engineering and precision optics. In addi­
tion, there are sales synergies between UCM and Dürr Ecoclean in the precision engineering 
and general engineering markets.

■■ Glueing technology: In 2010, the Application Technology division laid the foundations for expan­
ding its glueing Activities with two technology acquisitions. The two niche specialists 
acquired, Kleinmichel and Rickert, complement our expertise in this segment ideally, and  
we are now able to offer a full­line portfolio covering all glueing applications in automobile 
production. Glueing is seen as the technology of the future both in the body shop and in final  
assembly because it saves costs and enables the use of new lightweight materials such as 
carbon fibers.

p. 224

p. 97 

p. 224

p. 224

p. 224
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■■ Paint systems: In May 2011, we acquired a 10 % equity interest in our longstanding cooperation 
partner Parker Engineering of Japan. Together with Parker Engineering we want to intensify 
the paint systems business with the Japanese automobile industry – especially in the growth 
markets such as Southeast Asia where the Japanese OEMs are dominant.

■■ Filling equipment: In May 2011, we also acquired a 55 % stake in filling equipment specialist 
Agramkow. The Danish company, which is part of the Balancing and Assembly Products busi­
ness unit, is an ideal complement to our existing filling systems business: through our sub­
sidiary Dürr Somac we are the market leader for filling systems for the automobile industry, 
while Agramkow is the largest supplier of filling equipment for manufacturers of household 
 appliances and heat pumps. Synergies exist between the two companies especially in purchas­
ing, R&D, and regional presence. We now have around 300 employees worldwide in the filling 
equipment business. Our target in the mid­term is sales revenues of over € 60 million in this 
segment (2011: approx. € 50 million). 

4. service business

We have been operating in our markets for decades and hold leading positions in all our fields  
of business. Our installed base with customers and the resulting service potential is therefore 
considerable. Our aim is for the service business to account for about 30 % of our total sales rev­
enue by the year 2015. In 2011, it contributed 23.2 %, after 28.7 % the year before. The reason 
for the decline was the disproportionately strong growth in sales revenues from new plant and 
machinery, especially in China. The numerous new installations open up additional opportuni­
ties for future service business, whether revamps, capacity enlargements, or the supply of spare 
parts. In ApplicAtion technology, additional potential is presented by the upgrading of paint­
ing machines to the much more flexible robot technology.

5. clean technoloGy systems

With the new Clean Technology Systems division created at the beginning of 2011 we want to 
grow through business with energy­efficient technologies. Our aim is to achieve sales revenues 
of at least € 200 million in this segment by the year 2015. The prospects are good: 

■■ Resource conservation and rising energy prices are increasing the need for energy­efficient 
production systems worldwide, while the payback periods for such investments are sinking.

■■ Our customers are coming to perceive the energy consumption of their production systems 
more and more as a cost factor. Project enquiries for energy­optimized manufacturing processes 
are therefore sharply on the increase. 

■■ As a plant engineer we have the relevant core competences to build up this new area of business: 
specialist know­how in exhaust air and waste heat on the one hand, and engineering and pro­
ject management expertise on the other.

■■ Through our global presence we are in a good position to tap the fast­growing market potential 
for energy­efficient technologies, especially in the emerging markets. 

p. 224

p. 224

p. 224
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The Environmental and Energy Systems business unit serves as the springboard for our growth in 
energy efficiency. It is a world­leading supplier of exhaust air purification systems and is expand­
ing its activities through a two­track strategy. First, growth is being pursued in the emerging 
markets. Second, Environmental and Energy Systems is increasingly marketing systems with 
which the thermal energy required to burn off polutants can be recovered. 

To broaden the portfolio in heat recovery technology, we acquired a 50 % equity interest in the 
start­up firm Cyplan Ltd. in May 2011. The company, whose name has since been changed to 
Dürr Cyplan Ltd., is a pioneer in ORC technology. ORC stands for Organic Rankine Cycle and is an 
evaporation process that produces electrical power from waste heat. ORC plants can be com­
bined not only with our thermal exhaust air purification systems but also with other sources of 
waste heat such as combined heat and power generating plants, biogas plants, and combustion 
engines. 

We will be broadening our portfolio of processes and products in energy efficiency beyond ORC 
technology. The Energy Technology Systems business unit is currently reviewing various acqui­
sition opportunities. We expect to make one or two more acquisitions or investments this year. 

We have sufficient resources to finance the proposed acquisitions. In addition to our large  
cash position (€ 298.6 million), there is the unused cash credit line under the syndicated loan 
(€ 50 million) and the loan from the European Investment Bank (€ 40 million) which is also 
undrawn. We also have authorized capital which can be drawn on, if need be, for additional  
equity financing. No further financing measures are planned for 2012 and 2013; please refer 
also to the comments in the report on expected future development. 

Optimization

Besides creating value through growth, we are also tapping new cost reduction and earnings  
potentials. We are continuously optimizing our business processes and the regional distribution 
of our capacities.

1. capacity optimization

The expansion of our very good position in the emerging markets continues to be a priority.  
By 2013, we want to increase our headcount in the emerging markets to 33 % of the total work­
force. Currently, the figure is 31 %; in 2005 it was only 14 %. Including hired external labor, 
we already employ about 1,400 people in China today. The growth of the workforce over the past 
years also in Brazil, Mexico and India, as shown in table 2.12, will be continued as well.

Local content in the emerging markets is also being increased as the workforce is built up. In 
the first quarter of 2012, we opened an additional new plant engineering facility with 23,000 m2 
of workshop space in Shanghai (China); another new facility for the machinery business is due  
to be occupied in 2013. Since 2008, we have been operating an engineering center in Chennai 
(India), which also assists other locations around the world with detail engineering.

p. 125 
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2. Global processes�localization

We are backing up our growth strategy through the use of globally standardized business  
processes and by pushing the localization of products and value added.

Product localization: Within the framework of our local design approach we are developing 
 low­cost standard products that are specially tailored to the needs of the emerging markets.  
In some cases, for instance in the balancing equipment business in China, we already conduct 
product development locally in the emerging markets.

Local value added: We are constantly broadening the capabilities of our local companies in the 
emerging markets. While many of our peers in the machinery and plant engineering industry 
mostly maintain sales, service and manufacturing facilities, our locations now also provide func­
tions such as engineering as well as project and site management. This not only strengthens our 
competitiveness in the local market but yields cost advantages for the Group as a whole as well 
since we use our resources in the emerging markets also for projects in Europe and North America.

p. 224

 Dec. 31, 2011 Dec. 31, 2005

China 1,006 271

Brazil 186 83

Mexico 181 64

india 394 148

Eastern Europe / Other emerging markets 338 294

total 2,105 860

� �  Growth in the number of reGular employees in the emerGinG markets  � � � � � � � � � � �  2.12
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Board of Management’s overall assessment 
of business development in 2011

2011 was a record year for Dürr in terms of earnings and incoming orders. As table 2.13 shows, 
we achieved or exceeded all of our original targets. As investment activity especially in the 
 automobile industry was far stronger than had been expected, we raised our guidance for 2011 
three times in the course of the year. More projects were awarded than in the preceding years, 
and we increased our market share substantially in some cases. An important contributing factor 
here was our strong presence in the high­growth emerging markets. Additionally, we profited 
from the many product innovations over the past years, which yield efficiency benefits for our 
customers and enjoyed a high level of market acceptance. 

Some of our customers in the automobile industry expanded more strongly in 2011 than they had 
in the past. In addition, the industry caught up on many investment projects that had been 
shelved in the crisis years of 2008 and 2009. This also included a number of revamps and moderni­
zations at existing factories. Against this backdrop, our incoming orders came to € 2,685 million, 
exceeding our original forecast of € 1,720 million by almost € 1 billion. As a result, sales reve­
nues, which came in at € 1,922 million, were not only up 52 % year over year but were also well 
above budget. Earnings rose faster than sales as we benefited from degression effects in fixed 
costs. With EBIT of € 106.5 million, the EBIT margin came to 5.5 %, which was well above the
3.5 % to 4 % originally expected. 

Thanks to the debt restructuring we carried out the year before, the financial result improved  
by € 3.4 million in 2011. The tax rate sank from 43.3 % to 25.1 %, and thus more strongly than 
expected. Owing to our improved earnings outlook, we were able to recognize additional defer­
red tax assets on our tax loss carryforwards. Against this backdrop, earnings after taxes rose  
to € 64.3 million, from € 7.1 million the year before. 

Cash flow from operating activities (operating cash flow) more than doubled to € 127.9 million. 
This was mainly on the back of higher revenues and earnings, coupled with a nearly unchanged 
net working cApitAl. free cAsh flow came to € 91.8 million, the highest level in ten years. Our 
net finAnciAl stAtus rose to € + 51.8 million at the end of 2011, although we bought the Dürr 
Campus in Bietigheim­Bissingen – our headquarters – from a leasing company for € 51.4 million. 
Cash and cash equivalents came to € 298.6 million as of December 31, 2011, which was more 
than we had budgeted. Liquidity did not decline as originally expected as the prepayments re­
ceived from customers that are recognized under liabilities rose again at the end of the year.

As announced, we increased our investment in property, plant and equipment and intangible 
 assets substantially to € 23.4 million. Much of the increase was attributable to intangible assets.

p. 225
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key performance indicators: actual performance versus tarGet

We use four key performance indicators in our corporate planning and control: 

■■ EBIT
■■ Operating cash flow (cash flow from operating activities)
■■ Free cash flow
■■ ROCE (EBIT as % of capital employed). 

As table 2.13 shows, we comfortably exceeded our targets for EBIT, operating cash flow and 
free cAsh flow in 2011. roce increased from 10.3 % in 2010 to 28.4 %, and was already well 
above the target of 22 % we set for 2013. 

p. 225

� �  achievement of tarGets in 2011 and tarGets for 2012  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  2.13

 taRget 2011 aCtual 2011 taRget 2012

� �  Sales revenues € 1,450 million € 1,922 million > € 2,000 million

� �  incoming orders € 1,720 million € 2,685 million > € 2,000 million

� �  Orders on hand (Dec. 31) € 1,600 million € 2,143 million > € 2,100 million

� �  EBiT margin 3.5 % to 4 % 5.5 % 5.5 % to 6 % 

� �  Financial result improvement by € 4 to 5 

million (2010: € – 24.1 million)

improvement by  

€ 3.4 million

slightly weaker

� �  Tax rate approx. 30 % 25.1 % approx. 25 %

� �  Earnings after taxes substantial improvement 

(2010: € 7.1 million)

€ 64.3 million + 15 %

� �  Operating cash flow slight decrease  

(2010: € 55.4 million)

€ 127.9 million slightly weaker

� �  Free cash flow slightly negative  

(2010: € 22.9 million)

€ 91.8 million slightly weaker

� �  net financial status  

(Dec. 31)

small net financial debt  

(2010: € + 23.6 million)

€ + 51.8 million slightly positive

� �  liquidity (Dec. 31) decrease  

(2010: € 252.3 million)

€ 298.6 million decrease

� �  Capital expenditure1 increase (2010: € 16.6 million) € 23.4 million slight increase

1 in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (without acquisitions)
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divisions

In 2011, all the divisions achieved the sales and earnings targets formulated in the annual report 
for 2010, and exceeded them comfortably in most cases. Costs developed as planned. Paint and 
 Assembly Systems increased its EBIT margin from 2.4 % to 4.6 %; an improvement of that order 
had not appeared possible at the beginning of the year. Application Technology also improved  
its EBIT margin: from 4.3 % to 7.6 %. In the Measuring and Process Systems division, earnings 
were turned around at the Cleaning and Filtration Systems business unit as planned. Together 
with the strong earnings performance from Balancing and Assembly Products, this led to an im­
provement in the Measuring and Process Systems EBIT margin to 5.7 % (2010: 3.0 %). In the 
Clean Technology Systems division, the EBIT margin advanced from 5.2 % to 5.7 %. The targets 
of our divisions for 2012 can be found – in more detail than in the past – in the report on 

expected future development. 

material events affectinG business development

Our business performance in 2011 was influenced by two main factors: the high investment 
 activity by automobile manufacturers and the positive development of demand on the vehicle 
market which led to growth of 4 % in world automobile production. In terms of orders, China 
predominated; Brazil also gained further importance as a production location. We benefited from 
this as we have a strong presence in both markets. Demand also continued to pick up in the 
North American market.

p. 125 



73management and StOCK � �  teChnOlOgY matteRS � �   MANAGEMENT REPORT � �  COnSOlidated finanCial StatementS � �  OtheR
eCOnOmY and induStRY enviROnment

Economy and industry environment

2011: slowdown in the course of the year

The world economy grew by 3.6 % in 2011. However, the growth slowed from quarter to quarter. 
In addition, the European debt crisis became a growing risk for the world economy. Many eco­
nomists expect a decline in gross domestic product (GDP) in the eurozone in winter 2011/2012. 
Germany was able to profit in 2011 from its export strength and competitiveness despite the 
difficult environment. In North America, GDP grew more strongly than expected in the second half 
of 2011, while Japan’s economy steadied only slowly after the earthquake disaster in March. 
Most of the emerging economies – especially China – were robust and witnessed respectable 
rates of growth also in the second half of the year. 

Exchange rates did not change much on the whole, although at the end of the year, the euro was 
trading a good 10 % below its level at mid­year. Short­term interest rates, which are subject 
to stronger influence from the central banks, remained low. At the longer end, spreads widened 
considerably. The yields on German Bunds touched record lows, while the yields on sovereign 
debt of countries with weaker ratings rose. All in all, sentiment on the capital markets was volatile, 
especially in the second half of the year.

robust Growth in automobile production 

World automobile sales grew slightly faster than global GDP. Contrary to what had been originally 
feared, the forecasts for automobile production did not have to be revised downwards in the 
course of the year. After growth of 24.6 % the year before, global production increased by 4 % 
to 74 million passenger cars and light commercial vehicles in 2011. In China, where production 
had risen exceptionally strongly in 2009 and 2010, the growth was also 4 %. This slower pace of 
growth was deliberately brought about by the Chinese government in order to combat rising 
 inflation. The automobile markets in India and Russia grew vigorously by 13 % and 39 %, respec­
tively. In North America, the recovery witnessed in 2010 continued.

year-over-year change in % 2011 2010 2009

World 3.6 5.1 – 0.9

Germany 3.0 3.6 – 4.7

Eurozone 1.6 1.9 – 4.1

Russia 4.5 4.0 – 7.8

uSA 1.7 3.0 – 2.6

China 9.0 10.3 9.1

india 8.0 10.0 6.8

Japan – 0.8 4.5 – 6.3

Brazil 3.5 7.5 – 0.6

Source: Deutsche Bank 01/2012

� �  Gdp Growth  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  2.14
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The buoyant demand in 2011 led to high levels of capacity utilization in the automobile industry. 
The industry also benefited from the cost reductions in the previous years. Against this back­
drop, many automobile manufacturers generated high earnings and cash flows. However, the 
Japanese OEMs suffered from the strong yen and the aftermath of the earthquake disaster.

aviation and aircraft industry still on Growth track

With an increase of 5.1 %, the volume of air traffic also outpaced the growth of the world eco­
nomy in 2011. However, high kerosene prices and the aftermath of the earthquake in Japan 
caused earnings at many airlines to sink. Nonetheless, investment budgets were not cut as the 
airlines need additional aircraft to cope with the growing volume of traffic. The number of air­
craft delivered by the two leading manufacturers therefore rose again: from 510 to 525 at Airbus, 
and from 464 to 483 at Boeing. Further increases are targeted for 2012; both Airbus and Boeing 
have invested in productivity and, based on this, want to deliver 563 and 606 aircraft, respectively, 
this year. Of growing importance for us are the up­and­coming aircraft manufacturers in China 
and Russia, which launched new aircraft programs and placed first orders with suppliers in 2011. 
Our strong international presence is an important advantage in gaining access to these customers. 

Million units 2011 2010 2009

World 74.3 71.5 57.4

Western Europe 13.6 13.3 12.3

 Germany 5.8 5.5 4.8

Eastern Europe 6.3 5.6 4.6

 Russia 1.8 1.3 0.8

north America (incl. Mexico) 13.1 11.9 8.6

 uSA 8.5 7.6 5.8

South America 4.2 4.2 3.2

 Brazil 3.1 3.1 3.0

Asia 34.5 34.0 26.4

 China 15.0 14.4 10.8

 Japan 8.0 9.0 7.7

 india 3.4 3.0 2.3

Sources: PwC 01/2012, own estimates

� �  production of liGht vehicles � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  2.15
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stronGer demand in the mechanical and plant enGineerinG industry 

After the slump in 2009 and the recovery the following year, demand in the mechanical and plant 
engineering industry picked up considerably in 2011. Investment in plant and equipment rose 
vigorously in almost all regions of the world. The earnings situation at many engineering compa­
nies has improved appreciably as a result of better levels of capacity utilization; however, some 
sectors, such as printing, solar energy and wind power, are in a consolidation process. Accord­
ing to figures published by the German plant and mechanical engineering industry association, 
the Verband Deutscher Maschinen­ und Anlagenbau (VDMA), production in Germany was up 14 % 
but, at € 188 billion, was not yet back to the pre­crisis level. The strong revival is having a posi­
tive impact on our incoming orders in business with general industry, where we have many engi­
neering companies among our customers. In our own machinery activities, for instance in 
bAlAncing and cleAning systems, the volume of business is meanwhile above the level before 
the 2008/2009 crisis. 

p. 224

Source: Dürr database1 Forecast GDP  Automobile production

� �  world automobile production and world Gdp   � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  2.16
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Business development

IFRS and RepoRtIng pRactIceS

The following charts and tables show IFRS figures for the years 2009 to 2011. The accounting and 
valuation policies have remained largely unchanged since 2004; they have merely been adjusted 
to the respectively prevailing legal requirements. EBIT stands for earnings before interest, income 
taxes and income from investments. The introduction of IAS 23, which we applied for the first 
time in fiscal year 2009, led to changes in the interest result as borrowing costs incurred in con-
nection with long-term contracts have been recognized since then in the cost of sales. Major 
 restructuring measures within the Group were completed in 2010. We therefore no longer report 
restructuring costs as a separate item but include them under other expense items in line with 
customary industry practice. No substantial restructuring costs were incurred in 2011.

Another change relates to the treatment of the interest components of pension provisions. We have 
decided to bring the reporting of the interest components in the statements of income into line 
with customary industry practice. They are now no longer recognized under operating expenses 
but in the interest result. This new reporting procedure increased EBIT by € 2.5 million in 2011 
and burdened the interest result by the same amount. We have adjusted EBIT for 2010 retroac-
tively to € 36.6 million; in the annual report for 2010 we had reported a figure of € 33.7 million. 

Changes in the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) had no material effect on 
the presentation of the company’s position. The IFRS standards provide for comparatively few 
 options; their utilization has no material influence on Dürr’s net assets, financial position and 
 results of operations. There are options, for instance, with regard to the reporting of items such 
as inventories or property, plant and equipment which are of minor importance for Dürr. In the 
case of important items in the statements of financial position we make use of options in such a 
way that maximum continuity in their measurement is assured. Financial instruments, for 
 instance, are reported as far as possible at amortized cost, not at fair market value. In 2011, there 
were no changes in the options applied, so the different reporting periods are fully comparable.

Accounting measures have little influence on the presentation of the results of operations at Dürr 
for two reasons. Firstly, the scope for discretional accounting is generally restricted by the 
 limited number of options. Secondly, short-term accounting measures conflict in many cases 
with our endeavor to provide interperiod transparency. 

IncomIng oRdeRS at a RecoRd level

The dynamic demand caused incoming orders to rise by approx. € 1 billion to a record level of 
€ 2,684.9 million in 2011. We benefited not only from the robustness of the automobile market 
but also from backlog effects: besides new investment projects, the automobile industry also 
caught up on a number of older projects that had been shelved during the 2008/2009 crisis. 

With an increase of 64 %, our order intake again grew much faster than the German mechanical 
and plant engineering industry average (+ 10 %). Our plant engineering business benefited from 
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12.0 %

22.0 %

6.8 %

41.9 %

17.3 %

6.3 %

8.9 %

18.9 %

13.7 %

52.2 %

1 Asia (ex Japan), Mexico, Brazil, Eastern Europe

the investment boom in China, but also from reviving demand in other emerging markets1 and 
the USA. The service and machinery businesses witnessed strong growth in new orders, too, 
 although they lagged slightly behind the plant engineering business. Owing to the flood of orders 
our capacities were more than 100 % employed across the board. 

The strong growth in orders was mainly attributable to the emerging markets, where incoming 
orders were up 77 %. In Brazil, Mexico and India, we doubled our order intake in each case.  
The emerging markets’ share of the Group’s total order intake reached an all-time high of 65 %. 
China, which is by far our largest single market, alone accounted for 32 % of the new orders. 
Orders were up 69 % in the reviving US market, up 29 % in Germany, and up by as much as 49 % 
in the rest of the EU. 

oRdeR backlog oveR € 2.1 bIllIon

Orders on hand also rose strongly: amounting to € 2,142.7 million at the end of 2011, they topped 
the year-earlier level (€ 1,359.1 million) by 57.7 %. Being of a short-term nature, the greater part 
of our service business, which grew to € 445.4 million in 2011, is not included in the order backlog 
figure. If the short-term service business is taken into account, our sales forecast of at least  
€ 2.0 billion for 2012 looks well underpinned.

/ /  conSolIdated IncomIng oRdeRS by RegIon  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  2.17

€ million 2011 2010 2009

 Germany 322.2 249.1 254.7

 Rest of Europe 589.4 353.6 319.0

 North and Central America 463.4 221.4 150.7

 South America 185.2 98.1 45.2

 Asia / Africa / Australia 1,124.7 720.0 415.1

total 2,684.9 1,642.2 1,184.7

/ /  conSolIdated oRdeR backlog by RegIon (decembeR 31)  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  2.18

€ million 2011 2010 2009

 Germany 191.4 150.6 159.6

 Rest of Europe 405.9 293.4 272.2

 North and Central America 293.2 133.5 103.0

 South America 134.2 75.8 37.9

 Asia / Africa / Australia 1,118.0 705.8 429.7

total 2,142.7 1,359.1 1,002.4
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15.8 %

14.7 %

24.8 %

6.6 %

38.1 %

Our reach of orders is exceptionally high at 13.4 months on a calculational basis (December 31, 
2010: 12.9 months). However, there are differences between the divisions. At Paint and Assembly 
Systems, being a pure plant engineering contractor, the reach of orders is naturally very high at 
17.2 months (December 31, 2010: 16.3 months). Application Technology has a reach of 12.1 months 
(December 31, 2010: 10.7 months), which is high for a supplier of machinery. At Measuring and 
Process Systems, where the focus is also on machinery, the reach of orders is 9.0 months (De-
cember 31, 2010: 9.9 months). Clean Technology Systems has a reach of 8.4 months (December 31, 
2010: 7.9 months).

StRong gRowth In SaleS RevenueS

Driven by the buoyant demand, sales revenues were up 52 % in 2011. After a modest first quarter 
with € 358.6 million, sales generation gathered pace during the rest of the year: € 424.9 million 
in the second quarter, € 523.8 million in the third quarter, climbing to € 614.7 million in the last 
quarter.

The service business grew by 23.1 % and contributed revenues of € 445.4 million. This was above 
the pre-crisis 2008/2009 level. In the coming years, we aim to raise the relative weight of the 
service business to 30 %. Our broad installed base serves as an important springboard here. 

Table 2.19 shows the high importance of the Asia business for our sales revenues. Asia and Africa, 
where sales were up 77.4 % versus 2010, contributed 38.1 % of total Group sales. The emerging 
markets accounted for 58.6 % (2010: 52 %), with the greater part coming from the BRIC countries. 
Europe (ex Germany) and North America also witnessed gratifying growth of 43.5 % and 
56.1 %, respectively. 

gRoSS pRoFIt well up

The cost of sales, which contains all the acquisition and production costs for our products and 
services, rose more strongly than sales revenues in 2011. As a result, the gross margin, which 
is the difference between sales and the cost of sales expressed as a percentage of sales, sank to 
17.2 % (2010: 18.8 %). However, it needs to be taken into account that there was a marked shift 
in our sales mix in 2011. The higher-margin service business grew less strongly than new equip-
ment business. At the same time, the gross margin in plant engineering business was un-
changed as there were still billings on a number of poorer-margin orders from 2009 and 2010 
in the first half of 2011. In absolute terms, gross profit was up € 93.9 million to € 331.4 million 
due to the growth in sales revenues. 

p. 224

/ /  conSolIdated SaleS by RegIon  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  2.19

€ million 2011 2010 2009

 Germany 281.5 257.1 180.7

 Rest of Europe 476.5 332.0 358.5

 North and Central America 303.5 194.4 222.0

 South America 127.4 64.7 57.4

 Asia / Africa / Australia 733.1 413.2 259.0

total 1,922.0 1,261.4 1,077.6
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1 Consolidated material costs comprise the cost of raw materials and supplies, bought-in components, and work performed by subcontractors.

hIgheR mateRIal coStS

Consolidated material costs1, which are charged in full to the cost of sales, rose by 68.7 % to 
€ 942.8 million, and thus more strongly than sales. This was mainly due to the fact that we had 
to make greater use of subcontractors for capacity reasons. The materials expense ratio was 
49.1 % (2010: 44.3 %). The cost of materials mostly represents bought-in components and work 
performed by subcontractors. More information on our materials sourcing can be found in the 
pRoCuRement chapter.

oveRhead coStS RISe only modeRately

Against the backdrop of the buoyant demand, selling expenses increased by 8.9 % to 
€ 107.2 million in 2011. That included marketing expenses of € 4.5 million (2010: € 3.6 million), 
approximately one-third of which represented personnel expenses. We only spend about  
0.2 % of our sales revenues on marketing since our circle of customers – especially in the plant 
engineering business – is relatively small and we have close contacts with the users. In our 
business, the placing of new products does not require major launch costs either. Our most impor-
tant marketing event is the one-week “Open House” exhibition that we organize every two years 
in Bietigheim-Bissingen. The next “Open House” is due to be held in May 2012, so our marketing 
expenses will be slightly higher again this year. 

Selling and administrative expenses increased by € 20.2 million to € 196.0 million in 2011. 
Aside from a moderate rise in the number of employees, this was mainly due to wage and salary 

p. 105 

  2011 2010 2009

Sales revenues € million 1,922.0 1,261.4 1,077.6

Gross profit € million 331.4 237.5 210.8

Overhead costs1 € million –225.5 – 201.6 – 202.5

EBITDA € million 127.1 54.6 25.6

EBIT € million 106.5 36.6 5.7

Financial result € million – 20.7 – 24.1 – 17.9

EBT € million 85.8 12.5 – 12.2

Income taxes € million – 21.6 – 5.4 – 13.5

Earnings after taxes € million 64.3 7.1 – 25.7

Earnings per share € 3.58 0.37 – 1.55

Gross margin % 17.2 18.8 19.6

EBITDA margin % 6.6 4.3 2.4

EBIT margin % 5.5 2.9 0.5

EBT margin % 4.5 1.0 – 1.1

Return on sales (after taxes) % 3.3 0.6 – 2.4

Interest coverage  5.0 1.5 0.3

Effective tax rate % 25.1 43.3 – 

Return on equity % 17.6 2.2 – 8.5

Return on investment % 5.5 2.9 – 0.5

1 selling, administrative, and R&D costs

/ /  StatementS oF Income and pRoFItabIlIty RatIoS  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  2.20
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increases. As selling and administrative expenses rose less strongly than sales, the ratio of  
selling and administrative expenses to sales sank to 10.2 % (2010: 13.9 %). 

Our market success in 2010 and 2011 was due in large measure to the introduction of new, 
more efficient products. We therefore continued with our innovation strategy and increased our 
R&D spending by 14.4 % to € 29.5 million. 

The balance of other operating income and expenses was € 0.6 million, and had little impact on 
our earnings (2010: € 0.8 million). Currency translation resulted in net income of € 1.9 million 
in 2011 (2010: net loss of € – 0.8 million). For further details please see Item 13 in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements.

ebIt ReacheS RecoRd level

EBIT almost tripled year over year on the back of the high gross profit coupled with moderate 
overhead costs. At € 106.5 million (2010: € 36.6 million), we achieved a record EBIT; the EBIT 
margin rose to 5.5 %, thus approaching our target margin for 2013 of 6 % earlier than expected. 
EBITDA advanced on a similar scale, reaching € 127.1 million (2010: € 54.6 million). As in the 
 previous years, no impairment losses had to be recognized in goodwill on the basis of the yearly 
impairment test. 

modeRate RISe In peRSonnel expenSeS

The Group’s workforce grew by 15.4 % to 6,823 employees at the end of 2011. The main reason 
for the increase was the massive growth in business volume; additionally, 116 employees were 
added by the first-time consolidation of Agramkow Fluid Systems A/S. On a comparable basis,  
in other words without Agramkow, the increase was 13.4 %. 

Personnel expenses, which are subsumed in all the categories of operating costs in the state-
ments of income, rose by 17.4 % to € 402.6 million. Besides the higher number of employees, this 
was also due to rising wage and salary levels in the emerging markets and to performance-
linked bonuses, while productivity factors and the higher proportion of employees in the emerg-
ing markets had a dampening effect. As personnel expenses rose much less strongly than sales, 
the personnel expense ratio sank to 20.9 % (2010: 27.2 %). Sales per employee (annual average) 
reached a ten-year high of € 299 thousand. 

FInancIal ReSult much ImpRoved

The cost benefits of our new corporate financing were felt in 2011. The financial result improved 
by € 3.4 million versus 2010 to € – 20.7 million. We benefited above all from the low amortization 
charge for the transaction costs that were incurred in 2010 for the placement of our bond, and 
lower commitment fees for the new syndicated loan. In addition, the transaction costs and inci-

p. 160 

 
No. of 

employees
Costs 

(€ million)

Personnel  
expenses 

(€ million)

Depreciation 
and amortization 

(€ million)
Other costs 
(€ million)

Selling 755 107.2 75.3 2.6 29.3

(2010) (693) (98.5) (66.5) (1.7) (30.3)

Administrative 683 88.7 52.9 3.4 32.4

(2010) (634) (77.4) (48.8) (6.1) (22.5)

R&D 180 29.5 15.2 4.6 9.7

(2010) (162) (25.8) (13.3) (4.4) (8.1)

/ /  oveRhead 2011  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  2.21
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dental costs for the syndicated loan and the R&D loan from the European Investment Bank 
are lower than with our previous debt financing. Income from investments was up slightly to 
€ 0.6 million (2010: € 0.5 million). 

Our new € 225 million bond has a coupon of 7.25 %, which is considerably lower than the 9.75 % 
paid on the € 100 million bond it replaced. The fact that interest expense – without incidental 
 interest expenses – rose nonetheless to € 19.4 million (2010: € 17.7 million) is due entirely to the 
bond’s higher nominal volume. In addition, the interest result includes the expense for pension 
obligations and other interest-related expenses totaling € 7.4 million (2010: € 10.3 million) as well 
as interest income of € 5.5 million (2010: € 3.4 million).

eaRnIngS aFteR taxeS top the € 60 mIllIon maRk

Earnings before taxes rose by € 73.3 million to € 85.8 million in 2011. Despite the strong earn-
ings improvement, the effective tax rate sank from 43.3 % to 25.1 %. Owing to the much im-
proved earnings outlook we were able to capitalize deferred tax assets, especially in Germany, 
and therefore to use part of our tax loss carryforwards. With tax expense of € 21.6 million (2010: 
€ 5.4 million), net income advanced to € 64.3 million (2010: € 7.1 million). As planned, earnings 
were turned around at the local companies in France and the USA, which had still been loss-mak-
ing in 2010. After deducting non-controlling interests, earnings per share came to € 3.58, after 
€ 0.37 the year before. 

In view of the positive earnings trend, we propose that the dividend for 2011 be increased to 
€ 1.20 per share (2010: € 0.30). Based on the 17,300,520 outstanding shares, this represents a
total dividend payment of € 20.8 million. That is equivalent to 32 % of the Group’s consolidated 
earnings after taxes, which would put the dividend payout ratio within the targeted band of 30 % 
to 40 % of net profit. Dürr AG’s remaining net retained profit of € 56.2 million (2010: € 66.5 mil-
lion) after the dividend payment is to be carried forward. 

annual FInancIal StatementS oF düRR ag

Dürr AG’s net profit was lower in 2011. This was mainly due to the earnings development at Dürr 
Systems GmbH in Germany. However, it needs to be borne in mind that the individual financial 
statements of Dürr AG and Dürr Systems GmbH are prepared according to German HGB (German 
Commercial Code) accounting standards. Applying IFRS standards and accounting for orders ac-
cording to the percentage of completion method provided for in the IFRS standards, the results of 
both companies would have been significantly higher. The full individual annual financial state-
ments of Dürr AG are published at www.duRR.Com/InvestoR/fInanCIal-RepoRts.

www

 2011 2010 2009

Employees (Dec. 31) 6,823 5,915 5,712

Employees (annual average) 6,423 5,776 5,885

Personnel expenses (€ million) – 402.6 – 342.7 – 336.4

Personnel expense ratio (%) 20.9 27.2 31.2

Personnel expenses per employee (annual average) (€) – 62,700 – 59,300 – 57,200

Sales per employee (annual average) (€) 299,200 218,400 183,100

/ /  employee-Related FIguReS and peRFoRmance IndIcatoRS  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  2.22
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/ /   StatementS oF Income, düRR ag

Stand-alone StatutoRy FInancIal StatementS (hgb)  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  2.23

€ million 2011 2010

Income from profit and loss transfer agreements 34.4 49.2

Income from investments 34.4 49.2

Changes in inventory  – 5.4

Other operating income and expenses 1.4 12.8

Cost of purchased services  – 2.8

Personnel expenses – 10.2 – 6.8

Depreciation and amortization (including financial assets) – 0.4 – 0.3

Interest result – 13.0 – 17.2

profit from ordinary activities 12.2 29.5

Taxes – 1.7 – 0.4

net income 10.5 29.1

Profit brought forward from the previous year 66.5 42.6

net retained profit 77.0 71.7

/ /   StatementS oF FInancIal poSItIon, düRR ag

Stand-alone StatutoRy FInancIal StatementS (hgb)  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  2.24

€ million Dec. 31, 2011 Dec. 31, 2010

ASSETS

Fixed assets

Intangible assets 0.7 0.9

Property, plant and equipment 0.2 0.1

Financial assets 470.7 489.9

 471.6 490.9

current assets

Receivables and other assets 122.2 99.2

Cash and cash equivalents 142.0 138.9

Prepaid expenses, sundry items 0.9 0.8

 265.1 238.9

total assets 736.7 729.8

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

equity

Subscribed capital 44.3 44.3

Capital reserve 200.5 200.5

Net retained profit 77.0 71.7

 321.7 316.5

liabilities

Provisions 9.8 7.9

Liabilities 402.4 401.8

Deferred income 2.9 3.6

 415.0 413.3

total equity and liabilities 736.7 729.8
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dIvISIonS

The four divisions improved their EBIT strongly in 2011. As incoming orders generally exceeded 
sales revenues, a good level of capacity utilization can be expected across all four divisions in 
2012. 

The number of employees in the Corporate Center has more than doubled as a result of the 
 reorganization of the IT operations: Dürr IT Service GmbH was set up at the beginning of 2011 
and is attached to the Corporate Center. The new company bundles all of the IT activities and 
 resources that were previously located within the operating companies, enabling Group-wide IT 
projects to be implemented more effectively. As a result of the reorganization, IT investments, 
too, are charged to the Corporate Center and no longer to the divisions. The transaction costs for 
the Group’s financing are also included in the Corporate Center’s capital expenditure. Corporate 
Center EBIT came to € -1.4 million in 2011 (2010: € -2.6 million). The loss was due to expenses that 
could not be passed on in full to the subsidiaries. The Corporate Center result includes consoli-
dation effects of € 2.0 million (2010: € 0.5 million).

€ million 2011 2010 2009

Paint and Assembly Systems 40.5 13.8 – 3.0

Application Technology 31.1 11.6 3.0

Measuring and Process Systems 31.4 10.3 10.7

Clean Technology Systems 4.9 3.5 2.2

Corporate Center / Consolidation – 1.4 – 2.6 – 7.2

total 106.5 36.6 5.7

€ million 2011 2010 2009

Paint and Assembly Systems 4.9 2.6 5.8

Application Technology 4.0 3.4 6.3

Measuring and Process Systems 8.6 10.0 4.7

Clean Technology Systems 0.5 0.3 0.5

Corporate Center / Consolidation 5.4 0.3 4.1

total 23.4 16.6 21.4

1 without expenditure in connection with acquisitions

€ million 2011 2010 2009

Paint and Assembly Systems 3.7 5.3 5.7

Application Technology 4.7 5.0 4.7

Measuring and Process Systems 9.1 6.8 8.4

Clean Technology Systems 0.4 0.6 0.7

Corporate Center / Consolidation 5.5 4.2 3.1

total 23.4 21.9 22.6

1 incl. impairment losses and reversals

/ /  ebIt  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  2.25

/ /  capItal expendItuRe on pRopeRty, plant and equIpment and IntangIble aSSetS1  / / /  2.26

/ /  depRecIatIon and amoRtIzatIon1  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  2.27
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37.0 %

17.6 %

1.5 %

21.6 %

Paint and Assembly Systems

2,524

Application Technology

1,203

Corporate Center  

101

Measuring and Process Systems

2,790

Clean Technology Systems

205

40.9 %

3.0 %

Paint and Assembly Systems

€ 878.7 million 

Application Technology

€ 406.8 million 

Measuring and Process Systems

€ 550.4 million 

Clean Technology Systems

€ 86.1 million 45.7 %

21.2 %

28.6 %

4.5 %

Paint and Assembly Systems

€ 1,340.4 million

Application Technology

€ 580.8 million

Measuring and Process Systems

€ 662.7 million

Clean Technology Systems

€ 101.0 million

49.9 %

24.7 %

3.8 %

EMPLOYEES 
(DEC. 31, 2011)

SALES REvENUES

INCOMING ORDERS

/ /  dIvISIonS: SaleS, IncomIng oRdeRS, employeeS / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  2.28
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paint and assembly Systems

After the strong previous year, Paint and Assembly Systems increased its order intake by a further 
78 % in 2011. This was driven mainly by the dynamic demand in the emerging markets, whose 
share of incoming orders rose to 75 % (2010: 72 %). In the paint shop business, incoming orders 
were also increased by 78 % versus 2010. Especially in China, which is by far our largest single 
market, we booked several large paint systems orders. However, we were also awarded large sys-
tem projects from the automobile industry in India, Brazil, Morocco and Hungary.

Order intake also grew strongly in the Aircraft and Technology Systems business unit, which 
supplies manufacturing systems for aircraft production. The largest order was from the Russian 
aircraft manufacturer Irkut. Together with partners, we are installing the structural and final 
 assembly line for the new MS-21 mid-range airliner at its Irkutsk plant in Siberia.

To cope with the high volume of business, Paint and Assembly Systems increased its workforce  
by 15.6 %. While sales revenues were up 51.0 %, the gross margin declined slightly for two 
 reasons. Firstly, there were final billings on poorer-margin orders from 2009 and 2010 and, 
 secondly, the relative weight of the service business in sales revenues declined owing to the 
 disproportionately strong growth in new equipment business. Nonetheless, the good capacity 
utilization, high sales revenues and the containment of overhead costs led to a strong earnings  
improvement, and the EBIT margin rose to 4.6 %. Capital expenditure at Paint and Assembly Sys-
tems rose by € 2.3 million to € 4.9 million due to capacity expansion. 

application technology

applICatIon teChnology, which is reported as a separate division for the first time in this year’s 
annual report, increased its order intake by 85 % in 2011. Our customers in the automobile 
 industry mainly invested in new capacities and in automating their painting processes. The bulk  
of the orders came from the emerging markets. In contrast to the plant engineering business, 
smaller order volumes in the mid-single-digit million euro range predominate in the Application 
Technology division. 

p. 224

/ /  key FIguReS paInt and aSSembly SyStemS  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  2.29

€ million 2011 2010 2009

Incoming orders 1,340.4 753.1 615.8

Sales revenues 878.7 582.0 494.1

Cost of materials (consolidated) – 511.9 – 270.7 – 200.5

EBITDA 44.2 19.1 2.7

EBIT 40.5 13.8 – 3.0

Capital expenditure 4.9 2.6 5.8

Employees (Dec. 31) 2,524 2,183 2,114

c
o

n
S

o
l

Id
a

t
e

d
 F

In
a

n
c

Ia
l

 S
t

a
t

e
m

e
n

t
S



86 MANAGEMENT REPORT / /  Business development

Sales revenues were up 52.2 %. In the highly technology-driven business in robots and appli-
cation products we generated higher margins than in the paint systems business (Paint and Final 
Assembly Systems). Application Technology’s EBIT margin rose from 4.3 % to 7.6 % in 2011, 
 although there were still a number of poorer-margin orders from 2010 being executed. The high 
level of capacity utilization was an important support for the good result. The number of employ-
ees rose by 13.4 %. 

measuring and process Systems

In the Measuring and Process Systems division both business units contributed to the strong  
increase of 33.5 % in incoming orders. Cleaning and Filtration Systems witnessed substantial 
growth especially in North America, where the business unit received several large orders for  
the supply of production equipment for engine plants. Balancing and Assembly Products also 
achieved double-digit rates of growth although order intake had already picked up strongly in 
2010. As a leading supplier of balancing systems for turbines, the business unit benefited, among 
other things, from the high investment activity in the power generating sector. 

Measuring and Process Systems increased its sales revenues considerably as well. However, 
there were marked divergences in earnings performance. Balancing and Assembly Products 
gained further momentum thanks to high capacity utilization and reached a new EBIT record. 
Cleaning and Filtration Systems achieved the targeted turnaround but the level of earnings  
was still poor due to low-margin orders from the previous year. 

The increase of 14.2 % in the number of employees is due, firstly, to the strong expansion of 
business and, secondly, to the first-time consolidation of the filling equipment specialist Agramkow 
(116 employees). Schenck Technologie- und Industriepark GmbH (TIP) achieved a positive result 
that was roughly level with the previous year; revenues were also in the same order as in 2010.

/ /  key FIguReS applIcatIon technology  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  2.30

€ million 2011 2010 2009

Incoming orders 580.8 314.1 240.6

Sales revenues 406.8 267.2 203.9

Cost of materials (consolidated) – 198.9 – 128.4 – 82.3

EBITDA 35.8 16.6 7.7

EBIT 31.1 11.6 3.0

Capital expenditure 4.0 3.4 6.3

Employees (Dec. 31) 1,203 1,061 998

/ /  key FIguReS meaSuRIng and pRoceSS SyStemS   / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  2.31

€ million 2011 2010 2009

Incoming orders 662,7 496,4 270,6

Sales revenues 550,4 344,7 324,9

Cost of materials (consolidated) – 225,8 – 141,0 – 131,4

EBITDA 40,5 17,1 19,1

EBIT 31,4 10,3 10,7

Capital expenditure 8,6 10,0 4,7

Employees (Dec. 31) 2,790 2,444 2,381
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clean technology Systems

The figures for the Clean Technology Systems division, which was set up at the beginning of 
2011, so far relate only to the activities of the Environmental and Energy Systems business unit 
(exhaust air purification). This includes the start-up company Dürr Cyplan Ltd., in which we  
have held a 50 % equity interest since May 2011. The division’s second business unit – Energy 
Technology Systems – is pursuing a number of acquisition projects but does not yet have any 
 operating business. 

In the exhaust air purification systems business we witnessed strong demand from the chemical, 
pharmaceutical and carbon fiber industries. As a result, incoming orders at Clean Technology 
Systems were up 28.5 % to € 101.0 million in 2011. Sales revenues also rose strongly by 27.6 %. 
Earnings improved considerably year over year thanks to the high level of capacity utilization. 
The EBIT margin reached a good level of 5.7 % (2010: 5.2 %).

To broaden the Clean Technology Systems technology portfolio we acquired a 15 % equity inter-
est in the Dutch HeatMatrix Group BV in the first quarter of 2012. HeatMatrix develops and 
 produces innovative plastic heat exChangeRs that offer two key advantages: they can be used 
without difficulty with corrosive media and they are lighter and cheaper than conventional  
metal heat exchangers. Applications, for instance, include heat recovery from flue gases, indus-
trial drying processes, and boiler systems.

p. 224

/ /  key FIguReS clean technology SyStemS  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  2.33

€ million 2011 2010 2009

Incoming orders 101.0 78.6 57.7

Sales revenues 86.1 67.5 54.6

Cost of materials (consolidated) – 48.0 – 33.6 – 23.1

EBITDA 5.3 4.1 2.9

EBIT 4.9 3.5 2.2

Capital expenditure 0.5 0.3 0.5

Employees (Dec. 31) 205 180 171

/ /  key FIguReS Schenck technologIe- und InduStRIepaRk  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  2.32

€ million 2011 2010 2009

External revenues 13.0 12.5 14.0

External rental income 6.5 6.3 6.9
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Financial development

FundIng and lIquIdIty management

Our centralized funding and liquidity management pursues three objectives: income and cost 
 optimization, transparency, and risk control. The latter encompasses all financial risks that could 
threaten the company’s existence. In order to be able to meet our payment obligations at all 
times, we pay special heed to assuring that we have sufficient liquidity reserves (for more infor-
mation, please see the RIsk RepoRt chapter). 

Our chief source of funds are the cash flows from our operating activities. As a rule, debt finance 
is raised by Dürr AG and distributed to the Group companies as required. Liquidity management 
is also organized by Dürr AG through a cash pooling system. Surplus cash is taken over from 
Group companies and made available to other Group companies. All the principal Group compa-
nies participate in this system unless there are legal regulations restricting the movement of 
capital. In countries where this applies (for instance China, India, South Korea) our companies 
mainly cover their capital requirements locally. 

Group Treasury controls the investment of cash and cash equivalents. We only use banks of prime 
standing and employ a limit system to control the individual counterparty risks. As cash flow 
 increased strongly in 2011, cash and cash equivalents rose to € 298.6 million as of December 31, 
2011 (December 31, 2010: € 252.3 million). That is equivalent to 18.0 % of total assets 
(December 31, 2010: 20.7 %). 

A central focus of our funding and liquidity management is to keep net woRkIng CapItal as low 
as possible. This releases cash and optimizes financial ratios such as our balance sheet structure 
and our return on capital employed. In all our measures to optimize net working capital we ensure 
that our operating business is not impaired. Responsibility for net working capital management 
lies with the divisions and business units. Dürr AG, as Group holding company, formulates targets 
and monitors performance.

FundIng

Our debt financing consists of three main elements:

■■ Our corporate bond, issued in 2010, has a volume of € 225 million and runs until September 
2015. The effective rate of interest is 6.83 %.

■■ The syndicated loan, agreed in March 2011, consists of a cash credit line of € 50 million and a 
guarantee line of € 180 million (December 31, 2010: € 80 million and € 150 million). It replaced 
a syndicated loan arranged in 2008 and runs until June 2014.

■■ The European Investment Bank (EIB) has made a € 40 million tied loan available to us since 
June 2011, which we can use until June 2014 for financing research and development projects. 

We also have bilateral credit facilities at our disposal on a smaller scale, as well as liabilities under 
finance leases and liabilities in relation to associated companies that are accounted for using  
the equity method. The credit facilities can be drawn in different currencies. In addition to money 
and capital market instruments, we also make use of off-balance sheet financing instruments, 
such as accounts receivable financing and operating leases, to a small extent. 

p. 112 

p. 225



89management and stoCK / /  teChnologY matteRs / /   MANAGEMENT REPORT / /  Consolidated finanCial statements / /  otheR
finanCial development

The purchase of the Dürr Campus in Bietigheim-Bissingen, which we had previously leased,  
was associated with an increase of € 45.8 million in liabilities to banks. The bullet and annuity 
loans for the Campus run until September 30, 2024.

As at the previous year’s reporting date, the cash credit line under the syndicated loan facility 
was not drawn as of December 31, 2011; the average amount drawn in 2011 was also extremely 
low at € 0.1 million (2010: € 7.4 million). We will probably use the EIB loan, which has not been 
drawn as yet, for the first time this year.

We normally use the guarantee facilities at our disposal to provide surety bonds for prepayments 
received from customers. Of the total guarantee line under the syndicated loan (€ 180 million), 
€ 125.8 million was drawn as of the reporting date (December 31, 2010: € 102.6 million). We have 
additional guarantee lines at our disposal with credit insurers in the amount of € 223.0 million 
(2010: € 150.0 million); € 211.9 million was drawn at the end of the year (December 31, 2010: 
€ 113.0 million). 

We complied with the financial covenants of the syndicated loan as of the year-end 2011 report-
ing date. The syndicated loan carries interest at the refinancing rate for the respective currency 
and maturity (EURIBOR, LIBOR) plus a variable spread which depends on earnings performance 
and net financial debt. The present syndicated loan has a lower level of collateralization than 
the  previous syndicated loan agreed in 2008. This is due to the more favorable macroeconomic 
environment as well as our improved financing structure. Detailed information on the syndicated 
loan and the corporate bond can be found in Item 29 in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements. 

caSh Flow moRe than doubled

At € 127.9 million, cash flow from operating activities (operating cash flow) reached its highest 
level since 2002. The positive development was based on the strong growth in earnings and 
 revenues. net woRkIng CapItal was almost unchanged despite the growth in business. Here, 
we benefited from the, again, marked year-over-year increase in prepayments from customers 
 recognized under liabilities as of the reporting date. The item “Other” includes, among other 
things, the increase in liabilities (for instance bonus payments and VAT payments). 

p. 185 

p. 225

€ million 2011 2010 2009

Bond 225.5 225.6 98.1

Liabilities to banks 57.2 2.0 1.7

Liabilities to associated companies accounted for according to the equity method 0.0 1.1 1.1

Liabilities under finance leases 3.5 3.6 3.1

total 286.2 232.3 104.0

 of which due within one year 13.3 1.8 1.3

/ /  FInancIal lIabIlItIeS (decembeR 31)  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  2.34
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Cash flow from investing activities amounted to € – 62.6 million in 2011 (2010: € – 19.5 million). 
This includes higher maintenance and expansion capital expenditures as well as cash outflows 
for the equity interests acquired in Agramkow (55 %), Cyplan (50 %), and Parker Engineering 
(10 %). There were further cash outflows of € 36 million into time deposits.

Cash flow from financing activities amounted to € – 24.2 million and was mainly affected by inter-
est payments and the dividend for 2010. The increase of € 4.3 million in current liabilities also 
made itself felt. In the previous year, the bond issue had resulted in a positive balance, with a  
net cash inflow of € 105.1 million. 

The strong operating cash flow enabled us to generate a high free cash flow of € 91.8 million. 
fRee Cash flow indicates the remaining cash flow available for dividend payments and share 
buybacks, and for reducing net financial debt. In addition to the cash flow from operating activ-
ities, this includes interest received and capital expenditures (included in cash flow from invest-
ing activities) as well as interest paid (included in cash flow from financing activities). The high 
free cash flow led to a further improvement of our net fInanCIal status to € +51.8 million as of 
the reporting date, its highest level for over ten years. 

The largest item under “Other cash flows” (table 2.35) is the purchase of our Campus headquar-
ters in Bietigheim-Bissingen (€ 51.4 million), which we had previously leased. Since this alloca-
tion of funds is of a dispositional nature, it is not included in free cash flow. In addition, the other 
cash flows include cash outflows for acquisitions (€ 19.6 million) and finance lease payments.

peRFoRmance IndIcatoRS: ebIt, opeRatIng caSh Flow, FRee caSh Flow, and Roce

In our corporate planning and control process, we mainly focus on EBIT, operating cash flow, free 
cash flow, and RoCe (EBIT to capital employed) as the key performance indicators. As shown in 
the preceding chapter, our earnings and cash flow improved much more strongly than expected. 
The same applies to ROCE, which rose from 10.3 % to 28.4 %. 

p. 225

p. 225

p. 225

€ million 2011 2010 2009

Earnings before income taxes 85.8 12.5 – 12.2

Depreciation and amortization 20.6 18.0 19.9

Interest result 21.3 24.7 18.9

Income taxes paid – 14.3 – 17.4 – 16.3

Change in provisions 0.6 – 11.2 – 15.4

Change in net working capital – 2.3 31.9 94.9

Other 16.2 – 3.1 5.6

cash flow from operating activities 127.9 55.4 95.4

Interest paid (net) – 16.5 – 17.7 – 14.3

Capital expenditure (on intangible assets and on property, plant and equipment) – 19.6 – 14.8 – 17.4

Free cash flow 91.8 22.9 63.7

Other cash flows – 63.6 – 2.3 – 26.4

Decrease (+), increase (–) in net financial status + 28.2 + 20.6 + 37.4

/ /  caSh Flow  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  2.35
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1  In accordance with IAS 36, WACC is calculated on the basis of the parameters of our peer group, in other words not taking Dürr Group’s 
capital structure into account. By contrast, in the literature, a company’s weighted arithmetical average cost of equity and debt is normally  
used to calculate WACC for valuation purposes.

The high volume of business caused capital employed, in other words the amount of capital tied  
up in the business, to rise slightly by € 18.1 million to € 374.8 million. Based on the strong EBIT 
improvement, we were able to generate significant Economic Value Added (EVA) in 2011. EVA 
measures the value that a company creates or destroys in a fiscal year and is calculated on the 
basis of the following formula: 

eva = nopat – (waCC x Capital Employed)

■■ nopat = Net Operating Profit After Taxes (eBit after fictitious taxes)

■■ waCC = Weighted Average Cost of Capital

■■ Capital Employed: Capital employed includes all assets except cash and cash equivalents less non-interest-bearing liabilities.

waCC1 equity as % of total capital cost of equity debt as % of total capital cost of debt 1  tax rate 

79.13 % 8.43 % 20.87 % 6.58 % 1  29.50 % 7.64 %

Cost of equity: risk-free rate (2.75 %) + risk premium (5.50 %) x beta factor (1.032) = 8.43 %

ROCE improved strongly also at the divisional level in 2011 (table 2.38). For Paint and Assembly 
Systems, however, no ROCE can be calculated as capital employed was negative. The difference 
in the rates of return from division to division is mainly due to the level of capital employed, 
which is usually lower in the plant engineering business than in the machinery business. ROCE 
and  capital employed are also analyzed regularly at the level of the seven business units in  
order to optimize the management and control of the businesses and the allocation of resources. 

/ /  peRFoRmance IndIcatoRS  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  2.36

/ /  value added  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  2.37

  2011 2010 2009

EBIT € million 106.5 36.6 5.7

Operating cash flow € million 127.9 55.4 95.4

Free cash flow € million 91.8 22.9 63.7

ROCE % 28.4 10.3 1.6

  2011 2010 2009

Capital employed (Dec. 31) € million 374.8 356.7 356.3

ROCE % 28.4 10.3 1.6

NOPAT € million 74.6 25.6 4.0

Weighted average cost of capital (WACC) % 7.64 8.10 8.08

EvA € million 45.9 – 3.2 – 24.8
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FInancIal poSItIon: net FInancIal StatuS FuRtheR ImpRoved

The strongly expanded volume of business led on the assets side to growth in inventories 
(€ + 50.7 million) as well as in trade receivables (€ + 233.7 million). On the equity and liabilities 
side, the growth was mainly in trade payables (€ + 278.1 million), which was mostly attributable 
to prepayments received (€ + 173.6 million). 

The purchase of the Dürr Campus in Bietigheim-Bissingen for € 51.4 million was also a factor con-
tributing to the growth of € 444.6 million in total assets. net woRkIng CapItal increased by 
€ 5.2 million to € 32.6 million. On the reporting date, net working capital was equivalent to only 
1.7 % of sales (December 31, 2010: 2.2 %). Days working capital, which indicates the average 
time it takes to convert working capital into sales revenue, reached a low of six days at the end of 
2011 as net working capital rose only marginally despite the sharply rising volume of business. 
On the other hand, the strong growth in receivables caused average days sales outstanding to rise 
to 117 days.

Goodwill resulting from acquisitions amounted to € 284.5 million as of December 31, 2011, 
equivalent to 54 % of non-current assets. This was a slight increase versus the end of 2010 
(€ 281.7 million), which was mainly attributable to the Agramkow acquisition, for which goodwill 

p. 225

  2011 2010 2009

Net financial status (Dec. 31) € million 51.8 23.6 3.0

Net financial liabilities to EBITDA  – – –

Gearing (Dec. 31) % – 16.6 – 8.0 -1.0

Net working capital (NWC) (Dec. 31) € million 32.6 27.3 57.4

Days working capital days 6.1 7.8 19.2

Inventory turnover days 23.3 21.1 20.9

Days sales outstanding days 117.2 112.2 108.9

Equity assets ratio (Dec. 31) % 68.9 69.1 66.6

Asset coverage (Dec. 31) % 144.8 140.1 111.0

Asset intensity (Dec. 31) % 31.8 38.0 46.8

Current assets to total assets (Dec. 31) % 68.2 62.0 53.2

Degree of asset depreciation % 48.8 56.9 56.9

Depreciation expense ratio % 3.3 4.2 4.8

Cash ratio (Dec. 31) % 33.4 44.4 22.3

Quick ratio (Dec. 31) % 103.3 113.3 91.7

Equity ratio (Dec. 31) % 21.9 26.3 31.1

Total assets (Dec. 31) € million 1,661.0 1,216.5 968.1

/ /  FInancIal poSItIon  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  2.39

/ /  Roce by dIvISIon  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  2.38

% 2011 2010 2009

Paint and Assembly Systems1 – – –

Application Technology 30.6 11.4 2.8

Measuring and Process Systems 9.2 3.7 4.0

Clean Technology Systems 418.4 61.1 64.3

1 negative capital employed
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of € 1.9 million was capitalized. Further information on intangible assets can be found in Item 19 
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. By comparison, machinery, buildings and 
other tangible non-current assets are of minor importance at Dürr.

Equity increased by € 44.9 million to € 364.3 million as of the end of 2011. This was due primarily 
to the high net profit for the year of € 64.3 million; in addition, we posted currency translation 
gains of € 3.2 million which are recognized not through profit or loss but directly in equity. On the 
other hand, the dividend payment for 2010 reduced equity by € 5.2 million. As total assets ex-
panded more strongly than equity, the equity ratio, which stood at 21.9 % as of the reporting date, 
was below the previous year’s level (December 31, 2010: 26.3 %). However, we expect it to im-
prove successively in the course of 2012. 

p. 165 

/ /  non-cuRRent and cuRRent aSSetS (decembeR 31)  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  2.40

/ /  equIty (decembeR 31)  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  2.41

/ /  cuRRent and non-cuRRent lIabIlItIeS (decembeR 31)  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  2.42

€ million 2011
as % of  

total assets 2010 2009

Intangible assets 326.7 19.7 316.1 308.2

Property plant and equipment 144.9 8.7 91.2 88.8

Other non-current assets 57.4 3.4 55.0 55.6

non-current assets 529.0 31.8 462.3 452.6

Inventories 124.5 7.5 73.8 62.5

Trade receivables 625.6 37.7 392.0 323.3

Cash and cash equivalents 298.6 18.0 252.3 103.9

Other current assets 83.3 5.0 36.0 25.8

current assets 1,132.0 68.2 754.1 515.5

€ million 2011
as % of  

total assets 2010 2009

Subscribed capital 44.3 2.7 44.3 44.3

Other equity 314.6 18.9 268.9 250.6

equity attributable to shareholders 358.9 21.6 313.2 294.9

Non-controlling interest 5.4 0.3 6.2 6.5

total equity 364.3 21.9 319.4 301.4

€ million 2011
as % of  

total assets 2010 2009

Financial liabilities (incl. bond) 286.2 17.2 232.3 104.0

Provisions (incl. pensions) 110.3 6.6 103.6 107.5

Trade payables 717.7 43.2 439.6 330.9

 of which prepayments received 446.8 26.9 273.2 200.5

Income tax liabilities 8.9 0.6 2.7 7.9

Other liabilities (incl. deferred taxes, deferred income) 173.6 10.5 118.9 116.4

total 1,296.7 78.1 897.1 666.7
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18.0 20.7

50.1 41.3

31.9
21.9

24.2

53.9

26.3

27.0

46.7

38.0

%
assets equitY and liaBilities 

2011 2010 2011 2010

1  excl. cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities

Total equity

Non-current liabilities

Current assets1

Non-current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

At € 717.7 million, trade payables were up 63.2 % on the comparable level as of December 31, 
2010. As mentioned earlier, this increase was mainly due to the higher prepayments received 
from customers shown as liabilities; they rose by 63.5 % to € 446.8 million. However, this figure 
will come down again since the prepayments will be successively used up as orders are execut-
ed. At the same time, we expect a decline in incoming orders, and thus fewer prepayments, after 
the peak year 2011. 

On the assets side, there are future receivables from construction contracts that directly corre-
spond to the prepayments carried on the liabilities side. The prepayments should therefore  
not be viewed in isolation. More informative is the difference between future receivables from 
construction contracts and prepayments received. This indicates the amount by which orders  
are pre-financed by customers. The balance on December 31 was € – 126.1 million; these funds 
therefore represent cash outflows in the coming months in connection with order execution.  
A further analysis of the future receivables from construction contracts and the prepayments  
received from customers can be found in Item 22 in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements. 

hIdden ReSeRveS In land, uncapItalIzed tax loSS caRRyFoRwaRdS, and patentS

We generally report assets and liabilities at amortized cost on the basis of lower-of-cost-or-market 
tests. Long-term construction contracts are reported according to the percentage of completion 
(POC) method. Derivative financial instruments, available-for-sale financial assets, obligations 
arising from put options, and liabilities from contingent purchase installments are measured  
at their fair value. Explanatory comments on the measurement of the carrying amounts of finan-
cial instruments can be found in Item 6 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
On the equity and liabilities side, there are two instances where the reported carrying amounts 
of liabilities are lower than their fair value: the bond and the liabilities under finance leases.  
The aggregate difference amounts to € 19.3 million (December 31, 2010: € 17.0 million; Item 34 
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements). For the most part, the carrying amounts  
on the assets side and on the equity and liabilities side correspond to fair value.

p. 175 

p. 148 

p. 190 

/ /  aSSet and capItal StRuctuRe (decembeR 31)  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  2.43
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Other intangible assets, which mainly relate to rights, concessions and internally developed soft-
ware, are amortized over their expected useful life. For the most part, no hidden reserves can  
be created in this item. Property, plant and equipment can contain hidden reserves, primarily in 
land and buildings. Schenck Technologie und Industriepark GmbH (TIP) in Darmstadt may be 
mentioned; in our estimation, its fair value exceeds the carrying amount by several million euros. 
Under non-current assets, we have capitalized € 9.6 million of deferred tax assets. There are 
 approximately € 110 million of as yet uncapitalized tax loss carryforwards that can probably be 
used. On a notional basis, these tax loss carryforwards represent hidden reserves of € 25 to 
30 million. 

The cost of self-constructed intangible assets that has not been capitalized is included in R&D 
 expenses. This relates mostly to expenditures for patents amounting to € 2.9 million (2010: 
€ 2.9 million). The exact value of these patents is difficult to quantify; however, given over 3,000 
individual patents, it is likely to be in the high double-digit million euros. 

hIgheR capItal expendItuRe

As our own manufacturing input is low, we generally have less need to invest in property, plant 
and equipment. While, usually, our capital expenditure is chiefly on maintaining existing facil-
ities, much of the investment in property, plant and equipment in 2011 was on building up new 
production capacities in China. 

Capital expenditure was up by 49.6 % year over year to € 43.0 million. € 13.6 million was invest-
ed in property, plant and equipment, an increase of € 2.5 million. The increase in expenditure 
on intangible assets was more pronounced (+ 78 % to € 9.8 million) and was mainly for acquiring 
licenses and software. It also includes the capitalized transaction costs for the new syndicated 
loan (€ 3.5 million). Depreciation and amortization amounted to € 23.4 million (2010: € 21.9 mil-
lion); this puts the reinvestment ratio at 100 % (2010: 75.8 %). 

lIquIdIty

Cash and cash equivalents increased by € 46.3 million to € 298.6 million as of December 31, 2011, 
the main driver being the high operating cash flow. fRee Cash flow, cash and cash equivalents, 
and the credit and guarantee lines at our disposal should cover our financing requirements with-
out difficulty in 2012. Our payment obligations under operating leases in 2012 amount to 
€ 16.7 million. € 0.9 million will be due under finance leases, and other financial commitments 
(such as purchasing contracts) amount to € 4.3 million. No obligations on financial debt will 
fall due in 2012.

p. 225

/ /  capItal expendItuRe1, depRecIatIon and amoRtIzatIon  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  2.44

€ million 20113 2010 2009

Investment in property, plant and equipment 13.6 11.1 11.8

Investment in intangible assets 9.8 5.5 9.5

Acquisitions / investment in financial assets 19.6 12.1 7.0

Depreciation and amortization2 23.4 21.9 22.6

1 According to IFRS rules, the capital expenditures in this overview deviate from the figures in the statements of cash flows. 
2 Including impairment losses and reversals
3 The purchase of the Dürr Campus (€ 51.4 million) is not included.
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298.6

127.9

252.3

Cash and cash 

equivalents as of 

December 31, 2010

Cash flow from 

operating activities

Capital expenditure 

(including financial 

assets)

Other (incl. exchange 

rate changes, dividend, 

interest payments)

Cash and cash 

equivalents as of 

December 31, 2011

/ /  development oF lIquIdIty  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  2.45

oFF-balance Sheet FInancIng InStRumentS and oblIgatIonS Reduced

Our off-balance sheet financing instruments and obligations include operating leases, accounts 
receivable financing, and liabilities in respect of continuing contractual obligations. Their volume 
was reduced strongly in 2011, as we purchased the Dürr Campus in Bietigheim-Bissingen and 
therefore no longer report this as an operating lease. Our future minimum payment obligations 
under operating leases amounted to € 72.0 million as of the reporting date and were therefore 
much lower than a year earlier (€ 121.1 million). A list can be found in Item 39 in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements. We make selective use of accounts receivable financing (for-
faiting, factoring, negotiation) to reduce capital employed. At the end of 2011, their volume was 
€ 20.5 million (December 31, 2010: € 25.1 million). Liabilities in respect of other continuing obli-
gations amounted to € 9.7 million (December 31, 2010: € 9.9 million); beyond that, there were no 
other off-balance sheet obligations. 

Off-balance sheet financing instruments reduce total assets and improve certain capital ratios. 
Their volume is in reasonable relation to our business volume. Operating leases are by far the 
largest off-balance sheet financing position. If we did not use the existing off-balance sheet 
 financing instruments, total assets would be about 3 to 5 % higher and the equity ratio would be 
about one percentage point lower. There would also be changes in the earnings structure, with  
an increase in EBIT and a deterioration of the interest result by roughly the same amount. However, 
this would not have any effect on earnings before taxes. 

The fair market values of the leased assets are likely to be slightly below the future minimum 
 payment obligations. As we do not have them appraised each year, it is not possible to make more 
precise statements about the fair market values. However, the Campus purchase may serve  
as an indication: while the future minimum payment obligations for the Campus were carried  
at € 54.5 million in 2010, we actually purchased the site in 2011 for € 51.4 million. The guar-
antees drawn in the amount of € 432.1 million as of December 31, 2011 (December 31, 2010: 
€ 262.2 million) mainly consist of credit guarantees and do not represent off-balance sheet 
 financing instruments.

p. 202 
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Research and development

R&D objectives

Research and development (R&D) is a topmost priority at Dürr. This activity safeguards our tech-
nological head start and, hence, the Group’s leading market positions. Our key R&D objectives are 
twofold:

■■ development of efficient production technologies creating unique selling propositions for Dürr,
■■ development of globally applicable solutions which can be adapted to suit specific local 

 requirements.

R&D key figuRes anD employees

Fiscal year 2011 saw an expansion of our R&D activities, with direct R&D cost up 14.4 % to 
€ 29.5 million. However, given the disproportionate sales growth of 52 %, the R&D ratio, at 1.5 %, 
fell short of the prior-year figure (2.0 %). For an adequate assessment of our R&D expenditure 
one must therefore consider not merely the “Research and Development Costs” line item but also 
the cost of development services performed under customer contracts. These are recognized in 
cost of sales and clearly exceed direct R&D costs. Another € 2.7 million (previous year: € 3.6 mil-
lion) was capitalized as intangible assets and is thus likewise not reflected in direct R&D costs. 
Capitalized R&D expenses are matched by amortizations of similar amount. For further informa-
tion refer to item 11 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

Around 70 % of our R&D resources are dedicated to the development of new solutions, while 
30 % go into the continuation and modularization of existing products. As a rule, the manage-
ment of individual R&D projects is the responsibility of the respective business units. Their R&D 
 departments cooperate closely with Sales and Purchasing. This ensures that new products will 
meet customer requirements as effectively as possible and that the requisite supplier and manu-
facturing structures are in place. With a view to coordinating the R&D activities of the various 
business units, the “R&D/Technology” coordinating team has been established at Group level. 

p. 159 

  2011 2010 2009

R&D ratio % 1.5 2.0 2.4

 Paint and Assembly Systems % 0.9 1.3 1.5

 Application Technology % 3.4 4.6 5.9

 Measuring and Process Systems % 1.3 1.6 1.7

 Clean Technology Systems % 1.2 0.9 1.3

R&D costs capitalized € million 2.7 3.1 2.5 

Amortization of R&D costs capitalized € million – 4.0 – 3.3 – 3.3

R&D employees (Dec. 31)  180 162 157

R&D personnel costs € million 15.2 13.3 n/a

/ /   R&D key figuRes    / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /   2.46
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By the end of 2011, the Group’s R&D departments had 180 development experts working on new 
and improved products. This corresponds to 2.6 % of our total workforce (December 31, 2010: 
162/2.7 %). Their number is augmented by numerous additional engineers and technicians hand-
ling development projects under customer contracts. The high-tech sectors of our Application 
Technology division account for the most development-intensive work. Here, 3.4 % of sales goes 
into R&D projects in which 10.6 % of the division´s workforce are directly involved.

In the course of 2011, 42 new developments were progressed to the marketability stage and pre-
sented at 49 trade fairs and industry conferences. Our portfolio of patent families grew to 598 
(2010: 580) as 18 new applications were filed. The majority of these patent applications were 
made on behalf of our Application Technology division, followed by Paint and Assembly Systems. 
The Heinz Dürr Innovation Award was presented for the 11th time to staff teams contributing 
 exceptional innovations, whether in the form of product development or process improvements.

Our cooperation with scientific institutions now extends to around 50 academic and research 
 establishments in Germany and close to 20 more abroad. Particularly close ties are maintained 
with the universities of Darmstadt and Stuttgart, and with a number of Fraunhofer Institutes in 
Germany. For competitive reasons, the content of these cooperations is kept confidential. In fiscal 
year 2011, we expended € 3.8 million on externally sourced research services (2010: € 2.8 mil-
lion). Research grants and subsidies in an amount of € 0.7 million (2010: € 0.4 million) were re-
ceived from the public sector. 

R&D oRientation

The direction of our R&D activities is greatly dependent on product developments and strategies 
pursued in the automotive industry. The following innovation sectors are particularly important 
at present:

■■ Optimization of per-unit costs: Cutting the costs of production per car is a major aspect in vir-
tually all investment decisions facing our customers. Addressing this situation, we are targeting 
the development of total cost approaches aimed at reducing investment cost along with the 
costs of materials, energy, maintenance and personnel.

■■ Flexibility: As carmakers keep expanding their vehicle ranges, the growing diversity of models 
and variants calls for more flexible manufacturing systems. 

■■ Production technology for emerging markets: The technical equipment levels of the production 
systems employed are becoming more diversified as well. Apart from high-end solutions, 
emerging markets frequently demand basic equipment versions supporting an economical 
manufacture of low-cost entry level models for local markets. On the  other hand, there is an 
identifiable trend towards higher automation levels and the newest manufacturing techno- 
logy, especially in China.   

 Group

Paint and 
Assembly 

Systems
Application 
Technology

Measuring 
and Process 

Systems

Clean 
Technology 

Systems

Number 180 20 127 32 1

% of total workforce 2.6 0.8 10.6 1.1 0.5

/ /   R&D employees   / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /   2.47
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■■ Energy efficiency and conservation of resources: Cost and sustainability considerations are 
 increasingly prompting our customers to request energy and material-efficient production 
 processes causing low emissions of noxious substances. 

■■ New materials: The use of new materials in our customers’ products often imposes new re-
quirements on production processes. Lightweight automotive design aimed at lowering fuel 
consumption is a case in point. It involves materials such as magnesium, carbon fibers and 
composites, which cannot be welded. As a result, alternative joining methods such as adhesive 
bonding must be devised. 

■■ Alternative drives: Engine technology is currently the main field of automotive innovation. 
Along with increasingly fuel-efficient internal combustion engines, the industry is working hard 
on hybrid and electric motor-based solutions. For each of these technologies, manufacturers 
need the appropriate production and assembly technology. 

■■ Advanced driver assistance systems: Increasingly, cars are equipped with intelligent driver as-
sistance features such as distance alert, emergency brake assist and electronic stability control 
systems in order to prevent collisions. On the production floor, this trend creates a need for ad-
ditional end-of-line testing equipment so that the performance of such systems can be verified. 

■■ Digital factory: Before a new automotive assembly plant is built, diverse processes are simulated 
with the aid of special software programs. Referred to as the “digital factory”, such simulation 
plays a key role in the planning of our systems. This includes a “virtual commissioning” process 
in which the functions and interaction of plant components are tested on the computer by our 
engineers.

R&D Results 

paint and final assembly systems

As part of the Eco ⊕Paintshop concept, we are striving to achieve further reductions in energy 
and material consumption and emissions of our paint shop equipment. In fiscal 2011, our engi-
neers developed a solar thermal method of heating the dryers used for post-application paint 
curing. In sunny locations, around 5,700 megawatt-hours (MWh) of energy per year can be gen-
erated by means of solar collectors. This is equivalent to approx. 30 % of the heat expended on 
car body drying in a paint shop with an annual throughput of 200,000 units. CO2 emissions can 
be cut by more than 1,000 tons per year. An additional advantage is that, since the solar collec-
tors absorb the sun’s heat, paint shop ambient temperatures will remain lower and the operator 
needs to expend less energy on cooling. 

aircraft and technology systems

For aircraft assembly applications, our EcoMove wing transport vehicle was progressed to market. 
Components measuring up to 35 meters in length can be moved fully automatically and flexibly 
with this system, even around narrow curves. The two trolleys on which the aircraft wing rests are 
independently powered but move in absolute synchronism. This is ensured by special control 
technology combined with an optical track guidance system. The sensitive parts are carried in a 
floating fixture system to minimize the influence of external forces such as shocks and vibration. 

Another product novelty in aircraft assembly technology is our EcoInspect system which, for the 
first time, permits fully automatic measurements of fuselage shells. Relying on a robot and a 
 special interface between the measuring system and the control unit, EcoInspect performs highly 
precise non-contact measurements. The system feeds its readings to the downstream assembly 

p. 224

p. 224
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station where the separate parts are then joined in a perfect fit. Apart from the high data quality 
obtained, our customers benefit from the fact that EcoInspect completes its measurements in up 
to 75 % less time than comparable devices. 

application technology

In the high-tech segment of Application Technology we have continued to optimize our EcoBell3 
atomizer line by launching additional components. For instance, one new member of the EcoBell3 
product family is the BellCleaner, a device for cleaning atomizers after use. Another major inno-
vation was presented in the field of spray-painting robot technology. In our new flexible-column 
system, the painting robot is no longer mounted on a horizontal traveling rail but is supported by a 
column on the booth wall. This design saves costs, weight and components, apart from facilitating 
handling at the customer’s site. The new robot type also features an improved arm which is easi-
er to manufacture and can be universally employed across all applications.

A further advance benefiting the operation of our spray-painting and sealing robots is the new 
EcoRCMP generation of switchgear cabinets. Thanks to a greatly simplified design, these units 
comprise much fewer components. Robot motor performance is improved by stronger power cir-
cuits and improved controllers. The new cabinets are not air-conditioned but cooled by straight-
forward fans, which greatly reduces power consumption and maintenance needs. 

balancing and assembly products

In the field of balancing technology we launched numerous new products in 2011. All seven 
exhibits presented at the EMO industry trade show in Hanover in September were genuine world 
firsts. The ToolDyne balancing system, purpose-developed for balancing cutting tools, saves 
costs and enhances quality assurance in high-speed machining of metals and plastics. The quality 
of the surface finish of machined items increases with the level of tool balancing precision. An-
other major innovation is Pasio 15, a machine supplementing our range of the same name. Pasio 
machines developed in the past three years account for 35 % of total sales in our universal bal-
ancing machine business. Success factors of the Pasio line include the quality of the new-genera-
tion CAB 920 measuring devices, the machines’ modern and ergonomic design, and their attrac-
tive price/performance ratio.

Apart from advanced high-end vehicle testing equipment we are selectively developing techni-
cally adapted systems for use in emerging markets. One example of this activity is our low-cost 
general-purpose roller test stand Ultimo-R4, engineered for use on basic-level vehicles of the type 
produced, e.g., in India and Southeast Asia. Developed in Germany and India, Ultimo-R4 meets 
a host of diverse testing needs – from transmission and speedometer tests to acceleration and 
brake testing – in one single product. 

In the field of filling technology our engineers have come up with a resource-saving process 
for recycling compressor oil, working in cooperation with the Dresden-based Institute of Air 
Handling and Refrigeration (ILK). This technology is employed in rework zones during final vehi-
cle assembly when refrigerant has to be removed from a car’s air-conditioning system. Since 
such refrigerant will be mixed with compressor oil (the fluid lubricating the air conditioner), the 
resulting emulsion phases need to be separated again. Until now, the oil separation and the step  
of returning fluids into the air conditioner circuit were performed manually and with substantial 
quality loss, given that the compressor oil had been in harmful contact with air. Our new system 
returns the separated compressor oil into the a/c system without any exposure to air. This meth-
od saves costs, reduces consumption and boosts process reliability.

p. 224

p. 224

p. 224
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cleaning and filtration systems

For our successful EcoCFlex robotized cleaning system we have developed a new part pre-clean-
ing technology. The IFW Knife system constitutes a refinement of Dürr’s proven injection flood 
washing process. It requires 30 % less energy than other pre-cleaning processes while providing 
ten times more effective cleaning, given that the cleaning fluid will be applied to the entire work-
piece surface. IFW stands for injection flood washing; the term “Knife” reflects a design whereby, 
unlike before, the cleaning fluid exits along the entire elongated nozzle. As a result, particularly 
uniform cleaning of the workpiece is achieved. 

Our EcoCBase series, Dürr’s entry-level line of cleaning equipment, was completed by the addition 
of the new version, EcoCBase W3. Relying on the use of aqueous cleaning media, this machine is 
particularly energy-efficient. An EcoCBase W3 needs up to 50 % less energy for drying parts than 
comparable systems. 

environmental and energy systems

Our Ecopure KPR system was optimized for cleaning paint shop exhaust air in perfect compatibil-
ity with EcoDryScrubber spray-painting booths. With a combination of this type, concentrated 
 exhaust air from the booth is passed to the Ecopure KPR unit where it is concentrated further and 
then cleaned. Since the dual concentration greatly reduces the exhaust air volume to be treated, 
Ecopure KPR is an exceedingly compact system. For our customers this means reduced investment 
costs and around 80 % less energy demand.

Another research focus has been placed on the further development of Organic Rankine Cycle 
(ORC) technology. ORC modules are capable of generating electricity from waste heat via an evap-
oration step. Following the acquisition in May 2011 of a 50 % stake in Cyplan, the ORC specialist, 
our engineers developed a 70 kW ORC plant for Dürr’s Technology Center in Bietigheim-Bissingen. 
The system utilizes waste heat from an Ecopure TAR type exhaust air purification system and 
can operate in a broad temperature and performance range. One aspect of ORC technology we are 
looking at closely is direct evaporation – a method whereby the system is coupled directly to the 
waste gas stream from a heat source, e.g., an internal combustion engine. This technology has the 
benefit of requiring no sophisticated hot water or thermal oil circuitry, so energy is saved and 
 installation at the customer’s site will be simplified. 

The use of energy-efficient micro gas turbines in exhaust air cleaning and other fields was pro-
gressed as well. One current object of development is a compact high-temperature combustion 
chamber in which solvents can be burnt at 950 – 1,000°C. The thermal energy released by this 
combustion is utilized to drive a micro gas turbine which generates electricity for use by the 
plant operator. Other intended applications for micro gas turbines include, e.g., car body dryers  
in paint shops. 

p. 224
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Employees

45.8 %

17.2 %

2.7 %

11.3 %

23.0 %

1.5 %

37.0 %

17.6 %

40.9 %

3.0 %

As of December 31, 2011, the Dürr Group had 6,823 employees, 15.4 % more than the previous 
year (December 31, 2010: 5,915). The primary reason for this increase was the strong growth 
in the volume of business, which required additional capacities. Dürr also gained 116 employees 
as a result of the first-time consolidation of filling equipment specialist Agramkow. On a compa-
rable basis, i.e. without taking into account Agramkow, the increase in the number of employees 
was 13.4 % and thus clearly below that of sales revenues. One reason for this is that we continue 
to aim for maximum flexibility through the use of external staff.

More than half of the new jobs were created in the emerging markets. At the end of 2011, the 
number of people employed there was 2,105, which corresponds to 30.9 % of the Group’s work-
force (December 31, 2010: 1,613/27.3 %). Our workforce in the emerging markets grew by 30.5 % 
compared to the prior year, i.e. twice as much as throughout the Group. The number of people 
working in China was 1,006, which corresponds to almost half of all employees in the emerging 
markets and just under 15 % of the Group’s workforce (China December 31, 2010: 713/12 %). 
Taking into account the external staff who were working for Dürr at the end of the year, the total 
number of employees in China was 1,344. 3,128 people were employed at our German locations 

/ /   employees by Division (DecembeR 31)  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /   2.48

/ /   employees by Region (DecembeR 31)   / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /   2.49

 2011 2010 2009

 Paint and Assembly Systems 2,524 2,183 2,114

 Application Technology 1,203 1,061 998

 Measuring and Process Systems 2,790 2,444 2,381

 Clean Technology Systems 205 180 171

 Corporate Center 101 47 48

total 6,823 5,915 5,712

 2011 2010 2009

 Germany 3,128 2,931 2,969

 Other European countries 1,176 1,045 1,051

 North / Central America 768 616 598

 South America 186 143 112

 Asia / Africa / Australia 1,565 1,180 982

total 6,823 5,915 5,712
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at the end of 2011. Here, too, new positions were created: the number of employees increased by 
197 versus December 31, 2010 – a plus of 6.7 %. Further information on the distribution of our 
workforce can be found in the charts 2.48 und 2.49.

tRaining anD peRsonnel Development

In 2011, we expanded the training program for our employees once again to support them in 
their work as best as possible. A total of 933 group and individual training events were held, 
24 % more than in the previous year. There was also a further increase in the number of partici-
pations: from 5,062 in 2010 to 5,215 in 2011. The training budget per employee was increased 
from around € 450 to approx. € 500. Training reflecting the increasingly international nature of 
our business was particularly popular, e.g. intercultural teamwork and language courses. Method 
and technical training, e.g. on the use of specialist software, was also in demand. The newly 
 introduced interdisciplinary series of lectures titled “Dürr College” generated a lot of interest. It 
involves employees presenting the results of their work – from sustainable painting processes 
and supervisory control systems to investor relations – allowing participants to gain an insight 
into other areas. General topics such as work management, health care and compliance are also 
discussed within the scope of “Dürr College”. With the Dürr Project Management Training we have 
redesigned one of our key training programs; topics include, for example, decision and commu-
nication strategies for project managers as well as the standard tools of our Group-wide project 
management processes. 

When selecting instructors, we encourage experienced specialists to share their knowledge with 
colleagues. This ensures a high level of practical orientation, promotes knowledge transfer and 
saves costs. Employees offering to provide training first attend a course in basic teaching skills 
and can obtain a certificate as a Dürr Special Trainer. 

Our management development program was expanded. The range of specialist and personal 
training events was harmonized internationally. Following 40 individual discussions with Dürr 
managers from around the world, we adapted Dürr’s proven Leadership Skills Model to meet 
 international requirements. In view of the development of future managers, Dürr now offers a 
trainee program in the area of engineering for the first time.

peRsonnel anD univeRsity maRketing

Despite the high demand for qualified staff, in particular in engineering, we were able to fill most 
positions advertised. This is thanks to Dürr’s good standing as well as the fact that we increased 
investments in personnel marketing and public relations. 

In personnel marketing, our new slogan “Move the World of Technology” reflects what working 
for Dürr is all about: an international orientation, innovative technology and the chance to make  
a difference even at the start of one’s career. We redesigned the career pages at www.durr.com 
as well as our printed information for potential applicants. We strengthened our contacts with 
universities, e.g. by attending 16 graduate career fairs. 

Young employees and applicants, in particular, are placing more and more focus on the subject 
of work-life balance. We are responding to this by offering appropriate services: from health care 
programs, exercise, stress management and flexible working hours to holiday clubs and places  
at daycare centers for employees’ children.

p. 224
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Further elements that enhance our image as an attractive employer include, for example, above-
average social benefits and international career opportunities. Added to this is an attractive 
 compensation package including a profit-sharing scheme. For 2011, each full-time employee in 
Germany covered by the collectively bargained tariff agreement will receive a profit-sharing 
 bonus of € 1,500. Non-tariff employees receive a performance-related bonus which is linked to 
the achievement of personal performance targets as well as Group earnings.

vocational tRaining 

In 2011, 78 young people trained as industrial clerks (“Industriekaufmann”), industrial mechan-
ics, mechatronics engineers or draftsmen at Dürr. 52 students from cooperative state universities 
completed their practical training at Dürr in the subjects of process automation, mechatronics, 
mechanical engineering, electrical engineering, industrial engineering or business studies. One 
of the special features offered to students from cooperative state universities is a three- to five-
month stay at a foreign location to experience the international nature of our business. In view of 
our long-term personnel planning, we aim to offer permanent employment to all trainees and 
students from cooperative state universities, if possible, once they have completed their training. 

We supported 54 students in writing their bachelor’s or master’s theses and employed 35 student 
trainees either on a regular basis or through project-related work. 120 interns used the opportu-
nity to gain work experience at Dürr in the area of mechanical and plant engineering. 13 of them 
came to Dürr in Germany from abroad; a further 12 completed their practical training at foreign 
locations such as Shanghai (China), Plymouth (USA) or Querétaro (Mexico). 
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Procurement

Due mainly to the high intake of new orders, our procurement volume in fiscal 2011 rose to 
€ 942.8 million, an amount equal to 49.1 % of sales (2010: € 558.8 million/44.3 %). One key
driver for this increase lay in the fact that, for reasons of capacity, more work had to be out-
sourced to external service providers, e.g., in engineering design and manufacturing.

Apart from manufacturing services, we rely on suppliers mainly for finished and semi-finished 
products; unprocessed raw materials, on the other hand, are sourced only to a small extent.  
Raw material markets showed some volatility throughout the year: thus, while the price of steel 
fluctuated at a high level in the second and third quarter, it declined towards the end of the year. 
Looking at the year overall, steel prices remained stable in Europe when measured against 2010, 
whereas China experienced a slight uptrend. Stainless steel procurement costs dropped below 
2010 levels in the second half of the year after having risen in the first half of 2011. The price of 
copper remained at a long-term high until the third quarter but declined somewhat afterwards. 

In conjunction with the high capacity utilization experienced by many suppliers, these elevated 
raw material prices markedly drove up the cost of mechanically manufactured parts and assem-
blies as well as of cables and electrical components. Effects on our procurement costs could be 
mitigated, however, through a series of measures. These included master agreements with pre-
ferred suppliers as well as international bundling of requirements, with attendant savings in 
project implementation. Further cost benefits could be obtained through our Total Cost and Risk 
Consideration system, whereby in international system contracts, the procurement order for  
a given merchandise group will go to that national company which compares most favorably in 
overall costing terms. Particular advantages are gained by product standardization since the  
use of identical parts provides economies of scale. Moreover, Dürr has formed interdisciplinary 
teams of Purchasing and engineering staff to cut the procurement cost of selected products 
through technical optimization. 

Following the market slump of 2008/2009, many suppliers were unable to rebuild capacity quickly 
enough. This has resulted in extended delivery terms in some cases. In order to meet project 
deadlines despite these conditions, we resolved to raise inventory levels of critical parts, acceler-
ated scheduling processes and established relations with new vendors, mainly in China. At the 
same time, prime importance was attached to schedule compliance and close supplier coordina-
tion. Through these measures it also became possible to avoid supply bottlenecks in the wake of 
the Japanese earthquake disaster. 

In order to cope with the high project volume in China, Dürr enlarged local purchasing units 
there and provided for their support by experts from Germany. In Paint and Assembly Systems, 
the responsible purchasing officers shared information on all major procurement and system 
projects in China via weekly teleconferences. In Shanghai, we have been able to rely on a new 
manufacturing facility, which triples our production capacity in equipment assembly, since 
February 2012. 
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The launch of a Group-wide supplier relationship management system has yielded further im-
provements in our procurement infrastructure. This scheme facilitates the registration and as-
sessment of suppliers as well as the administration of all supplier-related data via the application 
of Group-wide uniform standards. Worldwide purchasing control is the responsibility of our 
Global Sourcing Board, which brings together the heads of purchasing of the various business 
units. In our Paint and Assembly Systems division, the international members of the Global 
Sourcing Committee evaluate pooling opportunities and approve major contract awards and mas-
ter agreements. The purchasing departments of our three mechanical engineering business 
units (Application Technology, Balancing and Assembly Products, Cleaning and Filtration Sys-
tems) cooperate closely on the procurement of key commodities. Where necessary, Dürr Group 
companies receive strategic and operational support from the International Purchasing Coordi-
nation team based in Bietigheim-Bissingen.
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Sustainability

Dürr firmly believes that every business activity must be consistent with the principle of sustain-
ability at all times. We impose this standard both on ourselves and on our business partners.  
By sustainability we mean a fair, respectful and forward-looking conduct towards all stakeholders 
of our company – from staff, customers and suppliers through to investors, media and other 
groups of society we are interacting with. Moreover, sustainability implies that we actively exer-
cise our social responsibility for the environment and for the conservation of resources. 

DüRR coDe of conDuct publisheD

In 2011, we set out our sustainability policies in a comprehensive Dürr Code of Conduct for the 
first time. This Dürr Code, which can be viewed at www.durr.com/en/company/sustainability, 
supports our staff in adhering to legally and ethically irreproachable practices in their day-to-day 
work. Specific guidance is given, e.g., on how to handle gifts and invitations, third-party property 
or confidential data. Moreover, the Code stresses the principle of legality and prohibits unlawful 
business practices such as corruption. A large part of the Code is dedicated to issues such as in-
terpersonal respect and fair labor and vendor relations. For our suppliers, we have summarized 
the relevant passages of the Dürr Code of Conduct in a separate set of rules. This Dürr Supplier 
Code can be accessed at www.durr.com/en/company under the headings “Purchasing” and 
“Sustainability”. 

In the process of introducing this Code, we have continued to expand our compliance organiza-
tion and have informed our workforce extensively to that effect.

■■ The Compliance Management System was defined in an organizational instruction effective 
throughout the Group.  

■■ The central body within our Compliance Management System is the Compliance Board. It con-
sists of the Group Compliance Officer, the Head of Internal Auditing, and other Dürr AG and 
business unit executives. This body conducts regular monitoring for indications of compliance 
violations and examines methods of refining the compliance rules. 

■■ The Compliance Officer takes note of potential compliance violations, analyzes them in the case 
of justified suspicion, and reports to the Compliance Board. Our employees are free to contact 
this officer with any queries they may have, whether in person or by telephone or e-mail. 

■■ For every compliance risk sector we have appointed so-called stewards. These serve as contacts 
in their respective fields, providing information and acting as drivers for adjustment of the 
risk control and Compliance Management systems. In doing so, they coordinate their activities 
with the Compliance Officer.

■■ The Dürr Code of Conduct was made available to all employees in their respective national 
 language. Following its publication we launched a broad-based training program in all Group 
companies. 

■■ In internal communications, a focus was placed on the introduction of the Code of Conduct and 
on building staff awareness of compliance issues. Information has also been made available to 
our employees on the Group-wide intranet.
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peRsonnel

As an engineering group, Dürr depends vitally on the qualification and commitment of its work-
force. We therefore consider it a key corporate task to prepare each individual for his or her 
 duties in the best possible manner. To this end, we have developed an extensive further education 
program aimed at both professional skill enhancement and personal development. For more 
 information on this scheme please refer to the employees chapter. 

Our employees often know best what is important for their work and job satisfaction. We there-
fore attach great importance to their feedback. One key tool for obtaining such input is the com-
prehensive online staff survey which we conduct regularly with the aid of an external service 
partner. The most recent such poll, carried out in the spring of 2011 at all German sites, largely 
confirmed the encouraging results of the preceding (2008) analysis. Dürr employees awarded par-
ticularly good marks – measured, inter alia, against other companies in our industry – for “visibili-
ty of own job results”. Accordingly, the level of staff identification with our products was very high 
as well. Dürr’s focus on teamwork was rewarded with high scores in the “co-workers” category. 
Super visors, management and corporate culture also received superior ratings than in other 
metalworking and electrical engineering companies. Similarly, there were high scores for staff 
loyalty to the company and for the degree of willingness to recommend Dürr as an employer. 
Overall satisfaction received a clearly positive rating as well, albeit with a slight downward trend 
due to the uncertainties of the 2009 crisis year. Our aim is to revert this trend on the strength of 
the present good orders situation and capacity utilization rate. To this end, Dürr has implement-
ed various improvement measures including new recruitment, attractive profit sharing programs 
and archi tectural improvements made at diverse sites. The next staff survey is scheduled for 2013 
and will cover all worldwide sites for the first time.

Classical key personnel figures as listed in table 2.50 attest to the pronounced satisfaction 
and loyalty of Dürr’s employees. The average length of service, at 15 years, is very high across 
German sites. Employee turnover – i.e. the percentage of staff leaving the company overall – 
 remains on a low level. For 2011, the figure amounts to 4.7 % in Germany and 6.0 % globally 
(2010: 5.7 % and 6.7 %, respectively). Although employee turnover in China is higher at 7.1 %, 
we still significantly outperform the majority of industrial companies in the greater Shanghai 
area (approx. 17 %) on this count. Absenteeism due to illness amounted to 3.0 % (2010: 3.2 %) 
in Germany and dropped to 2.1 % (2010: 2.5 %) across the Group. 

p. 102 

 2011 2010 2009

Number of employees (Dec. 31) 6,823 5,915 5,712

  of which apprentices and students at  

cooperative state universities (Dec. 31) 130 129 117

Proportion of female employees (Dec. 31) (%) 17 17 17

Part-time employees (Dec. 31) 170 166 165

Average length of service in years 11 12 12

Absenteeism rate (%) 2.1 2.5 2.5

Employee turnover (%) 6.0 6.7 7.7

Number of accidents per 1,000 employees (Germany) 14.4 10.2 8.8

/ /   peRsonnel key figuRes (gRoup)  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /   2.50
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In order to remain attractive to qualified staff in the future, we are continually striving to im-
prove our quality as an employer. This effort is duly recognized: in the competition launched  
by CRF-Institute, a consulting company, Dürr was awarded the “Top Employer – Automotive 
2010/2011” title. The assessment was based on criteria such as innovation management, com-
pensation, career opportunities and work-life balance. In the final stage of the competition, we 
came in 5th among 25 companies. In the “Germany’s 100 Most Popular Companies” competition 
held by Universum, the employer branding specialist, Dürr is on the selection list. Furthermore, 
our trainee instruction scheme was distinguished with the “Excellent Trainee Program” quality 
seal awarded jointly by Süddeutsche Zeitung and the Institute of HR Management at Ludwig 
Maximilians University of Munich.

Since 2011, our company has been participating actively in the “Fair Company” initiative. Con-
sistent with its principles, only school and university students are employed as interns at Dürr. 
 College and university graduates who have completed their training, on the other hand, are given 
fixed jobs and proper salaries.

enviRonment anD company sites

Compared to other industrial companies of similar size, our ecological footprint is small. Dürr 
sites discharge fairly low levels of emissions and waste and consume but modest amounts of 
 energy and water, consistent with our low manufacturing depth as an engineering group and 
the specific manufacturing technologies employed. Hazardous materials are used only to a 
 minor extent, and 41 % of our sites are certified to the ISO 14001 environmental standard. 

Table 2.51 shows a moderate rise in our consumption figures compared to 2010. This trend reflects 
our strong growth in business volume as well as an uptrend in personnel levels. Nevertheless, the 
increase in consumption and emissions remains far below proportional to sales growth. 

p. 224

 2011 20101 20091

Number of sites 49 48 46

 of which ISO 9001 quality management certified 39 38 39

 of which ISO 14001 environmental management certified 20 17 19

Consumption    

 Electricity (MWh) 28,833 28,110 34,772

 Gas / oil / district heating (MWh) 42,025 41,685 47,606

 Water (m3) 92,636 76,876 84,618

 Waste water output (m3) 90,705 68,204 84,556

Waste (t) 3,509 2,893 2,998

 of which recycled (t) 2,716 2,208 1,871

Emissions    

 CO2 (t) 30,675 30,075 34,436

 of which attributable to Dürr vehicle pool (t) 3,495 3,420 3,375

 SO2 (t) 15 15 21

 NOx (t) 25 24 28

1 Consumption and emission figures for 2010 and 2009 have been adapted in part in the light of more precise quantification. 

/ /   enviRonmental key figuRes   / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /   2.51
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/ /   DüRR paint shops: eneRgy consumption peR painteD caR boDy   / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /   2.52

In new construction and building modernizations we rely on energy-saving techniques. One 
showcase example is the Dürr Campus at Bietigheim-Bissingen inaugurated in 2009. Here, our 
sustainable building and operating concept designated “Campus Energy 21” combines diverse 
 advanced methods – from geothermy, geothermal heat exchange technology, co-generation units 
and photovoltaics through to concrete core activation, sensor-controlled illumination and ex-
terior building insulation. Compared to a conventional energy supply system, savings of around 
40 % p.a. are thus achieved. Our two new sites in Shanghai will likewise outperform their pre-
decessors in terms of energy efficiency.

Ever since 2008, Dürr has been participating regularly in the international Carbon Disclosure 
Project (www.cdproject.net). In this online database for investors, companies listed on the 
stock exchange publish resource consumption and emission data, report on products helping  
to protect our climate, and inform users of the associated business opportunities.

consumption-optimizeD pRoDucts: leaDing in pRoDuction efficiency

Our customers’ manufacturing processes require a major input of energy, resources and raw 
 materials. As part of our Eco⊕Efficiency drive, we are consistently endeavoring to improve 
the consumption efficiency of our machinery and equipment. Automotive painting technology  
is a case in point – before 2008, it took between 1.2 and 1.5 MWh of energy to paint one car 
body. By the year 2010, we were able to bring down this figure to around 0.8 MWh through diverse 
innovative steps. At present we are building an optimized Eco⊕Paintshop for BMW Group at 
Shenyang (China) which is designed to consume as little as 0.5 MWh per car body. Through 
 ongoing optimization, we are determined to cut this figure further in future projects. 

At the heart of our Eco⊕Paintshop concept is the EcoDryScrubber paint booth system. This tech-
nology yields over 50 % savings in paint booth energy consumption and hence, CO2 emissions. 
Since its market launch, we have won five prestigious environmental and innovation awards for 
the EcoDryScrubber. Most recently, BMW Group – the first automobile manufacturer to employ 
an EcoDryScrubber system – presented us with their Supplier Innovation Award in the category 
“Sustainability”. For more examples of how we combine innovation with energy efficiency  
gains please refer to our research and development chapter.

www

p. 97 



111management and StOCK  / /   teChnOlOgY matteRS  / /    MANAGEMENT REPORT  / /   COnSOlidated finanCial StatementS  / /   OtheR
SuStainabilitY

Since the 1970s, products by our filling technology expert, Agramkow Fluid Systems, have found 
their way into World Bank and UNIDO environmental conservation projects in more than 100 
countries. This equipment facilitates the disposal of refrigerants in an ecologically sound manner, 
thus helping to protect the ozone layer in line with the Montreal Protocol. 

In the long-term perspective, too, we consider energy efficiency improvement a key trend in 
 industrial manufacturing. Consistent with that view, Dürr is establishing new activities over and 
above its core business in this segment. Our Clean Technology Systems division has already 
 acquired a groundbreaking technology with the Organic Rankine Cycle (ORC) process which gen-
erates electric power from waste heat. Looking forward, we shall continue to expand our pro-
cess portfolio in the field of energy efficiency technology; for more detailed information please 
refer to the strategy chapter. 

social commitment

In 2011, we gave away € 406 thousand (2010: € 344 thousand) for charitable purposes in Germany 
alone. Our social commitment is focused on two areas, i.e. the promotion of education on the one 
hand and local community projects on the other. 

Our education support covers various tiers of the education and professional training chain. In 
the pre-school sphere, we sponsor a children’s day care center at Bietigheim-Bissingen with co-
funding from Heinz und Heide Dürr Stiftung and staff donations. Under cooperation agreements 
with various schools, we provide internships, career consulting services and job applicant train-
ing schemes. Our company also promotes the German-Russian Youth Exchange Foundation and 
the START Foundation which helps students from ethnic minorities to complete a higher educa-
tion. For many years, Dürr and its employees have been donating regularly to a Stuttgart school 
for mentally handicapped children. In the academic sector we support the All-German Grants 
Initiative of the Federal Ministry of Education and Research. Several Dürr employees work as ac-
ademic lecturers and instructors, passing on their expertise to the next generation of scientists. 
Moreover, we support various institutions and higher education establishments – e.g., the Donors’ 
Association for the Promotion of Humanities and Sciences in Germany and the universities of 
Darmstadt and Mannheim – with our contributions. Our foreign group companies, too, provide 
support for school and university students. Thus, Dürr India has launched an award program  
for outstanding academic achievement and promoted an exchange scheme on Children’s and 
 Juveniles’ Rights in 2011. In China, we support the Tongji University of Shanghai and cooperate 
with several vocational schools.

Furthermore, we promote diverse projects at the local level. As Bietigheim-Bissingen’s largest 
employer we feel particularly committed to the town’s community life. Accordingly, we support 
musical and cultural festivals, youth activities at several local sports clubs, and the Citizens’ 
Foundation which helps people on low incomes. In 2011, Dürr donated a five-digit sum towards 
the modernization of a recreation center for children and juveniles. 
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Risk report

Any entrepreneurial endeavor requires a careful consideration of opportunities and risks. Our 
efforts in that regard are guided by three principles: 

1. Opportunities must clearly outweigh risks in every business activity. 
2. All speculative transactions are prohibited. 
3. Our actions must comply not only with prevailing laws, but also with ethical and moral 

 standards.

Our risk management system is based on standardized methods and applies Group-wide. That 
enables us to analyze and evaluate all risks uniformly and across the Group. The resulting risk 
transparency helps us select suitable controls and countermeasures. Dürr’s risk management 
pertains to all levels of the Group, from the Board of Management to the departments of individ-
ual national companies. Associated with that is an open risk culture that we have consciously 
promoted in the past years. It makes employees more sensitive in dealing with risks and encour-
ages them to address threats and problems early and concretely.

Risk management pRocess

Our standard risk cycle has nine stages and starts every six months. The centerpiece is a risk 
 inventory taken by the management of the operating units. Specific risks are identified and 
 classified into 15 defined risk fields, which are presented in chart 2.53, and are evaluated with 
the aid of detailed risk structure spreadsheets. 

Specific risks are evaluated in three steps. They are carried out by the risk managers of all 
 organizational units for each risk field: 

■■ We first calculate the maximum effect a risk can have on Group EBIT in the next 24 months. 
We call this the gross exposure. 

■■ We then estimate the risk’s probability of occurrence.

■■ Finally, we examine the effectiveness of possible countermeasures and evaluate it with a 
 risk-reducing factor. 

The EBIT risk goes down the more, the less likely it is to occur and the more effective the coun-
termeasures are. The bottom line is a net risk figure, which we also call the actual risk potential. 
The sum of all the individual risk potentials corresponds to the Group’s overall risk. Neither port-
folio effects nor hedging effects are taken into account. The overall risk may be segmented into 
specific risks in the business units and aggregate risks at the Group level. 

We summarize the results of the semiannual risk cycle in a Group risk report, which offers an 
overview of all specific risks and the overall risk situation in the Group. The risk report is first 
discussed in the various executive bodies and in the Board of Management. After that, the Audit 
Committee of the Supervisory Board carries out its analysis and then presents its conclusions  
to a plenary meeting of the Supervisory Board. 
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/ /   DüRR’s Risk fielDs   / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /   2.53

Urgent risks are reported immediately in an ad hoc process to the Board of Management and 
heads of the business units. The task of carrying out the standard risk cycle is assigned to risk 
managers at the Group and business unit levels. They are the heads of the respective Controlling 
departments. Further participants in the process are the Internal Auditing department and the 
risk managers of all the national companies. 

opeRating Risk management in oRDeR execution

For our most important process, which is project execution, we have developed special tools and 
functions to defend against risk:

■■ Project controlling continuously examines whether actual project progress is in line with the 
relevant planning. We can thus immediately counteract divergences from schedule, from deliv-
ery and performance targets, or from cost, revenue, and cash flow estimates.

■■ The project managers direct the order execution process with a view to quality, deadlines, and 
budgets. To that end, they are in regular contact with the project controlling team.

■■ All projects in the Group are executed with the aid of processes and instruments that apply 
across the Group. Those are documented in the Dürr project management manual, which 
we update regularly. We thus ensure that best practices are implemented and individual mis-
takes are avoided. Other tools that make the status and risks of projects transparent include 
 opportunity-risk checklists, the “Dürr Projects” project management software, and our Group-
wide erp system, which ensures that processes are integrated and standardized. 

■■ The Center of Excellence in Project Management (Bietigheim-Bissingen) is an internal services 
and training department for project management. It develops our Group-wide standards and 
communicates them in training sessions to project managers.

■■ Change and claim management supports project management. It documents changes that the 
customers or we ourselves undertake in ongoing projects and obtains the necessary releases. 
It also submits claims for any additional costs and reviews any warranty claims.

p. 224
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guiDeline foR financial Risk management

A special guideline regulates how to deal with currency, interest rate, and liquidity risks. The  
top corporate body in this area is the Financial Risk Committee, of which the Chief Financial 
 Officer, the heads of Group Controlling and Group Treasury, and the financial officers of the busi-
ness units are its members. This body discusses strategic financial policy issues and prepares 
the relevant resolutions for the Board of Management. 

cuRRency Risks

For projects exposed to currency risks, we hedge the share of sales revenues in excess of the 
costs incurred in local currency as soon as the order is received. Usually, a separate hedging 
transaction (micro hedge) is entered into for each project. Exceptions include transactions in-
volving standard machines and spare parts, where order volumes are typically low. In such  
cases, we also enter into macro hedges for several orders and thus keep transaction costs down. 
Hedging transactions are usually executed by the Group Treasury department at Dürr AG, where  
a Group-wide treasury system is employed.

inteRest Rate Risks

Our interest rate risk management takes all interest-bearing and interest-sensitive balance sheet 
items into consideration. We regularly conduct interest rate analyses in order to identify risks 
ahead of time. The Group Treasury department is responsible for external funding, investing, 
and interest rate hedging. Exceptions require approval by the Chief Financial Officer.

liquiDity Risks

Our management of operating business is oriented to cash flow with the aim of generating suffi-
cient liquidity. However, even in phases with negative cash flows – for example, when more  
net working capital is needed – we have enough liquidity leeway thanks to our external funding. 
Please see the chapter on financial development for more information concerning Group 
 financing. Our Group-wide cash pooling system enables us to cover the liquidity needs of individ-
ual companies with surplus liquidity from other Group subsidiaries, without additional borrowing 
and interest expense. In certain countries, however, restrictions on capital transfers are an 
 obstacle to that. Group Treasury is responsible for managing cash pooling and external liquidity 
procurement.

key featuRes of the inteRnal contRol system / Risk management system foR the 

accounting pRocess

The internal control system/risk management system (ICS/RMS) for the accounting process com-
prises all regulations, measures, and processes that ensure with sufficient certainty as part of 
the risk management system that the financial reporting is reliable and check that the financial 
statements of the Group and Group companies are produced in accordance with International 
 Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The Board of Management has overall responsibility for 
the ICS/RMS. It has set up a fixed management and reporting organization for the ICS/RMS that 
covers all of the Group’s organizational and legal units. Monitoring the ICS/RMS is the task of the 
Internal Auditing department of Dürr AG. 
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The following control and security routines are central to the ICS/RMS for the accounting process:

1.  Dürr AG’s accounting guideline governs both the accounting process of individual companies 
and consolidation at the Group level. The guideline is continuously updated by the Group 
 Accounting department and takes consideration of all IFRS rules relevant for Dürr. 

2.  Our erp system and management reporting tool automatically check accounting processes 
and determine whether particular facts are recorded under the right items in the balance 
sheet.

3.  In a multi-stage validation process, we carry out samplings, plausibility checks, and other 
 control measures. Five parts of the corporate structure participate in this: the operating com-
panies, divisions, business units, Group Controlling, and Group Accounting. The results of  
all material control measures are systematically documented, summarized by Dürr AG, and 
submitted to the Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board. After careful examination of  
the documentation, the committee chairman reports in detail to a plenary meeting of the 
 Supervisory Board.

The employees in the financial departments regularly continue their professional education in 
training programs at Group companies and international workshops. This ensures that they are 
able at all times to meet the demands placed on them. Our training measures cover, on the one 
hand, the applicable accounting standards and reporting rules and, on the other hand, the use of 
the relevant software tools. 

To minimize risks, we continuously deal with topics that are critical to the quality of our account-
ing. Accounting for construction contracts in accordance with the percentage of completion (POC) 
method is especially important. It requires, among other things, estimating the expected total 
costs and revenues associated with orders. Other important topics are the impairment test for 
goodwill and the reliability of qualitative statements in the management report and the corporate 
governance report.

Individual risks

economic Risks

General economic risks have increased appreciably since mid-2011. The European debt crisis 
widened alarmingly in the second half of last year, and uncertainty rose further on the financial 
markets. The United States also has high national debt and unemployment to combat. Against 
this background, many economic experts have revised their growth forecasts downward. 

We think Dürr is well prepared, however, despite the heightened uncertainty. Our record level of 
orders on hand (€ 2,142.7 million on December 31, 2011) ensures good utilization and most of 
the needed sales revenues in the current year. In scenario analyses, we have simulated different 
business downturns going forward and determined the effects on earnings. They show that we 
should at least break even after taxes even if sales revenues decline by about one-third. We assume 
in our planning, however, that what happened in 2008 and 2009 will not recur. That is supported 
not least by the changes in regional distribution of our business. Western Europe (excluding 
 Germany), where the economic downturn was the worst, now only accounts for a relatively small 
part of our incoming orders (2011: 9 %). On the other hand, 65 % of orders in 2011 came from 
the fast-growing emerging markets, where a severe recession hardly seems likely from today’s 
perspective. 
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Our customers in the automobile industry are also well prepared in case a deep economic down-
swing should occur. They optimized their cost structures in the crisis of 2008 / 2009, are gener-
ating high earnings and cash flows, and – in contrast to that period – have comfortable liquidity 
reserves. Against this background, they continue to invest in the emerging markets to meet 
growing demand with additional production capacities and to gain market shares.

Our confidence regarding the emerging markets is based on independent forecasts of automobile 
production. Experts at PricewaterhouseCoopers expect production of passenger vehicles and 
light trucks in China to increase on average by 12 % per year from 2011 to 2016. Average growth 
of 6 % is assumed for Eastern Europe, and 9 % for the Mercosur countries. The decisive factors 
for these increases are rising per capita incomes, demand for individual mobility, and still low 
automobile density. In China, for example, there are now about 50 passenger vehicles for every 
1,000 persons, while the number in Germany is over 500. 

high capacity utilization

Utilization of our facilities is high because of the high level of orders. Capacity bottlenecks might 
occur due to the many large-scale projects we are carrying out simultaneously, which could 
 entail execution problems, missed deadlines, and additional costs. We are striving to prevent that 
by increasing our regular workforce, employing additional external workers, and using our 
 flexible working time model. Moreover, our business locations worldwide cooperate closely and 
use a uniform IT structure. This makes effective resource management possible in which work 
packages can be assigned to different locations depending on the availability of capacity. Our 
standardized business processes also allow reliable control and execution of projects even when 
utilization is high.

geneRal economic Risks anD capital maRket

Cyclical economic fluctuations usually find expression in our earnings late, because our busi-
ness is heavily influenced by the automobile industry’s long-term capital investment plans. 
 Moreover, a period of 12 to 18 months usually passes between our order intake and the related 
sales revenues. We are able in most cases to offset temporary regional fluctuations in demand  
by means of our balanced international presence.

The risk of a hostile takeover of Dürr AG is relatively low. The Dürr family, which founded the 
company and whose shares are held by Heinz Dürr GmbH and Heinz und Heide Dürr Stiftung 
GmbH, is the largest shareholder with a stake of 29.97 % and thus has a strong voting position at 
the annual general meeting. Information pursuant to Sections 289 (4) and 315 (4) of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB) on change-of-control clauses in connection with our corporate bond may 
be found in the chapter on organization and activities.

p. 41 
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laws, taxes, anD ifRs 

Since we operate globally, we have to observe many different legal norms. To guard against the 
risk of unknowing legal violations, we consult experts in the law of each nation. Changes in the 
legal operating environment can increase our costs and reduce our sales opportunities. At present, 
however, we are not aware of any new tax or legislative plans that could entail considerable dis-
advantages. 

In 2011, the German tax authorities began to perform audits of some German subsidiaries of 
Dürr AG for the years 2005 to 2009. So far, there have been no results leading to additional tax 
payments, and there are no signs at present that there will be any in the further course of the 
 audits. For 2012, we expect the audit of Dürr AG and the other still unaudited German companies 
for 2005 to 2009 to begin. The external tax audits being conducted at various foreign companies 
also suggest no need of additional tax payments at present.

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) plans to change the IFRS in two ways, 
which could affect our figures appreciably in the coming years:

■■ The IASB intends to have lessees capitalize all assets from leases in the future, which would 
cause total assets to increase. Furthermore, corresponding financial obligations would have to 
be shown on the liabilities side. Unless countermeasures were taken, that could reduce our 
 equity ratio. Previously reported debt ratios would also worsen. On the other hand, reclassifying 
the interest portion of lease expenses, which is possible in certain cases, can improve operating 
profit by the amount by which net interest then worsened. It should be noted that we acquired 
and capitalized our largest leased object to date, the Dürr Campus in Bietigheim-Bissingen, al-
ready in November 2011. Consequently, future capitalizations would only have limited effects 
on the balance sheet structure. On capitalization of all operating lease assets that existed as of 
December 31, 2011 (nominal value of future minimum payments: € 72.0 million), our equity 
 ratio would have been just under 21 % as of the 2011 balance sheet date. 

■■ The second proposed change involves recognition of sales revenues. On this point, the IASB 
has moved away from its original plan to abolish accounting of construction contracts by the 
percentage of completion method (POC). Its latest modification draft argues for our being able 
to continue using the POC method for plant construction projects in the future. On the other 
hand, it is questionable whether POC accounting will still be possible throughout our mechanical 
engineering business from 2015 onward, since the criterion of continuous sales recognition 
cannot be met in all cases in that area. However, the absence of the POC method in mechanical 
engineering is not likely to have any effect on the stability of Group sales revenues, since me-
chanical engineering orders usually have relatively short time frames and therefore quickly lead 
to sales revenues, even without POC accounting.
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maRket / inDustRy

We are exposed to a certain risk of dependence on individual customers. In 2011, our five largest 
customers accounted for 42 % of sales revenues, and the single largest customer contributed 
a comparatively high share of 15 %. The group of the top five customers is made up of different 
companies from year to year. 

We counter price pressure in our markets by several means:

■■ Reducing per-unit costs: We develop products that enable our customers to achieve lower 
 per-unit costs in the manufacturing process. At the same time, we emphasize to our customers 
the lifecycle cost advantages that higher-priced equipment offers in the long term versus 
less efficient solutions with lower procurement costs. 

■■ Designing to budget: Given a rough set of specifications and a target budget, we conceive 
plants that deliver on our customer’s budget ideas and meet our margin requirements. 

■■ Localization: For the emerging markets, we develop special basic products locally that are 
adapted to the needs there and are in some cases priced lower. That makes us competitive 
even for customers with small capital investment budgets. 

■■ Cost optimization: We constantly adjust our costs to realizable prices and to sales revenues. 
Lowering procurement costs plays the most important role, but personnel and overhead costs 
are also regularly reviewed.

We reduce the risk of losses on receivables by precisely monitoring payments received from cus-
tomers without an investment grade rating. In critical cases, we gather information and adopt 
counterparty risk limits as well as release rules. Most major automotive groups have investment 
grade ratings, however. 

stRategic Risks

emerging markets

In the framework of our growth strategy, we are shifting the focus of our business increasingly 
to the emerging markets. That poses specific risks: 

■■ Disadvantages may arise in the emerging markets due to cultural and language barriers, to 
 insufficient knowledge of suppliers, customers, and market mechanisms, and to specific legal 
and political parameters.

Personnel turnover is comparatively high in countries like China or India. To ensure the bond 
between employees with specific expertise and the company, we are stepping up personnel 
 development in the emerging markets, creating incentives by means of career opportunities, 
appropriate compensation and social benefits, and by cultivating an integrative corporate 
 culture. Our status as a clear market leader also contributes to a high degree of identification 
and loyalty on the part of employees. 

We rate the risks that arise for us even in the emerging markets from product and brand piracy 
as manageable. We develop our core products exclusively in Germany. They contain so much 
process expertise, experience, and specialized knowledge that they can hardly be reverse- 
engineered while achieving comparable quality. Moreover, we protect ourselves by means of 
patents and long-term service contracts that provide for the exchange of components for im-
proved successor products. Another factor in defending against product piracy is that many Dürr 
products are critical to the quality of production. Our customers therefore want to avoid taking 
risks and prefer using our original equipment. 

p. 224



119management and StOCK  / /   teChnOlOgY matteRS  / /    MANAGEMENT REPORT  / /   COnSOlidated finanCial StatementS  / /   OtheR
RiSK RepORt

In the emerging markets, we compete with local low-cost suppliers. To stay competitive, we rely 
on a combination of technological and cost leadership. We get our technological lead through 
constant product innovation. As far as costs are concerned, we rely on localization. That includes 
local design, which means developing standardized, low-cost products to cover the needs of 
customers in the local context. We are also increasing the amount of value added locally in the 
emerging markets and can thus to some extent offer lower prices than the competition. 

Especially in China, we must ensure that we have sufficient capacities in view of our strongly 
growing business volume. In 2011, we increased the number of employees by 41 %. Further-
more, we are expanding our floor space capacity. For plant engineering, we started up a new 
production facility in Shanghai in the beginning of 2012 that provides us three times as much 
space as we had before. We will move into another new facility in Shanghai for mechanical 
 engineering business in mid-2013.

■■ The amount of business we do in established markets, especially in Western Europe, has de-
creased appreciably in the past years. We have accordingly adapted our capacities and costs  
to the changed situation there. The lower business volume could lead to impairment charges 
on the assets of our companies there. To prevent that, we have combined several business loca-
tions and thus reduced tangible assets. Consequently, we do not expect impairments from our 
present perspective. In addition, automobile sales in the United States have been developing 
positively again, and demand for new production equipment has increased accordingly. 

international order execution

We enjoy cost and utilization advantages thanks to a worldwide division of labor within the 
Group, for example in engineering and production. But that also carries the risk of coordination 
and communication problems. We have therefore largely harmonized our business processes  
and IT infrastructure, and we promote exchange of ideas and experience among employees 
though international workshops. 

new business fields

When developing new business areas like glueing technology and energy efficiency technology 
through acquisitions, there is a risk that we have incorrectly assessed target markets in respect  
to customer needs, required input of resources, or demand and competition. However, we believe 
this risk is manageable, since we only enter segments directly adjacent to our core business. 
Also, we always perform thorough analyses of our target markets ahead of time. When acquiring 
a company, we conduct careful due diligence tests and develop integration plans to reduce acqui-
sition risks and systematically develop opportunities.

The relatively young market for energy efficiency technology is now going through a process  
of realignment and consolidation. Because of growing demand for energy-efficient products and 
processes, many new suppliers – in some cases, well-known major companies – are positioning 
themselves in this market. At the same time, the market is influenced by government measures 
to steer its development, including incentive programs, subsidies, and emissions regulations. 
Against this background, uncertainties exist about the future structure of competition and demand 
and the potential for implementing different types of technology in the area of energy efficiency. 
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Strategic expansion of our activities in aircraft production technology entails specific risks. The 
industry is characterized by long capital investment cycles and awards fewer individual projects 
than the automobile industry does. To broaden the base of our business, we have acquired 16 new 
customers since January 2008, including Embraer, Lockheed Martin, Pratt & Whitney, and most 
recently Russian aircraft producer Irkut. Because of the complexity of aircraft development, tech-
nical changes may arise, especially in the case of large-scale projects, even after contracts have 
been awarded. We counter this risk by means of systematic change and claim management, 
which ensures that additional costs are charged to the customer.

customeRs / pRoDucts 

At present, we see no new developments at our customers that could lead to material disadvan-
tages for us. We expect that the automobile industry will predominantly continue to use com-
bustion engines in the long term in addition to hybrid and electric drives. A real breakthrough of 
electrical mobility in the mass market is still not foreseeable. Instead, the industry is investing 
heavily in the development of efficient combustion engines. We therefore see continuing good 
prospects in this area for our business in cleaning and balancing technology. 

In body shell production, we expect no fundamental move away from aluminum and steel as 
 input materials that would affect our paint technology business. However, plastic and composite 
materials are being used increasingly because they play an important role in fuel-economical 
light construction concepts. These new materials have to be painted, however, just as much as 
traditional materials do. We are gearing ourselves to that by developing products especially 
 targeted to painting plastics. The advance of plastic and composite materials is also causing 
 demand for glueing technology to rise, since these materials are not weldable and therefore 
must be glued. 

R&D anD pRoDuct liability Risks

Innovations can fail to win the expected acceptance among customers. We minimize the risk  
of that by precisely analyzing market needs, integrating pilot customers, and only developing 
 products for customers that offer a quick return on investment. That also lowers the risk of 
impairment losses on capitalized development costs.

We carefully watch relevant patent registrations to ensure that our new products do not infringe 
on any third-party intellectual property rights. Product liability cases are a rarity in our busi-
ness. Nevertheless, we maintain product liability insurance and pay close attention to occupa-
tional safety regulations in our product development work. 

competitive Risks

In 2011, our Japanese competitor Taikisha acquired a majority interest in Geico, a smaller Italian 
paint systems builder. This is part of Taikisha’s strategy to improve its access to the European 
market. German plant engineering firm Eisenmann also took over Hightec, a Chinese company, 
last year. Hightec specializes, among other things, in plastics painting technology for general 
 industrial applications. Given our leadership in technology and execution, we are convinced that 
we will not lose market shares as a result of these two mergers. 

We are not aware of any other plans for mergers among our competitors. We also do not see  
any competing products that could jeopardize our market position. Neither in China nor in other 
 major markets do significant disadvantages exist for us that would favor local competitors. A 
weakening of the euro against the US dollar and Chinese renminbi yuan tends to be positive for 
us. A strong yen means an advantage in competition with Japanese companies. 
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opeRating Risks

We face a risk of underestimating costs, especially when calculating long-term projects. For  
that reason, all project calculations are reviewed by the centralized Global Proposal Assurance 
department before bids go out to customers.

In the case of long-term, large-scale projects, additional costs can arise if we do not meet our 
deadlines or other agreed parameters. The technical and logistical complexity of a project can 
also lead to risks. This is particularly the case in the emerging markets, where there are more 
imponderables. We have therefore developed special risk management mechanisms for order 
 execution in fast-growing markets. Those include close supplier monitoring, contract and claim 

management, and regular project reviews. 

pRocuRement Risks

We counter availability and price risks in procurement by entering into framework agreements 
with first-line suppliers, pooling purchasing volumes, and applying a materials-planning system. 
As a result of high incoming orders, our need of input products, bought-in parts, and external 
manufacturing capacities has increased. At the same time, many suppliers have high utilization 
due to strong demand. Combined with rising raw material prices, this has led to higher procure-
ment costs and occasionally to bottlenecks in the availability of suitable suppliers. Since we have 
a broad base of regular suppliers, however, we have always been able to find suitable sources of 
supply and production partners. The risk of insolvency on the supplier side has decreased signifi-
cantly as a result of the high utilization level. 

In the emerging markets, it is possible that individual companies that we commission are not 
meeting our quality and deadline requirements. We therefore regularly review the progress of 
orders in the case of critical suppliers. To protect our intellectual property, we do not give any 
sophisticated designs to contract producers in the emerging markets. Because of our broad base 
of suppliers, we are not dependent on individual companies. We only make framework agreements 
covering large volumes with first-line suppliers that have good credit standing.

peRsonnel Risks

We avoid bundling specialized knowledge exclusively in individual employees to protect our-
selves against losses of expertise. We promote the transfer of knowledge in the workforce, for 
example, by means of documentation, internal training, and mentoring programs. Our Group-
wide intranet also plays an important role as a knowledge platform. The risk of losing knowledge 
through a loss of personnel in Germany is relatively low, since the average length of service is 
extremely high at 15 years, and the turnover rate is comparatively low at 4.7 %. In the emerging 
markets, on the other hand, we are exposed to greater personnel turnover risk.

We counter utilization risks by employing external temporary workers in certain areas. That is 
the case, for example, in the areas of production and relatively simple design work.

Despite high demand for qualified technical personnel, we managed to fill most open engineer 
positions appropriately in 2011. However, fewer applications were received, which resulted in 
a smaller selection. Overall, the number of students graduating with scientific and engineering 
degrees remains below what is needed in Germany. At Dürr, we counter the risk of technical 
 personnel shortages with a three-part strategy. First, persons with expertise are encouraged to 
bond with the Group through long-term career planning. Second, we use professional recruiting 
methods to make ourselves attractive to job seekers and university graduates. Third, trainees, 
students at cooperative state universities, and apprentices are offered permanent employment 
whenever possible. 
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it Risk

IT risks such as data loss, hacking, and computer viruses have increased significantly in the past 
years in terms of both frequency and potential harm. We counter these risks by means of an IT 
security organization, IT security guidelines, and a security-oriented IT infrastructure with mod-
ern firewall and anti-virus software. Back-up servers, redundant data lines, and uninterruptible 
power supplies reduce the danger of productivity losses or even total breakdowns. We regard the 
risk of hacker attacks and data theft to which we are exposed as normal for the industry.

enviRonmental anD pRoDuction Risks

The environmental and occupational safety risks at our production and development sites are 
 relatively low. One contributing factor is our low vertical depth of production. Another is that we 
only use substances harmful to health or the environment to a limited extent, for example to 
 perform tests in the areas of cleaning and paint technology. That is subject not only to statutory 
regulations, but also to internal guidelines and the standards of the relevant certification sys-
tems. Our employees regularly receive training in how to avoid hazardous situations and how  
to deal with them if they arise.

legal Risks

The most important legal risk for Dürr is the assertion of warranty claims. Contractual penalties 
are also possible in case of delivery delays. Before we make binding commitments, for example 
regarding availability and performance of a system, we thoroughly examine possible liability-law 
consequences. We rule out claims that we cannot fulfill. Patent disputes are also possible in our 
business. We are not involved in any extraordinary legal disputes at present. None of the pending 
cases exceeds a claim value in the low single-digit millions of euros.

cuRRency, inteRest Rate, anD liquiDity Risks

We explain currency, interest rate, and liquidity risks in detail in item 40 of the notes to the 
 consolidated financial statements. To avoid duplication, we provide only a cursory overview in 
the following. 

Among currency risks, the most relevant are translation risks, which can arise when we convert 
foreign currency items into euros. Such risks are a normal part of doing business, and we consider 
them relatively low. Transaction risks, which can arise when products are exported, play a minor 
role as we buy most of the goods we need locally in the respective national currency, or we pro-
duce them locally. Risks of interest rate changes also have no material significance, since almost 
all our financial debt is attributable to our fixed-interest bond. 

At present, there are no unusual liquidity or debt risks. Both a cash line of € 50 million, which is 
part of our syndicated loan, and an EIB loan of € 40 million were unused as of December 31, 2011. 
Moreover, we had liquid funds of € 298.6 million at our disposal.

Our corporate bond issued in September 2010 does not mature until 2015. Consequently, our 
 entire external financing may be classified as long-term, and we are not subject to any refinancing 
pressure. The terms and conditions of the bond, which may be viewed at www.durr.com, con-
tain the usual limitations and obligations on Dürr as the issuer. If we do not comply with them, that 
could result in the bond plus accrued interest being called due. 
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The contract concerning our syndicated loan provides that we must comply with certain financial 
covenants. Those are determined quarterly and are subject to a rolling 12-month calculation 
 period. Early termination of our syndicated loan by the bank syndicate is only possible if we do 
not comply with the covenants and a two-thirds majority of the participating banks vote to call. 
The same covenants apply to our loan from the European Investment Bank (EIB) as apply to our 
syndicated loan. Here, too, a breach of the covenants could lead to early termination by the EIB.

We do not hold any government bonds whose timely repayment is uncertain. Consequently, there 
is no heightened risk of impairment in respect to financial assets. 

Overall risk situation

There are no discernible risks from today’s perspective that could jeopardize the Group’s contin-
ued existence. Our measured overall risk increased again in the second half of 2011, after having 
fallen successively since the 2008 / 2009 economic crisis subsided. Two factors have been mainly 
responsible for the most recent rise:

■■ Heightened economic risks could lead in the long term to a decline of business volume greater 
than what we currently expect.

■■ Unusually high capacity utilization could lead in the short term to delays or additional costs in 
order execution.

We nevertheless regard our overall risk situation as manageable. A possible recession in Europe 
would have relatively little effect on Dürr, since the more stable emerging markets account for 
about two-thirds of our business. We are taking many measures to counter risks arising from high 
capacity utilization. Those include new recruiting for our regular and external workforces, use  
of our flexible working time model, and effective Group-wide capacity management.

Ratings

We have not had ratings prepared since September 2010. However, the price development of, 
and hence the yield on, our corporate bond indicate that our credit standing has improved signif-
icantly and that future bond issues would be possible, if desired, at more favorable terms.
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Events subsequent to the reporting date

Joachim Schielke announced by letter dated February 14, 2012, that he wishes to  resign from 
office on the Supervisory Board with effect from the end of the annual general  meeting on
April 27, 2012.

No events that materially affected, or could materially affect the net assets, financial position  
and results of operations of the Group occurred between the beginning of the current fiscal year 
and March 1, 2012. 
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Report on expected future development

Opportunities

oppoRtunities management system

As a counterpart to the risk management system, we pursue proactive opportunities management, 
a process in which the business units play a pivotal role. They are in an ongoing dialogue with 
customers, suppliers, partners and market observers, enabling them to identify new requirements 
and potential applications for their technologies and products early on. Business opportunities 
often emerge through product and process innovations in the automobile industry. It is therefore 
our endeavor to see that we are involved as early as possible in customers’ innovation processes. 
Lightweight automotive construction is a good example. We were quick to recognize the trend 
towards the use of new materials (such as plastics, and glass and carbon fiber) and have built up 
a portfolio of glueing technology products suitable for joining the new materials. 

The Group’s R&D departments also play an important part in our opportunities management 
 process. They explore new possibilities and potential for efficiency enhancement in production 
 technology and assess what contribution Dürr can make. We have a specialist eMobility team 
dedicated to the topic of electro-mobility and the business opportunities this offers. In energy 
 efficiency, too, a project team assesses different technologies in preparation for suitable acqui-
sitions. 

We work closely with universities and research institutions to explore how Dürr can apply the 
latest scientific findings in our products. We also monitor whether new legal regulations such as 
emission control standards will create a need for new production technologies. In addition to 
product-related opportunities, we also assess the potential emerging in certain regions and with 
specific customers, or as a result of new business models. Opportunities presented by process 
optimization are analyzed, too. 

As the holding company, Dürr AG supports the opportunities management process in two ways. 
Firstly, it organizes Group-wide workshops at which new business opportunities are analyzed, 
defined and anchored in corporate strategy. Secondly, it provides funding.

gRoup-wiDe oppoRtunities

■■ Growth in the emerging markets: Experts predict that additional production capacity for around 
26 million units will be created in the automobile industry between 2011 and 2016. The bulk of 
this will be in the emerging markets, where more passenger cars were produced than in the 
established markets for the first time in 2011. In China, the world’s largest automobile market, 
the production of light vehicles is likely to grow at an average annual rate of 12 % between 
2011 and 2016, and reach around 26 million units. To capitalize on this, we are investing heavily 
in additional personnel and production space.

■■ Comeback of the North American market: Continued rising sales and production figures are also 
forecast for the USA, although the economic environment remains difficult. Replacement pur-
chases are an important driver given that, after a prolonged period of consumer restraint, the 
average age of the cars on the road has reached ten years. After many production lines were 
closed down permanently during the 2008/2009 crisis, the automobile industry is now in need 
of new capacities again. Moreover, many existing facilities need modernizing. Foreign auto-
makers are building new plants in order to win market share, while US automakers are invest-
ing to defend their home market. 
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■■ Additional potential in service business: Dürr has a broad installed base around the world for 
which we provide services: from energy optimization and capacity expansion through to the 
supply of spare parts and replacements. Additional potential in the service business is being 
created by the numerous new installations we are currently executing. We are tapping this 
potential through a close-knit network of service bases and new service products.

■■ Environmental protection and energy efficiency: Energy prices and environmental standards are 
set to continue rising worldwide over the long term. This creates a growing demand for sus-
tainable and energy-saving production processes. All of Dürr’s business units are aligning 
themselves to these needs with the new claim “Leading in Production Efficiency“. 

■■ Advances in power-train technology: The speed with which the development of economical com-
bustion engines is being pursued is driving investment in new cleaning and balancing 

technologies. Electro-mobility also provides us with opportunities, for instance as a supplier 
of automated battery assembly lines. 

■■ Aspiring local players in the automobile industry: Aspiring OEMs in China and other emerging 
markets are thrusting more and more onto the world market. To realize their expansion plans 
they need additional production capacities and modern manufacturing technologies.

■■ New areas of business: Since 2009, we have entered a number of niche markets through tech-
nology acquisitions that promise above-average growth potential. Among other things, this 
 includes glueing technology, ultrafine cleaning systems, and turbocharger balancing. In 
filling equipment we are diversifying into new areas of application through the acquisition of 
the Danish specialist Agramkow, while the entry into ORC technology opens up additional mar-
ket opportunities in our energy efficiency activities. In all cases we are leveraging our global 
network to expand internationally. 

oppoRtunities within the business units

■■ Paint and Final Assembly Systems will continue to pursue its localization strategy in the emerg-
ing markets. This enables us to meet the needs of our customers better and to tap further cost- 
reduction potential. The service business is to be expanded in China. The numerous paint 
 systems we have installed since 2009 serve as the basis. Aside from the reviving US market, 
additional opportunities are presented in Southeast Asia, where the Japanese automobile 
 industry has a strong presence. Our stake in Parker Engineering has considerably improved 
our access to Japanese automakers. In revamp business, we see opportunities above all  
in paint shop  energy optimization, for instance through upgrades with the energy-saving 
EcoDryScrubber spray booth system. 

■■ Aircraft and Technology Systems has considerably broadened its customer base over the past 
years. Since 2008, we have won 16 new customers with whom business is being expanded. A 
special focus is on Chinese and Russian aircraft manufacturers who are pursuing ambitious 
expansion plans. Opportunities are presented, too, by our expertise in the assembly and paint-
ing of carbon fiber reinforced plastic (CFRP) aircraft components.

p. 224

p. 224
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■■ Application Technology will continue to pursue its international expansion strategy in glueing 
and sealing technology. In paint application technology, there are opportunities in replace-
ment business. Examples are the migration from painting machines to more flexible painting 
robots, and the replacement of older atomizers with the new EcoBell3 product generation. Fur-
ther potential is presented by the increasing automation of the painting process for the vehicle 
interior. Another driver is the growing use of plastic components in automobile construction; 
there is considerable market potential for painting systems for plastic parts especially in China. 
In addition, as in Paint and Final Assembly Systems, we want to intensify the business with 
Japanese customers. Besides selling complete painting robot systems, the sale of application 
systems on a stand-alone basis is to be pushed, too. 

■■ Balancing and Assembly Products intends to further expand its balancing equipment business 
in China and Japan. There is additional potential in the service business and in measuring and 
balancing systems for turbochargers. Global investment in additional generating capacity is 
also creating growing demand for balancing systems for large turbines. In testing equipment, 
there is growth potential above all in China, India and Brazil. In filling equipment, we want 
to use our majority interest in Agramkow to expand business in the domestic appliances seg-
ment. In the automotive segment, the greatest potential for additional business is in China. 

■■ Cleaning and Filtration Systems is benefiting from the downsizing trend in the automobile in-
dustry as special cleaning systems are required for the production of new, fuel consumption 
optimized engines. In addition, with the growing model diversity in engine and transmission 
production, older transfer line cleaning systems are being replaced by flexible robot sys-
tems. Additional growth potential exists in Asia business and through the expansion of the 
global service network. 

■■ Environmental and Energy Systems plans to expand the exhaust air purification system business 
in the focus sectors of chemicals and pharmaceuticals. Penetration of the growth markets of 
China, Brazil, South Korea and India is to be pushed, too. Considerable potential exists in en-
ergy efficiency technology; here, we have begun systematically marketing the newly acquired 
Organic Rankine Cycle technology. 

■■ Energy Technology Systems is working on building up the business in technologies for improv-
ing the energy efficiency of production processes. Initially, the focus is on the acquisition  
of suitable technologies, which, in a second step, are then to be further developed and broadly 
marketed. 

Outlook

emeRging maRkets Remain on gRowth path

Economic researchers expect world economic growth to be weaker in 2012 than in 2011. The 
Western European economies especially are suffering from the debt crisis in the eurozone.  
The low point in the current cycle was probably reached in winter 2011/2012. To stimulate the 
markets, the central banks are likely to continue making cheap money available. 

The emerging markets should see the strongest growth again. While the Chinese government 
has damped down growth of late to contain inflation, a more dynamic course is likely again  
in 2012. A continued stable economic trend is forecast for the USA, especially as the country is 
 affected only to a small extent by the debt problems in Europe. Japan’s economy will probably 
continue to grow only moderately, although backlog effects are visible after the slump caused  
by the earthquake disaster. 
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year-over-year change in % 2013 2012

World 4.0 3.2

Eurozone 1.0 – 0.5

USA 3.0 2.5

China 8.3 8.6

India 8.0 7.3

Brazil 5.0 3.3

Japan 1.2 0.5

Source: Deutsche Bank 01/2012

/ /   gDp gRowth foRecasts    / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /   2.54

From today’s vantage point, the world economy will probably grow by about 4 % in 2013. The 
emerging markets should continue to be the main driver. 

automobile pRoDuction 2012: fuRtheR gRowth

PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) forecasts growth of about 6 % in world automobile production in 
2012. That would be in line with the long-term trend growth. Past statistics show that automobile 
production mostly grows 1.3 to 1.4 times faster than world GDP. Some 80 million passenger cars 
and light commercial vehicles are likely to be produced in 2012 – an all-time high. Production will 
probably rise to 85 million units in 2013, mainly on the back of the double-digit rates of increase 
expected in China, Brazil, India and Eastern Europe.

In 2012, automobile production will probably grow by 8 % in the USA, the world’s second largest 
market, but is expected to decline in Western Europe. The growth differentials between the 
emerging markets and the established markets are likely to persist over the longer term. 

In 2011, the automobile industry caught up on numerous investments that had been shelved in 
2008/2009 because of the crisis. The earnings and financial situation at many automobile manu-
facturers has improved appreciably over the last two years. Moreover, there are still good sales 
prospects for the industry in the emerging markets. Against this backdrop, we expect capital 
spending to remain high in 2012 and 2013, although it will probably not quite match the peak 
level in 2011, which had been buoyed by backlog effects. A substantial part of the investment is 
likely to be in modernizing and optimizing existing factories to increase productivity in response 
to rising production volumes. 

tempoRaRy gRowth Dip in the aiRcRaft inDustRy

The aviation industry will probably grow less strongly this year than in 2011. Experts forecast 
growth of 3.5 %, while close to 5 % is expected for 2013. Given high levels of capacity utiliza-
tion, many airlines are likely to invest more in new aircraft, especially as they had shelved many 
purchases during the crisis in 2008/2009. We expect investment by the airlines to rise in line 
with the growth in passenger and freight traffic. 

For aircraft manufacturers, key investment motives are efforts to increase efficiency, to get  
new models to market on time, and to reduce kerosene consumption. Other drivers are the use  
of  innovative materials, such as carbon fiber, and the globalization of production. In 2011, we 
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/ /    pRoDuction of passengeR caRs anD light commeRcial vehicles in million units 

(yeaR-oveR-yeaR change)   / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /   2.55

Region 2009 2010 2011 20121 20131 20141 20151 20161
CAGR2 

2011 – 2016

North America

8.5  

(– 32.5 %)

11.9  

(40.0 %)

13.1  

(10.1 %)

13.8  

(5.3 %)

14.7  

(6.5 %)

15.5  

(5.4 %)

15.9  

(2.6 %)

16.1  

(1.3 %) 4.2 %

Mercosur

3.3  

(– 2.9 %)

4.2  

(27.3 %)

4.2  

(0.0 %)

4.6  

(9.5 %)

5.0  

(8.7 %)

5.3  

(6.0 %)

5.9  

(11.3 %)

6.4  

(8.5 %) 8.8 %

Western Europe

12.3  

(– 19.1 %)

13.3  

(8.1 %)

13.6  

(2.3 %)

13.0  

(– 4.4 %)

13.6  

(4.6 %)

14.4  

(5.9 %)

14.7  

(2.1 %)

15.0  

(2.0 %) 2.0 %

Eastern Europe

4.4  

(– 29.0 %)

5.6  

(27.3 %)

6.3  

(12.5 %)

6.8  

(7.9 %)

7.1  

(4.4 %)

7.7  

(8.5 %)

8.1  

(5.2 %)

8.4  

(3.7 %) 5.9 %

Asia

26.4  

(0.4 %) 

34.0  

(28.8 %) 

34.5  

(1.5 %) 

38.2  

(10.7 %) 

42.6  

(11.5 %) 

46.5  

(9.2 %) 

49.6  

(6.7 %) 

51.7  

(4.2 %) 8.4 %

of which China

11.0  

(46.7 %)

14.4  

(30.9 %)

15.0  

(4.2 %)

16.4  

(9.3 %)

19.3  

(17.7 %)

22.2  

(15.0 %)

24.5  

(10.4 %)

26.0  

(6.1 %) 11.6 %

Other 

2.3  

(– 8.0 %)

2.5  

(8.7 %)

2.6  

(4.0 %)

2.7  

(3.8 %)

2.7  

(0.0 %)

2.8  

(3.7 %)

2.9  

(3.6 %)

3.0  

(3.4 %) 2.9 %

total 

57.2  

(– 13.6 %)

71.5  

(25.0 %)

74.3  

(3.9 %)

79.1  

(6.5 %)

85.7  

(8.3 %)

92.2  

(7.6 %)

97.1  

(5.3 %)

100.6  

(3.6 %) 6.2 %

1 forecast Source: PwC, own estimates
2 CAGR = compound annual growth rate

 received a large order from the Russian aircraft manufacturer Irkut. We have also intensified the 
contacts with Chinese manufacturers. We expect considerable growth in investment in these 
two countries, as the manufacturers there have their sights on the world market. 

stRong gRowth taRgeteD in enviRonmental anD eneRgy efficiency business

The automobile industry will remain our largest market by far in future. As a result of its high 
investment activity in the last two years, the industry will account for over 80 % of our sales rev-
enues also in 2012 and 2013. However, in the long term the importance of other customer groups 
will increase. On the one hand, this includes aircraft manufacturers and general industry. On the 
other, we aim to expand our business in technologies for exhaust air purification and enhanced 
energy efficiency strongly. Here, we are focusing especially on heat recovery technologies such 
as ORC systems and micro gas turbines for generating electricity from industrial waste heat. After 
the investment in the start-up company Cyplan, further technology acquisitions are planned for 
2012. Initially, these energy efficiency activities will make relatively small contributions to sales 
and earnings. However, our aim is for the Clean Technology Systems division to achieve sales of 
over € 200 million by the year 2015. 

new oRDeRs, sales Revenues, eaRnings

Despite the economic risks we view our business prospects for 2012 and 2013 positively. In the 
automobile industry’s growth markets – Asia, Eastern Europe, and South America – we expect 
strong demand for new automobile plants. In North America, our customers are mainly planning 
revamp and optimization projects but there are also a number of projects for new plants in the 
pipeline. The key investment drivers in the automobile industry are growing capacity require-
ments, productivity and efficiency improvements, reducing energy costs, and the competitive 
race in drive technology. 

c
o

n
s

o
l

iD
a

t
e

D
 f

in
a

n
c

ia
l

 s
t

a
t

e
m

e
n

t
s



130 MANAGEMENT REPORT  / /   RepORt On expeCted futuRe develOpment

Thanks to our strong local presence we should continue to benefit more than average from the 
economic momentum in the emerging markets. Some 60 % of our sales revenues and new orders 
are likely to come from these markets in 2012 and 2013. The importance of Western Europe for 
our business will continue to decline, while the North American market should gain more weight 
again. After winning market share in 2010 and 2011, we expect to make further gains in most 
regions in 2012 and 2013. We already have an exceptionally strong market position today in China. 

Long term, we are aiming for sustainable growth of 5 % to 10 % per year in Group sales reve-
nues. This will also depend on the build-up of our new areas of business progressing as planned. 
From today’s vantage point, we expect growth of at least 5 % in sales revenues to over € 2.0 bil-
lion in 2012. This expectation is supported by the high order backlog and the continued buoyant 
demand from our customers. However, we would point out that at this early stage of the year our 
sales forecast for 2012 still harbors some uncertainties.

Incoming orders should normalize after last year’s exceptionally high level and reach at least 
€ 2.0 billion in 2012. That would again be well above the pre-crisis level of 2007/2008. As 
sales revenues and incoming orders are likely to be on a similar level, order backlog should be 
 unchanged at around € 2.1 billion at the end of 2012. 

Earnings should improve above-proportionally to sales revenues again in 2012. In view of our 
high capacity utilization, and volume and cost degression effects, our target is an EBIT margin of 
5.5 % to 6 %. The financial result will probably weaken slightly in 2012. This is mainly due to the 
fact that, with the purchase of the Dürr Campus in Bietigheim-Bissingen, we have taken over the 
financing from the leasing company from which it was purchased. However, EBIT is increased 
as the leasing expenses for the Dürr Campus will fall away. On balance, the Campus purchase 
will have a small positive effect on earnings before taxes. 

Tax expense will rise in line with the improvement in earnings, while the effective tax rate 
should stay at around 25 % due to the use of tax loss carryforwards. As a result, earnings after 
taxes should improve by at least 15 %. The dividend for 2012 is to be between 30 % and 40 % of 
Group net profit again, in line with our distribution policy, and should also rise by at least 15 %. 

For 2013, we plan to increase incoming orders and sales revenues by about 5 % each. Operating 
profit is expected to rise further, with the EBIT margin reaching the target of 6 % set within the 
framework of our corporate strategy. We expect positive earnings effects among other things from 
cost degression as well as higher margins in project business. The financial result will probably 
improve slightly in 2013. Our relatively low effective tax rate is likely to normalize and be around 
30 %, which should result in a moderate increase in tax expense. Nonetheless, earnings after 
taxes should advance again in 2013, accompanied by a further dividend increase. We intend to 
leave our payout ratio unchanged at 30 % to 40 % of Group net profit. 
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Divisions

All divisions plan increases in sales revenues and earnings in 2012 and 2013. However, this will 
depend on the positive economic trend in the bric countries continuing. As for the Group as a 
whole, incoming orders will be below the levels in 2011, which was an exceptional year. 

cash flow 

Operating cash flow will probably decline slightly in 2012 but – like free cash flow – will still 
be clearly positive. There is likely to be growth not only in revenues and earnings; net working 

capital is also set to rise, firstly, because many orders on the plant engineering side will be 
reaching an advanced stage of completion and, secondly, because the prepayments received from 
customers should normalize again after the very high level in 2011. For 2013, we expect further 
growth in revenues and earnings, while operating cash flow and free cash flow should at least 
match the 2012 level.

capital expenDituRe

Capital expenditure of around € 20 million is budgeted for property, plant and equipment and 
 intangible assets in 2012 (without acquisitions); much of this will be on replacements. The level 
of capital expenditure will probably be about € 10 million higher in 2013, as we are setting up a 
new location in Shanghai to expand the machinery business. Further technology acquisitions are 
planned for 2012 and 2013 to strengthen the core business and to build up the new energy effi-
ciency/heat recovery activities. The scale of the proposed acquisitions will probably be in excess 
of € 10 million in both years. 

liquiDity, equity, anD financing

From today’s vantage point, we expect our net financial position at the end of 2012 and 2013 
to be between zero and € + 50 million (December 31, 2011: € + 51.8 million), while cash and cash 
equivalents should be in excess of € 200 million on both reporting dates. Information on the ex-
pected cash outflows from financial liabilities and derivative financial instruments can be found 
in item 38 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. We expect further growth in 
 equity, with the equity ratio rising above 25 % again by 2013.

It should be possible for the proposed acquisitions and the expansion in the energy efficiency/
heat recovery business to be financed from cash flow or cash and cash equivalents. From today´s 
perspective, no further bond issues are planned in 2012 and 2013. We intend to use the syndi-
cated loan facility only for balancing out temporary fluctuations in net working capital. A capital 
increase is not planned.

p. 224

p. 225

p. 225

p. 202 

/ /   outlook by Division   / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /   2.56

SaleS RevenueS (€ milliOn) inCOming ORdeRS (€ milliOn) ebit maRgin (%)

 2012e 2013e 2012e 2013e 2012e 2013e

Paint and Assembly Systems 900 940 950 1,000 4 to 5 4 to 5

Application Technology 440 470 400 450 7 to 8 8 to 9

Measuring and Process Systems 570 590 550 550 5 to 6 6 to 7

Clean Technology Systems 90 100 100 110 5 to 6 5 to 6
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Ralph heuwingRalf w. DieteR

Bietigheim-Bissingen, March 1, 2012

Dürr Aktiengesellschaft

The Board of Management

puRchasing

Our objective is to keep the cost of materials from rising more strongly than sales revenues. In 
view of the weaker global economic growth we reckon with constant procurement prices in 
2012; the cost of materials should therefore rise in line with sales revenues. Sales revenues and 
the cost of materials will probably also move in tandem in 2013. To exploit cost advantages, we 
will be making increasing use of the sourcing markets in Eastern Europe and Asia. 

employees

The number of employees in the Group will probably increase by about 300 by the end of 2012. 
The bulk of the additional jobs will be created in the emerging markets, where we aim to employ 
33 % of the Group’s total workforce by the end of 2013 (December 31, 2011: 31 %). In the estab-
lished markets, the number of employees will increase marginally at most. We expect personnel 
expenses to increase by 10 % in both 2012 and 2013, driven mainly by the rising level of wages 
and salaries in the emerging markets and the higher average number of employees. 

R & D

In line with our strategy, we plan to increase both our R&D spending and our R&D staff further 
in the coming years. The main focuses in our product development will continue to be: 

■■ reducing costs per unit in the automobile industry
■■ new service products 
■■ broadening the product portfolio for the emerging markets
■■ environmental technology and energy efficiency.

summaRy of expecteD Development

We expect a continued positive development of the Dürr Group in the coming years provided the 
European debt crisis and the related risks do not escalate further. The number of project enqui-
ries from our customers remains high, as considerable investments in new plants are planned 
especially in the emerging markets. This, together with our high order backlog, provides good 
visibility for the future business outlook. We expect growth of at least 5 % in sales revenues in 
both 2012 and 2013. Earnings should continue to improve above-proportionally to sales reve-
nues; our target is an EBIT margin of 5.5 % to 6 % for 2012, and 6 % for 2013. Our policy will be 
for our shareholders to participate in the company’s performance through higher dividends.
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Audit opinion

skirk � �  WirtsChAftsprüfer

[geRman PubliC auditOR]

Hummel � �  WirtsChAftsprüfer

[geRman PubliC auditOR]

We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by Dürr Aktiengesellschaft, Stuttgart, 

comprising the statement of income, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of financial 

 position, the statement of cash flows, the statement of changes in equity and the notes to the consolidated 

financial statements, together with the group management report for the fiscal year from 1 January to 

31 December 2011. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements and the group management 

report in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of German com­

mercial law pursuant to Sec. 315a (1) HGB [“Handelsgesetzbuch”: German Commercial Code] is the respon­

sibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated 

financial statements and on the group management report based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Sec. 317 HGB  and 

 German generally accepted standards for the  audit of  financial statements promulgated by the Institut 

der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public  Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Those standards require that we 

plan and perform the audit such that misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the net as­

sets, financial position and results of  operations in the consolidated financial statements in accordance 

with the applicable financial reporting framework and in the group management report are detected with 

reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and legal environment of 

the Group and expectations as to possible misstatements are taken into account in the determination of 

audit procedures. The effectiveness of the accounting­related internal control system and the evidence 

supporting the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and the group management report are 

examined primarily on a test basis within the framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing the 

annual financial statements of those entities included in consolidation, the determination of entities to 

be included in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation principles used and significant estimates 

made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial state­

ments and the group management report. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our 

opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated financial statements comply with IFRSs 

as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Sec. 315a (1) 

HGB and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the 

Group in accordance with these requirements. The group management report is consistent with the con­

solidated financial statements and as a whole provides a suitable view of the Group’s position and suit­

ably presents the opportunities and risks of future development.

Stuttgart, 1 March 2012

Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft



136 consolidated financial statements � �  COnSOlidated Statement Of inCOme

Consolidated statement of income

� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.1

 of dürr aktiengesellscHaft, stuttgart, for tHe period from January 1 to december 31, 2011

€ k nOte 2011 2010

sales revenues (7) 1,921,987 1,261,379

Cost of sales (8) – 1,590,584 – 1,023,916*

gross profit on sales  331,403 237,463*

selling expenses (9) – 107,232 – 98,451*

General administrative expenses (10) – 88,738 – 77,368*

research and development costs (11) – 29,504 – 25,784*

Other operating income (13) 25,782 27,215

Other operating expenses (13) – 25,217 – 26,442

earnings before investment income, interest and income taxes  106,494 36,633*

profit from entities accounted for using the equity method (16) 580 548

interest and similar income (17) 5,542 3,379*

interest and similar expenses (17) – 26,807 – 28,059*

earnings before income taxes  85,809 12,501

income taxes (18) – 21,552 – 5,418

profit of the dürr group  64,257 7,083

 attributable to:

 Non-controlling interests  2,407 762

 shareholders of dürr aktiengesellschaft  61,850 6,321

earnings per share in € (basic and diluted)  3.58 0.37

*  the presentation has changed compared to the 2010 consolidated financial statements because the interest cost (from the measurement of pensions and similar 
obligations) and the expected return from plan assets, which were previously presented under functional costs, have been allocated to interest and similar 
expenses and interest and similar income. 

 for more information see note 15 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income

� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.2

of dürr aktiengesellscHaft, stuttgart, for tHe period from January 1 to december 31, 2011

€ k nOte 2011 2010

profit of the dürr group  64,257 7,083

components of other comprehensive income

Changes in fair value of financial instruments used for hedging  

purposes recognized in equity (25) – 4,612 – 253

Gains / losses from changes in the fair value of available-for-sale securities (25) 11 – 

reclassifications from currency translation reserve through profit or loss (25) 451 – 140

Currency translation reserve of foreign subsidiaries (25) 1,791 12,457

Currency translation reserve of foreign entities accounted  

for using the equity method (25) 989 2,037

Actuarial gains / losses from defined benefit plans and similar obligations (25) – 2,741 – 1,497

Deferred taxes recognized on components of other comprehensive income (25) 1,372 379

other comprehensive income, net of tax (25) – 2,739 12,983

total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  61,518 20,066

 attributable to:

 Non-controlling interests  2,401 764

 shareholders of dürr aktiengesellschaft  59,117 19,302
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Consolidated statement of financial position

� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.3

of dürr aktiengesellscHaft, stuttgart, as of december 31, 2011

€ k nOte Dec. 31, 2011 Dec. 31, 2010

assets

Goodwill (19, 43) 284,482 281,702

Other intangible assets (19, 43) 42,177 34,440

property, plant and equipment (19, 43) 144,879 91,199

investment property (19, 43) 22,333 23,134

investments in entities accounted for using the equity method (20, 43) 17,207 11,912

Other financial assets (20, 43) 2,629 457

trade receivables (22) 191 1,321

income tax receivables (18) 76 100

sundry financial assets (23) 3,343 2,955

Other assets (24) 215 103

Deferred taxes (18) 9,644 7,909

prepaid expenses  1,835 7,099

non-current assets  529,011 462,331

inventories and prepayments (21) 124,471 73,761

trade receivables (22) 625,644 391,950

income tax receivables (18) 7,576 5,750

sundry financial assets (23) 50,174 11,671

Other assets (24) 22,244 15,581

Cash and cash equivalents  298,561 252,308

prepaid expenses  3,360 3,113

current assets  1,132,030 754,134

total assets dürr group  1,661,041 1,216,465

equity and liabilities

subscribed capital (25) 44,289 44,289

Capital reserve (25) 200,186 200,186

revenue reserves (25) 146,003 97,533

Other comprehensive income (25) – 31,592 – 28,838

total equity attributable to the shareholders of dürr aktiengesellschaft  358,886 313,170

Non-controlling interests (26) 5,434 6,231

total equity  364,320 319,401

provisions for post-employment benefit obligations (27) 57,779 55,894

Other provisions (28) 6,654 7,745

trade payables (30) 6,394 – 

Bond (29) 225,511 225,639

Other financial liabilities (29) 47,331 4,906

sundry financial liabilities (31) 26,162 9,522

income tax liabilities (32) 220 163

Other liabilities (32) 4,507 3,774

Deferred taxes (18) 26,921 20,006

Deferred income  425 573

non-current liabilities  401,904 328,222

Other provisions (28) 45,902 39,983

trade payables (30) 711,327 439,680

financial liabilities (29) 13,322 1,768

sundry financial liabilities (31) 27,363 17,545

income tax liabilities (32) 8,728 2,527

Other liabilities (32) 87,907 66,758

Deferred income  268 581

current liabilities  894,817 568,842

total equity and liabilities dürr group  1,661,041 1,216,465
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.4

of dürr aktiengesellscHaft, stuttgart, for tHe period from January 1 to december 31, 2011

€ k nOte 2011 2010

 (35)   

earnings before income taxes  85,809 12,501

income taxes paid  – 14,317 – 17,381

Net interest  21,265 24,680*

profit from entities accounted for using the equity method  – 580 – 548

Dividends from entities accounted for using the equity method  – 441

Amortization and depreciation of non-current assets  20,615 18,012

Net gain / loss on the disposal of non-current assets  252 – 46

Other non-cash income and expenses  – 1,317 – 170

Changes in operating assets and liabilities    

 inventories  – 43,192 – 7,361

 trade receivables  – 224,716 – 49,064

 Other receivables and assets  – 6,051 – 5,649

 provisions  638 – 11,211*

 trade payables  265,603 88,280

 Other liabilities (other than bank)  24,722 2,589

 Other assets and liabilities  – 833 301

cash flow from operating activities  127,898 55,374

purchase of intangible assets  – 6,251 – 5,348

purchase of property, plant and equipment  – 13,383 – 9,444

purchase of entities accounted for using the equity method  – 2,502 – 12

purchase of other financial assets  – 2,211 – 104

proceeds from the sale of non-current assets  891 929

Acquisitions, net of cash acquired  – 6,816 – 6,840

investments in time deposits  – 35,950 – 

interest received  3,648 1,360

cash flow from investing activities  – 62,574 – 19,459

Change in current bank liabilities and other financing activities  4,267 – 121

repayment of non-current financial liabilities  – 1,249 – 290

repayment of bond  – – 100,000

Bond issue  – 226,721

payment of finance lease liabilities  – 470 – 1,249

Borrowing of financial liabilities due to entities accounted for using the equity method  – 9

Dividends paid to the shareholders of Dürr Aktiengesellschaft  – 5,190 – 

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests  – 1,398 – 894

interest paid  – 20,116 – 19,072

cash flow from financing activities  – 24,156 105,104

effects of exchange rate changes  5,085 7,334

Changes in cash and cash equivalents related to changes in the consolidated group  – 58

Change in cash and cash equivalents  46,253 148,411

cash and cash equivalents  

At the beginning of the period  252,308 103,897

At the end of the period  298,561 252,308

*  the presentation has changed compared to the 2010 consolidated financial statements because the interest cost (from the measurement of pensions and similar obligations)  
and the expected return from plan assets, which were previously presented under functional costs, have been allocated to net interest.  
for more information see note 15 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
of dürr aktiengesellscHaft, stuttgart, for tHe period from January 1 to december 31, 2011

OtheR COmPRehenSive inCOme

subscribed 
capital

Capital 
reserve

revenue 
reserves

Unrealized 
gains / losses 

from cash flow 
hedges  

Unrealized 
gains / losses 

from available- 
for-sale 

securities

Changes  
related to the 
consolidated 

group / 
reclassifications

Unrealized 
actuarial 

gains / losses
Currency 

translation

Other 
 comprehensive 

income

total equity 
attributable 

to the share-
holders of  

Dürr Aktien-
gesellschaft

Non- 
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity

€ k (25) (25) (25) (25)  (25)  (25) (25) (25)  (26)  

January 1, 2010 44,289 200,186 92,237 – 304  – 11 801 – 11,085 – 31,198 – 41,797 294,915 6,488 301,403

profit for the year – – 6,321 –  – – – – – 6,321 762 7,083

Other comprehensive income – – – – 195  – – – 1,178 14,354 12,981 12,981 2 12,983

total comprehensive income, net of tax – – 6,321 – 195  – – – 1,178 14,354 12,981 19,302 764 20,066

Dividends – – – –  – – – – – – – 894 – 894

put option non-controlling interests – – – 1,047 –  – – – – – – 1,047 – 127 – 1,174

Other changes – – 22 –  – – 22 – – – 22 – – – 

december 31, 2010 44,289 200,186 97,533 – 499  – 11 779 – 12,263 – 16,844 – 28,838 313,170 6,231 319,401

profit for the year – – 61,850 –  – – – – – 61,850 2,407 64,257

Other comprehensive income – – – – 3,250  11 – – 2,728 3,234 – 2,733 – 2,733 – 6 – 2,739

total comprehensive income, net of tax – – 61,850 – 3,250  11 – – 2,728 3,234 – 2,733 59,117 2,401 61,518

Dividends – – – 5,190 –  – – – – – – 5,190 – 1,398 – 6,588

put option non-controlling interests – – – 8,211 –  – – – – – – 8,211 – 6,146 – 14,357

Other changes – – 21 –  – – 21 – – – 21 – 4,346 4,346

december 31, 2011 44,289 200,186 146,003 – 3,749  – 758 – 14,991 – 13,610 – 31,592 358,886 5,434 364,320
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� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.5� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

OtheR COmPRehenSive inCOme

subscribed 
capital

Capital 
reserve

revenue 
reserves

Unrealized 
gains / losses 

from cash flow 
hedges  

Unrealized 
gains / losses 

from available- 
for-sale 

securities

Changes  
related to the 
consolidated 

group / 
reclassifications

Unrealized 
actuarial 

gains / losses
Currency 

translation

Other 
 comprehensive 

income

total equity 
attributable 

to the share-
holders of  

Dürr Aktien-
gesellschaft

Non- 
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity

€ k (25) (25) (25) (25)  (25)  (25) (25) (25)  (26)  

January 1, 2010 44,289 200,186 92,237 – 304  – 11 801 – 11,085 – 31,198 – 41,797 294,915 6,488 301,403

profit for the year – – 6,321 –  – – – – – 6,321 762 7,083

Other comprehensive income – – – – 195  – – – 1,178 14,354 12,981 12,981 2 12,983

total comprehensive income, net of tax – – 6,321 – 195  – – – 1,178 14,354 12,981 19,302 764 20,066

Dividends – – – –  – – – – – – – 894 – 894

put option non-controlling interests – – – 1,047 –  – – – – – – 1,047 – 127 – 1,174

Other changes – – 22 –  – – 22 – – – 22 – – – 

december 31, 2010 44,289 200,186 97,533 – 499  – 11 779 – 12,263 – 16,844 – 28,838 313,170 6,231 319,401

profit for the year – – 61,850 –  – – – – – 61,850 2,407 64,257

Other comprehensive income – – – – 3,250  11 – – 2,728 3,234 – 2,733 – 2,733 – 6 – 2,739

total comprehensive income, net of tax – – 61,850 – 3,250  11 – – 2,728 3,234 – 2,733 59,117 2,401 61,518

Dividends – – – 5,190 –  – – – – – – 5,190 – 1,398 – 6,588

put option non-controlling interests – – – 8,211 –  – – – – – – 8,211 – 6,146 – 14,357

Other changes – – 21 –  – – 21 – – – 21 – 4,346 4,346

december 31, 2011 44,289 200,186 146,003 – 3,749  – 758 – 14,991 – 13,610 – 31,592 358,886 5,434 364,320
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� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

Notes to the consolidated financial 
statements for the 2011 reporting period

basis of presentation

Dürr Aktiengesellschaft (“Dürr AG” or the “Company”) has its registered offices in Stuttgart, Germany. 

Its headquarters for operations are located at Carl­Benz­Strasse 34 in 74321 Bietigheim­Bissingen, 

Germany. The Dürr Group (“Dürr” or the “Group”) consists of Dürr AG and its subsidiaries. The Dürr 

Group specializes in mechanical and plant engineering and is one of the global market leaders in almost  

all of its fields of business. It generates some 80 % of sales revenues with the automotive industry, but also 

acts as supplier of production technology for other industries including the aviation, mechanical engi­

neering, energy as well as the chemical and pharmaceutical industries. Dürr now serves the market with 

four divisions instead of two as in the prior period: the Paint and Assembly Systems division offers pro­

duction and paint finishing technology, mainly for automotive bodyshells, but also for aircraft. The ma­

chines and systems produced by the Measuring and Process Systems division are used in engine and 

drive construction as well as final assembly. The Clean Technology Systems division, founded on January 

1, 2011, manufactures plant and equipment for purifying exhaust gases produced by industrial processes 

and develops technologies for improving the energy efficiency of production processes. As of December 

31, 2011, Dürr transferred its systems for painting and glueing technology to a separate division, Appli­

cation Technology.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union (EU) at the end of the reporting period, and the 

additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Sec. 315a (1) HGB [“Handelsgesetzbuch”: 

German Commercial Code]. 

The accounting policies used generally correspond to the policies applied in the prior period. In addition, 

the Group has applied the new and /or revised standards that are effective for reporting periods beginning 

on or after January 1, 2011.

The changes in accounting policies result from the adoption of the following new or revised standards. 

the group adopted the following new and revised ifRss and interpretations in the reporting period for the first time

International Accounting Standard (IAS) 24 “Related Party Disclosures”: IAS 24 was revised initially to 

simplify disclosure requirements for state­controlled entities. In addition, the definition of related parties 

was reworked completely. The amended standard affects the definition of persons and entities related  

to the reporting entity and the presentation of the relationships in the consolidated financial statements.

the following new or revised standards and interpretations, which were adopted for first time in the reporting  
period had no material effect on the consolidated financial statements

IFRS 1 “First­time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards”: The amendments contain 

exemptions for first­time adopters. 

IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation”: The amendment explains the classification of rights issues 

as equity or liabilities. 

Amendment to IFRIC 14 “IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements 

and their Interaction”: In November 2009, the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Commit­

tee (IFRIC) published an amendment to IFRIC 14 that is relevant for entities required to make prepayments 

of a minimum funding requirement relating to their pension plans.

1. summary of significant accounting policies

 the company

  accounting policies
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IFRIC 19 “Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments”: The interpretation contains guid­

ance on the treatment of such transactions, referred to as debt for equity swaps. It details the require­

ments of IFRSs when an entity renegotiates the conditions of a financial liability with the creditor and the 

creditor accepts shares or other equity instruments issued by the entity to extinguish all or part of the 

financial liability. 

Annual improvements project: In May 2010, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued 

the third final omnibus standard with changes to existing IFRSs in the course of its annual improvements 

project. The 2007 – 2010 annual improvements project included minor amendments to a total of six stan­

dards and one interpretation. The amendments are applicable for reporting periods beginning on or after 

January 1, 2011. One exception are the amendments to IFRS 3 and IAS 27, which are effective for report­

ing periods beginning on or after July 1, 2010. The most notable changes are listed below. Their applica­

tion does not, however, have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements:

■■ IFRS 1 “First­time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards”: Amendments to accounting 

policies in the year of first­time adoption as well as the option of using the revaluation as a basis for 

deemed cost and to use the deemed cost as a basis for business activities subject to regulation.

■■ IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”: The amendments relate to transitional provisions for contingent con­

sideration in connection with business combinations prior to the introduction of the amendments to 

IFRS 3 made in 2009. The number of measurement options for non­controlling interests is reduced and 

inconsistencies relating to share­based payment commitments have been eliminated.

■■ IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”: The IASB clarified that the qualitative disclosures on risks 

in connection with financial instruments are intended to support and explain the respective quantita­

tive disclosures.

■■ IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”: An entity may disclose the individual components of equity 

in an analysis of other comprehensive income in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes to 

the financial statements.

■■ IAS 27 “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements”: Transitional provisions for changes as a con­

sequence of the amendments to IAS 27.

■■ IAS 34 “Interim Financial Reporting”: Development of guidelines to illustrate the implementation of 

the disclosure requirements of IAS 34 on significant events and transactions and extended disclosure 

requirements.

■■ IFRIC 13 “Customer Loyalty Programmes”: The amendment clarifies that the amount of discounts 

and incentives that are granted to customers not participating in a loyalty program must be taken into 

account in determining the fair value of award credits on the basis of the value of possible awards.

the following standard adopted by the eu in the comitology procedures has not yet entered into effect and will 
have no effects, or no material effects, on the consolidated financial statements

IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” In October 2010, the IASB published the amendments to IFRS 7 

on the disclosure requirements when derecognizing financial assets. The revised standard will become 

effective for reporting periods beginning on or after July 1, 2011.

standards and interpretations which have not yet entered into force and have not yet been adopted by the eu in the 
comitology procedures

Amendment to IFRS 1 “First­time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards”: The amended 

standard is mandatory for those reporting periods beginning on or after July 1, 2011 and will have no 

effects, or no material effects, on the consolidated financial statements.
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Amendment to IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”: The amendment contains supplementary 

mandatory disclosures on all financial assets and financial liabilities which are offset pursuant to IAS 32 

“Financial Instruments: Presentation”. In addition, disclosures are required on all financial instruments 

which are subject to an enforceable master netting agreement or similar agreement. The amended stan­

dard is mandatory for those reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013 and is not expected 

to have any effects, or no material effects, on the consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”: In November 2009, the IASB published the new standard IFRS 9 on the 

classification and measurement of financial assets. Publication of IFRS 9 brings to a close the first stage of 

a three­part project by the IASB to reform accounting for financial instruments, including IAS 39 “Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. In accordance with IFRS 9, a new, less complex approach is 

used for the classification and measurement of financial assets. There are now only two measurement 

categories for financial assets compared to the four previously used. In October 2010, the IASB published 

an amendment adding a section on financial liabilities to IFRS 9. IFRS 9 is mandatory for all accounting 

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015. Dürr has not yet completed the analysis of potential effects 

on the consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements”: IFRS 10 introduces a uniform concept of control to be used 

in determining which entities should be included in the consolidated financial statements. IFRS 10 replaces 

IAS 27 “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” and the Standing Interpretations Committee 

(SIC)­12 “Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities”. The standard is mandatory for reporting periods be­

ginning on or after January 1, 2013. Dürr has not yet completed the analysis of potential effects on the 

consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements”: IFRS 11 governs the financial reporting by parties to a joint arrangement. 

It replaces IAS 31 “Interests in Joint Ventures” and SIC­13 “Jointly­controlled Entities – Non­monetary 

Contributions by Venturers”. The standard is mandatory for reporting periods beginning on or after Jan­

uary 1, 2013. Dürr has not yet completed the analysis of potential effects on the consolidated financial 

statements.

IFRS 12 “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities”: IFRS 12 governs the disclosures required for reporting 

on the interests held by the reporting entity in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates, and un­

consolidated structured entities that were previously contained in a number of other standards (IAS 27, 

IAS 28 and IAS 31) and expands them. The standard is mandatory for reporting periods beginning on 

or after January 1, 2013. Dürr has not yet completed the analysis of potential effects on the consolidated 

financial statements.

IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement”: This standard establishes guidance on fair value measurement when 

this is required or permitted by another standard. The standard comes into force for reporting periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Dürr has not yet completed the analysis of potential effects on the 

consolidated financial statements.

Amendment to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”: The changes relate to the presentation 

of other comprehensive income. In future, the items of other comprehensive income are to be classified 

into two different categories depending on whether they can be reclassified to profit or loss in a later  

period or not. The standard is mandatory for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, 

and has an impact on the presentation of comprehensive income.

Amendment to IAS 12 “Income taxes”: The amendment to IAS 12 specifies the measurement base for 

deferred taxes when differentiating between the tax system applying to an asset in use and the sale of it. 

The standard is mandatory for those reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2012, and will 

have no effects, or no material effects, on the consolidated financial statements.
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Amendments to IAS 19 “Employee Benefits”: The amendments to IAS 19 revoke the corridor approach 

to deferring actuarial gains and losses and govern the accounting of changes in the pension obligation 

through profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The amended standard is mandatory for those 

reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, and will have an impact on net interest and other 

comprehensive income.

Amendment to IAS 27 “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements”: Due to the fact that the account­

ing standards for consolidated financial statements were all shifted to IFRS 10, IAS 27 now contains the 

standards on accounting for shares in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in the separate financial 

statements. In this regard, IAS 27 was renamed “Separate Financial Statements”. The amended standard 

is mandatory for those reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, and is not expected to 

have any effects, or no material effects, on the consolidated financial statements.

IAS 28 “Investments in Associates”: This standard was renamed “Investments in Associates and Joint 

Ventures”. The amended IAS 28 now incorporates SIC­13 “Jointly­controlled Entities – Non­monetary 

Contributions by Venturers” and clarifies other issues as well. The amended standard is mandatory for 

those reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, and is not expected to have any effects, 

or no material effects, on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendment to IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation”: The addition clarifies some details related 

to the offsetting of financial assets against financial liabilities. The amended standard is mandatory for 

those reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014, and is not expected to have any effects, or 

no material effects, on the consolidated financial statements.

IFRIC 20 “Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine”: The interpretation is mandatory for 

those reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, and will have no effects on the consolidated 

financial statements.

The Group decided not to early adopt standards and IFRIC interpretations which have already been issued 

but have not yet become effective. Generally speaking, Dürr intends to adopt all standards when they 

 become effective.

The requirements of the standards applied were satisfied in full. The financial statements thus give a true 

and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of operations and cash flows of the Group.

The reporting period of Dürr is the calendar year. The consolidated financial statements are prepared in 

thousands of euro (€ thousand or € k), unless stated otherwise.

All assets and liabilities are measured at historical or amortized cost. Exceptions to this rule are derivative 

financial instruments, obligations from put options held by non­controlling interests, liabilities from 

 contingent purchase price installments, obligations from share­based compensation and financial assets 

classified as available­for­sale and held­for­trading which are measured at fair value.

Assets and liabilities are treated as current if they are realized or settled within twelve months of the 

end of the reporting period. Those liabilities with a remaining term of between one and five years are 

disclosed as medium­term and those with a remaining term of more than five years as long­term.

The consolidated financial statements of Dürr are based on the IFRS financial statements of Dürr AG and 

the consolidated subsidiaries and entities accounted for using the equity method as of December 31, 

2011, prepared in accordance with uniform policies and audited by independent auditors.

For subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements for the first time, capital consolidation 

is performed according to the acquisition method of accounting pursuant to IFRS 3 “Business Combina­

tions”. This involves offsetting the cost of the shares acquired against pro rata equity of the subsidiaries. 

2.  basis of consolidation
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All assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired are included in the consolidated statement of  

financial position at the acquisition date taking hidden reserves and encumbrances into account. Any  

remaining debit difference is shown as goodwill. When the entity is removed from consolidation, the 

goodwill is released to profit or loss. Negative differences are posted immediately to profit or loss. For  

acquisitions in which less than 100 % of the shares are purchased, IFRS 3 provides for a choice between 

the purchased goodwill method and the full goodwill method, in which the entire goodwill on the ac­

quired entity is recognized, including that part attributable to non­controlling interests. This option can 

be exercised for every business combination. Dürr determines the method to be used to recognize the 

goodwill for each acquisition. 

Entities over which Dürr exercises significant influence (associates) are accounted for using the equity 

method; this is generally the case with a share of voting rights ranging from 20 % to 50 %. The equity 

method is also applied for joint ventures in which Dürr together with other venturers undertakes an eco­

nomic activity which is subject to joint control. Any goodwill is disclosed under investments in entities 

accounted for using the equity method. All other investments are accounted for at cost because market 

values are not available and fair values cannot be reliably determined by other means.

Intragroup sales revenues, other income and expenses and all intragroup receivables, liabilities and pro­

visions and end­of­year adjustments (prepaid expenses and deferred income) are eliminated. Intra­

group profits which are not realized by sale to third parties are eliminated.

Besides Dürr AG, the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2011, contain all German and 

foreign entities which Dürr AG can control directly or indirectly (control concept). The entities are in­

cluded in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which the possibility of control was ob­

tained. Joint ventures and associates are included in the consolidated financial statements using the 

equity method from the date on which joint control or the possibility of significant influence existed.

The table below shows the number of entities included in the consolidated group besides Dürr AG as 

the parent:

 � �  number of fully consolidated entities  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.6

 Dec. 31, 2011 Dec. 31, 2010

Germany 12 11

Other countries 45 41

 57 52

The consolidated financial statements contain eight entities (prior period: four) which have non­controlling 

interests in them.

 � �  number of entities accounted for using tHe equity metHod  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.7

 Dec. 31, 2011 Dec. 31, 2010

Germany 2 3

Other countries 2 1

 4 4

3. consolidated group
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On May 12, 2011, Dürr founded CPM Automation d.o.o. Beograd, based in Belgrade, Serbia. As of May 15, 

2011, Dürr founded Carl Schenck Denmark ApS in Sønderborg, Denmark. On May 24, 2011, Dürr 

 acquired 55 % of the shares in Agramkow Fluid Systems A /S, based in Sønderborg, Denmark, and its 

subsidiaries, Agramkow Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd., Singapore, and Agramkow do Brasil Ltda., Indaiatuba, 

 Brazil. On November 30, 2011, Dürr acquired the general partner share in Dürr GmbH & Co. Campus KG 

based in Pullach im Isartal, Germany. The registered offices of the entity were relocated to Bietigheim­

Bissingen subsequent to the takeover. This entity had previously been included in the consolidated finan­

cial statements as an associate using the equity method.

Test Automation Ltd. (formerly trading under the name of Schenck Test Automation Ltd.) based in Warwick, 

United Kingdom, was deconsolidated on August 31, 2011. The deconsolidation did not have any material 

effect on the consolidated financial statements. 

By purchase agreement dated May 25, 2011, Dürr acquired 50 % of the shares with voting rights in 

Cyplan Ltd. with registered offices in Aldermaston, United Kingdom. At the time of the acquisition, the 

operating activities were managed from the office in Ingelheim am Rhein, Germany. Once the pur­ 

chase agreement was concluded, the entity was renamed Dürr Cyplan Ltd. and the offices of the entity’s 

operating activities were relocated to Bietigheim­Bissingen. This entity is included in the consolidated 

 financial statements as an associate using the equity method.

Financial statements denominated in the foreign currency of the subsidiaries included in the consolidation 

are translated to the euro on the basis of the functional currency concept pursuant to IAS 21 “The Effects 

of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates”. For the majority of foreign subsidiaries in the Group, the functional 

currency is the local currency, since these entities operate independently from a financial, economic and 

organizational viewpoint. According to this concept, assets and liabilities are thus translated at the closing 

rates, while income and expenses are generally translated at average rates. Any currency translation  

differences are recorded without effect on profit or loss in other comprehensive income. 

In the separate financial statements of Dürr AG and its subsidiaries, receivables and liabilities in a cur­

rency other than the euro are measured at the historical rate; current transactions are translated at the 

current exchange rate. Any exchange rate gains and losses at the end of the reporting period are included 

in the statement of income. For actual figures of the exchange rate gains and losses recognized in profit 

or loss, please refer to notes 8 and 13.

 � �  significant excHange rates   � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.8

ClOSing Rate aveRage Rate

(in relation to one euro) Dec. 31, 2011 Dec. 31, 2010 2011 2010

Us dollar 1.2932 1.3282 1.3983 1.3213

Chinese renminbi 8.1435 8.7697 9.0204 8.9329

Brazilian real 2.4137 2.2102 2.3346 2.3237

Mexican peso 18.0725 16.4480 17.4096 16.6861

indian rupee 68.5855 59.6528 65.4636 60.4041

pound sterling 0.8367 0.8630 0.8694 0.8575

Korean won 1,499.5924 1,507.2414 1,544.8886 1,531.2611

Danish krone 7.4340 7.4555 7.4494 7.4486

Japanese yen 100.0700 108.5936 111.2300 115.2189

4.  changes in the 
 consolidated group

5. currency translation
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In the separate financial statements of the foreign subsidiaries, goodwill is translated at the rate prevailing 

at the end of the Group’s reporting period. Applying the transitional ruling of IAS 21.59, goodwill that 

already existed as of January 1, 2005, and is not accounted for in the separate financial statements of 

the subsidiaries is still accounted for at the historical exchange rate (at the date of acquisition) at the end 

of the Group’s reporting period. The hidden reserves identified in acquisitions are generally accounted 

for using the functional currency of the acquired entity.

Intangible assets comprise goodwill, franchises, industrial rights and similar rights as well as capitalized 

development costs and capitalized transaction costs from financing activities. Purchased and internally 

generated intangible assets are recognized pursuant to IAS 38 “Intangible Assets” if, in addition to other 

criteria, it is probable that a future economic benefit will flow to the entity from the use of the asset, and 

the cost of the asset can be reliably determined. 

Intangible assets are recognized at cost. Intangible assets with a finite useful life are amortized over 

their useful life using the straight­line method, unless they are impaired. Goodwill and other intangible 

assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized. Other intangible assets are tested once annually to 

determine whether events and circumstances still justify the assumption that they have an indefinite use­

ful life. If this is not the case, the estimated useful life is changed from indefinite to finite in accordance 

with the requirements of IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors”. Like­

wise, intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are tested once annually or sooner if there are any 

indications that an asset may be impaired.

In the Group, development costs are only recognized as internally generated intangible assets if the 

conditions set forth in IAS 38 are satisfied. These include the following criteria: 

■■ Technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale
■■ The probability of a future economic benefit arising from the use of the asset
■■ The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its 

 development 

Cost is the sum of all directly attributable expenditure incurred from the date when the intangible asset 

first meets the recognition criteria. Development costs which do not meet these criteria as well as research 

costs are expensed immediately. Amortization of capitalized development costs is disclosed under research 

and development costs in the statement of income.

 � �  useful life of intangible assets (estimated)  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.9

years  

transaction costs 2 to 5 

Capitalized development costs 3 to 8 

technological know-how 8 

franchises, industrial rights and similar rights 2 to 10 

Customer relationships 8 to 10 

Brand names indefinite

Property, plant and equipment are accounted for at cost less straight­line depreciation over their useful 

life. Cost comprises all production costs that are directly attributable to the production process. 

6. recognition and measurement policies

 intangible assets

  property, plant and 
equipment
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 � �  useful life of property, plant and equipment (estimated)  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.10

years  

it hardware 3 to 5 

furniture and fixtures 2 to 20 

Machines and equipment 2 to 21 

Buildings and leasehold improvements 4 to 50 

Land indefinite

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes major expenditures and replacements which extend 

useful lives or increase capacity. The historical cost of assets that are either sold or scrapped is derecog­

nized, as is the accumulated depreciation. Any gains or losses from derecognition are determined as the 

difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount and recognized in profit or loss  

as other operating income or expenses in the period in which the item is derecognized. Costs of ongoing 

repairs and maintenance are expensed immediately.

Investment property is measured initially at amortized cost, including transaction costs. The carrying 

amount contains the costs for investments to replace an existing investment property at the time these 

costs are incurred, provided the recognition criteria are satisfied, and excludes the costs of day­to­day 

servicing of an investment property. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated 

at depreciated cost. 

Investment property is derecognized when it is sold or retired from active use and no future economic 

benefit is expected upon its disposal. Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of investment 

property are recognized in the year of retirement or disposal. 

Properties are allocated to investment property if a change in use has occurred which is substantiated by 

their being occupied by another party after the end of owner­occupation or the inception of an operating 

lease with another party.

All intangible assets with an indefinite useful life, intangible assets which are not yet ready for use and 

goodwill are tested for impairment at the end of each reporting period. Other intangible assets and prop­

erty, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances  

indicate that an asset may be impaired, i.e., that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. 

Investment property that is largely rented to third parties is also subjected to an annual impairment test. 

An impairment loss is recognized if the recoverable amount of the asset falls short of its carrying amount. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s net selling price and its value in use. The net selling 

price is the amount recoverable from the disposal of an asset at market conditions less costs to sell. Value 

in use is the fair value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the continuing use of an asset 

and from its disposal at the end of its useful life. The recoverable amount is determined for each asset in­

dividually or, if that is not possible, for the cash­generating unit to which the asset belongs. As regards 

goodwill acquired in business combinations, the relevant cash­generating units correspond to the business 

units of the Dürr Group based on internal reporting structures. To determine the estimated cash flows  

of each cash­generating unit, basic assumptions have to be made. These include assumptions regarding 

financial planning and the interest rates used for discounting.

Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are reversed against profit or loss if they cease to exist or 

have decreased. The increase in value or the reduction of an impairment loss of an asset is, however, only 

recognized to the extent that it does not exceed the carrying amount that would have existed if the regular 

amortization or depreciation had been recorded and no impairment losses had been recognized. Impair­

ments on goodwill may not be reversed.

Other comments on intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are to be found in note 19.

investment property

impairment testing
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In accordance with IAS 20 “Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance”, 

government grants are only recorded if it is reasonably certain that the conditions attached to the grants 

will be fulfilled and the grants actually awarded. Grants that relate to an investment are deducted from 

the carrying amount of the subsidized asset. Grants related to income are recognized as deferred income 

and released in the correct period.

The entities in the Dürr Group are lessees of land, buildings, office and operating equipment. The majority 

of leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets leased under finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards 

incidental to ownership of the leased asset, are capitalized at the inception of the lease at the fair value of 

the leased asset or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are 

apportioned between the finance charges and a reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant 

rate of interest over the period on the remaining balance of the lease liability. Finance charges are taken 

to profit or loss immediately. A liability is also established at that time for the same amount. The leased as­

set is depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its estimated useful life.

Lease payments on operating leases are recorded as an expense in the statement of income over the term 

of the lease.

Entities over which Dürr either has significant influence or in which Dürr together with other venturers 

undertakes an economic activity which is subject to joint control are recorded as investments in entities 

accounted for using the equity method. The Group’s share of profits and losses is shown in the consoli­

dated statement of financial position as a change in the carrying amount and recognized in the consoli­

dated statement of income under profit  from entities accounted for using the equity method. Where there 

has been a change recognized directly in the equity of the entity accounted for using the equity method, 

the Group also recognizes its share of the change directly in equity in proportion to its shareholding and 

discloses this in the statement of changes in equity. Dividends received are deducted from the carrying 

amount. 

A financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to both a financial asset of one entity and a financial 

liability or equity instrument of another entity. Pursuant to IAS 39, financial instruments are classified 

in the following categories:

■■ Financial assets held for trading
■■ Held­to­maturity investments
■■ Loans and receivables originated by the entity
■■ Available­for­sale financial assets
■■ Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost
■■ Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Purchases or sales of financial assets are recognized using trade date accounting.

financial assets

Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the entity intends and has 

the ability to hold to maturity other than loans and receivables originated by the entity pursuant to IAS 39 

are classified as held­to­maturity investments. Financial assets that are acquired principally for the pur­

pose of generating a profit from short­term fluctuations in price or dealer’s margins are classified as 

financial assets held for trading. All other financial assets apart from loans and receivables originated by 

the entity pursuant to IAS 39 are classified as available­for­sale financial assets.

Held­to­maturity investments are disclosed under non­current assets. This does not apply if they are due 

within one year of the end of the reporting period. Financial assets held for trading are disclosed under 

current assets. Available­for­sale financial assets are disclosed under current assets if management in­

tends to sell them within twelve months of the end of the reporting period.

government grants

leases

investments in entities 
 accounted for using the 
equity method

financial instruments
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When a financial asset is recognized initially, it is measured at cost. This comprises the fair value of the 

consideration and – with the exception of financial assets held for trading – the transaction costs.

Changes in the fair value of held­for­trading financial assets are recorded in profit or loss. The fair value 

of a financial instrument is the amount that can be generated from the asset in an arm’s length transaction 

between knowledgeable and willing parties under current market conditions.

Held­to­maturity investments are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. If it is 

more likely than not that the financial assets measured at amortized cost are impaired, the impairment 

loss is recognized in profit or loss. If an impairment loss recorded in a prior period decreases and the de­

crease in the impairment loss (or reversal) can be objectively related to an event occurring after the im­

pairment loss, the reversal is recognized in profit or loss. A reversal of an impairment loss cannot, however, 

exceed the carrying amount that would have been recognized without the impairment loss.

Loans and receivables originated by an entity and not held for trading are measured at the lower of amor­

tized cost or net realizable value at the end of the reporting period.

Available­for­sale financial assets are recognized at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses are disclosed  

in other comprehensive income, net of a tax portion. The reserve is released to profit or loss either upon 

disposal or if the assets are impaired.

Dürr has not yet made use of the option to designate financial assets upon initial recognition as financial 

assets at fair value through profit or loss.

financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities generally give rise to the right to receive settlement in cash or another financial as­

set. They include, for example, trade payables, liabilities to banks, bonds, derivative financial liabilities 

and other liabilities.

After initial measurement, financial liabilities carried at amortized cost are subsequently measured  

at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Financial liabilities measured at fair value through 

profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading. Derivatives are deemed to be held for trading  

unless they are designated and effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on financial liabilities held 

for trading are recognized in profit or loss.

Dürr has not yet made use of the option to designate financial liabilities upon initial recognition as financial 

liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

Dürr uses derivative financial instruments such as forward exchange contracts in order to hedge against 

currency risks.

Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value on initial recognition and in subsequent  

periods. Recognition of these changes – whether in profit or loss or directly in equity (hedge reserve) –  

depends on whether the derivative financial instrument is part of an effective hedge in accordance with  

IAS 39. Changes in fair value are recognized in profit or loss unless the special criteria of IAS 39 for hedge 

accounting are satisfied.

Depending on the nature of the hedged item, hedging instruments are designated as follows:

■■ Fair value hedges if they hedge exposure to changes in fair value of a recognized asset or liability  

or an unrecognized firm commitment, or an identified portion of such an asset, liability or firm commit­

ment that could affect profit or loss;

■■ Cash flow hedges if they hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a recognized 

asset or liability or a forecast transaction and could affect profit or loss; or

■■ Hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation. These are treated like a cash flow hedge.

derivative financial 
 instruments and hedge 
accounting 
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fair value hedge accounting

In the case of fair value hedges, the carrying amount of a hedged item is adjusted through profit or loss 

by the profit or loss that is attributable to the hedged exposure. In addition, the derivative financial in­

strument is remeasured at its fair value; gains or losses arising as a result are also recognized in profit or 

loss. In a perfect hedge, the fluctuation in fair value recognized in profit or loss for the hedged item prac­

tically offsets that of the hedging instrument. For fair value hedges which relate to hedged items carried 

at amortized cost, the adjustments of the carrying amount are released to profit or loss over their term 

until maturity. Every adjustment of the carrying amount of a hedged financial instrument is released to 

profit or loss using the effective interest method. The amount can be released as soon as an adjustment  

is made. It is released at the latest when the hedged item ceases to be adjusted for the changes in fair  

value that are attributable to the hedged exposure. If the hedge item is derecognized, the unamortized  

fair value is recognized immediately in the statement of income.

If an unrecognized firm commitment is designated as a hedged item, the subsequent accumulated change 

in its fair value that is attributable to the hedged risk is recognized as an asset or liability in the profit  

or loss of the period. The changes in fair value of the hedging instrument are also recognized in the pro­

fit or loss of the period. However, this does not apply if foreign exchange exposure is hedged, as that is 

treated as a cash flow hedge. Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument is settled 

prematurely or matures or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. 

cash flow hedge accounting

In the case of cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on a hedging instrument is recog­

nized directly in equity. The ineffective portion is recognized in profit or loss. Amounts that are recog­

nized directly in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the period in which the hedged item affects the 

net profit or loss for the period. Where the hedged item is the cost of a non­financial asset or non­financial 

liability, the amounts taken to equity are transferred to the initial carrying amount of the non­financial 

asset or non­financial liability. If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, any amounts pre­

viously taken to equity are reclassified to the net profit or loss for the period. When the hedge is settled 

prematurely or matures, the amounts previously disclosed remain a separate item in equity until the fore­

cast transaction occurs. The same applies if the hedging instrument is exercised without replacement or 

rollover, or if the criteria for cash flow hedge accounting are no longer in place. If the forecast transaction 

is no longer expected to occur, the amount is recognized in profit or loss. Further explanations on deriva­

tive financial instruments are given in note 40.

The marketable securities disclosed under other financial assets include securities classified as available 

for sale, which are measured at market value at the end of the reporting period, and securities classified as 

held to maturity, which are measured at amortized cost. 

Inventories of materials and supplies, work in process from small series production and finished goods are 

carried at the lower of cost or net realizable value at the end of the reporting period. As a rule, an aver ­ 

age is used or a figure determined using the first in, first out (FIFO) method. Write­downs are recorded 

for obsolete and slow­moving inventories.

Costs of conversion comprise direct materials costs, direct labor costs as well as all production­related 

overheads and depreciation. The overhead markups are determined on the basis of average capacity utili­

zation. Borrowing costs are not included unless they relate to qualifying assets.

Dürr generates most of its sales revenues from customer­specific construction contracts. Contract reve­

nues are generally disclosed using the percentage of completion method (POC method) pursuant to IAS 11 

“Construction Contracts”. This involves recognizing sales revenues and the planned margin in line with 

the degree to which the contract has been completed. The degree of completion is calculated on the basis 

of the costs incurred relative to the total estimated costs. This ensures that both sales revenues and the 

other financial assets

inventories and 
prepayments

customer-specific  
construction contracts
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 associated costs, and therefore the profit or loss from the contract, are recognized in the period in which 

they are incurred. The zero profit method (ZP method) is used in instances where estimated costs to com­

plete cannot be reliably determined, but it is probable that the costs incurred will be reimbursed. With 

the zero profit method sales revenues and the associated costs are realized in equal amounts until the con­

tract is completed. The result is thus not recognized in profit or loss until the contract is completed.

Other sales revenues are recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been trans­

ferred pursuant to IAS 18 “Revenue”. This is usually the date on which the goods or merchandise are 

delivered or services rendered. 

Progress billings issued to customers and cash received from customers are deducted without effect on 

income from cost and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts or added to bill­

ings in excess of cost and estimated earnings.

To the extent that costs have been incurred on contracts, but the amounts cannot yet be billed under the 

terms of the contracts, they are reported under receivables together with the corresponding estimated 

earnings as cost and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts. The invoicing of 

such amounts is dependent on certain contractually defined milestones being reached. Cost and estimated 

earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts includes directly allocable costs (materials and 

labor costs and cost of purchased services) as well as an appropriate portion of production­related over­

heads and estimated earnings.

Also included in cost and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts are amounts 

that Dürr seeks to collect from customers or others for errors or changes in contract specifications or  

design, contract change orders in dispute or unapproved as to both scope and price, or other customer­

related causes of unanticipated additional contract costs, claims and pending change orders. These are 

carried at the estimated amount provided their realization is probable and they can be reliably estimated. 

No profits are reported on these accumulated costs. Pending change orders involve the use of estimates. 

Therefore, it is possible that adjustments to the estimated recoverable amounts of recorded pending change 

orders will be made in the future.

The POC method and ZP method are based on estimates. Due to the uncertainties prevailing in this respect, 

estimates of the expenses required for completion, including expenses for contractual penalties and  

warranties, may have to be adjusted subsequently. Such adjustments to costs and income are recognized in 

the period in which the adjustments are determined. Provisions for onerous contracts are recognized  

in the period in which losses are identified.

Receivables and other non­derivative financial assets are carried at the lower of amortized cost or net 

realizable value. The Group assesses their recoverability by referring to a number of factors. Should any 

issues arise which would impinge on the ability of certain debtors to meet their financial obligations, 

Dürr posts a specific valuation allowance to write down the net asset to the recoverable amount that can 

be reasonably expected. Impairments are recognized using valuation allowances. Receivables and other 

non­derivative financial assets are derecognized as soon as they become uncollectible.

Management makes an estimate to deem whether separate accounts receivable are overdue or in default. 

For all other debtors, the Group records bad debt allowances on a portfolio basis for all receivables and 

non­derivative financial instruments depending on the days past due, the current business environment 

and past experience. A central monitoring and local collection management system counters the risk of 

bad debts. This system includes regular credit ratings, the conclusion of credit insurance policies and – 

particularly in the export business – issuing letters of credit. 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash, demand deposits and other short­term, highly liquid financial 

assets with an original term to maturity of less than three months. They are recognized at face value.

trade receivables and 
other non-derivative 
 financial assets

cash and cash equivalents
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This item presents changes in equity other than those arising from capital transactions with owners (e. g., 

capital increases or distributions). These include exchange differences, accumulated actuarial gains and 

losses from the measurement of pensions and similar obligations as well as unrealized gains and losses 

from the measurement of available­for­sale securities and derivative financial instruments at fair value.

Borrowing costs include interest and similar expenses, other finance costs and the cost of liabilities.

Pursuant to IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”, borrowing costs incurred in 

connection with the issue of a bond are deducted from the bond on the liabilities’ side of the consolidated 

statement of financial position. Borrowing costs are calculated using the effective interest method and 

are amortized over the term of the bond.

Transaction costs incurred in connection with the syndicated loan are shown in the consolidated state­

ment of financial position as other intangible assets and amortized over the term of the syndicated loan. 

Transaction costs associated with loans approved by the European Investment Bank are reported under 

other assets in the consolidated statement of financial position. When the loan is drawn on, these trans­

action costs will be offset against the principal paid out and released over the term of the loan using the 

effective interest rate method.

Pursuant to IAS 23 “Borrowing Costs”, borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, 

construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalized as part of the cost of the asset. Adoption  

of the standard means that finance costs incurred for customer­specific long­term construction contracts 

are recognized in cost of sales.

The Group’s post­employment benefits include defined contribution plans and defined benefit plans. In the 

case of defined contribution plans, Dürr pays contributions to state or private pension companies either on 

a voluntary basis or based on statutory or contractual provisions. No further payment obligations arise for 

Dürr following the payment of contributions.

The majority of the Group’s post­employment benefit systems is based on defined benefit plans which 

guarantee the beneficiary a monthly old­age pension for life. These benefit plans are funded by the group 

entities and by the employees.

In accordance with IAS 19 “Employee Benefits”, provisions for pension obligations are measured using 

the projected unit credit method. For this purpose, the future obligations are measured on the basis of 

the pro rata employee benefit obligations at the end of the reporting period. Pension provisions are calcu­

lated taking into account development assumptions (e.g., salary developments) for those factors which 

affect the amount of the benefit.

In order to avoid the recognition of income and expenses in profit or loss arising from closing date fluctu­

ations in the parameters used to measure pension provisions, Dürr has applied the “SORIE” method since 

2005 to measure its pension obligations instead of the alternative corridor method. According to the 

SORIE method, actuarial gains and losses are recorded directly in equity net of deferred taxes. Provisions 

for pension obligations covered by the employer’s pension liability insurance are offset against the related 

assets of the fund in accordance with the criteria of IAS 19.

Since 2011, Dürr has presented both the interest expense arising from measuring pension obligations as 

well as the expected income from fund assets under net interest.

Other provisions are recorded pursuant to IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 

Assets” if the obligation to a third party results from a past event which is expected to lead to an outflow 

of economic benefits and can be reliably determined. These are uncertain liabilities recognized on the 

basis of a best estimate of the amount needed to settle the obligation. If the amount of the provision can 

only be determined within a range, the most probable figure is used. If there is no difference in the level  

of probability, the weighted average is taken. Provisions with a residual term of more than one year are 

discounted at market interest rates which reflect the risk and period until the obligation is settled.

other comprehensive 
income

borrowing costs 

provisions for post- 
employment benefit 
obligations

other provisions
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At the inception of the lease, liabilities from finance leases are carried at the lower of fair value of the 

leased asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments (we refer to the explanations on leases). 

Trade payables and other non­derivative financial liabilities are recorded at amortized cost. Other liabili­

ties are recorded at the settlement amount. Liabilities for restructuring are recognized to the extent that 

a detailed formal plan has been prepared and communicated to the parties concerned. Liabilities that do 

not lead to an outflow of resources in the following year are discounted at market interest rates as of the 

end of the reporting period. 

Deferred taxes are accounted for using the balance sheet liability method according to IAS 12 “Income 

Taxes”. This involves creating deferred tax items for all temporary accounting and measurement differ­

ences between the carrying amounts for IFRS purposes and the tax bases of the assets and liabilities. 

They are not created if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or the initial recognition of other 

assets and liabilities in a transaction (that is not a business combination) which affects neither the IFRS  

profit nor the taxable profit or loss. A deferred tax asset is recognized for all taxable temporary differ­

ences arising from investments in subsidiaries or associates, and interests in joint ventures, unless the par­

ent can control the reversal of the temporary difference and the temporary difference will probably not 

 reverse in the foreseeable future. Further, deferred tax assets for future economic benefits from unused 

tax losses and unused tax credits are taken into account if it is highly probable that they will be used. 

Deferred taxes are measured taking into account the respective local income tax rates which are expected 

to apply in the individual countries at the time of realization based on tax laws that have been enacted  

or substantively enacted. Deferred tax assets are reversed if it is more probable that the tax benefit will be 

forfeited than that it will be utilized.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are netted if, and only if, the entity has a legally enforce­

able right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabili­

ties relate to income taxes levied on the same taxable entity by the same taxation authority. Deferred taxes 

are recorded as tax income or expense in the statement of income unless they relate to items recorded  

in other comprehensive income; in this case, the deferred taxes are also recorded in other comprehen­

sive income.

The share­based payment transactions pursuant to IFRS 2 “Share­based Payment” cover remuneration 

systems that are settled in cash. Until they are settled, obligations arising from cash­settled payment 

transactions are measured at fair value and presented in other  liabilities. The liabilities are remeasured 

at each reporting date up to and including the settlement date with changes in fair value recognized in per­

sonnel expenses in the statement of income.

Research and non­capitalizable development costs are recorded with an effect on income on the date they 

are incurred. 

Contingent liabilities are disclosed for possible obligations that arise from past events and whose existence 

will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non­occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not 

wholly within the control of the entity. Contingent liabilities can arise from a present obligation that results 

from past events but is not recognized because

■■ it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 

the obligation, or
■■ the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

A contingent liability is not disclosed if the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic 

benefits is remote.

liabilities

deferred taxes
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 � �  overview of selected measurement metHods  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.11

CaRRYing amOunt valuatiOn methOd

Goodwill Cost applying the impairment-only approach

Other intangible assets

 of indefinite useful life Cost applying the impairment-only approach

 of finite useful life (Amortized) cost

property, plant and equipment (Amortized) cost

financial assets

 held to maturity (Amortized) cost

 available for sale At fair value recognized in equity

 held for trading At fair value recognized in profit or loss 

inventories Lower of cost or net realizable value

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings percentage of completion method / zero profit method

trade receivables (Amortized) cost

Cash and cash equivalents Nominal value

provisions

 provisions for post-employment benefit obligations settlement value (projected unit credit method)

 Other provisions settlement value

financial liabilities (Amortized) cost / fair value

trade payables (Amortized) cost

Other liabilities settlement value

Other measurement methods may apply in the event of impairment.

Earnings per share is determined pursuant to IAS 33 “Earnings per Share”. Earnings per share is cal­

culated as the profit share of the shareholders of Dürr AG divided by the weighted average number of 

shares issued. The calculation is presented in the table below. There were no dilutive effects in the 2011 

and 2010 reporting periods. 

 � �  earnings per sHare  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.12

  2011 2010

profit attributable to the shareholders of Dürr AG € k 61,850 6,321

Number of shares outstanding (weighted average) thousands 17,300.5 17,300.5

earnings per share (basic and diluted) € 3.58 0.37

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements pursuant to IFRSs requires management to make 

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 

contingent liabilities at the end of the reporting period and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 

during the reporting period. Actual figures may diverge from these estimates.

In the process of applying the accounting policies, management has made the following judgments which 

have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements:

operating lease commitments – group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio. The Group 

has determined that it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties and 

so accounts for them as operating leases.

earnings per share

use of judgments and 
estimates

Judgments
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operating lease commitments – group as lessee

The Group has entered into lease agreements for real estate. The Group has determined that the special 

purpose entities which are the lessors of the real estate retain all the significant risks and rewards of own­

ership of these.

consolidation of special purpose entities

In some cases, special purpose entities are used to lease production and office premises. Dürr has no  

influence on the financing or business policies of any of these special purpose entities. The opportunities 

and risk structures of the special purpose entities are such that they cannot be included in the consoli­

dated group.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 

the reporting period that risk causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and lia­

bilities within the next reporting period are discussed below.

cost and estimated earnings in excess of billings 

Customized construction contracts make up a large part of Dürr’s business. Revenues and costs relating 

to construction contracts are generally recognized using the percentage of completion method (POC). 

A precise assessment of the degree of completion is essential in this respect. The key estimation parame­

ters include total contract revenues and contract costs, the remaining costs of completion and the con­

tract risks. These estimates are reviewed and adjusted regularly.

impairment of goodwill

The Group tests goodwill for impairment at least once a year. This requires an estimation of the value in 

use of the cash­generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. To do this, management is required  

to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash­generating units. Dürr uses a plan­

ning horizon of four years. In addition, it is necessary to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calcu­

late the present value of these cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill as of December 31, 2011, was 

€ 284,482 thousand (prior period: € 281,702 thousand). Please refer to note 19 for further details.

income taxes

Dürr operates in a large number of countries and is consequently subject to different tax jurisdictions. 

The anticipated current and deferred income taxes have to be determined for each taxable entity.  

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that they are likely to be used. The probability of their 

being used in the future is assessed taking into account various factors such as future taxable profit in 

the planning periods and profit actually generated in the past. Dürr uses a planning horizon of four years. 

The actual amounts may differ from the estimates. These are then adjusted in other comprehensive  

income or in profit or loss, depending on how they were initially recognized. Please refer to note 18 for 

further details.

pensions and other post-employment benefit plans

The cost of defined benefit plans is determined using actuarial calculations. This involves making assump­

tions about discount rates, the expected return on plan assets, future salary increases, mortality rates 

and future pension increases. The discount rates used are based on the market yields of high­quality, fixed­

interest corporate bonds. The expected long­term return on plan assets is determined by reference to  

historical long­term yields and the portfolio structure. Due to the long­term nature of these plans, such  

assumptions are subject to significant uncertainty. Pension provisions amounted to € 57,779 thousand 

as of December 31, 2011 (prior period: € 55,894 thousand). Please refer to note 27 for further details.

estimates and 
assumptions
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development costs

Development costs are capitalized in accordance with the accounting policy presented in note 6. Determin­

ing the amounts to be capitalized requires management to make assumptions regarding the expected 

future cash generation of the assets, interest rates to be applied and the expected period of benefits. The 

carrying amount of capitalized development costs as of December 31, 2011, was € 14,439 thousand (prior 

period: € 15,198 thousand).

put options for shares held by non-controlling interests 

In the course of the first­time full consolidation of CPM S.p.A. in the 2007 reporting period and Agramkow 

Fluid Systems A /S in the 2011 reporting period, put options for the shares held by non­controlling inter­

ests were measured at fair value in accordance with IAS 32 and recognized under sundry financial liabili­

ties. The fair value is calculated at the end of each reporting period. This requires an estimate to be 

made regarding the future revenues of CPM S.p.A. The fair value of the options to shares in Agramkow 

Fluid Systems A /S is determined at the higher of the fair value measured using the discounted cash 

flow method and an extrapolation of the purchase price paid for the acquisition of the first 55 % interest.

share-based payment transactions

The measurement of cash­settled share­based payment transactions is based on the anticipated share 

price at the end of the contractual term and an average earnings ratio over the duration of the program. 

Historical share prices are used to determine the fair value. The average earnings ratio used is based  

on Dürr’s internal forecasts. The actual share prices and earnings ratios may deviate from the assump­

tions made.

Estimates and assumptions are also required for the recognition and measurement of bad debt allowances 

(see note 40) as well as for contingent liabilities and other provisions; the same applies to determining 

the fair value of long­lived items of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.

notes to tHe items of tHe consolidated financial statements

NOtes tO the CONsOLiDAteD stAteMeNt Of iNCOMe

 � �  sales revenues  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.13

€ k 2011 2010

Contract revenues 1,339,826 811,104

revenues from services 445,446 361,975

Other sales revenues 136,715 88,300

 1,921,987 1,261,379

Cost of sales includes all costs of purchase and costs of conversion incurred in the sale of goods and 

services. In the 2011 reporting period, the cost of sales amounted to € 1,590,584 thousand (prior period: 

€ 1,023,916 thousand), which corresponds to a gross margin of 17.2 % (prior period: 18.8 %). The ex­

change rate gains arising from the sales process of € 7,430 thousand (prior period: € 4,987 thousand) 

and exchange rate losses arising from the sales process of € 6,047 thousand (prior period: € 5,109 thou­

sand) have been included in the cost of sales. In addition, the cost of sales additionally includes finance 

costs of € 0 thousand (prior period: € 178 thousand), which were recognized in accordance with IAS 23 

“Borrowing Costs”. For further details, please refer to note 36. Likewise, the cost of sales includes depre­

ciation, amortization and impairment of non­current assets of € 11,621 thousand (prior period: € 7,971 

thousand).

7. sales revenues

8. cost of sales
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Selling expenses comprise all direct selling costs and overheads. These generally include all personnel 

expenses, cost of materials, depreciation and amortization as well as other costs relating to sales. In  

addition, selling expenses include bad debt expenses relating to trade receivables. 

 � �  selling expenses  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.14

€ k 2011 2010

personnel expenses 75,309 66,493

Amortization, depreciation and impairment of non-current assets 987 707

Write-downs of receivables 1,621 1,013

Additions and releases of bad debt allowances on trade receivables – 81 1,781

Other selling expenses 29,396 28,457

 107,232 98,451

For information about write­downs and impairments of receivables, please refer to note 22.

General administrative expenses comprise personnel expenses and non­personnel expenses of the cen­

tral administrative functions, which are not attributable to contract processing, production, sales or 

 research and development. 

 � �  administrative expenses  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.15

€ k 2011 2010

personnel expenses 52,870 48,838

Amortization, depreciation and impairment of non-current assets 3,437 6,135

Other administrative expenses 32,431 22,395

 88,738 77,368

Research and development costs include all the costs of those activities undertaken to gain new scientific 

or technical knowledge and understanding or improving products and manufacturing processes. They 

comprise both personnel expenses and non­personnel expenses. Research and development costs are  

reduced by those development expenses that qualify for recognition as assets. The amortization expense 

recognized under research and development costs includes the amortization of development costs recog­

nized as assets. 

 � �  researcH and development costs  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.16

€ k 2011 2010

personnel expenses 15,173 13,345

Amortization, depreciation and impairment of non-current assets 4,609 4,364

Capitalized development costs – 2,655 – 3,557

Other research and development costs 12,377 11,632

 29,504 25,784

Of the total amount reported as depreciation, amortization and impairment of non­current assets, an 

amount of € 4,025 thousand (prior period: € 3,328 thousand) is attributable to the amortization of capital­

ized development costs.

9. selling expenses

10.  general adminis- 
trative expenses

11.  research and 
 development costs
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The statement of income contains the following personnel expenses:

 � �  personnel expenses  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.17

€ k 2011 2010

Wages and salaries 337,176 285,749

social security contributions 65,423 57,000

 402,599 342,749

of which post-employment benefits 4,466 3,130

Personnel expenses include flat­rate refunds from the Federal Employment Agency in Germany of € 484 thou­

sand (prior period: € 518 thousand). These refunds were made for the social security expenses payable 

by Dürr with respect to the government­subsidized reduced working hours scheme at various German com­

panies and for filling those positions made vacant by individual workers released under phased re tirement 

schemes. In accordance with IAS 20 “Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government 

Assistance” these refunds are disclosed net of the associated costs. Reference is also made to note 14.

The post­employment benefits presented in the column for the prior period were adjusted to account for 

the change in the presentation of interest. For a more comprehensive explanation, please refer to note 15.

 � �  otHer operating  income and expenses  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.18

€ k 2011 2010

other operating income

exchange rate gains 19,477 16,517

Adjustment of contingent purchase price installments for  

UCM AG and Dürr systems Wolfsburg Gmbh 1,318 1,206

reversal of provisions 683 877

rental and lease income 682 740

insurance claims 105 647

Gains on disposal of non-current assets 58 176

income from allocation of expenses for Campus construction project – 2,767

sundry 3,459 4,285

 25,782 27,215

other operating expenses

exchange rate losses 17,575 17,287

Cost of litigation 2,487 1,208

expenses for training facility 878 758

factoring 487 235

Losses on disposal of non-current assets 310 130

expenses for Campus construction project – 2,830

Adjustment of the contingent purchase price installment for  

Dürr systems Wolfsburg Gmbh – 1,046

sundry 3,480 2,948

 25,217 26,442

12. personnel expenses

13.  other operating 
 income and expenses



161management and StOCK � �  teChnOlOgY matteRS � �  management RePORt � �   consolidated financial statements � �  OtheR
nOteS

Government grants of € 1,296 thousand were received in the 2011 reporting period to subsidize expendi­

tures of the Group (prior period: € 1,024 thousand). The grants include subsidies for cost­intensive inno­

vations and reimbursements from the Federal Employment Agency (see note 12). 

In addition, government grants reduced the historical cost of assets by € 56 thousand (prior period: € 58 

thousand). Conditions are attached to the government grants. At present, it can be assumed that these 

conditions will be met.

Dürr has decided to adjust the presentation of interest from the measurement of pension obligations and 

the expected return from plan assets in the statement of income to the customary practice used by the 

industry. Interest on pension obligations is no longer presented under personnel expenses and thus  

under functional costs in the statement of income but under interest.

The table below shows how interest effects (from the measurement of pension obligations and similar 

obligations) and the expected return from plan assets, which were previously presented under functional 

costs, can be reconciled from the presentation in the 2010 annual report to the presentation in this annual 

report. 

 � �  reconciliation of tHe statement of income 2010  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.19

€ k

statement  
of income 2010  

(as reported  
in 2010)

interest effect 
in the measure-
ment of pension 

plans and similar 
obligations

statement  
of income 2010  

(as reported  
in 2011)

sales revenues 1,261,379 – 1,261,379

Cost of sales – 1,024,217 301 – 1,023,916

gross profit on sales 237,162 301 237,463

selling expenses – 98,540 89 – 98,451

General administrative expenses – 79,922 2,554 – 77,368

research and development costs – 25,790 6 – 25,784

Other operating income 27,215 – 27,215

Other operating expenses – 26,442 – – 26,442

ebit 33,683 2,950 36,633

profit from entities accounted for using the equity method 548 – 548

interest and similar income 2,137 1,242 3,379

interest and similar expenses – 23,867 – 4,192 – 28,059

earnings before income taxes 12,501 – 12,501

The profit from entities accounted for using the equity method amounted to € 580 thousand (prior period: 

€ 548 thousand). This disclosure comprises the profit shares from entities accounted for using the equity 

method. Currency effects were recorded in other comprehensive income.

14. government grants

15.  interest effect in the 
measurement of 
 pension plans and 
 similar obligations

16.  profit from entities 
accounted for using 
the equity method
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 � �  net interest  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.20

€ k 2011 2010

interest and similar income 5,542 3,379

 of which from:

 expected return on plan assets 1,557 1,242

 Other interest income 3,985 2,137

interest and similar expenses – 26,807 – 28,059

 of which from:

 Nominal interest expenses on corporate bond – 16,313 – 11,255

  Amortization of transaction costs, premium, discount from a bond issue and  

from a syndicated loan – 1,704 – 5,035

 Non-recurring effects from early redemption of the syndicated loan from 2008 – 981 – 

 Non-recurring effects from early redemption of the bond from 2004 – – 723

 interest expenses from finance leases – 290 – 345

 interest cost from the measurement of pension obligations – 4,089 – 4,192

 Other interest expenses – 3,430 – 6,509

net interest – 21,265 – 24,680

  of which from financial instruments under the measurement categories  

in accordance with iAs 39:

 Loans and receivables measured at amortized cost 3,985 2,123

 Available-for-sale financial assets – 14

 financial liabilities measured at amortized cost – 22,656 – 23,539

 financial liabilities at fair value – 62 – 

Interest expenses from financial liabilities measured at fair value relate to the unwinding of discounted 

contingent purchase price installments.

In the reporting period, interest expenses were not reduced by finance costs relating to long­term cus­

tomer­specific construction contracts in accordance with IAS 23 “Borrowing Costs” (prior period: € 178 

thousand) as the contracts could be financed without drawing on overdraft facilities. In the prior period, 

these finance costs were included in the cost of sales. The imputed interest rate used for the 2010 re­

porting period was 11.10 %. For further details, please refer to note 36.

The income taxes relate to the German corporate income tax including a solidarity surcharge, trade tax 

on income and comparable taxes levied at foreign subsidiaries. 

Deferred taxes in Germany are computed using a tax rate of 29.5 % (prior period: 29.9 %). 

 � �  composition of income tax expense  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.21

€ k 2011 2010

current income taxes

income tax expense for the reporting period – Germany 666 255

income tax expense for the reporting period – other countries 16,717 12,143

Adjustment for prior periods 125 – 1,227

total current taxes 17,508 11,171

deferred taxes

Deferred tax expense / income (–) Germany 1,227 – 6,186

Deferred tax expense / income (–) other countries 2,496 – 921

Adjustment for prior periods 321 1,354

total deferred taxes 4,044 – 5,753

total tax expense 21,552 5,418

17. net interest

18. income taxes 
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The table below shows the reconciliation of theoretical income tax expense to the current income tax 

expense reported. The reconciliation is based on an overall tax rate in Germany of 29.5 % (prior period: 

29.9 %).

 � �  reconciliation of tHe income tax expense  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.22

€ k 2011 2010

earnings before income taxes 85,809 12,501

theoretical income tax expense in Germany of 29.5 % (prior period: 29.9 %) 25,314 3,738

Adjustments of current and deferred income tax incurred in prior periods 446 127

Non-deductible operating expenses 6,924 3,055

foreign tax rate differential – 53 185

Unrecognized deferred tax assets especially on unused tax losses 360 5,054

Change in tax rates 2,670 – 672

Change in write-downs on deferred tax assets – 5,346 816

subsequent recognition of deferred taxes in particular on unused tax losses – 8,452 – 5,589

Zero-rated income – 500 – 1,262

Other 189 – 34

current income tax expense of the dürr group 21,552 5,418

In Germany, unused tax losses amount to € 81,103 thousand for corporate income tax purposes plus the 

solidarity surcharge as of December 31, 2011 (prior period: € 83,632 thousand). Unused tax losses for 

trade tax purposes amount to € 26,030 thousand (prior period: € 30,532 thousand) and deductible inter­

est expenses carried forward amount to € 24,696 thousand (prior period: € 15,752 thousand). 

Pursuant to IAS 12 “Income Taxes”, a deferred tax asset should be recognized on unused tax losses to the 

extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can 

be utilized. In calculating the possibilities for utilizing tax losses, Dürr uses a four­year planning ho rizon 

and takes into account the minimum taxation rule in Germany. In the prior period, the extension of the 

planning horizon caused a € 3,351 thousand increase in deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards 

and deductible interest carried forward, that was recorded as income in 2010. The change in write­downs 

on tax and interest loss carryforwards comes to € 3,679 thousand in Germany (prior period: € – 124 thou­

sand). In addition, there were further changes in write­downs of deferred tax assets of € 1,667 thousand 

(prior period: € 940 thousand), mainly at the US­American subsidiaries. In some tax jurisdictions, deferred 

tax assets were again not recognized on unused tax losses due to the accumulated losses of the past 

three years. 

In sum, unused tax losses amount to € 293,236 thousand (previous year: € 290,958 thousand). Unused 

tax losses for which no deferred tax assets were recognized came to € 176,187 thousand (prior period: 

€ 203,890 thousand). The decrease is primarily attributable to tax losses subsequently capitalized in 

Germany. Unused tax losses of € 1,185 thousand (prior period: € 1,934 thousand) will expire within the 

next five years and € 98,476 thousand (prior period: € 96,781 thousand) within the next 20 years. At pres­

ent, the remaining unused tax losses are not expected to expire.
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� � deferred tax assets and liabilities  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.23

COnSOlidated Statement Of 
finanCial POSitiOn 

COnSOlidated  
Statement Of inCOme

€ k Dec. 31, 2011 Dec. 31, 2010 2011 2010

deferred tax assets

Accounting for intangible assets 2,883 3,697 814 – 1,915

revaluation of land and buildings 204 271 67 – 175

revaluation of financial assets 61 123 62 1,247

Bad debt allowances 416 283 – 133 114

interest / currency transactions 1,464 545 – 2,281 423

Long-term customer-specific construction contracts 11,522 5,075 – 6,447 – 1,859

post-employment benefits 6,618 6,608 – 20 1,103

restructuring and provisions not recognized for tax purposes 3,283 1,790 – 1,493 – 477

interest and tax loss carryforwards 32,713 22,676 – 10,037 – 6,041

total deferred tax assets before write-downs 59,164 41,068   

Write-downs – 13,735 – 19,081 – 5,346 816

total deferred tax assets 45,429 21,987   

Netting – 35,785 – 14,078   

net deferred tax assets 9,644 7,909   

deferred tax liabilities

Accounting for intangible assets – 3,002 – 831 2,171 274

Capitalized development costs – 2,947 – 3,221 – 274 227

tax-deductible impairment of goodwill – 13,985 – 12,766 1,219 1,852

revaluation of land and buildings – 10,992 – 10,573 419 – 1,465

Measurement of shares in subsidiaries – 3,607 – 3,607 – 2,630

Long-term customer-specific construction contracts – 26,460 – 5,151 21,309 2,907

Amortization of costs related to bond and syndicated loan – 1,713 – 1,542 171 – 227

total deferred tax liabilities – 62,706 – 34,084   

Netting 35,785 14,078   

net deferred tax liabilities – 26,921 – 20,006   

Currency effects reported in equity   236 73

deferred tax expense � income (–)   4,044 – 5,753

The currency effects of € 236 thousand (prior period: € 73 thousand) account for the clerical differences 

compared to deferred taxes recorded in the statement of income.

In the 2011 reporting period, deferred taxes of € 1,372 thousand were recognized directly in other com­

prehensive income (prior period: € 379 thousand). 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are netted if, and only if, the entity has a legally enforce­

able right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabili­

ties relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on the same taxable entity. 

The income taxes and withholding taxes on distributable profits from subsidiaries are reported under  

deferred tax liabilities if it can be assumed that these profits will be subject to the corresponding taxation, 

or if there is a plan not to reinvest these profits for the long­term. No deferred tax liabilities were recog­

nized on the accumulated profits of subsidiaries of € 51,540 thousand (prior period: € 68,541 thousand) 

as it is intended to reinvest these profits for an indefinite period.
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NOtes tO the CONsOLiDAteD stAteMeNt Of fiNANCiAL pOsitiON: Assets

Details regarding the changes in the Group’s intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are 

presented in the statement of changes in non­current assets in note 43. 

The item franchises, industrial rights and similar rights includes capitalized transaction costs of € 3,684 

thousand (prior period: € 2,178 thousand) from the financing of the Group. These are amortized over the 

term of the respective loan agreements using the straight­line method.

There were no indications on the reporting date that the brand name Agramkow, which has an indefinite 

term and is recognized under intangible assets at € 1,658 thousand, is impaired. Dürr intends to continue 

using this brand name in future.

Prepayments relate exclusively to franchises, industrial rights and similar rights, transaction costs as well 

as property, plant and equipment. Property, plant and equipment are recognized as assets under con­

struction if costs for own or third­party work have already been incurred for their manufacture but they 

have not been completed by the end of the reporting period.

Amortization and depreciation is shown in the statement of income under the following functional costs:

� �  amortization and depreciation  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.24

2011 2010

€ k
Intangible 

assets

Property,  
plant and 

equipment 

Total amor-
tization and 
depreciation 

intangible 
assets

property,  
plant and 

equipment 

total amor-
tization and 

depreciation 

Cost of sales – 4,480 – 7,141 – 11,621 – 1,061 – 6,894 – 7,955

selling expenses – 176 – 811 – 987 – 159 – 548 – 707

General administrative expenses – 965 – 2,467 – 3,432 – 3,234 – 2,880 – 6,114

research and development costs – 4,125 – 484 – 4,609 – 3,701 – 574 – 4,275

Other operating expenses – – 32 – 32 – 2 – 40 – 42

interest and similar expenses – 1,832 – – 1,832 – 3,922 – – 3,922

 – 11,578 – 10,935 – 22,513 – 12,079 – 10,936 – 23,015

Impairment losses and reversals of impairment losses are shown in the statement of income under the 

following functional costs: 

� �  impairment losses � reversals  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.25

2011 2010

€ k
Intangible 

assets

Property,  
plant and 

equipment 

Total impair-
ment losses / 

reversals 
intangible 

assets

property,  
plant and 

equipment

total impair-
ment losses / 

reversals

Cost of sales – 71 71 – 1,191 1,191

selling expenses – – – – – – 

General administrative expenses – – 5 – 5 – – 21 – 21

research and development costs – – – – – 89 – 89

Other operating expenses – – – – – – 

interest and similar expenses – 981 – – 981   – – – 

 – 981 66 – 915 – 1,081 1,081

19.  intangible assets  
and property, plant 
and equipment
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In the 2011 reporting period, impairment losses of € 986 thousand (prior period: € 126 thousand) and 

reversals of impairment losses of € 71 thousand (prior period: € 1,207 thousand) were recorded.

The impairment losses to write assets down to fair value related to various items of property, plant and 

equipment in Japan. The fair value is determined on the basis of the value in use and at the level of  

the cash­generating unit. In addition, transactions costs related to the syndicated loan from 2008 were 

recorded as an impairment loss as the syndicated loan was redeemed prematurely. 

In the 2011 reporting period, an impairment loss of € 71 thousand was reversed on a building in Poland. 

The reversals in the prior period related to a write­up of € 1,186 thousand on a property of Dürr Ecoclean 

S.A.S., Loué, France, to record it at fair value, and a reversal of € 21 thousand on property, plant and 

equipment in Poland.

The goodwill acquired from business combinations was allocated to the cash­generating units for impair­

ment testing. Dürr has identified the business units within its divisions as cash­generating units. The calcu­

lation model is used in exactly the same way for all cash­generating units as the main parameters apply 

equally to all business units. 

The recoverable amount of the cash­generating units is determined based on the value in use. The value  

in use of each of the business units exceeded the net assets assigned to it. The calculation is based on 

cash flow forecasts for a planning period of four years. In the reporting period, the pre­tax discount 

rate for the cash flow forecast ranged from 10.16 % to 10.33 % (prior period: 10.61 % to 10.90 %). Cash 

flows after the four­year period are extrapolated using a growth rate of 1.5 % (prior period: 1.5 %) based 

on the long­term growth rate of the business units. 

The planned gross profit margins are determined in the bottom­up planning of the Group’s entities and 

business units. They are based on the figures determined in the previous reporting period taking antici­

pated price and cost developments as well as efficiency increases into account.

The cost of capital is the weighted average cost of debt and equity before taxes. When calculating the cost 

of equity, a beta factor is taken into account, which is derived from capital market data and the capital 

structure of Dürr’s benchmark companies. Cost of debt is based on a base interest rate for government 

bonds and a markup derived from the credit rating of benchmark companies.

The increase in the price of upstream products and raw materials purchased by Dürr is derived from the 

expected increase in the prices of those commodities needed to manufacture the goods or materials. 

These, in turn, are determined from the forecast price indices of the countries from which the raw mate­

rials are procured by the respective group entities.

In the four­year plan, the German subsidiaries have assumed annual average salary increases of 2.9 % p.a. 

(prior period: 2.5 % p.a.) from 2012 onwards. The foreign subsidiaries have all used the applicable local 

rate of increase for the respective planning period.

Independent of the current economic state of the automobile industry and the expectations for the future, 

Dürr conducted sensitivity analyses of the recoverability of the goodwill carried in its business divisions. 

The impact of the following scenarios was calculated:

■■ A fall of 10% in EBIT in all years within the planning horizon beginning in 2012 (in comparison to the 

figures projected in the business plans)
■■ Increase of 0.5 percentage points in the discount rate 
■■ A fall of 1.0% in the growth rate

The sensitivity analyses revealed that, from today’s perspective, no impairment loss needed to be recog­

nized on goodwill in any of the business units even under these assumptions. 

impairment test for 
goodwill

planned gross profit 
margins 

cost of capital  
(discount rate)

increase in the price  
of raw materials

increase in payroll costs

sensitivity analysis of 
goodwill
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The table below shows the development of goodwill, broken down by division and business unit. To allow 

comparison to the prior period, goodwill carried by the Environmental and Energy Systems and Applica­

tion Technology business units were presented as though the Clean Technology Systems and Application 

Technology divisions were already independent segments on January 1, 2010.

� �  development of goodwill  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.26

€ k

Carrying 
amount as 

of Jan. 1, 
2010

exchange 
difference

Changes in 
the consoli-
dated group Additions Disposals

Carrying 
amount as 
of Dec. 31, 

2010
exchange 
difference Additions

Carrying 
amount as 
of Dec. 31, 

2011

paint and final Assembly 

systems 88,483 1,333 – – – 89,816 134 – 89,950

Aircraft and technology 

systems 7,563 – – – – 7,563 – – 7,563

paint and assembly systems 96,046 1,333 – – – 97,379 134 – 97,513

Application technology 57,356 420 – 4,973 – 62,749 – 23 – 62,726

application technology 57,356 420 – 4,973 – 62,749 – 23 – 62,726

Balancing and Assembly 

products 98,227 629  – – – 242 98,614 243 1,859 100,716

Cleaning and filtration 

systems 14,573 1,311 1,625 – – 17,509 420 – 17,929

measuring and process 

systems 112,800 1,940 1,625 – – 242 116,123 663 1,859 118,645

environmental and energy 

systems 5,062 389 – – – 5,451 147 – 5,598

clean technology systems 5,062 389 – – – 5,451 147 – 5,598

dürr group 271,264 4,082 1,625 4,973 – 242 281,702 921 1,859 284,482

Changes in goodwill from changes in the consolidated group and additions to it are explained below.

2011 reporting period

Agramkow Fluid Systems A /S: On May 24, 2011, Dürr acquired 55 % of the shares in Agramkow Fluid 

Systems A /S, based in Sønderborg, Denmark. The acquisition of Agramkow Fluid Systems A /S and its 

subsidiaries has given Dürr access to new customers in the filling technology industry. Agramkow is  

the global leader in plant and equipment for filling household appliances and heat pumps with coolant.

Purchase accounting for Agramkow Fluid Systems A /S and its subsidiaries was performed in accordance 

with IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” using the purchased goodwill method. The profit or loss of the ac­

quired entities were included in the consolidated financial statements as of the date of first­time consolida­

tion. 

The purchase price for Agramkow Fluid Systems A /S and its subsidiaries amounted to € 8,186 thousand 

of which € 7,170 thousand was settled in cash with a financial liability of € 1,016 thousand being recorded 

for the outstanding purchase price installment. The acquisition­related costs of the entities acquired 

 totaled € 214 thousand. Of this amount, € 118 thousand was expensed in the 2011 reporting period and 

€ 96 thou sand in the 2010 reporting period.

acquisitions 
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The net assets and goodwill acquired in the business combination with  Agramkow Fluid Systems A /S 

and its subsidiaries as of May 24, 2011, is presented below:

 � �  goodwill from tHe acquisition of agramkow in 2011  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.27

€ k   

total purchase price for the acquisition 8,186

less assets attributable to former shareholders – 1,016

purchase price  7,170

fair value of net assets 10,673

of which attributable to former shareholders – 1,016

fair value of net assets less assets attributable to former shareholders 9,657 

fair value of net assets less assets attributable to former shareholders – 9,657

Non-controlling interest measured at fair value 4,346

share in fair value of net assets attributable to dürr  – 5,311

goodwill  1,859

Goodwill amounting to € 1,859 thousand reflects the technology and cost and sales synergies in filling 

technology and the positive earnings prospects of the Agramkow entities. It has been allocated to the 

Balancing and Assembly Products business unit and is not tax deductible. 

The total purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as follows:

 � �  purcHase price allocation for tHe agramkow acquisition in 2011  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.28

€ k

Carrying 
amount before 

acquisition Adjustment

Carrying 
amount after 

acquisition

intangible assets 934 10,118 11,052

property, plant and equipment 479 – 36 443

inventories and prepayments 4,363 44 4,407

receivables and other assets 2,816 1,662 4,478

Cash and cash equivalents 3,575 – 3,221 354

Non-current liabilities – 71 – – 71

Deferred tax liabilities – – 2,753 – 2,753

Current liabilities – 10,014 2,777 – 7,237

net assets 2,082 8,591 10,673

The carrying amounts after acquisition correspond to fair value as of the date of first­time consolidation. 

The gross contractual value of the acquired receivables and other assets approximates their fair value. 

The adjustments mainly relate to intangible assets, where technological know­how and customer rela­

tionships and the Agramkow brand name were recognized in the course of the purchase price allocation. 

Trade receivables and payables were adjusted on account of the transition made to carrying amounts  

determined using the percentage of completion method under IAS 11 “Construction Contracts”. The cash 

and cash equivalents allocated to the former shareholders of Agramkow Fluid Systems A /S was reclassi­

fied. No contingent liabilities were recognized in the purchase accounting. 
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The useful lives of the intangible assets acquired break down as follows:

 � �   useful lives of tHe intangible assets acquired in tHe 

business combination witH agramkow in 2011  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.29

 
fair value  

(€ k)
Useful life  

(years)

technological know-how 1,411 8

Customer relationships 7,049 8

Brand name 1,658 indefinite

 10,118  

The intangible assets acquired in the business combination were measured using the income approach. 

The fair value of technological know­how and the brand name were measured using the relief from royal­

ty method and the fair value of customer relationships was measured using the multi­period excess earn­

ings method. The other assets and liabilities were measured in accordance with the accounting policies 

explained in note 6.

In the course of the business combination a put option held by the non­controlling interests was recorded 

as a financial liability. The contra­account for establishing the liability was revenue reserves which were 

offset by € 4,346 thousand against non­controlling interests in equity. The option will be measured at fair 

value in subsequent periods. The changes in fair value will be recorded directly in equity.

The earnings contributed by Agramkow Fluid Systems A /S and its subsidiaries until December 31, 

2011, are summarized as follows: 

 � �   earnings contributed by tHe agramkow group since tHe date 

of first-time consolidation  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.30

€ k  

sales revenues 18,213

earnings before investment income, interest and taxes 2,800

earnings before income taxes 2,728

profit 2,049

If Agramkow Fluid Systems A /S and its subsidiaries had been included in the consolidated group as of 

January 1, 2011, group sales revenues for the 2011 reporting period would have amounted to € 1,929,293 

thousand and the Group’s profit for the period would have been € 64,663 thousand.

A comparison of the statement of financial position and the statement of income was not performed as  

the change in the consolidated group is not material. As of December 31, 2011, the share in total assets 

accounted for by Agramkow Fluid Systems A /S, Agramkow Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd. and Agramkow do  

Brasil Ltda., which were consolidated for the first time, came to just 1.1 % and the share in sales revenues 

to just 0.9 %.

2010 reporting period

UCM AG: UCM AG, Rheineck, Switzerland, was consolidated for the first time as of January 1, 2010. Dürr 

purchased all of the shares in the company under a share purchase agreement dated December 9, 2009. 

UCM AG specializes in equipment for the precision cleaning of workpieces. This enables Dürr to supplement 

its portfolio in a segment that serves growth industries such as medical equipment and precision optics. 
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Purchase accounting for UCM AG was performed in accordance with IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”. The 

profit or loss of the acquired entity was included in the consolidated financial statements as of the date of 

first­time consolidation. 

The purchase price for UCM AG of € 4,156 thousand breaks down into a basic price of € 2,240 thousand 

that was settled in cash and two basic installments depending on EBITDA in the 2010 and 2011 reporting 

periods. The two basic installments increase or decrease in relation to the deviation in forecast EBITDA 

from EBITDA pursuant to the financial statements. Aggregate changes in the two basic installments may 

not exceed € 672 thousand (cap). The highest purchase price amounts to € 4,635 thousand, the lowest 

purchase price to € 3,291 thousand. If the actual aggregate EBITDA for the 2010 and 2011 reporting periods 

totals at least € 1,441 thousand, the second basic installment will be increased by an additional € 269 thou­

sand. A liability of € 1,916 thousand was recognized as of the purchase date for the contingent portion of 

the purchase price on the basis of the current planning. Goodwill amounting to € 1,625 thousand reflects 

the technology and cost synergies between the precision cleaning technology and the positive earnings 

prospects of UCM AG. 

Kleinmichel: As of January 25, 2010, assets were acquired from the liquidation assets of Klaus Kleinmichel 

GmbH, Bernried, Germany, under an asset deal. Kleinmichel specializes in adhesive dispensing techno­ 

logy for the final assembly work in the automobile industry and for general industrial applications. Pur­

chase accounting for the assets acquired was performed accordance with IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”. 

The purchase price of the assets amounted to € 2,500 thousand and was settled in cash. The goodwill of 

€ 1,603 thousand reflects technology and cost synergies in adhesive dispensing technology. 

Klaus Kleinmichel GmbH did not generate any sales revenues in 2010 prior to its insolvency in January. 

As the assets acquired are fully merged in the financial statements of the acquiring entity, Dürr Systems 

GmbH, Stuttgart, Germany, it is impossible to disclose separately the earnings and sales revenues since 

the acqui sition date.

Helmuth Rickert GmbH: Under a share purchase agreement signed on May 27, 2010, Dürr acquired all the 

shares in Helmuth Rickert GmbH, Wolfsburg, Germany, as of July 30, 2010. Prior to execution of the share 

purchase agreement, its subsidiary I.N.T.­Rickert GmbH, likewise with registered offices in Wolfsburg, 

was merged into Helmuth Rickert GmbH. In Germany, Rickert is one of the leading providers of products 

for adhesive dispensing for bodywork parts. Through the acquisition of Rickert, Dürr has expanded its 

 activities in the field of adhesive dispensing technology. 

Purchase accounting for Helmuth Rickert GmbH (renamed Dürr Systems Wolfsburg GmbH following exe­

cution of the share purchase agreement) was performed in accordance with IFRS 3 “Business Combina­

tions”. The profit or loss of the acquired entity was included in the consolidated financial statements as of 

the date of first­time consolidation. 

The purchase price for Helmuth Rickert GmbH breaks down into a basic price of € 5,400 thousand that 

was settled in cash and a portion dependent upon the average EBIT reported in the 2010 to 2014 report­

ing periods. The earnings­related portion of the purchase price is capped at € 1,200 thousand. This means 

that the highest purchase price amounts to € 6,600 thousand, the lowest purchase price to € 5,400 thou­

sand. As of the acquisition date, a liability of € 0 thousand was recognized for the contingent portion of 

the purchase price, because as of the acquisition date the budgeted EBIT for the 2011 to 2014 reporting 

periods was not able to offset the net loss for the year 2010 under German commercial law. Goodwill 

amounting to € 3,370 thousand reflects the technology and cost synergies in the adhesive dispensing 

technology and the positive earnings prospects of Helmuth Rickert GmbH. 

The acquisition­related costs of the entities acquired totaled € 263 thousand. Of this amount, € 208 thou­

sand was recorded as expense in the 2010 reporting period and € 55 thousand in the 2009 reporting period.
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The contribution of UCM AG and Dürr Systems Wolfsburg GmbH (formerly: Helmuth Rickert GmbH) to 

earnings after taxes from the date of first­time consolidation to December 31, 2010, totals € 610 thousand; 

the sales revenues with external parties included in that period amount to € 6,269 thousand.

If Dürr Systems Wolfsburg GmbH (formerly: Helmuth Rickert GmbH) had been included in the consolidat­

ed group as of January 1, 2010, group sales revenues for the 2010 reporting period would have amounted 

to € 1,265,632 thousand and the Group’s profit for the period would have been € 5,624 thousand.

The acquired net assets and goodwill from the UCM AG, Helmuth Rickert GmbH, and Kleinmichel acquisi­

tions break down as follows:

 � �  goodwill from acquisitions in 2010  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.31

€ k  

purchase price for the acquisitions 12,056

fair value of net assets – 5,458

goodwill 6,598

The total purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as follows:

 � �  purcHase price allocation from acquisitions in 2010  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.32

€ k

Carrying 
amount before  

acquisition Adjustment

Carrying 
amount after  

acquisition

intangible assets 8 2,997 3,005

property, plant and equipment 2,420 – 55 2,365

Deferred tax assets – 234 234

inventories 1,460 – 425 1,035

receivables and other assets 4,389 – 518 3,871

Cash and cash equivalents 1,119 – 1 1,118

Non-current liabilities – 869 – 166 – 1,035

Deferred tax liabilities – 255 – 615 – 870

Current liabilities – 4,976 711 – 4,265

net assets 3,296 2,162 5,458

The carrying amounts after acquisition correspond to fair value as of the date of first­time consolidation. 

The gross contractual value of the acquired receivables and other assets approximates their fair value. 

The adjustments mainly relate to intangible assets, where technological know­how and customer relation­

ships were recognized in the course of the purchase price allocation. A developed property belonging  

to Helmuth Rickert GmbH and a building on third­party land as well as a building owned by UCM AG were 

measured at fair value. Trade receivables and payables were adjusted on account of the transition made  

to carrying amounts determined using the percentage of completion method under IAS 11 “Construction 

Contracts”. In addition, a write­down was recorded on the inventories acquired. No contingent liabilities 

were recognized upon first­time consolidation.
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The useful lives of the intangible assets acquired break down as follows:

 � �   useful life of intangible assets acquired in business combinations in 2010  � � � � � �  3.33

 
fair value  

(€ k)
Useful life  

(years)

technological know-how 1,557 8

Customer relationships 1,440 10

 2,997  

The goodwill is allocated to the Cleaning and Filtration Systems and Application Technology business 

units; € 1,603 thousand of this amount is tax deductible. 

On November 30, 2011, Dürr acquired the general partner share in Dürr GmbH & Co. Campus KG, a limited 

partnership which leases property to group entities at the Bietigheim­Bissingen location. Due to the fact 

that the entity does not pursue any active operations of its own, the acquisition does not qualify as a busi­

ness combination under the terms of IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”. As a result, Dürr acquired the land 

and buildings and the associated liabilities. The acquisition costs of the land and the buildings completed 

in 2009 amounted to € 51,353 thousand. At the same time, Dürr acquired liabilities to banks of € 46,572 thou­

sand. The buildings were previously leased under an operating lease.

A building in the United Kingdom and a building in Germany were capitalized in the reporting period as 

they were leased under finance leases. Dürr does not have legal title to these buildings. The depreciation 

recorded on these buildings is included in the depreciation of property, plant and equipment.

In the 2010 reporting period, the finance lease for a building in Germany was terminated early and the 

building was acquired by Schenck Technologie­ und Industriepark GmbH. The building is accounted for 

as investment property. 

Likewise in the 2010 reporting period, a hot water distribution grid for heating the technology and indus­

trial estate at the Darmstadt location was recognized in land and buildings as it was acquired under a  

finance lease. The term of the finance lease ends on December 31, 2020. When the contract ends, the heat­

ing water distribution grid including all installed components and equipment will become the property 

of Schenck Technologie­ und Industriepark GmbH.

The table below shows cost and accumulated depreciation and impairment losses for these properties 

which are reported as finance leases under property, plant and equipment.

 � �  properties recognized as finance lease assets  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.34

€ k Dec. 31, 2011 Dec. 31, 2010

historical cost 5,300 5,108

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses – 2,195 – 1,809

net carrying amount 3,105 3,299

For the syndicated loan, the total mortgages of selected Dürr entities recorded in the land register  

were provided as collateral. The carrying amount of the assets came to € 63,956 thousand as of Decem­

ber 31, 2011 (prior period: € 65,228 thousand).

land and buildings



173management and StOCK � �  teChnOlOgY matteRS � �  management RePORt � �   consolidated financial statements � �  OtheR
nOteS

Dürr distinguishes between property that is largely owner­occupied and property that is let to third 

parties. A property is considered to be largely used by third parties if more than 90 % of it is let to third 

parties. Dürr uses the cost method to measure such investment property. The properties concerned are  

a group of buildings as well as part of the infrastructure area of Schenck Technologie­ und Industriepark 

GmbH in Darmstadt, Germany. In the 2011 reporting period, these properties generated rental income of 

€ 3,070 thou sand (prior period: € 2,628 thousand). The future rental income based on the existing agree­

ments breaks down as follows:

 � �  future rental income  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.35

€ k Dec. 31, 2011 Dec. 31, 2010

Less than one year 2,851 2,511

Between one and five years 3,557 1,980

More than five years 1,141 37

 7,549 4,528

Directly attributable expenditure amounted to € 1,764 thousand (prior period: € 1,481 thousand). Of this 

amount, € 94 thousand (prior period: € 105 thousand) is attributable to vacant property.

Buildings are depreciated using the straight­line method of depreciation over their useful life ranging  

between 20 and 50 years. 

In the 2011 reporting period, the composition of these properties changed slightly on account of changes 

to own and third­party use. The fair value comes to some € 26,800 thousand as of December 31, 2011, 

taking into account additions due to subsequent expenditure (prior period: € 25,880 thousand). An inter­

nal calculation prepared on annual basis is used to determine the fair value of the investment properties;  

no valuer was consulted in determining the values. Fair value is calculated using capitalized income from 

the cash­generating unit based on market rents adjusted by risk mark­downs customary for the region.  

A vacancy rate of 15 % (prior period: 15 %) and a property yield of 7.5 % (prior period: 7.5 %) was used 

in the calculation. The accumulated cost of land and buildings came to € 39,160 thousand as of January 1, 

2011, and € 39,832 thousand as of December 31, 2011. The accumulated depreciation including all impair­

ment losses and reversals of impairment losses increased from € 16,026 thousand as of January 1, 2011, to 

€ 17,499 thousand as of December 31, 2011. 

The table below presents a reconciliation of the development of the carrying amount of the investment 

property belonging to the Measuring and Process Systems division from the beginning to the end of the 

reporting period. 

 � �  investment property  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.36

€ k 2011 2010

as of January 1 23,134 20,475

Additions of buildings from change in use 1,359 2,724

Additions from subsequent expenditure 155 1,240

Disposals from change in use – 757 – 822

Disposal from acquisition costs – 85 – 156

reclassifications – 35

Depreciation – 839 – 768

Change in depreciation from change in use – 696 274

Disposals from accumulated depreciation and impairment losses 62 132

as of december 31 22,333 23,134

investment property
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Due to the acquisition of 50 % of the shares in Cyplan Ltd., investments in entities accounted for using 

the equity method rose by € 3,542 thousand. By contrast, the acquisition of the general partner’s share in 

Dürr GmbH & Co. Campus KG by Dürr led to a fall of € 333 thousand in this item.

The acquisition of a 10 % investment in Parker Engineering Co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan, increased other 

 financial assets by € 1,956 thousand. 

 � �  associates  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.37

€ k 2011 2010

total assets 46,226 87,173

Non-current assets 5,556 52,240

Current assets 40,670 34,933

Non-current liabilities 10,956 25,321

Current liabilities 7,893 37,054

sales revenues 34,419 29,102

profit for the period 2,408 2,175

The end of the reporting period of one associate is September 30; it is included using the equity method 

on the basis of the figures contained in the financial statements from that date. Significant effects that 

occurred between that date and December 31 are considered.

 � �  Joint ventures (sHare in profit)  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.38

€ k 2011 2010

total assets 29 33

Current assets 29 33

Current liabilities 4 9

sales revenues – 488

profit for the period – – 334

The share of profit from joint ventures accounted for using the equity method amounted to € 0 thousand 

(prior period: € 491 thousand) and losses totaled € 0 thousand (prior period: € 824 thousand). Contingent 

liabilities for joint ventures break down as follows:

 � �  contingent liabilities for Joint ventures  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.39

€ k 2011 2010

Guarantees for joint ventures 314 3,069

Assumption of joint and several liability by the venturer – – 1,705

as of december 31 314 1,364

For additional information about the consolidated entities, please refer to notes 3 and 4.

20.  investments in entities 
accounted for using  
the equity method and 
other financial assets
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 � �  inventories and prepayments  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.40

€ k Dec. 31, 2011 Dec. 31, 2010

Materials and supplies 79,663 48,381

 less write-downs – 8,711 – 7,655

Work in process from small series production 24,023 12,645

 less write-downs – 904 – 792

finished goods 7,685 7,575

 less write-downs – 652 – 1,072

prepayments 23,367 14,679

 124,471 73,761

Materials and supplies of € 71,764 thousand (prior period: € 45,046 thousand) were measured at average 

cost and € 7,899 thousand (prior period: € 3,335 thousand) using the FIFO method (first in, first out). On 

aggregate, write­downs increased to € 10,267 thousand (prior period: € 9,519 thousand) after taking into 

account exchange differences and consumption. The additions to write­downs in the reporting period of 

€ 5,503 thousand (prior period: € 5,745 thousand) were recognized in profit or loss.

22.  trade receivables

� �  trade receivables  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.41

deC. 31, 2011 deC. 31, 2010

€ k Total Current Non-current total Current Non-current

Cost and estimated earnings in excess of billings 297,567 297,567 – 209,269 209,269 – 

trade receivables due from third parties 327,822 327,631 191 183,492 182,171 1,321

trade receivables due from entities accounted for  

using the equity method 446 446 – 510 510 – 

 625,835 625,644 191 393,271 391,950 1,321

The table below shows an ageing analysis of the recognized trade receivables that are not impaired:

� �  ageing analysis of trade receivables  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.42

COStS and eStimated eaRningS  
in exCeSS Of billingS

tRade ReCeivableS due fROm 
thiRd PaRtieS

tRade ReCeivableS due fROm  
entitieS aCCOunted fOR uSing 

the equitY methOd

€ k Dec. 31, 2011 Dec. 31, 2010 Dec. 31, 2011 Dec. 31, 2010 Dec. 31, 2011 Dec. 31, 2010

Neither past due nor impaired at the end of the 

reporting period 297,567 209,269 252,233 139,873 446 510

not impaired at the end of the reporting period,  

but past due by

 less than 3 months – – 44,039 26,472 – – 

 between 3 and 6 months – – 16,730 5,959 – – 

 between 6 and 9 months – – 3,633 1,851 – – 

 between 9 and 12 months – – 4,501 1,066 – – 

 more than 12 months – – 5,352 4,829 – – 

total – – 74,255 40,177 – – 

Net receivables on which specific bad debt allowances 

have been recognized – – 1,334 3,442 – – 

net carrying amount 297,567 209,269 327,822 183,492 446 510

21.  inventories and 
prepayments



176 consolidated financial statements � �  nOteS

With respect to the trade receivables that were neither impaired nor past due, there was no indication at 

the end of the reporting period that the debtors would not meet their payment obligations.

Bad debt allowances on trade receivables due from third parties and due from entities accounted for using 

the equity method developed as follows:

 � �  cHanges in bad debt allowances  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.43

€ k 2011 2010

as of January 1 8,747 7,720

exchange difference 61 162

Utilization – 1,524 – 916

Unused amounts reversed – 1,524 – 1,118

increases (impairment charge) 1,443 2,899

as of december 31 7,203 8,747

Receivables of € 1,621 thousand (prior period: € 1,013 thousand) were derecognized in the 2011 report­

ing period; € 1,524 thousand (prior period: € 916 thousand) thereof had already been written down in the 

prior period. The remaining € 97 thousand (prior period: € 97 thousand) was derecognized through profit 

or loss in the 2011 reporting period.

� �   composition of costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings and  

billings in excess of costs on uncompleted contracts  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.44

deC. 31, 2011 deC. 31, 2010

€ k Total Current Non-current total Current Non-current

assets       

Costs and estimated earnings 936,769 936,769 – 700,936 700,936 – 

Less billings 639,202 639,202 – 491,667 491,667 – 

costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings 297,567 297,567 – 209,269 209,269 – 

liabilities

Costs and estimated earnings 1,221,887 1,221,887 – 552,547 552,547 – 

Less billings 1,650,102 1,645,407 4,695 813,320 813,320 – 

billings in excess of costs on uncompleted contracts 428,215 423,520 4,695 260,773 260,773 – 

total

Costs and estimated earnings 2,158,656 2,158,656 – 1,253,483 1,253,483 – 

Less billings 2,289,304 2,284,609 4,695 1,304,987 1,304,987 – 

billings in excess of costs on uncompleted contracts 130,648 125,953 4,695 51,504 51,504 – 

These amounts are offset on a contract basis and are included in either cost and estimated earnings in 

excess of billings (assets) or billings in excess of cost and estimated earnings (liabilities). Please also refer 

to note 30.
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23.  sundry financial assets

� �  sundry financial assets  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.45

deC. 31, 2011 deC. 31, 2010

€ k Total Current Non-current total Current Non-current

Derivative financial assets 1,679 1,526 153 2,061 1,985 76

rent deposits and other collateral provided 4,564 1,663 2,901 3,974 1,561 2,413

time deposits 35,950 35,950 – – – – 

remaining sundry financial assets 11,324 11,035 289 8,591 8,125 466

 53,517 50,174 3,343 14,626 11,671 2,955

Remaining sundry financial assets include balances at suppliers of € 1,303 thousand (prior period: 

€ 1,176 thousand) and receivables from employees totaling € 1,860 thousand (prior period: € 1,770 thou­

sand).

For the disclosures required by IFRS 7, please refer to note 34.

Of the gross amount of sundry financial assets of € 53,651 thousand (prior period: € 14,758 thousand), 

€ 53,517 thousand (prior period: € 14,626 thousand) was neither past due nor impaired on the report­

ing date. For these assets there is no indication that the debtors will not be able to meet their payment obli­

gations. Impairments of sundry financial assets developed as follows:

 � �  movements in tHe provisions for impairment of sundry financial assets  � � � � � � � �  3.46

€ k 2011 2010

as of January 1 132 393

exchange difference 2 5

Utilization – – 266

as of december 31 134 132

24. other assets

� �  otHer assets  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  3.47

deC. 31, 2011 deC. 31, 2010

€ k Total Current Non-current total Current Non-current

Other assets 22,459 22,244 215 15,684 15,581 103

 22,459 22,244 215 15,684 15,581 103

Other assets mainly contain tax assets which do not relate to income taxes of € 20,719 thousand (prior 

period: € 15,143 thousand). Likewise, this item includes transaction costs of € 632 thousand associated 

with loans from the European Investment Bank (prior period: € 0 thousand). 
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Notes to the coNsolidated statemeNt of fiNaNcial positioN: equity aNd liabilities

25. Equity attributable to shareholders of Dürr Aktiengesellschaft

As of December 31, 2011, the capital stock of Dürr AG came to € 44,289 thousand (prior period: € 44,289 thou-

sand) and was made up of 17,300,520 shares (prior period: 17,300,520 shares). Each share represents 

€ 2.56 of the subscribed capital and is made out to the bearer. The shares issued were fully paid in at the 

end of the reporting period.

Authorization of the Board of Management to acquire and sell treasury shares

The annual general meeting on April 30, 2010, authorized the Board of Management to purchase no-par 

value bearer shares of Dürr AG once or several times until April 29, 2015. The purchases, whether for one 

or more purposes, may be transacted through the stock exchange or through a public tender addressed 

to all shareholders. The number of shares purchased in this way may not at any time exceed 10 % of the 

capital stock. The authorization may not be used for the purpose of trading with treasury shares. In the 

event of the shares being purchased through the stock exchange, the consideration for the purchase of the 

shares may not deviate more than 5 % from the stock exchange price. In the event of a public tender ad-

dressed to all shareholders, the purchase price may be up to 20 % above the stock exchange price but may 

not be lower than the stock exchange price.

The annual general meeting on April 30, 2010, additionally authorized the Board of Management to sell, 

subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, the shares purchased on the basis of the above or an 

earlier authorization through the stock exchange or a public tender addressed to all shareholders. In 

specified cases, the shares may be sold in a different manner, thus excluding the subscription right of 

the shareholders. Finally, the Board of Management is authorized, with the approval of the Supervisory 

Board, to withdraw all or part of the shares purchased without a capital decrease with no further resolution 

of the annual general meeting being necessary.

The annual general meeting on April 30, 2009, authorized the Board of Management, subject to the ap-

proval of the Supervisory Board, to increase the capital stock once or several times in the period up to 

April 30, 2014, by up to € 22,145 thousand by issuing up to 8,650,260 no-par value shares made out to the 

bearer (authorized capital). 

The annual general meeting on April 30, 2010, authorized the Board of Management, subject to the ap-

proval of the Supervisory Board, to issue once or several times until April 29, 2015, convertible bonds, 

warrant-linked bonds, participation rights or income bonds or combinations of these instruments with  

or without fixed maturity with a total nominal value of up to € 221,447 thousand. For this purpose, the 

capital stock capital has been conditionally increased by a maximum of € 22,145 thousand by issue of 

up to 8,650,260 new no-par value bearer shares in the form of common stock (conditional capital).

The capital reserve includes share premiums and was unchanged as of December 31, 2011, compared 

to the end of the prior period at € 200,186 thousand. The capital reserve is subject to the restrictions on 

disposal of Sec. 150 AktG [“Aktiengesetz”: German Stock Corporations Act].

Revenue reserves contain the profits generated in the past by the entities included in the consolidated 

financial statements that have not been distributed. They totaled € 146,003 thousand as of December 31, 

2011 (prior period: € 97,533 thousand). The change is chiefly owing to the addition of the net profit for 

the year, the recognition and measurement of options allocable to non-controlling interests and the dis-

tribution of the dividend for the 2010 reporting period. In accordance with Sec. 268 No. 8 HGB, an amount 

of € 895 thousand (prior period: € 1,047 thousand) of the revenue reserves is subject to restrictions on 

distribution because assets were recognized at fair value in the separate financial statements of Dürr AG 

prepared in accordance with the BilMoG [“Bilanzrechtsmodernisierungsgesetz”: German Accounting 

Law Modernization Act]. 

   Subscribed capital  
(Dürr AG)

   Authorized capital 
(Dürr AG)

   Conditional capital 
(Dürr AG)

   Capital reserve  
(Dürr AG)

   Revenue reserves
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In accordance with the AktG, the distributable dividend is measured based on net retained profit as report-

ed by Dürr AG in its separate financial statements prepared in accordance with the provisions of the 

HGB. In the 2011 reporting period, Dürr AG distributed a dividend to its shareholders of € 0.30 per share 

(prior period: € 0.00) from the net retained profit recorded in 2010, making for a total distribution of 

€ 5,190 thousand (prior period: € 0 thousand). On account of the results of operations in the 2011 report-

ing period, the Board of Management of Dürr AG will propose to the Supervisory Board that a dividend  

of € 1.20 per share be distributed. 

The table below presents the development of other comprehensive income and the associated tax effects 

from components of other comprehensive income, taking into account the changes in the item “Non-con-

trolling interests”.

/ /  OthER COMpREhEnSivE inCOME  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.48

2011 2010

€ k Before taxes Tax effect Net before taxes tax effect Net

Net gains / losses (–) from derivatives used to hedge 

cash flows – 4,612 1,362 – 3,250 – 253 58 – 195

Gains / losses from changes in the fair value of  

available-for-sale securities 11 – 11 – – – 

Reclassifications from foreign currency translation 

through profit or loss 451 – 451 – 140 – – 140

difference arising from foreign currency translation 1,791 – 1,791 12,457 – 12,457

difference arising from foreign currency translation  

of entities accounted for using the equity method 989 – 989 2,037 – 2,037

change in net actuarial gains and losses from   

defined benefit plans and similar obligations – 2,741 10 – 2,731 – 1,497 321 – 1,176

Change in other comprehensive income – 4,111 1,372 – 2,739 12,604 379 12,983

The increase in currency-related components of other comprehensive income is essentially attributable 

to the fluctuation of the euro against the US dollar, the Chinese renminbi, the Indian rupee, the Brazilian 

real and the Japanese yen.

The primary objective of capital management is to support business operations, ensure a healthy capital 

ratio and increase business value.

Dürr monitors its capital on a monthly basis using a gearing ratio which reflects the ratio of net debt to 

equity and is defined internally as the ratio of equity to equity less the net financial status. Pursuant to the 

Group’s internal policy, the ratio should not exceed 30 %. At – 16.6 % (prior period: – 8.0 %), the ratio at 

the end of the 2011 reporting period was significantly lower than the threshold given because, as was also 

the case in the prior period, the Group carried net financial assets rather than net financial debt.

Dividends

 Other comprehensive 
income

Disclosures on capital 
management
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 / /  GEARinG RAtiO  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.49

€ k Dec. 31, 2011 dec. 31, 2010

cash and cash equivalents 298,561 252,308

time deposits and other short-term securities 35,960 – 

bond – 225,511 – 225,639

financial liabilities to entities accounted for using the equity method – – 1,090

liabilities to banks – 57,201 – 1,990

net financial status [1] 51,809 23,589

equity [2] 364,320 319,401

equity less net financial status [3] = [2] – [1] 312,511 295,812

Gearing ratio (–[1] / [3] x 100 (%)) – 16.6 % – 8.0 %

Equity is factored into the calculation of the total net worth covenant, stipulated by the agreements govern-

ing the syndicated loan and the loan commitments from the European Investment Bank (EIB). The total 

net worth covenant may not fall below a certain value. This covenant was always complied with on each 

measurement date in the 2011 and 2010 reporting periods.

Non-controlling interests contain adjustment items from the purchase accounting for capital attributable 

to non-controlling interests required to be consolidated and the profits and losses attributable to them. 

The consolidated financial statements contain eight entities (prior period: four) in which there were non-

controlling interests. 

 / /  BREAkDOwn Of nOn-COntROllinG intEREStS  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.50 

€ k Dec. 31, 2011 dec. 31, 2010

olpidürr s.p.a., Novegro di segrate, italy 1,981 1,997

Verind s.p.a., Rodano, italy 3,427 4,208

cpm s.p.a., beinasco, italy – – 

stimas engineering s.r.l., turin, italy 26 26

cpm automation d.o.o. beograd, belgrade, serbia – – 

agramkow fluid systems a / s, sønderborg, denmark – – 

agramkow do brasil ltda., indaiatuba, brazil – – 

agramkow asia pacific pte. ltd., singapore, singapore – – 

 5,434 6,231

In accordance with IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation”, the put options held by the non-control-

ling interests in CPM S.p.A. and in Agramkow Fluid Systems A /S were measured at fair value. The options 

are recognized under sundry financial liabilities. Changes are posted directly to the revenue reserves 

without affecting income. The non-controlling interests in the two entities and their respective subsidiaries 

have been offset against the revenue reserves. Consequently, they are not reported under “Non-control-

ling interests”.

The Group’s post-employment benefits include defined contribution plans and defined benefit plans. 

 

The post-employment benefits available to the employees of Dürr’s German subsidiaries include a life in-

surance program (BZV) in line with the respective tariff group for which the Group recorded contributions 

of € 723 thousand (prior period: € 753 thousand) as an expense. In addition, Dürr paid contri butions of 

26.  non-controlling 
interests

27.  provisions for post- 
employment benefit 
obligations

   Defined contribution 
plans
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€ 16,210 thousand (prior period: € 15,172 thousand) to the German statutory pension scheme, which also 

constitutes a defined contribution plan. The US subsidiaries contribute to external pension funds for trade 

union employees. In the reporting period, pension expenses for these employees amounted to € 1,549 thou-

sand (prior period: € 1,250 thousand).

In addition, Dürr’s US subsidiaries have a “401(k)” profit-sharing plan for certain employees. Profit-sharing 

is based on the number of years’ service and the employees’ remuneration. The Group’s contribution is 

discretionary and is determined annually by management. In the reporting period, expenses came to 

€ 297 thousand (prior period: € 335 thousand).

Pension entitlements have been granted to individual former members of the Board of Management of 

Dürr AG and the members of the management boards and general managers of German subsidiaries based 

on their most recent fixed salary and years of service.

In addition, employees of Dürr’s German subsidiaries are offered deferred compensation. Under these 

plans, Dürr employees are entitled to convert certain parts of their future pay into an entitlement to future 

supplementary company benefits. To secure and finance the resulting obligation, Dürr has taken out  

employer’s pension liability insurance for the life of the beneficiaries. Dürr has the exclusive right to the 

respective benefits. The amount of post-employment benefits equals the benefit paid out under the em-

ployer’s pension liability insurance concluded by Dürr, which consists of a guaranteed pension and the 

divisible surplus allocated by the insurance company. Dürr reports the benefit obligation net of plan as-

sets from the employer’s pension liability insurance, with actuarial gains and losses potentially giving rise 

to a surplus or deficit.

At the German Dürr subsidiaries, those workers who were employed at the locations in Filderstadt and 

Wyhlen and at the Schenck entities at the time their entities were acquired were entitled to post-employ-

ment benefits. These are based on years of service. The payments provided for by the pension plan com-

prise actual contributions plus an element that is dependent on years of service. 

The US subsidiaries of Dürr have pension plans covering all non-union employees at these subsidiaries. 

Future pension payments are based on the average salaries earned and length of service before the benefit 

obligations were frozen in 2003 and 2006.

 / /  ChAnGES in thE pRESEnt vAluE Of DEfinED BEnEfit OBliGAtiOnS  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.51

€ k Dec. 31, 2011 dec. 31, 2010

Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations

defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the year 84,476 78,063

changes in the consolidated group – 1,410

exchange difference 647 1,733

contributions by plan participants 762 – 

current service cost 2,251 2,038

interest cost 4,089 4,192

actuarial gains and losses 1,557 1,962

benefits paid – 5,698 – 4,962

other 438 40

Defined benefit obligation at the end of the year 88,522 84,476

 Defined benefit plans
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 / /  ChAnGE in plAn ASSEtS  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.52

€ k Dec. 31, 2011 dec. 31, 2010

Change in plan assets

fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year 28,729 23,032

changes in the consolidated group – 1,148

exchange difference 425 1,264

expected return on plan assets 1,557 1,242

actuarial gains and losses – 1,188 463

employer contributions 1,399 1,566

plan participant contributions 762 88

benefits paid – 1,561 – 1,147

plan assets from employer’s pension liability insurance 620 1,073

fair value of plan assets at the end of the year 30,743 28,729

funded status* 57,779 55,747

* difference between the defined benefit obligation and the plan assets

 / /  funDED StAtuS  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.53

€ k Dec. 31, 2011 dec. 31, 2010

present value of funded obligations benefit obligations 61,268 58,497

plan assets at fair value 30,743 28,729

defined benefit obligation in excess of plan assets 30,525 29,768

present value of non-funded obligations 27,254 25,979

funded status* 57,779 55,747

* difference between the defined benefit obligation and the plan assets

 / /   itEMS Of thE StAtEMEnt Of finAnCiAl pOSitiOn AffECtED By ACCOuntinG 

fOR pOSt-EMplOyMEnt BEnEfit OBliGAtiOnS  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.54

€ k Dec. 31, 2011 dec. 31, 2010

prepaid expenses – 147

pension provisions 57,779 55,894

 57,779 55,747

other comprehensive income (including exchange differences) – 16,111 – 12,844

As of December 31, 2011, the plan assets were invested in various portfolios consisting mostly of 

 fixed-interest securities and shares. At the end of the reporting period, the fair value of plan assets 

breaks down as follows:

 / /  COMpOSitiOn Of plAn ASSEtS  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.55

€ k Dec. 31, 2011 dec. 31, 2010

shares 1,326 7,057

fixed-interest securities 28,430 20,891

Real estate 570 436

other 417 345

 30,743 28,729
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The plan assets of the German entities mainly consist of employer’s pension liability insurance policies 

which cover the pension entitlements acquired. These employer’s pension liability insurance policies have 

been invested mainly in fixed-interest securities (including government bonds and mortgage bonds). 

When selecting the issuers, the factors considered include the individual rating by international agencies 

and the equity capitalization of the issuers. 

Total return expected on plan assets is generally calculated on the basis of the market prices at this point 

in time. These apply for the period of time over which the obligation is settled. The aim of the investment 

strategy is long-term capital accumulation on the one hand, and ongoing interest income on the other. 

This leads to slightly greater volatility. As part of a balanced approach, the portfolio mix contains debt 

and equity securities. The long-term growth in plan assets should be achieved primarily by means of fixed-

interest securities which will also secure ongoing interest income. Equity papers also make up a share  

of the investment portfolio. Equity papers account for 2 % (prior period: 38 %) of the assets of the main 

benefit plans in the USA.

For the 2012 reporting period, employer contributions to the plans of € 1,551 thousand are expected.

 / /  COMpOSitiOn Of thE nEt pEnSiOn COSt  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.56

€ k 2011 2010

current service cost 2,251 2,038

interest cost 4,089 4,192

expected return on plan assets – 1,557 – 1,242

other – 166 – 164

 4,617 4,824

In the 2011 reporting period, the actual return on plan assets totaled € 369 thousand (prior period: 

€ 1,705 thousand).

The net periodic pension cost is contained in the following items of the statement of income:

 / /  nEt pEnSiOn COSt in thE StAtEMEnt Of inCOME  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.57

€ k 2011 2010

cost of sales 478 280

selling expenses 182 190

General administrative expenses 1,415 1,373

Research and development costs 10 9

other operating expenses – 22

interest and similar income – 1,557 – 1,242

interest and similar expenses 4,089 4,192

 4,617 4,824
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The cut-off date for the measurement of benefit obligations and plan assets is December 31; the mea-

surement date for pension cost is January 1.

/ /  AvERAGE RAtES uSED fOR CAlCulAtinG pOSt-EMplOyMEnt BEnEfit OBliGAtiOnS  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.58

2011 2010

% Germany USA Rest of world Germany usa Rest of world

discount rate 5.00 4.35 4.35 5.00 5.00 4.55

long-term salary increases 3.00 – 2.59 2.80 – 2.72

In Germany, future pension increases, which have a significant impact on the defined benefit obligations, 

as of the end of the reporting period came to 2.00 % in the 2011 reporting period (prior period: 2.00 %).

/ /  AvERAGE RAtES uSED fOR CAlCulAtinG pEnSiOn COSt  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.59

2011 2010

% Germany USA Rest of world Germany usa Rest of world

discount rate 5.00 5.00 4.55 5.25 5.65 4.62

expected long-term return on plan assets 5.00 7.03 4.28 5.25 7.27 6.06

long-term salary increases 2.80 – 2.72 3.00 – 2.85

The average rates are calculated on the basis of the weighted average of the defined benefit obligation.

The expected long-term return on plan assets is based on historical and projected returns and volatilities 

of the individual categories of the portfolio, taking the customary benchmarks into account.

 / /  AMOuntS fOR thE CuRREnt AnD pREviOuS REpORtinG pERiODS  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.60

€ k Dec. 31, 2011 dec. 31, 2010 dec. 31, 2009 dec. 31, 2008 dec. 31, 2007

defined benefit obligation 88,522 84,476 78,063 71,378 71,180

plan assets at fair value 30,743 28,729 23,032 20,043 21,609

surplus / deficit (–) – 57,779 – 55,747 – 55,031 – 51,335 – 49,571

experience adjustments on defined 

benefit obligation – 1,409 – 632 107 348 2,611

experience adjustments on plan assets 1,147 446 907 – 2,192 244

The future funding status of the plans and the related amount of pension provisions depends, among other 

factors, on the future development of the discount rate, particularly in Germany. The share of pension 

 provisions (funding status) accounted for by entities based in Germany is 77 %. A hypothetical increase 

of 0.25 % in the discount rate used to calculate the defined benefit obligations of German-based entities 

would lead to a decrease of € 2,392 thousand in the funded status. A decrease of 0.25 % in the discount 

rate would lead to a rise of € 1,234 thousand in the funded status of the plans.

  Sensitivity analyses
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28.  Other provisions

/ /  OthER pROviSiOnS  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.61

deC. 31, 2011 deC. 31, 2010

€ k Total Current Non-current total current Non-current

contract-related provisions 42,348 39,767 2,581 34,354 31,093 3,261

personnel provisions 8,488 4,543 3,945 10,825 6,488 4,337

sundry provisions 1,720 1,592 128 2,549 2,402 147

 52,556 45,902 6,654 47,728 39,983 7,745

The contract-related provisions mainly consist of provisions for after-sales expenses, warranties and  

for onerous contracts in the order backlog. The personnel provisions mainly contain provisions for long-

service awards and obligations for phased retirement. Sundry provisions relate to various identifiable 

specific risks and contingent liabilities.

Those other provisions that are expected to be used within the next twelve months are classified as 

current. The payments for non-current provisions are expected to be incurred within the next two to 

five years.

 / /  ChAnGES in OthER pROviSiOnS in thE REpORtinG pERiOD  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.62

€ k

contract- 
related  

provisions
personnel 
provisions

sundry  
provisions

As of January 1, 2011 34,354 10,825 2,549

changes in the consolidated group 268 1 14

exchange difference 244 – 31 41

utilization – 20,601 – 4,813 – 597

Reversals – 3,792 – 491 – 850

additions 31,875 2,997 563

As of December 31, 2011 42,348 8,488 1,720

All interest-bearing liabilities of the Group are shown under the item “Bond and other financial liabilities”. 

 / /  finAnCiAl liABilitiES  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.63

€ k Total current Total medium-term long-term

bond 225,511 – 225,511 225,511 –

(2010) (225,639) (–) (225,639) (225,639) (–)

liabilities to banks 57,201 12,715 44,486 9,004 35,482

(2010) (1,990) (1,110) (880) (880) (–)

financial liabilities due to entities 

accounted for using the equity method – – – – –

(2010) (1,090) (170) (920) (–) (920)

liabilities from finance leases 3,452 607 2,845 2,087 758

(2010) (3,594) (488) (3,106) (2,183) (923)

December 31, 2011 286,164 13,322 272,842 236,602 36,240

(december 31, 2010) (232,313) (1,768) (230,545) (228,702) (1,843)

29.  Bond and other 
 financial liabilities
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Non-current liabilities to banks of € 44,486 thousand (prior period: € 880 thousand) with a residual 

term of up to 13 years are all repayable in euro. The weighted average interest rate is 4.56 % p.a. (prior 

period: 1.61 % p.a.).

Current liabilities to banks of € 12,715 thousand (prior period: € 1,110 thousand) as of December 31, 2011 

are repayable mainly in the Brazilian real and in Danish krone. The weighted average interest rate for  

liabilities denominated in Brazilian real was 15.97 % p.a. and 2.39 % p.a. for liabilities in Danish krone.

On March 31, 2011, Dürr signed an agreement for a new syndicated loan with a consortium of banks con-

sisting of Baden-Württembergische Bank, Commerzbank AG, Deutsche Bank AG, UniCredit Bank AG  

and KfW IPEX-Bank GmbH, as the previous syndicated loan expired on June 30, 2011. The new syndicated 

loan expires on June 30, 2014. An agreement on changes to the collateral provided was signed on June 22, 

2011. Due to the improvement in the credit rating of the Group, this agreement requires less collateral 

than the previous syndicated loan. The total line of credit amounts to € 230,000 thousand. It consists of a 

cash facility of € 50,000 thousand and a guarantee facility of € 180,000 thousand. Premature termination 

of the syndicated loan is possible if the agreed-upon financial covenants or other terms of the loan are in-

fringed and a two-third majority of the lending banks vote in favor of termination. Depending on the cur-

rency, the interest is pegged to the refinancing rate of the same maturity (EURIBOR or LIBOR) plus a vari-

able margin. 

On June 22, 2011, an agreement was signed with the European Investment Bank (EIB) on a loan of € 40,000 

thou sand to finance development and research work. Dürr has been granted the option of drawing on the 

loan in a number of tranches on or before December 31, 2012. The term is based on the syndi cated loan 

and the corporate bond issued by Dürr. Effective June 22, 2011, EIB joined the collateral agreement men-

tioned above. Premature termination of the loan offered by the EIB is possible if the financial covenants 

or other terms of the loan are infringed. 

Based on the calculations of the Board of Management, the agreed financial covenants for the syndicated 

loan and the loan offered by the EIB were complied with on all the specified measurement dates. 

The Group’s non-current liabilities to banks rose on November 30, 2011, due to the assumption of the real 

estate financing extended to Dürr GmbH & Co. Campus KG. The finance breaks down into fixed-term  

and annuity loans expiring on September 30, 2024. The average effective interest rate is 4.63 %. As of 

December 31, 2011, the carrying amount of the loans came to € 45,769 thousand.

At the end of the reporting period, € 0 thousand (prior period: € 0 thousand) of the cash line of the syndi-

cated loan and € 125,474 thousand (prior period: € 102,574 thousand) of the bank guarantee facility had 

been utilized. The EIB loan had not been drawn on by the reporting date.

Shares in subsidiaries were pledged as collateral for the syndicated loan facility and the loan approved by 

the EIB at the end of the reporting period. In addition, further collateral was provided by placing charges 

on current and non-current assets with a carrying amount of € 150,369 thousand as of December 31, 2011 

(prior period: € 153,075 thousand). 

Besides the syndicated loan facility, the Group has bilateral cash lines of credit of € 57,359 thousand in 

place for working capital, bank guarantees of € 403,028 thousand as well as smaller credit lines with 

various banks and insurance firms.

 

financing of the Group
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 / /  CREDit linES AnD BAnk GuARAntEES  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.64

€ k Dec. 31, 2011 dec. 31, 2010

total amount of lines of credit and bank guarantees 730,387 467,542

total amount of credit lines/guarantees utilized 489,302 263,070

 of which due within one year 347,928 188,092

 of which due in more than one year 141,374 74,978

On September 28, 2010, Dürr AG issued a fixed-interest corporate bond with a total volume of € 150,000 thou-

sand, a coupon of 7.25 % and a term of five years at a rate of 100 %. This replaced the bond issued in 2004 

which had a residual amount of € 100,000 thousand and a coupon of 9.75 %. The remaining € 100,000 thou-

sand of the 2004 bond was terminated early on September 29, 2010, and repaid on October 29, 2010, at 

a rate of 100 % plus accrued interest of € 2,817 thousand. 

The corporate bond issued in September 2010 was increased by € 75,000 thousand to € 225,000 thousand 

on December 6, 2010. The issue price was 104.9 %. The issue price and the coupon of 7.25 % give rise 

to a return of 6.0 %. The term of the increase similarly ends on September 28, 2015. The purpose of the 

bond is to serve the long-term financing of the Group.

30. trade payables

/ /  tRADE pAyABlES  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.65

€ k Total current Total medium-term long-term

billings in excess of costs on uncompleted contracts  

(resulting from small series production) 18,592 18,592 – – – 

(2010) (12,435) (12,435) (–) (–) (–)

billings in excess of costs on uncompleted contracts  

(from construction contracts) 428,215 423,520 4,695 4,695 – 

(2010) (260,773) (260,773) (–) (–) (–)

trade payables 270,914 269,215 1,699 1,072 627

(2010) (166,472) (166,472) (–) (–) (–)

December 31, 2011 717,721 711,327 6,394 5,767 627

(december 31, 2010) (439,680) (439,680) (–) (–) (–)
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 / /  SunDRy finAnCiAl liABilitiES  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.66

€ k Total current Total medium-term long-term

derivative financial liabilities 11,312 10,687 625 625 –

(2010) (2,319) (2,018) (301) (301) (–)

liabilities from interest cut-off 4,577 4,577 – – –

(2010) (5,250) (5,250) (–) (–) (–)

obligations from put options 21,181 – 21,181 21,181 –

(2010) (6,824) (–) (6,824) (6,824) (–)

liabilities from factoring of 

progress billings 3,817 3,817 – – –

(2010) (3,981) (3,981) (–) (–) (–)

contingent purchase price installments 2,287 227 2,060 1,702 358

(2010) (2,010) (–) (2,010) (2,010) (–)

Remaining sundry financial liabilities 10,351 8,055 2,296 245 2,051

(2010) (6,683) (6,296) (387) (233) (154)

December 31, 2011 53,525 27,363 26,162 23,753 2,409

(december 31, 2010) (27,067) (17,545) (9,522) (9,368) (154)

The liabilities from put options relate to the non-controlling interests in CPM S.p.A. and Agramkow 

Fluid Systems A /S.

Current liabilities from contingent purchase price installments relate to the second purchase price install-

ment for UCM AG (prior period: € 964 thousand – medium-term). The obligation is based on the audited 

financial statements for 2011 and 2010 of UCM AG and will be settled in the 2012 reporting period. The 

€ 750 thousand (prior pe riod: € 1,206 thousand) adjustment to the purchase price in profit or loss was 

disclosed in other operating income in the statement of income. The currency effects of € – 13 thousand 

(prior period: € – 254 thousand) were recorded in other comprehensive income.

The medium- and long-term liabilities from contingent purchase price installments include obligations 

carried by Dürr Systems Wolfsburg GmbH of € 478 thousand (prior period: € 1,046 thousand) and Dürr 

Cyplan Ltd. of € 1,582 thousand. 

For the disclosures required by IFRS 7, please refer to note 34.

 / /  inCOME tAx liABilitiES AnD OthER liABilitiES  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.67

€ k Total current Total medium-term long-term

income tax liabilities 8,948 8,728 220 220 –

(2010) (2,690) (2,527) (163) (163) (–)

other liabilities 92,414 87,907 4,507 4,507 –

(2010) (70,532) (66,758) (3,774) (3,774) (–)

December 31, 2011 101,362 96,635 4,727 4,727 –

(december 31, 2010) (73,222) (69,285) (3,937) (3,937) (–)

31.  Sundry financial 
liabilities

32.  income tax liabilities 
and other liabilities



189maNagemeNt aNd stoCK / /  teChNologY matteRs / /  maNagemeNt RePoRt / /   consolidated financial statements / /  otheR
Notes

Other liabilities include the following material items: tax liabilities not relating to income taxes of 

€ 29,350 thou sand (prior period: € 19,300 thousand), liabilities relating to social security of € 4,074 thou-

sand (prior period: € 3,681 thousand), liabilities to employees of € 55,348 thousand (prior period: 

€ 40,225 thousand). Moreover, the item also includes obligations for restructuring measures of € 2,468 thou-

 sand (prior period: € 6,298 thousand). The decrease can be explained primarily by the utilization of 

liabilities recognized in prior periods.

A share-based long-term incentive (“LTI”) program was introduced for members of the Board of Manage-

ment in the 2010 reporting period. For this purpose, a second tranche was established in the reporting 

period with a term from January 1, 2011, to December 31, 2013 (prior period: 1st tranche with a period 

from January 1, 2010, to December 31, 2012). In the 2011 reporting period, the program was expanded 

to include additional managers from top management. The payments will be made upon expiry of the 

contractual term; early, pro rata payment is possible only if certain conditions are met upon exit from  

the Dürr Group. The Supervisory Board is entitled to make down-payments from the LTI to members of 

the Board of Management.

Under this program, the entitled parties receive an individually fixed number of phantom Dürr shares.  

As of December 31, 2011, 103,250 phantom shares had been issued (prior period: 46,500 shares). At the 

end of the term of the incentive program, the benefits accrued are settled in cash.

The settlement is calculated on the number of phantom shares, the smoothed share price on the closing 

date and an EBIT multiplier based on the average EBIT margin generated over the term of the arrangement. 

Payment is capped at a maximum amount in each case.

In contrast to the entitlements from the LTI, the participants in the incentive program are obliged to 

maintain their own individually agreed investment in Dürr shares at all times.

In the reporting period, expenses of € 1,749 thousand (prior period: € 276 thousand) were recorded 

under administrative expenses for the LTI program. Members of the Board of Management received 

down-payments of € 325 thousand on the first tranche of the LTI in 2011. The remaining liabilities as of 

December 31, 2011, came to € 1,700 thousand (prior period: € 276 thousand) and were reported under 

sundry financial liabilities.

33.  Share-based  
payment transactions
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34. Other notes on financial instruments

Based on the relevant items of the statement of financial position, the relationship between the categories 

of financial instruments pursuant to IAS 39, classification pursuant to IFRS 7 and the carrying amounts of 

financial instruments is presented in the table below.

amouNt ReCogNized at

€ k

Carrying 
amount as of 
Dec. 31, 2011 cost

amortized  
cost

fair value  
(not through 

profit or loss)

fair value 
(through  

profit or loss)

Assets

cash and cash equivalents 298,561 – 298,561 – –

costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings1 297,567 – – – –

trade receivables due from third parties 327,822 – 327,822 – –

trade receivables due from entities accounted  

for using the equity method 446 – 446 – –

other non-derivative financial instruments

 sundry financial assets 51,828 – 51,828 – –

 held-for-trading financial assets 10 – – – 10

 held-to-maturity investments – – – – –

 available-for-sale financial assets 2,629 2,313 – 316 –

derivative financial assets

 derivatives not used for hedging 195 – – – 195

 derivatives used for hedging 1,484 – – 1,298 186

liabilities

trade payables 270,914 – 270,914 – –

sundry non-derivative financial liabilities 18,745 – 18,745 – –

bond 225,511 – 225,511 – –

liabilities to banks 57,201 – 57,201 – –

financial liabilities due to entities accounted  

for using the equity method – – – – –

finance lease liabilities 3,452 – 3,452 – –

obligations from put options 21,181 – – 21,181 –

contingent purchase price installments 2,287 – – – 2,287

derivative financial liabilities

 derivatives not used for hedging 377 – – – 377

 derivatives used for hedging 10,935 – – 10,479 456

of which combined by measurement category  

in accordance with iAS 39:

held-for-trading financial assets 205 – – – 205

loans and receivables 976,224 – 678,657 – –

held-to-maturity investments – – – – –

available-for-sale financial assets 2,629 2,313 – 316 –

financial liabilities at fair value 23,845 – – 21,181 2,664

financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 575,823 – 575,823 – –

Measurement of  
financial instruments  
by category

/ /  MEASuREMEnt Of finAnCiAl inStRuMEntS By CAtEGORy  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.68
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amouNt ReCogNized at

€ k

Carrying 
amount as of 
Dec. 31, 2010 cost

amortized  
cost

fair value  
(not through 

profit or loss)

fair value 
(through  

profit or loss)

Assets

cash and cash equivalents 252,308 – 252,308 – –

costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings1 209,269 – – – –

trade receivables due from third parties 183,492 – 183,492 – –

trade receivables due from entities accounted  

for using the equity method 510 – 510 – –

other non-derivative financial instruments

 sundry financial assets 12,565 – 12,565 – –

 held-for-trading financial assets – – – – –

 held-to-maturity investments 28 – 28 – –

 available-for-sale financial assets 429 102 – 327 –

derivative financial assets

 derivatives not used for hedging 33 – – – 33

 derivatives used for hedging 2,028 – – 1,955 73

liabilities

trade payables 166,472 – 166,472 – –

sundry non-derivative financial liabilities 15,914 – 15,914 – –

bond 225,639 – 225,639 – –

liabilities to banks 1,990 – 1,990 – –

financial liabilities due to entities accounted  

for using the equity method 1,090 – 1,090 – –

finance lease liabilities 3,594 – 3,594 – –

obligation from a put option 6,824 – – 6,824 –

contingent purchase price installments 2,010   –  –  – 2,010

derivative financial liabilities

 derivatives not used for hedging 338 – – – 338

 derivatives used for hedging 1,981 – – 1,740 241

of which combined by measurement category  

in accordance with iAS 39:

held-for-trading financial assets 33 – – – 33

loans and receivables 658,144 – 448,875 – –

held-to-maturity investments 28 – 28 – –

available-for-sale financial assets 429 102 – 327 –

financial liabilities at fair value 9,172 – – 6,824 2,348

financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 414,699 – 414,699 – – 

1 costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts are accounted for pursuant to ias 11 “construction contracts” and are therefore not included in any of the above categories.

/ /  MEASuREMEnt Of finAnCiAl inStRuMEntS By CAtEGORy  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.68
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In order to make the fair value measurement of financial instruments comparable, a fair value hierarchy 

has been introduced in IFRSs with the following three levels:

■■ Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1)

■■ Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly or indirectly (level 2)

■■ Inputs that are not based on observable market data (level 3)

The financial instruments measured at fair value by Dürr break down as follows according to the fair  

value hierarchy:

 / /  AllOCAtiOn tO thE fAiR vAluE hiERARChy  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.69

FaiR value hieRaRChY

€ k Dec. 31, 2011 level 1 level 2 level 3

Assets at fair value – not through profit or loss

available-for-sale financial assets 316 316 – –

derivatives with hedging relationship 1,298 – 1,298 –

Assets at fair value – through profit or loss

derivatives without hedging relationship 195 – 195 –

derivatives with hedging relationship 186 – 186 –

held-for-trading financial assets 10 10 – –

liabilities at fair value – not through profit or loss

obligations from put options 21,181 – – 21,181

derivatives with hedging relationship 10,479 – 10,479 –

liabilities at fair value – through profit or loss

derivatives without hedging relationship 377 – 377 –

derivatives with hedging relationship 456 – 456 –

contingent purchase price installments 2,287 – – 2,287

FaiR value hieRaRChY

€ k Dec. 31, 2010 level 1 level 2 level 3

Assets at fair value – not through profit or loss

available-for-sale financial assets 327 327 – –

derivatives with hedging relationship 1,955 – 1,955 –

Assets at fair value – through profit or loss

derivatives without hedging relationship 33 – 33 –

derivatives with hedging relationship 73 – 73 –

held-for-trading financial assets – – – –

liabilities at fair value – not through profit or loss

obligation from a put option 6,824 – – 6,824

derivatives with hedging relationship 1,740 – 1,740 –

liabilities at fair value – through profit or loss

derivatives without hedging relationship 338 – 338 –

derivatives with hedging relationship 241 – 241 –

contingent purchase price installments 2,010 – – 2,010

No reclassifications were made between the fair value hierarchies in the 2011 reporting period.
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Measurement at fair value of the financial instruments of levels 1, 2 and 3 held as of December 31, 2011, 

gave rise to the following total gains and losses: 

 / /  tOtAl GAinS AnD lOSSES On ASSEtS  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.70 

€ k 2011 2010

Recognized in profit or loss

derivative financial instruments 248 110

Recognized in other comprehensive income

available-for-sale financial assets – 11 –

derivative financial instruments 1,124 1,210

 / /  tOtAl GAinS AnD lOSSES On liABilitiES  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.71

€ k 2011 2010

Recognized in profit or loss

derivative financial instruments – 570 – 592

contingent purchase price installments 1,256 1,206

Recognized in other comprehensive income

derivative financial instruments – 10,215 – 1,301

contingent purchase price installments (currency translation reserve) – 13 – 254

obligations from put options – 3,215 – 1,174

 / /  DEvElOpMEnt Of lEvEl 3 Of thE fAiR vAluE hiERARChy  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /   3.72

€ k 2011 2010

As of January 1 8,834 7,566

additions 12,662 1,046

changes in fair value 1,972 222

As of December 31 23,468 8,834

Assuming that the parameters (equity, accumulated earnings before income taxes and free cash flow) 

were 10 % higher (lower) on the soonest possible exercise date, the result of the put options for CPM S.p.A. 

and for Agramkow Fluid Systems A /S and their respective subsidiaries, classified to level 3 of the fair value 

hierarchy, would have been € 1,922 thousand (prior year: € 490 thousand) lower (higher). 

The contingent purchase price installment arising from the acquisition of Dürr Systems Wolfsburg GmbH, 

classified to level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, would have been € 159 thousand lower if individual goals 

had not been reached.

The contingent purchase price installments associated with the acquisition of Dürr Cyplan Ltd., classified 

to level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, would be € 113 thousand higher (€ 106 thousand lower) if the terms 

of the contract were met one year earlier (later) than expected.

The contingent purchase price installment associated with the acquisition of UCM AG in 2009 is based 

on the earnings of the entity reported under local GAAP as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and therefore 

will not change. 
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The table below shows the fair value of the financial assets and liabilities carried at cost or amortized cost. 

The fair value of financial instruments not carried at amortized cost approximates their carrying amount 

(with the exception of available-for-sale financial assets measured at cost because their fair value cannot 

be determined reliably).

 / /  fAiR vAluES Of finAnCiAl inStRuMEntS RECOGnizED  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.73

deC. 31, 2011 deC. 31, 2010

€ k Fair value
Carrying 

amount fair value
carrying 
amount

Assets

cash and cash equivalents 298,561 298,561 252,308 252,308

costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings 297,567 297,567 209,269 209,269

trade receivables due from third parties 327,822 327,822 183,492 183,492

trade receivables due from entities accounted  

for using the equity method 446 446 510 510

other non-derivative financial instruments 

 sundry financial assets 51,828 51,828 12,565 12,565

 held-to-maturity investments – – 28 28

liabilities

trade payables 270,914 270,914 166,472 166,472

sundry non-derivative financial liabilities 18,745 18,745 15,914 15,914

bond 244,125 225,511 241,875 225,639

liabilities to banks 57,201 57,201 1,990 1,990

financial liabilities due to entities accounted  

for using the equity method – – 1,090 1,090

finance lease liabilities 4,168 3,452 4,368 3,594

of which combined by measurement category  

in accordance with iAS 39:

loans and receivables 678,657 678,657 448,875 448,875

held-to-maturity investments – – 28 28

financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 595,153 575,823 431,709 414,699

Cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, other receivables, trade payables, sundry non-derivative 

financial liabilities and overdraft facilities mostly fall due within the short term. Consequently, their car-

rying amounts at the end of the reporting period approximate their fair value.

It was not possible to determine the fair values of equity interests measured at cost because market prices 

were not available as no active markets exist. These are interests in four non-listed entities where the  

estimated future cash flows were not discounted because they could not be determined reliably. It was 

assumed that their fair value approximates their carrying amount. At present, Dürr does not have any 

plans to sell shares in equity.

The fair value of non-current liabilities is based on the current interest rate for borrowing at similar terms 

and conditions with comparable due date and credit rating. With the exception of the bond, the fair value  

of liabilities approximates the carrying amount. The fair value of the bond is equal to the nominal value 

multiplied by the quoted price at the end of the reporting period. 

As of December 31, 2011, the bond was quoted at € 108.50 (prior period: € 107.50) which is equal to a 

market value of € 244,125 thousand (prior period: € 241,875 thousand). 

fair values of financial 
instruments carried at 
amortized cost
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net gains and losses by measurement category

/ /  nEt GAinS AnD lOSSES By MEASuREMEnt CAtEGORy  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.74

FRom subsequeNt measuRemeNt

€ k from interest at fair value
currency 

translation impairment
from  

disposals
Net gain  

or loss

held-for-trading financial assets – 367 – – – 367

(2010) (–) (1,624) (–) (–) (–) (1,624)

loans and receivables 3,985 – 7,109 89 – 97 11,086

(2010) (2,123) (–) (– 2,363) (– 1,757) (– 97) (– 2,094)

available-for-sale financial assets – – – – – –

(2010) (14) (–) (–) (–) (–) (14)

financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – 62 1,205 – – – 1,143

(2010) (–) (884) (–) (–) (–) (884)

financial liabilities measured at amortized cost – 22,656 – – 29 – – – 22,685

(2010) (– 23,867) (–) (– 85) (–) (–) (– 23,952)

2011 – 18,733 1,572 7,080 89 – 97 – 10,089

(2010) (– 21,730) (2,508) (– 2,448) (– 1,757) (– 97) (– 23,524)

An amount of € 11 thousand was recognized directly in equity from the measurement of available-for-sale 

securities (prior period: € 0 thousand) and € – 13 thousand was offset against equity from the currency 

translation of a contingent purchase price installment (prior year: € –254 thousand). 

At the end of the reporting period, financial assets of € 8,419 thousand (prior period: € 10,544 thousand) 

were pledged as collateral for prepayments received, factoring as well as for non-current liabilities to 

banks. In addition, financial assets of € 86,413 thousand (prior period: € 87,847 thousand) from selected 

Dürr entities worldwide were pledged as collateral in connection with the syndicated loan.

The consolidated statement of cash flows shows how the cash and cash equivalents changed in the re-

porting period as a result of cash received and paid and thus provides information on the sources and use 

of cash and cash equivalents. The consolidated statement of cash flows prepared in accordance with IAS 7 

“Statement of Cash Flows” makes a distinction between the cash flows from operating, investing and 

financing activities.

The cash and cash equivalents presented in the statement of cash flows contain all cash and cash equiva-

lents shown in the statement of financial position, i. e., cash in hand, checks and bank balances, with an 

original term to maturity of less than three months. The availability of cash of € 119,681 thousand (prior 

period: € 61,604 thousand) is restricted due to the legal restrictions on capital transfers in some Asian 

countries. 

The cash flow from operating activities is derived indirectly from the profit of the Group for the year. The 

statement of cash flows takes earnings before income taxes as its point of departure and deducts income 

tax payments, net interest as well as non-cash items, such as depreciation and amortization of non-current 

assets, the result from companies accounted for using the equity method and the net gain or loss on the 

disposal of property, plant and equipment. To derive the cash flow from operating activities, changes in 

the items of the statement of financial position that serve operating activities are then considered. Effects 

from foreign currency translation and changes in the consolidation group are eliminated. Changes in  

operating assets and liabilities contained in the consolidated statement of cash flows do not therefore 

match the changes in the related items of the consolidated statement of financial position. 

35.  notes to the  
consolidated  
statement  
of cash flows
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The amortization and depreciation reported in the consolidated statement of cash flows is € 2,813 thou-

sand (prior period: € 3,922 thousand) lower because that amount is already included in the net interest. 

The cash flow from operating activities contains effects from factoring and the negotiation of drafts and 

documentary credits of € 20,463 thousand (prior period: € 12,077 thousand) and € 0 thousand (prior period: 

€ 13,044 thousand) respectively at the end of the reporting period.

The cash flow from investing activities is derived from actual cash flows. This relates mainly to the cash 

outflows for investments made in non-current assets and business combinations. Cash inflows arise from 

the disposal of non-current assets and interest received. 

The cash outflows of € 6,816 thousand (prior period: € 6,840 thousand) related to business combinations 

reported under the cash flow from investing activities include the cash component of the price paid for 

Agramkow Fluid Systems A /S and its subsidiaries of € 7,170 thousand less the cash and cash equivalents 

obtained in the combination of € 354 thousand. In the prior period, these cash flows included the payment 

of € 2,500 thousand made within the framework of an asset deal to acquire Kleinmichel and the payment 

of the first purchase price installment for Helmuth Rickert GmbH of € 5,400 thousand. This was offset 

by the receipt of Helmuth Rickert GmbH’s cash of € 1,060 thousand. For further details on business com-

binations, please refer to note 19.

The cash flow from financing activities is also derived from actual cash flows. It contains dividends and 

distributions to shareholders and non-controlling interests, interest paid for the bond and other financing 

activities. It also includes the payments made to settle financial liabilities under the terms of finance 

leases and other non-current loans. The line item “Change in current bank liabilities and other financing 

activities” contains cash inflows and outflows from current accounts. In the prior year, the cash flow from 

financing activities also included cash inflows and outflows from issuing the new bond and the simultane-

ous repayment of the old bond.

In the course of taking over the general partner’s share in Dürr GmbH & Co. Campus KG, Dürr recorded 

additions of land and buildings, liabilities to banks and various other assets and liabilities. Due to the 

fact that no cash flows were associated with these additions to the Group, they do not appear in the con-

solidated statement of cash flows. 

A more detailed economic explanation of the statement of cash flows can be found in the section on 

 “Financial development” in the management report.
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OthER nOtES

The segment reporting was prepared according to IFRS 8 “Operating Segments”. Based on the internal 

reporting and organizational structure of the Group, the data contained in the consolidated financial 

statements is presented by division. The segment reporting provides details on the results of operations, 

net assets and financial position of individual activities.

The reporting is based on the divisions of the Group. As of December 31, 2011, the Dürr Group consisted 

of the Corporate Center and four divisions differentiated by product and service range, each with global 

responsibility for their products and results. The Corporate Center comprises Dürr AG as the manage-

ment holding, Dürr IT Service GmbH, which performs IT services throughout the Group, and Dürr GmbH 

& Co. Campus KG, which leases real estate to group entities at the location in Bietigheim-Bissingen. 

Transactions between the divisions are carried out at arm’s length.

In fiscal year 2011, the Environmental and Energy Systems business unit was removed from the Paint 

and Assembly Systems division and combined with the new business unit, Energy Technology Systems to 

create the new Clean Technology Systems division. Moreover, the Application Technology business unit, 

which was previously integrated in the Paint and Assembly Systems division, was made into a separate 

division. The prior-period figures were restated accordingly at the level of the divisions.

Paint and Assembly Systems develops and builds paint shops and final assembly lines for the automotive 

industry. The portfolio of the division also includes assembly and finishing systems for aircraft construc-

tion. 

Application Technology develops and manufactures products and systems for automated painting appli-

cations, such as painting robots, feather cleaners and materials supply. Other activities include sealing 

technology for seams in bodywork and glueing technology for bodywork and final assembly of vehicles.

Measuring and Process Systems offers balancing and diagnosis technology, testing, filling and assembly 

technologies as well as industrial cleaning and filtration technology. Besides the automotive industry, the 

division serves industries such as mechanical engineering, the electrical engineering industry or the 

aerospace industry.

The Clean Technology Systems division consists of Dürr’s solutions for waste air purification. Moreover, 

the division develops and distributes power generation plants from the waste heat from industrial pro-

cesses and other technologies aimed at improving the energy efficiency of production processes.

Management monitors the EBIT (earnings before investment income, interest and income taxes) of its 

four divisions separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and evaluating 

operating segment performance. As the basis for segment reporting in accordance with IFRS 8 is the 

same as is used internally (management approach), the level of EBIT determined may differ from the con-

solidated financial statements. Group financing (including finance costs and finance income) and income 

taxes are managed on a Group basis and are not allocated to operating segments.

36.  Segment reporting

   paint and Assembly 
Systems division

   Application 
technology division

   Measuring and 
process Systems 
division

   Clean technology 
Systems division
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/ /  SEGMEnt REpORtinG  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.75

€ k

paint and 
assembly 

systems
application 
technology 

measuring  
and process  

systems

clean  
technology 

systems
Total  

segments
Recon- 

ciliation
Total 

Dürr Group

2011

external sales revenues 878,660 406,804 550,369 86,149 1,921,982 5 1,921,987

sales revenues with other divisions 2,684 6,325 12,463 907 22,379 – 22,379 –

total sales revenues 881,344 413,129 562,832 87,056 1,944,361 – 22,374 1,921,987

ebit 40,469 31,061 31,399 4,929 107,858 – 1,364 106,494

profit / loss from entities accounted  

for using the equity method 104 79 565 – 168 580 – 580

cash flow from operating activities 116,601 24,596 – 24,253 10,611 127,555 343 127,898

cash flow from investing activities 1,284 – 199 – 13,015 – 2,870 – 14,800 – 47,774 – 62,574

cash flow from financing activities – 71,870 – 28,510 32,414 – 7,507 – 75,473 51,317 – 24,156

amortization and depreciation – 3,809 – 4,709 – 9,086 – 359 – 17,963 – 4,550 – 22,513

impairment losses – – 5 – – – 5 – 981 – 986

Reversal of impairment losses 71 – – – 71 – 71

other non-cash income and expenses – 10 585 749 – 1 1,323 – 6 1,317

effects from restructuring / 

onerous contracts 380 79 – 560 – – 101 – – 101

additions to intangible assets 609 1,972 3,530 283 6,394 5,260 11,654

additions to property, plant 

and equipment 4,269 2,058 6,946 197 13,470 51,469 64,939

investments in entities accounted  

for using the equity method 24 – 13,324 3,859 17,207 – 17,207

assets (as of dec. 31) 395,800 290,890 551,932 37,070 1,275,692 16,325 1,292,017

liabilities (as of dec. 31) 511,935 190,404 235,394 38,696 976,429 – 1,741 974,688

employees (as of dec. 31) 2,524 1,203 2,790 205 6,722 101 6,823
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/ /  SEGMEnt REpORtinG  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.75

€ k

paint and 
assembly 

systems
application 
technology 

measuring  
and process  

systems

clean  
technology 

systems
Total  

segments
Recon- 

ciliation
Total 

Dürr Group

2011

external sales revenues 878,660 406,804 550,369 86,149 1,921,982 5 1,921,987

sales revenues with other divisions 2,684 6,325 12,463 907 22,379 – 22,379 –

total sales revenues 881,344 413,129 562,832 87,056 1,944,361 – 22,374 1,921,987

ebit 40,469 31,061 31,399 4,929 107,858 – 1,364 106,494

profit / loss from entities accounted  

for using the equity method 104 79 565 – 168 580 – 580

cash flow from operating activities 116,601 24,596 – 24,253 10,611 127,555 343 127,898

cash flow from investing activities 1,284 – 199 – 13,015 – 2,870 – 14,800 – 47,774 – 62,574

cash flow from financing activities – 71,870 – 28,510 32,414 – 7,507 – 75,473 51,317 – 24,156

amortization and depreciation – 3,809 – 4,709 – 9,086 – 359 – 17,963 – 4,550 – 22,513

impairment losses – – 5 – – – 5 – 981 – 986

Reversal of impairment losses 71 – – – 71 – 71

other non-cash income and expenses – 10 585 749 – 1 1,323 – 6 1,317

effects from restructuring / 

onerous contracts 380 79 – 560 – – 101 – – 101

additions to intangible assets 609 1,972 3,530 283 6,394 5,260 11,654

additions to property, plant 

and equipment 4,269 2,058 6,946 197 13,470 51,469 64,939

investments in entities accounted  

for using the equity method 24 – 13,324 3,859 17,207 – 17,207

assets (as of dec. 31) 395,800 290,890 551,932 37,070 1,275,692 16,325 1,292,017

liabilities (as of dec. 31) 511,935 190,404 235,394 38,696 976,429 – 1,741 974,688

employees (as of dec. 31) 2,524 1,203 2,790 205 6,722 101 6,823

€ k

paint and 
assembly 

systems
application 
technology 

measuring  
and process  

systems

clean  
technology 

systems
Total  

segments
Recon- 

ciliation
Total 

Dürr Group

2010

external sales revenues 581,953 267,207 344,710 67,509 1,261,379 – 1,261,379

sales revenues with other divisions 3,226 1,648 8,685 392 13,951 – 13,951 –

total sales revenues 585,179 268,855 353,395 67,901 1,275,330 – 13,951 1,261,379

ebit 13,789 11,576 10,300 3,508 39,173 – 2,540 36,633

profit / loss from entities accounted  

for using the equity method – 219 50 707 10 548 – 548

cash flow from operating activities 14,349 26,969 21,421 3,246 65,985 – 10,611 55,374

cash flow from investing activities 19,608 – 9,598 – 21,963 – 264 – 12,217 – 7,242 – 19,459

cash flow from financing activities – 11,729 – 19,189 923 1,598 – 28,397 133,501 105,104

amortization and depreciation – 5,314 – 4,984 – 7,921 – 533 – 18,752 – 4,263 – 23,015

impairment losses – – – 37 – 89 – 126 – – 126

Reversal of impairment losses 21 – 1,186 – 1,207 – 1,207

other non-cash income and expenses – 9 – 1,026 1,202 2 169 1 170

effects from restructuring / 

onerous contracts 1,939 448 – 2,396 – 141 – 150 – – 150

additions to intangible assets 499 7,377 2,789 9 10,674 332 11,006

additions to property, plant 

and equipment 2,130 1,540 7,167 327 11,164 1 11,165

investments in entities accounted  

for using the equity method 95 54 11,753 10 11,912 – 11,912

assets (as of dec. 31) 304,044 223,075 408,729 31,976 967,824 – 29,338 938,486

liabilities (as of dec. 31) 325,988 126,290 161,161 25,975 639,414 3,731 643,145

employees (as of dec. 31) 2,183 1,061 2,444 180 5,868 47 5,915

The number of employees, amortization, depreciation, impairment losses, additions to intangible assets 

and property, plant and equipment, and non-cash income and expenses and external sales revenues 

 reported in the reconciliation column relate to the Corporate Center.
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 / /  RECOnCiliAtiOn Of SEGMEnt fiGuRES tO thE fiGuRES Of thE DüRR GROup  / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.76

€ k 2011 2010

ebit of the segments 107,858 39,173

ebit of the corporate center – 3,326 – 2,843

borrowing costs recognized pursuant to ias 23 – – 178

elimination of consolidation entries 1,962 481

EBit of the Dürr Group 106,494 36,633

profit from entities accounted for using the equity method 580 548

interest and similar income 5,542 3,379

interest and similar expenses – 26,807 – 28,059

Earnings before income taxes 85,809 12,501

income taxes – 21,552 – 5,418

profit of the Dürr Group 64,257 7,083

segment assets 1,275,692 967,824

assets of the corporate center 534,767 495,710

elimination of consolidation entries – 518,442 – 525,048

cash and cash equivalents 298,561 252,308

time deposits and other short-term securities 35,960 –

income tax receivables 7,652 5,850

investments in entities accounted for using the equity method 17,207 11,912

deferred tax assets 9,644 7,909

total assets of the Dürr Group 1,661,041 1,216,465

segment liabilities 976,429 639,414

liabilities of the corporate center 32,707 18,237

elimination of consolidation entries – 34,448 – 14,506

bond 225,511 225,639

liabilities to banks 57,201 1,990

finance lease liabilities 3,452 3,594

income tax liabilities 8,948 2,690

deferred tax liabilities 26,921 20,006

total liabilities of the Dürr Group* 1,296,721 897,064

* consolidated total assets less total equity 

Pursuant to IAS 23 “Borrowing Costs”, borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, 

construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalized as part of the cost of the asset. In Dürr’s 

financial statements this means that finance costs that are attributable to long-term customer-specific 

 construction contracts in accordance with IAS 11 “Construction Contracts” are recognized in cost of 

sales. Since the EBIT is the basis used internally for management purposes without taking into account 

finance costs, borrowing costs are not included in segment profit or loss.

Sales revenues are generally allocated to regions based on the location of the project or delivery loca-

tions, respectively. The Group’s assets are allocated on the basis of the location of the subsidiary reporting 

these assets. In accordance with IFRS 8.33 they include all non-current assets of the Group except for 

financial instruments and deferred tax assets.
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/ /  REGiOnAl SEGMEntAtiOn  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.77

€ k Germany

other  
european 
countries

North / 
central 

america
south  

america

asia /
africa /

australia Dürr Group

2011

external sales revenues 281,495 476,529 303,441 127,383 733,139 1,921,987

additions to property, plant and equipment 56,303 2,508 2,938 1,093 2,097 64,939

Non-current assets (as of dec. 31) 266,598 147,649 79,910 10,051 8,781 512,989

employees (as of dec. 31) 3,128 1,176 768 186 1,565 6,823

€ k Germany

other  
european 
countries

North / 
central 

america
south  

america

asia /
africa /

australia Dürr Group

2010

external sales revenues 257,081 331,972 194,436 64,706 413,184 1,261,379

additions to property, plant and equipment 6,306 973 2,216 219 1,451 11,165

Non-current assets (as of dec. 31) 217,310 135,539 79,213 9,919 7,605 449,586

employees (as of dec. 31) 2,931 1,045 616 143 1,180 5,915

In the 2011 reporting period, sales revenues in China came to € 577,380 thousand (prior period: 

€ 282,455 thousand) and in the USA to € 211,350 thousand (prior period: € 132,742 thousand).

In the 2011 reporting period, 14.8 % of consolidated net sales revenues was generated with the Group’s 

largest customer compared to 16.0 % in the prior period. These revenues were spread over all divisions. 

The second- and third-largest customers accounted for 8.5 % (prior period: 4.3 %) and 7.7 % (prior 

period: 8.0 %) respectively and were also attributable to all divisions. Entities that are known to be under 

common control are considered together as one customer.

Related parties comprise the members of the Supervisory Board and the Board of Management.

Dr.-Ing. E. h. Heinz Dürr is chairman of the Supervisory Board of Dürr AG and was chairman of the  

Supervisory Board of Dürr Systems GmbH until March 15, 2010. The remuneration paid for these acti-

vities amounted to € 182 thousand (prior period: € 71 thousand). Expenses of € 269 thousand (prior period: 

€ 221 thousand) were payable to Heinz Dürr GmbH, Berlin, Germany, of which Dr.-Ing. E. h. Heinz Dürr is 

general manager, for reimbursement of office and travel expenses relating to supervisory board activities 

and for cost reimbursements for the Dürr office in the German capital, Berlin. In addition, Heinz Dürr 

GmbH cross-charged expenses of € 29 thousand including VAT to Dürr AG for advisory services pur-

chased in the prior period on behalf of the latter relating to legal issues. For his former activity as general 

manager, Dr.-Ing. E. h. Heinz Dürr also received pension benefits (of April 2, 1978, supplemented Decem-

ber 21, 1988) of € 233 thousand (prior period: € 229 thousand).

The members of the Board of Management purchased shares in Dürr AG from Heinz Dürr GmbH, Berlin, 

in prior periods. To finance part of the purchase price, Heinz Dürr GmbH granted the members of the 

Board of Management an on-call loan at market conditions; the remaining purchase price was financed 

privately by the members of the Board of Management. Respite has been granted for no more than five 

years as of conclusion of the agreement for the outstanding amount repayable of the loan of € 3,172 thou-

sand (prior period: € 3,108 thousand). The Board of Management has pledged the shares purchased to 

Heinz Dürr GmbH as collateral for the loan. 

37.  Related party 
transactions
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Some members of the Supervisory Board of Dürr AG hold high-ranking positions in other enterprises. 

Transactions between these entities and Dürr are carried out at arm’s length.

For further information about members of the Board of Management and the Supervisory Board of 

Dürr AG, please refer to note 42.

Related parties also comprise the joint ventures and associates of the Dürr Group.

In the 2011 reporting period, there were intercompany transactions between Dürr and its joint ventures 

and associates of € 5,766 thousand (prior period: € 5,563 thousand). As of December 31, 2011, outstanding 

receivables from joint ventures and associates totaled € 446 thousand (prior period: € 510 thousand) and 

were current. 

The Board of Management confirms that all the related party transactions described above were carried 

out at arm’s length conditions. 

 / /  COntinGEnt liABilitiES  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.78

€ k Dec. 31, 2011 dec. 31, 2010

contingent liabilities from warranties, guarantees, notes and check guarantees 113 281

other 14,285 14,380

 14,398 14,661

Other contingent liabilities include contingent liabilities of € 12,207 thousand (prior period: € 12,207 thou-

sand) relating to the disposal of the Measuring and Process Technologies business unit in Australia in 

the 2005 reporting period. The sundry other contingent liabilities mainly pertain to contingent liabilities 

in connection with pending tax proceedings in Brazil. Dürr assumes that these contingent liabilities will 

not lead to any liabilities or cash outflows. 

 / /  OthER finAnCiAl OBliGAtiOnS  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.79

€ k Dec. 31, 2011 dec. 31, 2010

future minimum payments for operating leases 72,005 121,062

future minimum payments for finance leases 4,409 4,756

sundry financial obligations 9,667 9,859

 86,081 135,677

The fall in the minimum lease payments for operating leases is primarily due to the assumption of the 

real estate of Dürr GmbH & Co. Campus KG. This property was previously leased under an operating 

lease.

Besides liabilities, provisions and contingent liabilities, the Group has other financial obligations, in par-

ticular from rental and lease agreements for buildings, furniture and fixtures, office space and vehicles.  

Future minimum lease payments up to the first contractually agreed termination date are as follows:

38.  Contingent liabilities

39.  Other financial 
obligations

   Rent and lease 
agreements 
(operating leases)
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 / /  nOMinAl vAluES Of futuRE MiniMuM pAyMEntS fOR OpERAtinG lEASES  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.80

€ k Dec. 31, 2011 dec. 31, 2010

less than one year 16,664 19,625

between one and five years 29,892 45,257

more than five years 25,449 56,180

 72,005 121,062

In the 2011 reporting period, expenses of € 24,305 thousand (prior period: € 23,546 thousand) were 

recorded in the statement of income for operating leases.

The Group has entered into finance leases for various items of property, plant and equipment. Future 

minimum lease payments relating to these are reconciled to the liabilities below:

/ /  nOMinAl vAluES Of finAnCE lEASES  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.81

€ k deC. 31, 2011 deC. 31, 2010

Minimum  
payments

Interest  
contained  

in the lease 
payments

Finance  
lease  

liabilities
minimum  
payments

interest  
contained  

in the lease 
payments

finance  
lease 

liabilities

less than one year 870 263 607 762 274 488

between one and five years 2,662 575 2,087 2,892 709 2,183

more than five years 877 119 758 1,102 179 923

 4,409 957 3,452 4,756 1,162 3,594

Sundry financial obligations that do not result from rental and lease agreements are listed below.

/ /  nOMinAl vAluE Of SunDRy finAnCiAl OBliGAtiOnS  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.82

€ k 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 thereafter Total

liabilities from other  

continuous obligations 4,299 685 646 646 646 2,745 9,667

The Group operates in countries in which there are political and commercial risks. These risks did not 

have any effects on the Group in the reporting period. Dürr may be involved in lawsuits, including product 

liability, in the ordinary course of business. There are no such matters pending that the Board of Man-

agement expects to be material in relation to the Group’s business or financial position. Provision has been 

made for expected litigation costs. Dürr is generally exposed to financial risks. These include above all 

credit risks, liquidity risks and exposure to interest rate changes or currency risks. The regulations for 

a Group-wide risk policy are set forth in the Group guidelines. Detailed information on the risk manage-

ment system of the Dürr Group can be found in the “Risk report” in the management report.

finance leases

Sundry financial 
obligations

40.  Risk management  
and derivative  
financial instruments
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The credit risk relates to the possibility that business partners may fail to perform their obligation with 

non-derivative and derivative financial instruments and that capital losses could be incurred as a result. 

Credit ratings are obtained for all new customers. The payment patterns of regular customers are ana-

lyzed on an ongoing basis. Dürr uses letters of credit, trade credit insurance and guarantees by the federal 

government to further limit the risk of default.

 / /  RECEivABlES SECuRED AGAinSt DEfAult  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.83 

€ k Dec. 31, 2011

letters of credit 12,899

credit insurance policies 3,099

Guarantees by the federal government –

 15,998

In connection with the investment of cash and the portfolio of derivative financial assets, the Group is  

exposed to losses from credit risks should the banks fail to meet their obligations. Dürr manages the  

resulting risk position by diversifying its portfolio and selecting its counterparties carefully. No cash and 

cash equivalents or derivative financial assets were past due or impaired due to credit defaults.

Dependence on few customers

The development of Dürr hinges on the willingness of the automotive industry to invest. A significant 

portion of the Group’s sales revenues is generated with a limited number of customers because the number 

of manufacturers on the worldwide market for automobiles is comparatively small. The majority of the 

Group’s receivables are due from automobile manufacturers. Generally, these receivables are not secured 

by bank guarantees or other collateral. As of December 31, 2011, 52.7 % (prior period: 51.0 %) of the 

trade receivables were due from seven (prior period: seven) customers. The total receivables disclosed 

contain bad debt allowances for doubtful debts of € 7,203 thousand (prior period: € 8,747 thousand). 

Owing to its customers’ group structure with international subsidiaries, Dürr does not see any concentra-

tion of credit risks from its business relations with individual debtors or groups of debtors despite the 

fact that its business is concentrated on a relatively small number of customers. The level of diversity dis-

played among the Group’s customers is high compared to other automotive suppliers.

The liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may not be in a position in the future to meet its obligations, 

or to meet them at a reasonable price, when they fall due.

The liquidity situation is secured by available cash and cash equivalents as well as the credit lines which 

the Group can draw on. The situation is monitored and managed by means of a liquidity plan with a plan-

ning horizon of 18 months, coupled with a short-term liquidity forecast.

In addition, use of cross-border cash pooling structures has improved the structure of the statement  

of financial position through liquidity pooling, reduced the volume of borrowed funds and thus helped to 

enhance the financial result. At the same time, the liquidity situation has become more transparent. 

Moreover, excess liquidity at individual entities within the Group can be used to finance the cash needs 

of other group entities internally.

   Credit risk

   liquidity risk
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The new syndicated loan agreement, which expires on June 30, 2014, and the loan approved by the Euro-

pean Investment Bank (EIB) can be terminated prematurely by the banking syndicate and the EIB respec-

tively, if certain financial covenants are not complied with. The financial covenants include certain targets 

such as total net worth, the gearing ratio and the interest coverage. In the 2011 reporting period, the 

financial covenants were complied with as of each cut-off date. The financial covenants are calculated for 

a rolling period of twelve months. For additional information, please refer to note 29.

The table below shows the contractually agreed (undiscounted) interest and principal payments for  

financial liabilities. 

/ /  intERESt AnD pRinCipAl pAyMEntS fOR finAnCiAl liABilitiES   / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.84 

Cash Flows

€ k

Carrying 
amount as of 
Dec. 31, 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

from 2016 
onwards

non-derivative financial liabilities

trade payables 270,914 269,215 1,048 24 – 627

sundry financial liabilities 18,745 16,449 223 31 4 2,712

bond 225,511 16,313 16,313 16,313 237,234 –

liabilities to banks 57,201 16,707 6,183 6,249 6,146 44,602

financial liabilities due to entities accounted 

for using the equity method – – – – – –

finance lease liabilities 3,452 870 832 796 733 1,178

obligations from put options 21,181 – 23,109 – – –

contingent purchase price installments 2,287 227 500 – 1,099 1,000

Derivative financial liabilities

forward exchange contracts without hedging relationship 377 377 – – – –

forward exchange contracts with hedging relationship 10,935 10,310 625 – – –

Cash Flows

€ k

Carrying 
amount as of 
Dec. 31, 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

from 2015 
onwards

non-derivative financial liabilities

trade payables 166,472 166,472 – – – –

sundry financial liabilities 15,914 15,527 185 18 7 177

bond 225,639 16,313 16,313 16,313 16,313 237,234

liabilities to banks 1,990 1,137 317 291 266 68

financial liabilities due to entities accounted  

for using the equity method 1,090 218 48 48 48 1,098

finance lease liabilities 3,594 762 735 765 732 1,762

obligation from a put option 6,824 – – 7,123 – –

contingent purchase price installments 2,010 – 964 – – 1,046

Derivative financial liabilities

forward exchange contracts without hedging relationship 338 338 – – – –

forward exchange contracts with hedging relationship 1,981 1,680 301 – – –
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Currency risks exist in particular where receivables or liabilities are carried or will arise in the ordinary 

course of business in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity. Foreign exchange risks 

are hedged where they affect the cash flows of the Group. Foreign exchange risks that do not affect the 

cash flows of the Group (i. e. the risks from translating the items from the statement of financial position 

of foreign operations to the euro, the Group’s reporting currency), however, are generally not hedged. 

Forward exchange transactions are entered into to hedge exchange rate fluctuations from cash flows 

relating to forecast purchase and sales transactions with original terms of up to 29 months (prior period: 

41 months). 

Regarding the presentation of market risks, IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” requires sensi-

tivity analyses showing how profit or loss and equity would have been affected by hypothetical changes 

in the relevant risk variables. The periodic expenses are determined by relating the hypothetical changes 

of the risk variables to the financial instruments as of the end of the reporting period. The presentation is 

based on the assumption that the portfolio at the end of the reporting period was representative for the 

whole year. Currency risks as defined by IFRS 7 arise from financial instruments that are denominated in 

a currency other than the functional currency and are of a monetary nature; exchange differences from 

the translation of financial statements to the Group’s currency are not taken into account. All currencies 

other than the functional currency in which Dürr enters into financial instruments are relevant risk vari-

ables. To aid understanding, the volatilities displayed in the actual currencies were not used to calculate 

the sensitivity analyses, as in the prior year. Rather, the same range was used for all currency pairs.

Material non-derivative monetary financial instruments which constitute currency risks for Dürr are cash, 

trade receivables and payables as well as intercompany receivables and liabilities that are denominated  

in different functional currencies. Non-derivative financial instruments which could give rise to currency 

risks are usually hedged by derivative financial instruments that are accounted for as fair value hedges. 

In the process, both the change in the non-derivative financial instrument and the change in the value of 

the derivative financial instrument are posted through profit or loss. In addition, Dürr is exposed to cur-

rency risks from derivatives that are embedded, in accordance with IAS 39, in effective cash flow hedges of 

fluctuation in payments caused by exchange rates. Exchange rate changes concerning the currencies un-

derlying these transactions affect the hedge reserve in equity and the fair value of the hedges.

The analyses of the Group’s sensitivity to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates use the currency pairs 

that are most relevant for Dürr: This involves projecting the impact of a hypothetical 10 % appreciation, 

or depreciation respectively, in the value of the euro against the US dollar, the Chinese renminbi and the 

Mexican peso as well as an appreciation and depreciation of the US dollar to the Korean won and the 

Mexican peso.

foreign currency risk 
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 / /  iMpACt On thE StAtEMEnt Of inCOME AnD Equity  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.85

€ k deC. 31, 2011 deC. 31, 2010

Impact on 
 the statement 

 of income

Impact on the  
currency reserve  

in equity

impact on  
the statement  

of income

impact on the  
currency reserve  

in equity

EuR / uSD

euR + 10 % – 728 7,993 170 3,807

euR – 10 % 890 – 9,769 – 183 – 4,654

EuR / Cny

euR + 10 % – 1,133 – – 171 –

euR – 10 % 1,385 – 209 –

EuR / Mxn

euR + 10 % 204 – 278 17 –

euR – 10 % – 250 339 – 20 –

uSD / kRw

usd + 10 % 826 – 1,638 128 – 1,705

usd – 10 % – 1,009 1,627 – 156 1,705

uSD / Mxn

usd + 10 % 190 – 1,648 – 32 – 660

usd – 10 % – 232 2,018 – 5 660

Interest rate risks are due to fluctuations in interest rates that could have a negative impact on the net 

assets, financial position and results of operations of the Group. Interest rate fluctuations lead to changes 

in net interest and in the carrying amounts of the interest-bearing assets. 

On account of the growing volume of business and the successful bond financing, Dürr has cash subject  

to fluctuation in interest rates as of December 31, 2011. A hypothetical increase in these interest rates of 

25 base points or 0.25 % per year would have caused a € 553 thousand (prior period: € 302 thousand) in-

crease in interest income. A hypothetical decrease in these interest rates of 25 base points or 0.25 % per 

year would have caused a € 553 thousand (prior period: € 302 thousand) decrease in interest income.

In the presentation of market risks, IFRS 7 also requires disclosures on the effects of hypothetical changes 

in the risk variable on the price of financial instruments. The main risk variables include stock market 

prices and indices.

As of December 31, 2011, Dürr did not have any significant investments classified as available for sale, 

and price risks therefore play only a minor role at Dürr.

Please refer to note 34 for more information on the price risk of the put options disclosed as a level 3 finan-

cial instruments and the obligations from contingent purchase price installments.

Derivative financial instruments are used in the Group to minimize the risks concerning changes in 

exchange rates, interest rates or cash flows and the change in fair value of receivables and liabilities. 

Dürr is exposed to a replacement risk in the event of non-performance by counterparties (banks) relating 

to the financial instruments described below. All financial derivatives as well as the hedged transactions 

are subject to regular internal control and measurement in accordance with the directive of the Board of 

Management. Derivative financial instruments are only entered into to hedge the operating business.

interest rate risk 

Other price risks 

use of derivative  
financial instruments
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At the inception of the hedge, the hedging relationship and the entity’s risk management objective and 

strategy for undertaking the hedge are formally documented. This documentation contains identification 

of the hedging instrument, the related hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged, 

and how the entity will assess the hedging instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the exposure to changes 

in the hedged item’s fair value or the hedged item’s cash flows that is attributable to the hedged risk. 

Such hedges are expected to be highly effective in offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows and are 

assessed on an ongoing basis to determine that they actually have been highly effective throughout the 

financial reporting periods for which they were designated. 

Depending on their fair value at the end of the reporting period, derivative financial instruments are 

reported under sundry financial assets (positive market value) or sundry financial liabilities (negative 

market value) respectively.

/ /  SCOpE AnD fAiR vAluE Of finAnCiAl inStRuMEntS  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.86

NomiNal value Positive maRKet value Negative maRKet value

€ k Dec. 31, 2011 dec. 31, 2010 Dec. 31, 2011 dec. 31, 2010 Dec. 31, 2011 dec. 31, 2010

interest/currency swaps in connection  

with cash flow hedges – 27,127 – 661 – –

foreign exchange forward contracts 256,042 157,723 1,679 1,400 11,312 2,319

 of which in connection with cash flow hedges 182,098 111,280 1,298 1,294 10,479 1,740

 of which in connection with fair value hedges 21,659 12,870 186 73 456 241

 of which without hedging relationship 52,286 33,573 195 33 377 338

The fair value of the financial instruments was estimated using the following methods and assumptions:

The fair values of the forward exchange contracts were estimated at the present value of cash flows on 

the basis of the difference between the contractually agreed forward exchange rates and the forward  

rate prevailing at the end of the reporting period. The fair values of the interest hedges in the prior period 

were estimated as the discounted value of expected future cash flows based on current market parameters. 

Currency hedges that clearly serve to hedge future cash flows from foreign exchange transactions and 

which meet the requirements of IAS 39 in terms of documentation and effectiveness are accounted for as 

cash flow hedges. Such derivative financial instruments are recognized at fair value. Changes in fair  

value that impact hedge effectiveness are recognized directly in other comprehensive income until the 

hedged item is realized. Upon realization of the future transaction (hedged item), the effects recorded in 

other comprehensive income are transferred to profit or loss and recognized in sales revenues or cost of 

sales or other operating income and expenses in the statement of income.

In the 2011 reporting period, an unrealized loss was recognized in other comprehensive income. This 

was due to the changes in fair value from forward exchange contracts of € – 4,612 thousand recognized 

in equity (prior period: € – 453 thousand). 

In addition, € 2,540 thousand (prior period: € 1,063 thousand) was reclassified due to the realization of 

hedged items in the course of the reporting period from other comprehensive income to profit or loss and 

disclosed in sales revenues and cost of sales in the statement of income, thus increasing profit. The effect 

on earnings (before income taxes) expected for 2012 from the amounts recognized in other comprehen-

sive income at the end of the reporting period came to € – 4,276 thousand. In the 2013 and 2014 report-

ing periods, accumulated effects on earnings are expected to total € – 294 thousand.

Accounting and  
disclosure of derivative 
financial instruments  
and hedge accounting
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A loss of € 4,121 thousand was recognized in profit or loss from derivative financial instruments classified 

as fair value hedges (prior period: loss of € 5 thousand). Measuring the hedged items as of the reporting 

date gave rise to income in the same amount.

There were no material effects on earnings from ineffective hedges in the 2011 and 2010 reporting periods.

The changes in the fair value of all derivative financial instruments that do not meet the requirements  

for hedge accounting in accordance with IAS 39 are recognized in profit or loss at the end of the report-

ing period.

41. Additional disclosure requirements

With reference to Sec. 264 (3) HGB [“Handelsgesetzbuch”: German Commercial Code], the financial 

statements of the following German subsidiaries are not published: 

■■ Dürr Systems GmbH, Stuttgart
■■ Dürr International GmbH, Stuttgart
■■ Dürr Somac GmbH, Stollberg
■■ Carl Schenck AG, Darmstadt
■■ Dürr Ecoclean GmbH, Filderstadt
■■ Schenck RoTec GmbH, Darmstadt
■■ Schenck Technologie- und Industriepark GmbH, Darmstadt
■■ Dürr Assembly Products GmbH, Püttlingen
■■ Landwehr Elfte Vermögensverwaltung GmbH, Darmstadt
■■ Dürr IT Service GmbH, Stuttgart 

With reference to Sec. 264 (3) HGB, the following German subsidiaries do not prepare notes to the 

financial statements or a management report, or have these audited:

■■ Carl Schenck AG, Darmstadt
■■ Dürr Somac GmbH, Stollberg
■■ Dürr Assembly Products GmbH, Püttlingen
■■ Dürr International GmbH, Stuttgart
■■ Dürr IT Service GmbH, Stuttgart 

42. Other notes

In a letter dated February 14, 2012, Mr. Joachim Schielke announced that he will resign from his posi-

tion on the Supervisory Board at the close of the annual general meeting on April 27, 2012.

There were no events which have had or could have a significant effect on the net assets, financial position 

and results of operations of the Group in the period since the beginning of the reporting period and 

March 1, 2012. 

The declaration of compliance prescribed by Sec. 161 AktG [“Aktiengesetz”: German Stock Corporations 

Act] was submitted by the Board of Management and the Supervisory Board of Dürr AG in Bietigheim-

Bissingen on December 16, 2011, and made accessible to the shareholders on the Internet.

   Exemption pursuant 
to Sec. 264 (3) hGB

   Subsequent events

   Declaration of compli-
ance with the German 
Corporate Governance 
Code pursuant to 
Sec. 161 AktG
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 / /  AvERAGE hEADCOunt DuRinG thE yEAR  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.87

 2011 2010

Wage earners 2,406 2,162

salaried employees 3,678 3,292

interns / trainees / apprentices 339 322

 6,423 5,776

As of December 31, 2011, the Dürr-Group had 6,823 employees (prior period: 5,915).

The audit fees of the auditor of the consolidated financial statements recorded as an expense for the 

reporting period break down as follows:

 / /  AuDitOR’S fEES  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.88

€ k 2011 2010

audit of the financial statements 730 689

other attest services 31 184

tax advisory services 41 201

other services 48 161

 850 1,235

The consolidated financial statements and Group management report of Dürr AG prepared by the Board 

of Management as of December 31, 2011, were authorized at the meeting of the Board of Management on 

March 1, 2012, for issue to the Supervisory Board and will be published in the 2011 annual report on 

March 15, 2012.

Average headcount

fees of the auditor  
of the consolidated  
financial statements

Authorization for issue 
and publication of  
the consolidated  
financial statements as  
of December 31, 2011
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MEMBERS Of thE BOARD Of MAnAGEMEnt

RAlf w. DiEtER

Chairman

■• Public Relations, Human Resources  

(Employee Affairs Director), Research  

and Development, Quality Management,  

Internal Audit, Corporate Compliance

■• Paint and Assembly Systems division

■• Application Technology division

■• Measuring and Process Systems division

■■ Carl Schenck AG, Darmstadt* (Chairman) 

■■ Dürr Systems GmbH, Stuttgart* (Chairman) 

■■ Körber AG, Hamburg 

Dürr, Inc., Plymouth, USA* (Chairman)

RAlph hEuwinG

■• Finance/Controlling, Investor Relations,  

Risk Management, Legal Affairs/Patents,  

Information Technology, Global Sourcing

■• Clean Technology Systems division

■• Dürr Consulting

■■ Carl Schenck AG, Darmstadt*

■■ Dürr Systems GmbH, Stuttgart*

■■ MCH Management Capital Holding AG, 

Munich

Dürr, Inc., Plymouth, USA* 

Dürr India Pvt. Ltd., Chennai, India*

 offices held by members of the board of management
 membership in statutory supervisory boards

  membership in comparable German and foreign control 
 bodies (of business entities)

*  Group boards
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/ /  BOARD Of MAnAGEMEnt COMpEnSAtiOn 2011  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.89

NoN-PeRFoRmaNCe-Related PeRFoRmaNCe-Related

€
basic 

 compensation 
other 

 compensation1 

long-term  
compensation 

 (lti)

short-term 
compensation  

 (sti)

board of 
management 

compensation 
without pension 

benefits

expenses  
for pension 

benefits2 Total Paid in 2011

Ralf W. dieter 500,000.00 49,968.28 862,706.77 938,965.50 2,351,640.55 105,000.00 2,456,640.55 1,594,968.28

Ralph heuwing 375,000.00 23,144.26 741,207.82 881,034.50 2,020,386.58 82,500.00 2,102,886.58 1,373,144.26

total 875,000.00 73,112.54 1,603,914.59 1,820,000.00 4,372,027.13 187,500.00 4,559,527.13 2,968,112.54

1 payment in kind, insurance contributions, etc.
2 current service cost

In April 2011, the members of the Board of Management received a down-payment on the long-term 

incentive program (LTI) of € 325 thousand. The down-payment will be offset against the pay-out from 

the first tranche of the LTI which becomes due for payment after the annual general meeting at which 

the consolidated financial statements are presented for the 2012 reporting period. In December 2011, 

the members of the Board of Management received an additional down-payment of € 1,175 thousand on 

short-term performance-based benefits.

Measurement of long-term incentives (LTI) is based on the anticipated share price at the end of the con-

tractual term and an average earnings ratio over the duration of the program. Historical share prices are 

used to determine the fair value. The average earnings ratio used is based on the Dürr’s internal fore-

casts. The actual share prices and earnings ratios may deviate from the assumptions made. This can lead 

to a change in the final payments from the respective LTI tranches. For more information about the share-

based payment, we refer to note 33.

In the prior period, the total remuneration of the members of the Board of Management amounted to 

€ 2,251 thousand. This breaks down into short-term benefits of € 1,824 thousand, expenses in connec-

tion with the share-based incentive program of € 276 thousand and the addition to the pension provisions 

for this group of people of € 151 thousand. 

The former members of the Board of Management received remuneration of € 928 thousand in the 2011 

reporting period (prior period: € 683 thousand). Pension provisions for this group of persons amounted to 

€ 8,892 thousand as of December 31, 2011 (prior period: € 9,380 thousand).
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DR.-inG. E. h. hEinz DüRR1, 4, 5

Entrepreneur, Berlin 

Chairman

pROf. DR. nORBERt lOOS1, 2, 4, 5

Managing partner of  

Loos Beteiligungs-GmbH, Stuttgart 

Deputy Chairman

■■ BHS-tabletop AG, Selb (Chairman)

■■ Hans R. Schmid Holding AG, Offenburg 

(Chairman)

■■ LTS Lohmann Therapie-Systeme AG, 

Andernach (Chairman)

LTS Lohmann Therapy Systems Corp., 

West Caldwell, New Jersey, USA (Chairman)

hAyO RAiCh1, 3, 4

Full-time Chairman of the Group Works  

Council of Dürr AG, Stuttgart 

Full-time Chairman of the Works  

Council of Dürr Systems GmbH, Stuttgart,  

at the Bietigheim-Bissingen site 

Deputy Chairman

■■ Dürr Systems GmbH, Stuttgart  

(Deputy Chairman)

StEfAn AlBERt3, 4

(since May 6, 2011)

Full-time Chairman of the  

Works Council of Schenck RoTec GmbH,  

Darmstadt

■■ Corporate Pension Fund of  

Carl Schenck AG VVaG, Darmstadt

MiRkO BECkER2, 3

Full-time member of the Works Council   

of Dürr Systems GmbH, Stuttgart,  

at the Bietigheim-Bissingen site

MEMBERS Of thE SupERviSORy BOARD

DR. DR. AlExAnDRA DüRR5

Senior physician at the Neurogenetic  

Clinic of Département de Génétique,  

Hôpital de la Salpêtrière, Paris, France

BEnnO EBERl1, 3

(until May 6, 2011)

Trade Union Secretary of IG Metall 

 administrative offices, Stuttgart

■■ ThyssenKrupp Elevator AG, Essen  

(Deputy Chairman)

■■ Alcatel-Lucent AG, Stuttgart  

(Deputy Chairman)

■■ Alcatel-Lucent Holding GmbH,  

Stuttgart

DR. GüntER fEnnEBERG

(until May 6, 2011)

Chairman of the Board of Management  

of PFEIFER Holding GmbH & Co. KG, 

Memmingen

Sommer Fassadensysteme –  

Stahlbau – Sicherheitstechnik  

GmbH & Co. KG, Döhlau

thOMAS hOhMAnn3

Head of personnel at Dürr Systems GmbH, 

Stuttgart

ERiCh hORSt2, 3, 4

(until May 6, 2011)

Full-time Chairman of the  

Works Council of Dürr Ecoclean GmbH, 

Filderstadt, at the Monschau facility 

Full-time Deputy Chairman of the Group 

Works Council of Dürr AG, Stuttgart

1 member of the executive committee and personnel committee
2 member of the audit committee
3 employee representative
4 member of the mediation committee
5 member of the nomination committee

 membership in statutory supervisory boards

  membership in comparable German and foreign control 
bodies (of business entities)
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DR. MARtin SChwARz-kOChER2, 3

(since May 6, 2011)

General manager of IMU Institut GmbH, 

Stuttgart

kARl-hEinz StREiBiCh

(since May 6, 2011)

Chairman of the board of management of  

Software AG, Darmstadt

pROf. DR.-inG. DR.-inG. E. h.  

klAuS wuChERER

General manager of Dr. Klaus Wucherer  

Innovations- und Technologieberatung GmbH,  

Erlangen

■■ HEITEC AG, Erlangen

■■ Infineon Technologies AG, Neubiberg  

(Chairman and member until  

February 17, 2011)

■■ LEONI AG, Nuremberg

■■ SAP AG, Walldorf

GuiDO lESCh1, 2, 3

Second Authorized Representative of  

IG Metall administrative offices, Völklingen

■■ Saarschmiede GmbH Freiformschmiede, 

Völklingen (Deputy Chairman)

JOAChiM SChiElkE2

Former Chairman of the management board  

of Baden-Württembergische Bank, Stuttgart 

Former member of the management board of 

Landesbank Baden-Württemberg, Stuttgart

■■ Paul Hartmann AG, Heidenheim an  

der Brenz

■■ ICS Informatik Consulting Systems AG, 

Stuttgart

■■ Wüstenrot & Württembergische AG,  

Stuttgart (until December 31, 2011)

■■ Wüstenrot Holding AG, Ludwigsburg  

(since November 11, 2011)

Allgaier Werke GmbH, Uhingen  

(until September 30, 2011)

Behr Verwaltung GmbH, Stuttgart

Berthold Leibinger GmbH, Ditzingen  

(Member of the Supervisory Board,  

member of the Administrative Board)

BWK GmbH Unternehmensbeteiligungs-

gesellschaft, Stuttgart (Chairman and  

member until September 30, 2011)

Kaufland Stiftung & Co. KG, Neckarsulm

LHI Leasing GmbH, Munich 

(Chairman and member until  

September 30, 2011)

Lidl Stiftung & Co. KG, Neckarsulm

MKB Mittelrheinische Bank GmbH, 

Koblenz (Chairman)

MMV Leasing GmbH, Koblenz 

(Chairman of the Advisory Board)

Trumpf GmbH & Co. KG, Ditzingen  

(Member of the Administrative Board)

1 member of the executive committee and personnel committee
2 member of the audit committee
3 employee representative
4 member of the mediation committee
5 member of the nomination committee

 membership in statutory supervisory boards

  membership in comparable German and foreign control 
bodies (of business entities)
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The table below shows a breakdown into components of the remuneration of the individual Supervisory 

Board members in the reporting period.

/ /  REMunERAtiOn Of thE SupERviSORy BOARD in 2011  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.90

€
basic 

 remuneration

Remuneration 
for committee 

membership
attendance 

fees4 
Variable 

 remuneration Total

dr.-ing. e. h. heinz dürr  

chairman 60,000.00 11,250.00 8,000.00 102,970.80 182,220.80

prof. dr. Norbert loos  

deputy chairman 30,000.00 25,500.00 11,000.00 51,485.40 117,985.40

hayo Raich*1, 2 

deputy chairman 33,000.00 5,000.00 7,900.00 51,485.40 97,385.40

stefan albert*2 (since may 6, 2011) 13,333.33 – 4,000.00 22,882.40 40,215.73

mirko becker*2 20,000.00 6,000.00 8,000.00 34,323.60 68,323.60

dr. dr. alexandra dürr 20,000.00 2,500.00 6,000.00 34,323.60 62,823.60

benno eberl*2 (until may 6, 2011) 8,333.33 2,083.33 3,000.00 14,301.50 27,718.16

dr. Günter fenneberg  

(until may 6, 2011) 8,333.33 – 1,000.00 14,301.50 23,634.83

thomas hohmann* 20,000.00 – 6,000.00 34,323.60 60,323.60

erich horst*2 (until may 6, 2011) 8,333.33 3,750.00 3,000.00 14,301.50 29,384.83

Guido lesch*2, 3 20,000.00 7,083.33 8,000.00 34,323.60 69,406.93

Joachim schielke 20,000.00 9,000.00 7,000.00 34,323.60 70,323.60

dr. martin schwarz-Kocher*2 

(since may 6, 2011) 13,333.33 6,000.00 6,000.00 22,882.40 48,215.73

Karl-heinz streibich  

(since may 6, 2011) 13,333.33 – 4,000.00 22,882.40 40,215.73

prof. dr.-ing. dr.-ing. e. h.  

Klaus Wucherer 20,000.00 – 6,000.00 34,323.60 60,323.60

total 307,999.98 78,166.66 88,900.00 523,434.90 998,501.54

* employee representative
1 also member of the supervisory board of dürr systems Gmbh
2  these employee representatives have declared that they will transfer their remuneration to the 

hans-böckler foundation in keeping with the guidelines of the German federation of trade unions.
3  member of the audit committee until may 6, 2011, member of the executive committee 

and personnel committee from may 6, 2011
4 for supervisory board and committee meetings

Total remuneration of the Supervisory Board amounted to € 395 thousand in the prior period.
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43. Statement of changes in non-current assets

/ /  intAnGiBlE ASSEtS  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.91

€ k Goodwill

franchises,  
industrial 

rights and 
similar rights

capitalized 
development 

costs

prepayments 
for intangible 

assets Dürr Group

Accumulated cost as of January 1, 2010 271,264 73,029 25,883 2,214 372,390

exchange difference 4,082 1,202 526 69 5,879

changes in the consolidated group 1,625 1,528 967 – 4,120

additions 4,973 1,996 3,557 480 11,006

disposals – 242 – 863 – 323 – – 1,428

Reclassifications – 2,413 – – 2,135 278

Accumulated cost as of December 31, 2010 281,702 79,305 30,610 628 392,245

exchange difference 921 – 14 140 – 1,047

changes in the consolidated group – 10,118 934 – 11,052

additions 1,859 6,490 2,655 650 11,654

disposals – – 12,596 – 867 – 139 – 13,602

Reclassifications – 501 – – 466 35

Accumulated cost as of December 31, 2011 284,482 83,804 33,472 673 402,431

Accumulated amortization as of January 1, 2010 – 52,077 12,071 – 64,148

exchange difference – 673 335 – 1,008

amortization for the year – 8,751 3,328 – 12,079

disposals – – 812 – 322 – – 1,134

Reclassifications – 2 – – 2

Accumulated amortization as of December 31, 2010 – 60,691 15,412 – 76,103

exchange difference – 30 126 – 156

amortization for the year – 7,553 4,025 – 11,578

impairment losses – 981 – – 981

disposals – – 12,551 – 530 – – 13,081

Reclassifications – 35 – – 35

Accumulated amortization as of December 31, 2011 – 56,739 19,033 – 75,772

net carrying amount as of December 31, 2011 284,482 27,065 14,439 673 326,659

Net carrying amount as of december 31, 2010 281,702 18,614 15,198 628 316,142

Net carrying amount as of January 1, 2010 271,264 20,952 13,812 2,214 308,242
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/ /  pROpERty, plAnt AnD EquipMEnt  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.92

€ k

land, land 
rights and 
buildings 
including 

buildings on 
third-party 

land
investment 

property

technical 
equipment  

and machines

other  
equipment, 

furniture  
and fixtures

advance 
payments and 

assets under 
construction Dürr Group

Accumulated cost as of January 1, 2010 122,072 36,139 29,424 64,980 897 253,512

exchange difference 2,391 – 996 2,137 13 5,537

changes in the consolidated group 2,199 – 26 99 – 2,324

additions 2,538 1,240 3,351 3,484 552 11,165

disposals – 696 – 156 – 2,145 – 3,684 – – 6,681

Reclassifications – 1,857 1,937 – 328 733 – 763 – 278

Accumulated cost as of December 31, 2010 126,647 39,160 31,324 67,749 699 265,579

exchange difference 65 – 49 138 – 33 219

changes in the consolidated group 4 – – 439 – 443

additions 53,370 155 3,079 7,017 1,318 64,939

disposals – 360 – 85 – 2,468 – 1,647 – – 4,560

Reclassifications – 212 602 29 97 – 520 – 4

Accumulated cost as of December 31, 2011 179,514 39,832 32,013 73,793 1,464 326,616

Accumulated depreciation as of January 1, 2010 55,975 15,664 23,484 49,063 – 144,186

exchange difference 928 – 726 1,650 – 3,304

depreciation for the year 3,205 768 2,058 4,905 – 10,936

impairment losses – – 90 36 – 126

Reversal of impairment losses – 1,207 – – – – – 1,207

disposals – 585 – 132 – 2,058 – 3,322 – – 6,097

Reclassifications 274 – 274 – 293 291 – – 2

Accumulated depreciation as of December 31, 2010 58,590 16,026 24,007 52,623 – 151,246

exchange difference 138 – 19 127 – 284

depreciation for the year 3,305 839 1,549 5,242 – 10,935

impairment losses – – 3 2 – 5

Reversal of impairment losses – 71 – – – – – 71

disposals – 295 – 62 – 1,314 – 1,320 – – 2,991

Reclassifications – 401 696 – 330 31 – – 4

Accumulated depreciation as of December 31, 2011 61,266 17,499 23,934 56,705 – 159,404

net carrying amount as of December 31, 2011 118,248 22,333 8,079 17,088 1,464 167,212

Net carrying amount as of december 31, 2010 68,057 23,134 7,317 15,126 699 114,333

Net carrying amount as of January 1, 2010 66,097 20,475 5,940 15,917 897 109,326
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/ /  finAnCiAl ASSEtS  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.93

€ k
shares in 
 affiliates

investments 
in entities 
 accounted 

for using the 
 equity method

other equity 
investments

long-term 
securities Dürr Group

Accumulated cost as of January 1, 2010 4,156 9,636 29 352 14,173

exchange difference – 2,157 – 4 2,161

changes in the consolidated group – 4,156 – – – – 4,156

additions – 846 100 4 950

disposals – – 727 – – 5 – 732

Accumulated cost as of December 31, 2010 – 11,912 129 355 12,396

exchange difference – 1,006 – – 1 1,005

additions – 4,805 2,211 – 7,016

disposals – – 516 – – 38 – 554

Accumulated cost as of December 31, 2011 – 17,207 2,340 316 19,863

Accumulated impairment as of January 1, 2010 – – 27 – 27

Accumulated impairment as of December 31, 2010 – – 27 – 27

Accumulated impairment as of December 31, 2011 – – 27 – 27

net carrying amount as of December 31, 2011 – 17,207 2,313 316 19,836

Net carrying amount as of december 31, 2010 – 11,912 102 355 12,369

Net carrying amount as of January 1, 2010 4,156 9,636 2 352 14,146
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 / /  liSt Of GROup ShAREhOlDinGS  / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /  3.94

Name and location
Share of  

capital %

Germany 

dürr Gmbh & co. campus KG, bietigheim-bissingen 2 100

carl schenck aG, darmstadt 1, 2 100

landwehr elfte Vermögensverwaltung Gmbh, darmstadt 1, 2 (formerly schenck atis Gmbh) 100

schenck Rotec Gmbh, darmstadt 1, 2 100

schenck technologie- und industriepark Gmbh, darmstadt 1, 2 100

unterstützungseinrichtung der carl schenck aG, darmstadt, Gmbh, darmstadt 5 100

dürr ecoclean Gmbh, filderstadt 1, 2 100

dürr edaG aircraft systems Gmbh, fulda 3 50

dürr assembly products Gmbh, püttlingen 1, 2 100

dürr somac Gmbh, stollberg 1, 2 100

dürr ees Gmbh, stuttgart 4 100

dürr international Gmbh, stuttgart 1, 2 100

dürr it service Gmbh, stuttgart 1, 2 100

dürr systems Gmbh, stuttgart 1, 2 100

prime contractor consortium fal china, stuttgart 3 50

dürr systems Wolfsburg Gmbh, Wolfsburg 2 100

Other Eu countries

agramkow fluid systems a / s, sønderborg / denmark 2 55

carl schenck denmark aps, sønderborg / denmark 2 100

schenck s.a.s., cergy-pontoise / france 2 100

dürr systems s.a.s., Guyancourt / france 2 100

dürr ecoclean s.a.s., loué / france 2 100

datatechnic s.a.s., uxegney / france 2 100

dürr cyplan ltd., aldermaston / uK 3 50

dürr ltd., Warwick / uK 2 100

schenck ltd., Warwick / uK 2 100

test automation ltd., Warwick / uK 4 100

cpm s.p.a., beinasco / italy 2 51

olpidürr s.p.a., Novegro di segrate / italy 2 65

schenck italia s.r.l., paderno dugnano / italy 2 100

Verind s.p.a., Rodano / italy 2 50

stimas engineering s.r.l., turin / italy 2 51

carl schenck machines en installaties b.V., Rotterdam / Netherlands 2 100

dürr anlagenbau Ges. m.b.h., Zistersdorf / austria 2 100

dürr poland sp. z o.o., Radom / poland 2 100

dürr systems slovakia spol. s r.o., bratislava / slovakia 2 100

dürr systems spain s.a., san sebastián / spain 2 100

dürr ecoclean spol. s r.o., oslavany / czech Republic 2 100

Other European countries

ooo dürr systems Rus, moscow / Russia 2 100

schenck industrie-beteiligungen aG, Glarus / switzerland 2 100

ucm aG, Rheineck / switzerland 2 100

cpm automation d.o.o. beograd, belgrade / serbia 2 51

dürr systems makine mühendislik proje ithalat ve ihracat ltd. sirketi, istanbul / turkey 2 100

44.  list of group 
shareholdings
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RAlph hEuwinGRAlf w. DiEtER

Bietigheim-Bissingen, March 1, 2012

Dürr Aktiengesellschaft

The Board of Management

Name and location
Share of  

capital %

north America / Central America

dürr systems canada inc., Windsor, ontario / canada 2 100

dürr de méxico, s.a. de c.V., querétaro / mexico 2 100

dürr ecoclean inc., auburn hills, michigan / usa 2 100

schenck Rotec corporation, auburn hills, michigan / usa 2 100

schenck corporation, deer park, New york / usa 2 100

schenck trebel corporation, deer park, New york / usa 2 100

dürr inc., plymouth, michigan / usa 2 100

dürr systems inc., plymouth, michigan / usa 2 100

South America

irigoyen 330 s.a., cap. fed. buenos aires / argentina 2 100

agramkow do brasil ltda., indaiatuba / brazil 2 55

dürr brasil ltda., são paulo / brazil 2 100

Africa / Asia / Australia

dürr systems maroc sarl au, tangier / morocco 2 100

dürr south africa (pty.) ltd., port elizabeth / south africa 2 100

dürr india private ltd., chennai / india 2 100

schenck Rotec india limited, Noida / india 2 100

Nagahama seisakusho ltd., osaka / Japan 3 50

dürr Japan K.K., yokohama / Japan 2 100

agramkow asia pacific pte. ltd., singapore / singapore 2 55

dürr Korea inc., seoul / south Korea 2 100

dürr paintshop systems engineering (shanghai) co. ltd., shanghai / china 2 100

schenck shanghai machinery corporation ltd., shanghai / china 2 99

dürr pty. ltd., adelaide / australia 2 100

1 profit and loss transfer agreement with the respective parent company
2 fully consolidated entity in the dürr Group
3 entity accounted for using the equity method in the dürr Group
4 Non-consolidated entity in the dürr Group
5  Non-consolidated entity in the dürr Group. dürr does not have control 

as it cannot enjoy the economic benefits from the operations of the company.
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Ralf w. DieteR  / /  CEO Ralph heuwing  / /  CFO

Responsibility statement by management

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles, the consolidated 

financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss  

of the Group, and the Group management report includes a fair review of the development and performance 

of the business and the position of the Group, together with a description of the principal opportunities 

and risks associated with the expected development of the Group.

Bietigheim-Bissingen, March 1, 2012
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Ten-year summary Dürr Group1, 2

  2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Incoming orders € million 2,684.9 1,642.2  1,184.7 1,464.0 1,781.5 1,459.8 1,216.9 1,387.4  2,356.2 2,346.7

Sales revenues € million 1,922.0 1,261.4  1,077.6 1,602.8 1,476.6 1,361.2 1,400.6 1,725.8 2,264.5 2,082.1

Gross profit on sales € million 331.4 237.5  210.8 287.1 240.0 220.2 220.2 240.6 365.4 381.2

Overhead costs (incl. R&D costs) € million – 225.5 – 201.6 – 202.5 – 211.0 – 203.3 – 198.9 – 211.5 – 207.9 – 321.3 – 323.7

Restructuring costs (incl. impairment 

losses / reversal of impairment losses) € million – ³ – ³ – ³ – ³  1.0 – 5.9 – 73.8 – 6.8 – 25.6 – 

EBITDA € million 127.1 54.6  25.6 87.1 73.5 52.7 – 18.8 50.2 48.4 89.1

EBIT € million 106.5 36.6  5.7 72.7 55.7 33.1 – 70.3 29.0 17.9 55.1

Financial result € million – 20.7 – 24.1 – 17.9 – 26.3 – 21.0 – 18.3 – 36.3 – 24.5 – 20.5 – 25.2

EBT € million 85.8 12.5 – 12.2 46.4 34.8 14.8 – 106.6 4.5 – 6.9 22.6

Income taxes € million – 21.6 – 5.4 – 13.5 – 12.7 – 13.6 – 6.6 + 2.1 – 5.6 – 24.1 – 9.4

Net income / loss € million 64.3 7.1  – 25.7 33.7 21.2 8.2 – 104.5 – 1.1 – 31.1 13.3

Profit / loss attributable to Dürr AG 

shareholders € million 61.9 6.3 – 26.9 29.9 20.9 7.8 – 104.6 – 0.1 –31.3 12.0

 

Stock

Earnings per share € 3.58 0.37  – 1.55 1.81 1.33 0.50 – 7.26 0.00 – 2.19 0.84

Dividend per share € 1.204 0.30  0.00 0.70 0.40 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.80

Book value per share (Dec. 31) € 21.06 18.46 17.42 19.73 16.35 15.62 17.22 15.58 15.41 18.92

Operating cash flow per share € 7.39 3.20 5.51 1.87 5.46 – 0.63 – 10.25 – 8.08 3.95 13.89

Closing price5 (Dec. 31) € 34.00 23.87 17.00 12.25 26.60 20.99 20.30 15.11 19.30 16.00

Number of shares (weighted average) thousand 17,301 17,301 17,301 16,536 15,728 15,728 14,400 14,298 14,298 14,298

Market capitalization (Dec. 31) € million 588 413 294 212 418 330 319 216 276 229

 

income statement

Gross margin  % 17.2 18.8 19.6 17.9 16.3 16.2 15.7 13.9 16.1 18.3

EBITDA margin  % 6.6 4.3 2.4 5.4 5.0 3.9 – 1.3 2.9 2.1 4.3

EBIT margin  % 5.5 2.9 0.5 4.5 3.8 2.4 – 5.0 1.7 0.8 2.6

EBT margin  % 4.5 1.0 – 1.1 2.9 2.4 1.1 – 7.6 0.3 – 0.3 1.1

Interest coverage  5.0 1.5 0.3 2.5 2.4 1.6 – 2.0 1.2 0.9 2.1

Tax rate  % 25.1 43.3 – 27.3 39.0 44.7 – 124.8 – 41.3

 

Cash flow

Operating cash flow € million 127.9 55.4 95.4 30.9 85.9 – 9.8 – 147.6 – 115.5 56.4 198.7

Free cash flow € million 91.8 22.9 63.7 – 14.5 40.6 – 46.5 – 206.1 – 150.9 – – 

Capital expenditure (property, plant & 

equipment and intangible assets) € million 23.4 16.6 21.4 24.3 26.5 18.0 26.0 27.4 16.6 29.4

Decrease (+) / increase (–)  

in net financial debt € million +28.2 + 20.6 + 37.4 + 27.4 + 34.7 – 11.6 + 157.9 – 145.8 +26.1 +166.7

 

Balance sheet

Non-current assets (Dec. 31) € million 529.0 462.3 452.6 443.5 424.2 447.1 484.9 560.9 569.1 604.9

Current assets (Dec. 31) € million 1,132.0 754.1 515.5 644.5 650.6 592.9 704.3 874.9 1,096.7 1,185.4

  of which cash and cash equivalents 

(Dec. 31) € million 298.6 252.3 103.9 84.4 147.5 101.5 124.7 46.4 199.9 230.7
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  2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Equity (with non-controlling interests) 

(Dec. 31) € million 364.3 319.4 301.4 341.4 257.1 245.7 248.1 222.7 220.4 270.5

Non-current liabilities (Dec. 31) € million 401.9 328.2 201.1 201.3 305.0 321.7 324.6 339.2 261.5 390.5

 of which pension obligations (Dec. 31) € million 57.8 55.9 55.1 52.2 50.0 60.7 67.8 53.6 53.6 53.1

Current liabilities (Dec. 31) € million 894.8 568.8 465.6 545.4 512.7 472.7 616.5 873.8 1,183.9 1,129.3

Financial liabilities (Dec. 31) € million 286.2 232.3 104.0 122.6 214.6 210.3 217.9 298.5 296.8 353.8

Total assets (Dec. 31) € million 1,661.0 1,216.5 968.1 1,088.0 1,074.8 1,040.1 1,189.1 1,435.8 1,665.8 1,790.3

Net financial status (Dec. 31) € million 51.8 23.6 3.0 – 34.4 – 61.8 – 96.5 – 84.9 – 242.8 – 97.0 – 123.1

Net financial debt / EBITDA  – 6 – 6 – 6 0.4 0.8 1.8 – 4.5 4.8 2.0 1.4

Gearing (Dec. 31)  % – 16.6 – 8.0 – 1.0 9.2 19.4 28.2 25.5 52.2 30.6 31.3

Net working capital (Dec. 31) € million 32.6 27.3 57.4 151.8 128.9 154.7 171.5 120.5 109.1 139.9

Days working capital  days 6.1 7.8 19.2 34.1 31.4 40.9 44.1 25.1 17.3 24.2

Days sales outstanding  days 117.2 112.2 108.9 100.3 99.5 108.5 123.2 117.5 – – 

Inventory turnover  days 23.3 21.1 20.9 17.5 14.1 13.4 11.2 12.1 – – 

Equity assets ratio (Dec. 31) % 68.9 69.1 66.6 77.0 60.6 55.0 51.2 39.7 38.7 44.7

Degree of asset depreciation (Dec. 31) % 48.8 56.9 56.9 57.8 59.4 57.4 58.1 55.2 – – 

Depreciation expense ratio % 3.3 4.1 4.3 3.9 4.6 4.3 5.2 5.8 – – 

Asset coverage (Dec. 31)  % 144.8 140.1 111.0 122.4 132.5 126.9 118.1 100.2 84.7 109.3

Asset intensity (Dec. 31)  % 31.8 38.0 46.8 40.8 39.5 43.0 40.8 39.1 34.2 33.8

Current assets to total assets (Dec. 31) % 68.2 62.0 53.2 59.2 60.5 57.0 59.2 60.9 65.8 66.2

Cash ratio (Dec. 31)  % 33.4 44.4 22.3 15.5 28.8 21.5 20.3 5.8 16.9 20.4

Quick ratio (Dec. 31)  % 103.3 113.3 91.7 96.8 107.8 107.9 98.0 70.0 – – 

Equity ratio (Dec. 31)  % 21.9 26.3 31.1 31.4 23.9 23.6 20.9 15.5 13.2 15.1

Return on equity  % 17.6 2.2 – 8.5 9.9 8.2 3.3 – 42.1 – 0.5 – 14.1 4.9

Capital employed (CE) (Dec. 31) € million 374.8 356.7 356.3 432.1 378.8 420.1 – – – – 

ROCE  % 28.4 10.3 1.6 16.8 14.7 7.9 – – – – 

Weighted average cost of capital (WACC)  % 7.64 8.10 8.08 7.58 7.41 6.66 – – – – 

Economic value added (EVA) € million 45.9 – 3.2 – 24.8 20.0 5.9 – 9.7 – – – – 

 

employees / R&D

Employees (Dec. 31)  6,823 5,915 5,712 6,143 5,936 5,650 5,992 6,240 12,747 12,902

Cost per employee (year average) € – 62,700 – 59,300 – 57,200 – 62,200 – 63,500 – 61,000 – 62,600 – 61,200 – 46,949 – 51,274

Sales per employee (year average)  € 299,200 218,300 183,100 264,500 254,200 237,500 230,000 265,200 174,771 164,987

R&D ratio  % 1.5 2.0 2.4 1.6 1.4 1.6 1.5 1.2 1.5 1.7

R&D employees (Dec. 31)  180 162 157 152 158 157 121 101 209 – 

R&D expenditure € million – 29.5 – 25.8 – 25.9 – 25.5 – 20.5 – 21.1 – 21.1 – 20.3 –33.1 –35.3

R&D cost capitalized € million 2.7 3.6 2.5 3.1 4.7 4.8 4.5 4.4 – – 

Amortization of R&D cost capitalized € million – 4.0 – 3.3 – 3.3 – 2.9 – 2.8 – 1.9 – 1.4 – 0.7 – – 

2003 to 2011: IFRS figures; 2002: US-GAAP figures
1  In 2005, we sold a number of business operations and implemented a major restructuring program. The figures for 2004 to 2011 refer to the continuing operations and are fully comparable. 
2  The interest cost from the measurement of pension obligations was reclassified in 2011. The figures for 2010 have been adjusted.
3  In 2010, the major restructuring measures within the Group were completed. As a result, restructuring costs are no longer presented as a separate item but are included in other expense items. 

The presentation of the income statement items for 2009 and 2008 was adjusted accordingly. No major restructuring costs were incurred in 2011.
4 Dividend to be proposed at the annual general meeting
5 XETRA
6 In 2011, 2010 and 2009, the Group had a positive net financial status.
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Glossary

A

application technology
General term for all products related to the 
 application of paint and high-viscosity materials, 
e. g. painting robots, paint atomizers, and color 
change systems.

B

Balancing and diagnostic systems
Rotating components such as wheels and tur-
bines must be tested for unbalances. Any un-
balance is then removed since it would other-
wise cause vibrations or oscillations.

BRiC countries
Abbreviation for the emerging  markets of Brazil, 
Russia, India and China. 

C

Cathodic dip-coating
Process for applying the first prime coat that 
protects against corrosion. To coat the interior  
of the body as well, it is immersed. The coating  
is applied with the aid of an electronic field. The 
process is called “cathodic” as the car body 
serves as the cathode. 

Claim management 
Claim management deals with customer non-
conformances with contractual specifications 
and provisions, e. g. technical changes and de-
lays. The resulting additional expense is charged 
to the customer. 

D

Downsizing 
The development of economical combustion 
 engines that have a smaller cubic capacity but 
deliver a similar performance as larger  engines. 

Drying oven
Tunnel-like systems for curing freshly applied 
coats of paint.

E

end of line
Refers to the terminal line section in final vehicle 
assembly where fully assembled cars are inspect-
ed and prepared for shipping. 

engineering
Development and design of machinery and 
plants. At Dürr, engineering often involves 
 developing technical solutions that are geared  
to customers’ specific production goals.

eRp System (enterprise Resource planning)
Software used to support resource planning 
 within a company. ERP systems should cover  
all business processes.

F

filling systems
Equipment designed for filling vehicles with the 
necessary operating media (e.g. brake fluid, 
 refrigerant) in the course of their final assembly. 
Filling systems are also employed for charging 
refrigerators, air conditioners and heat pumps 
with refrigerant. 

filtration systems (coolant recycling) 
Coolants are used in the machining of work- 
pieces. They cool the workpieces and tools, re-
duce friction and wear, and bind metal chips. 
A recycling or filtration system cools the used 
coolant and  removes chips and particles from it 
to make it re-useable in the machining process. 

G

glueing technology
Manufacturing process, in which parts such as 
the sheetmetal components of a car are joined 
together by means of adhesives.

H

heat exchanger
Heat exchangers transfer thermal energy from 
one medium to another, e.g. from hot water to 
air. 

high-speed rotating atomizer
Atomizers ensure a uniform distribution of the 
spray jet in paint application processes. High 
rotation atomizers rely on a bell-shaped disk 
 revolving at up to 70,000 r.p.m. Due to this 
 design, the paint fed to the center of the disk is 
 accelerated and separated into fine threads 
which dissolve into minuscule droplets as they 
are propelled off the disk.  

I

industrial cleaning systems
Cleaning systems remove contaminants from 
workpieces that arise during the machining 
 process.

L

lifecycle costs
All costs caused by a product to the customer, 
from procurement investment through to dis-
posal. 

light vehicles
Cars and light trucks.

lightweight design 
In automotive engineering, lightweight design 
refers to the practice of building cars with weight 
minimization in mind. The vehicle‘s fuel con-
sumption and CO2 emissions can thus be reduced. 
Low-weight materials such as magnesium, tita-
nium or synthetic fiber composites are becoming 
increasingly widespread to save vehicle weight.

M

Manufacturing depth
The value added (content) which the company 
 actually contributes itself in the manufacture of  
a product or a plant.

Marriage
Joining and bolting together of power train, 
 chassis, and body in vehicle final assembly.

P

pretreatment
This is the first stage in the painting process. 
When it comes from the body shop, the body 
shell is first cleaned, degreased and in most 
cases phosphated in preparation for the next 
coating. The phosphating produces a corrosion-
inhibiting conversion layer (nonmetallic crystal-
line structure) to which subsequent paint layers 
will bond more effectively.

S

Sealing
Process for sealing welding seams created when 
car body parts are joined. Sealing also includes 
the application of an undercoating that protects 
against rock impact.

Supervisory control system
Centralized computer system for controlling and 
supervising control of a complete production 
plant.

T

test systems
End-of-line systems test the functions of fully 
 assembled vehicles, e. g. headlights and ABS.

transfer line integrated cleaning  systems
Cleaning systems (with a high throughput rate) 
wherein the workpieces pass through several 
 treatment stations, such as cleaning and drying. 

U

ultrafine cleaning
Cleaning process that removes contamination 
down to a single-digit μm (micron) scale.
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A

asset coverage
A ratio that indicates the extent to which shareholders’ equity and 
 non-current liabilities cover non-current assets.

equity + non-current liabilities
100 (%)

non-current assets

asset intensity
A ratio that indicates the relative weight of non-current assets in total 
 assets. High capital intensity means high fixed costs, high levels of capital 
tied up in material assets, and thus less flexibility.

non-current assets
100 (%)

total assets

C

Capital employed
This is the capital used within the enterprise that is not subject to interest 
payable to external creditors. It is calculated by deducting liabilities from 
total non-current and current assets. However, all interest-bearing items 
are excluded.

D

Days sales outstanding
This ratio indicates the average length of time that capital is tied up in 
 receivables in days.

Receivables  360

Sales revenues

The same method can be used to calculate the average length of time that 
capital is tied up in inventories and in net working capital.

E

equity assets ratio
A ratio that indicates the extent to which shareholders’ equity covers 
 non-current assets. 

equity
100 (%)

non-current assets

F

free cash flow
Free cash flow is the cash flow from operating  activities remaining after 
deducting capital  expenditures and net interest paid and received, and 
 represents the amount of cash that is freely available to pay a dividend  
and to run off debt. 

G

gearing
This is the ratio of net financial debt to shareholders’ equity and net finan-
cial debt. The higher the relative weight of net financial debt the higher the 
reliance on external lenders.  However, a high gearing is not necessarily 
negative if the interest paid does not reduce profits excessively.

I

interest coverage 
An interest coverage ratio of <1 indicates that the company is not able  
to meet its interest payments from operating earnings.

earnings before tax + net interest expense

net interest expense

L

liquidity ratios: cash ratio and quick ratio
These two liquidity ratios show the degree to which  current liabilities  
are covered by cash and cash  equivalents (and other current assets).  
They serve to measure a company’s solvency.

cash and cash equivalents
100 (%)

 current liabilities

cash and cash equivalents + short-term trade receivables
100 (%)

 current liabilities

N

net financial status
This represents the balance of the financial liabilities (without financial  
leases) reported in the  balance sheet after deducting cash and cash equi- 
valents. If a company’s cash and cash equivalents exceed its financial  
liabilities it is de  facto debt free.

financial liabilities cash and cash equivalents 

net working capital (nwC)
This is a measure of the net funding required to  finance current assets. 
 Negative NWC is beneficial since it implies that sales are prefinanced  
by sup pliers and customers. At Dürr, the prepayments  received from 
 customers are an important factor  affecting NWC. The formula shows  
a simplified calculation.

inventories trade receivables trade payables

R

Return on Capital employed (RoCe)
This measures the rate of return on the capital tied up in a company’s 
 operating assets (for instance in machinery and equipment, inventories, 
accounts  receivable) and is the ratio of earnings before interest and taxes 
(EBIT) to capital employed.

EBIT
100 (%)

capital employed

Return on equity (Roe)
This is the rate of return earned on shareholders’  equity. It should exceed 
the rate of return on a  comparable  investment.

earnings after taxes
100 (%)

shareholders‘ equity

Return on investment (Roi)
This ratio serves to measure how efficiently a company employs the total 
resources at its disposal.

earnings after taxes + interest expense
100 (%)

total assets
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This annual report includes forward-looking statements about future developments. As is the case for any business activity conducted in a global environment, such forward-  
looking statements are always subject to uncertainty. Our information is based on the conviction and assumptions of the Board of Management of Dürr AG, as developed from the 
information currently available. However, the following factors may affect the success of our strategic and operating measures: geopolitical risks, changes in general economic 
conditions (especially a prolonged recession), exchange rate fluctuations and changes in interest rates, new products launched by competitors, and a lack of customer acceptance 
for new Dürr products or services, including growing competitive pressure. Should any of these factors or other imponderable circumstances arise, or should the assumptions 
 underlying the forward-looking statements prove incorrect, actual results may differ from those projected. Dürr AG undertakes no obligation to provide continuous updates of 
 forward-looking statements and information. Such statements and information are based upon the circumstances as of the date of their publication.
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Highlights 2011

05 � �  Acquisition in filling systems
Through Carl Schenck AG we acquire a 
55 % stake in filling equipment specialist 
Agramkow. The Danish company is the 
world market leader for filling systems for 
household appliances and heat pumps.

05 � �  first acquisition in energy 
 efficiency technology
With the 50 % equity interest in Cyplan 
Ltd. we gain access to Organic Rankine 
Cycle technology. This innovative process 
uses industrial waste heat to produce 
electricity.

04 � �  Eco⊕Paintshop in shenyang
BMW Brilliance commissions us to build 
a particularly resource-efficient paint-
shop. The Eco⊕Paintshop in Shenyang 
 requires only a third of the energy that 
was needed ten years ago.

05 � �  Expansion of Japan business
Dürr takes a 10 % equity stake in its 
 Japanese partner Parker Engineering.  
The paint systems business with  
Japanese automakers is to be expanded  
in partnership with Parker. 

05 � �  New supervisory Board
The newly elected Supervisory Board 
 convenes for the first time after the 
 annual general meeting on May 6.

08 � �  Large aircraft project in Russia
We book our biggest ever order in the 
 aircraft business from Russian aircraft 
manufacturer Irkut. Together with three 
partner firms, we are building the assem-
bly lines for the Ms-21 mid-range airliner.

01 � �  start of production in china
The first car body passes through the 
base coat stage in the new paint shop we 
are building for FAW-VW in Chengdu.

02 � �  Politics as guest at Dürr
Economics Minister Rainer Brüderle visits 
the Dürr Campus in Bietigheim-Bissingen. 
A main discussion topic is our expansion 
in energy efficiency technology.

02 � �  innovation award
For the eleventh time we honor particu-
larly innovative employee teams with the 
Heinz Dürr Innovation Award. 
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09 � �  innovation drive
Schenck RoTec launches seven new 
 balancing systems in one stroke at the 
eMO machine tool trade fair. 

10 � �  Record new orders
We publish our nine-month results on 
 October 18. In the third quarter, 
order  intake reaches an all-time high  
of € 866 million. 

10 � �  EcocBase series is rounded out
Dürr Ecoclean presents the latest addition 
to the EcoCBase family at the Parts2Clean 
trade fair: The EcoCBase W3 cleaning sys-
tem is particularly well suited as an entry-
level model for cleaning workpieces with 
watery media.

10 � �  culture at Dürr
As part of the “Kultur erlebt” series of 
events Max Greger jr. and the Dürr 
 BigBand perform an Evening of Swing  
at the Dürr Campus.

09 � �  Best annual report in the sDAX
Dürr’s annual report for 2010 is ranked 
by Manager Magazin as the best  
annual report in the sDaX. Earlier we 
had already come first in the sDaX 
in the Wirtschaftswoche and Capital IR 
rankings.

12 � �  clean Technology systems tops 
the 100 million mark
Order intake in our business with environ-
mental and energy efficiency technology 
exceeds the € 100 million mark for the first 
time, laying the foundation for further 
substantial growth.

12 � �  share gains 40 % in 2011
Dürr’s share price rises to € 35.38 at the 
beginning of December, its highest level 
since July 1998. On December 31, 2011, 
the share is trading at around € 34.00 – a 
gain of 40 % since the beginning of the 
year. This puts the Dürr share among the 
top five best-performing stocks from the 
DaX, MDaX, sDaX and TecDaX.

08 � �  code of conduct published
The first Dürr Code of Conduct is pub-
lished within the framework of our 
 Compliance Management system. It de-
fines principles for ethical and legally 
sound practices in day-to-day business. 

11 � �  supplier innovation Award 
from BmW
Dürr receives the BMW Supplier Innovation 
Award in the “Sustainability” category.  
The award is for our EcoDryscrubber paint 
booth system which reduces energy con-
sumption and CO2 emissions in the paint 
application process. 

09 � �  6,000th painting robot sold
Application Technology celebrates the 
sale of its 6,000th painting robot. Dürr’s 
EcoRP is the world’s top-selling painting 
robot since its launch in 1998.



www.durr.com
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